KNOWING THE SELF: INTERDISCIPLINARY PERSPECTIVES ON SELF RELATED PROCESSING

EDITED BY: Wei Fan, Jiajin Yuan, Chao Liu, Yanhong Wu, Zhao Xin and Yiping Zhong PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-956-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-956-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

1

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

KNOWING THE SELF: INTERDISCIPLINARY PERSPECTIVES ON SELF RELATED PROCESSING

Topic Editors: Wei Fan, Hunan Normal University, China Jiajin Yuan, Southwest University, China Chao Liu, Beijing Normal University, China Yanhong Wu, Peking University, China Zhao Xin, Northwest Normal University, China Yiping Zhong, Hunan Normal University, China

Citation: Fan, W., Yuan, J., Liu, C., Wu, Y., Xin, Z., Zhong, Y., eds. (2020). Knowing the Self: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Self Related Processing. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-956-4

Table of Contents

- 04 The Experience of Beauty of Chinese Poetry and Its Neural Substrates Chunhai Gao and Cheng Guo
- **13** Distraction Modulates Self-Referential Effects in the Processing of Monetary and Social Rewards Jia Zhu and Youlong Zhan
- 21 Increasing the Difference in Decision Making for Oneself and for Others by Stimulating the Right Temporoparietal Junction Yinling Zhang, Siyang Chen, Xinmu Hu and Xiaogin Mai
- **29** The Influence of Self-Relevance and Cultural Values on Moral Orientation Junfeng Bian, Liang Li, Jianzhou Sun, Jie Deng, Qianwei Li, Xiaoli Zhang and Liangshi Yan
- **37** The Effect of Negative Feedback on Positive Beliefs in Self-Deception Juan Liu, Wenjie Zhang, Youlong Zhan, Lixin Song, Peipei Guan, Dan Kang, Jie Jian, Ronghua Cai and Mei Li
- 49 Temporal Features of Psychological and Physical Self-Representation: An ERP Study

Lei Liu, Wenjie Li, Jin Li, Lingna Lou and Jie Chen

58 Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials

Zifu Shi, Lin Yin, Jian Dong, Xiang Ma and Bo Li

66 Corrigendum: Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials

Zifu Shi, Lin Yin, Jian Dong, Xiang Ma and Bo Li

- **67** The Impact of Self-Relevance on Preschool Children's Sharing Wenjie Zhang, Songmei Xiang, Hongmei Dai, Mengmeng Ren, Yuqi Shen, Wei Fan and Yiping Zhong
- 80 The Moderation Effect of Self-Enhancement on the Group-Reference Effect

Ruixue Xia, Wanru Su, Fangping Wang, Shifeng Li, Aibao Zhou and Dong Lyu

- 87 Cultural Orientation of Self-Bias in Perceptual Matching
 Mengyin Jiang, Shirley K. M. Wong, Harry K. S. Chung, Yang Sun,
 Janet H. Hsiao, Jie Sui and Glyn W. Humphreys
- **97** The Relationship Between Future Time Perspective and Self-Esteem: A Cross-Cultural Study of Chinese and American College Students Houchao Lyu, Gang Du and Kimberly Rios

104 Self-Deception Reduces Cognitive Load: The Role of Involuntary Conscious Memory Impairment

- Zengdan Jian, Wenjie Zhang, Ling Tian, Wei Fan and Yiping Zhong*The Effects of Working Memory and Probability Format on Bayesian*
 - Reasoning

Lin Yin, Zifu Shi, Zixiang Liao, Ting Tang, Yuntian Xie and Shun Peng





The Experience of Beauty of Chinese Poetry and Its Neural Substrates

Chunhai Gao^{1,2} and Cheng Guo^{1,2*}

¹ Laboratory of Personality Development and Social Adaptation, Department of Psychology, Southwest University, Chongqing, China, ² Research Center of Mental Health Education, Southwest University, Chongqing, China

Chinese poetry has a long history and high esthetic value. People who engage esthetically with Chinese poetry would feel the sense of beauty naturally. However, there is little information regarding what happens in the brain when an individual appreciates Chinese poetry, and how the brain processes the subject's appreciation of beauty. Herein, we used functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to investigate the neural substrates of experiencing beauty by appreciating Chinese poetry. The participants in our study were 28 college students and the stimuli consisted of 25 Chinese poetry and 25 prose selections. Based on an event-related paradigm, the findings of this study suggested that different areas scattered in both the left and right cerebral hemispheres are activated when an individual appreciates Chinese poetry. Compared to reading prose, appreciating Chinese poetry heightens the activation of the left inferior orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), the bilateral insula, the left fusiform, the left supplementary motor area (SMA), and the left precentral gyrus. In these areas, the left inferior OFC and the bilateral insula are considered closely related to experiencing beauty of Chinese poetry, which have been demonstrated that it is an important neural basis of esthetic beauty when using other types of materials. The findings of this study shed new light on the complex but ordinary processes of experiencing beauty when appreciating Chinese poetry and show that some key processes underlying the feeling of esthetic beauty are shared across different esthetic domains.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chao Liu, Beijing Normal University, China

Reviewed by:

Dandan Zhang, Shenzhen University, China Wenbo Luo, Liaoning Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Cheng Guo guochen@swu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 15 June 2018 Accepted: 02 August 2018 Published: 21 August 2018

Citation:

Gao C and Guo C (2018) The Experience of Beauty of Chinese Poetry and Its Neural Substrates. Front. Psychol. 9:1540. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01540 Keywords: Chinese poetry, reading, appreciation, beauty, OFC, insula, neuroesthetics, fMRI

INTRODUCTION

Individuals who appreciate poems can feel a sense of beauty while doing so. In fact, this is one reason that they read poems. This has already been established in studies carried out at different times and in different cultures, as well as in individuals of all ages. Chinese poetry, which have high esthetic value, comprise an important form of poetry. Written forms of Chinese poetry have been found to exist as early as the first millennium BC. These poems were written based on the daily working lives of individuals, especially those involved in singing and dancing. Chinese poetry are representative of Chinese culture, and are concentrated expressions of Chinese art. Large numbers of Chinese individuals enjoy reading Chinese poems. In addition, these poems are popular among individuals who like poetry and have interest in Chinese culture. In general, like other forms of poetry, Chinese poetry is naturally associated with the expression and inspiration of affective and impressive meanings and emotions (Ludtke et al., 2014). The terms and speech used in Chinese poetry are esthetically and perceptually appreciated (Schrott and Jacobs, 2011). However, the

4

manner in which the brain processes Chinese poetry is unclear. In addition, the specific neural substrates for the feeling of beauty stimulated by these brain activities are still unknown. We investigated the neural substrates of the feelings induced by appreciating Chinese poetry and determined the regions whose activities are correlated with feelings of beauty. Investigating the activation of brains stimulated by the esthetic appreciation of Chinese poetry is of great value. First, it is important for the humanities to understand the problem of esthetic appreciation of poems at a basic level. Second, our investigation provides evidence for the cross-cultural consistency of the esthetic appreciation of poems. Third, our investigation is helpful in understanding human esthetics, and especially the neural basis of esthetics. Our research findings also provide empirical evidence that may be used to study the neural mechanisms of poetic esthetics.

Advances in non-invasive neuroimaging techniques have allowed us to research healthy participants under controlled situations, and to associate the appreciation of the beauty of poetry with the activities of several brain structures. We can also use neuroimaging to study the processes of underlying the appreciation of beauty in art forms other than poetry. The field of neuroesthetics has thus been developed to answer questions regarding the neural underpinnings of esthetics (Pearce et al., 2016). New theoretical work and experimental studies have led to remarkable progress in neuroesthetics.

Neuroimaging studies have been used to investigate the neurocognitive underpinnings of the esthetic appreciation of different art forms, such as paintings (Vartanian and Goel, 2004; Cupchik et al., 2009; Kirk et al., 2009b), sculptures (Di Dio et al., 2007), architecture (Kirk et al., 2009a), everyday designed products (Yeh et al., 2015), human faces (Aharon et al., 2001; Ishai et al., 2007; Winston et al., 2007), abstract geometrical patterns (Jacobsen et al., 2006), mathematics (Zeki et al., 2014), music (Blood and Zatorre, 2001; Koelsch, 2010; Ishizu and Zeki, 2011; Brattico and Pearce, 2013; Zatorre and Salimpoor, 2013; Koelsch and Skouras, 2014), dance (Calvo-Merino et al., 2005, 2008; Cross and Ticini, 2012), and literature (Bohrn et al., 2013). Research in the different esthetic domains listed above has thus far been unbalanced. The majority of empirical studies have been carried out to investigate visual and auditory domains, while research in other fields, such as literature appreciation, is less common.

Although relevant empirical studies are relatively few, some representative research has been reported. Zeman et al. (2013) studied brain activation by poetry and prose. O'Sullivan et al. (2015) studied the neural basis of literary consciousness. Bohrn et al. (2013) performed pioneering research in this field when they attempted to determine whether reading is accompanied by an implicit esthetic evaluation. In the experiments described in the above report, the participants were requested to read a number of proverbs without explicitly evaluating them. The authors found that large parts of the left frontal lobe, left medial temporal gyrus, left superior temporal gyrus, bilateral occipital lobes, and bilateral precentral gyri were activated during the reading activities. They also identified correlations between specific brain regions and feelings of beauty. These regions were the right caudate nucleus, the anterior cingulate, and the cerebellum. On the basis of empirical research results, Jacobs (2015) proposed a model called the neurocognitive poetics model (NCPM) to elucidate the mechanisms of poetry reception using a neural perspective. The NCPM postulates that different features of poetry texts can activate different neural networks and cognitive-affection processes.

Stimuli other than appreciating literature have also been found to have neural correlates of the feeling of beauty. Kawabata and Zeki (2004) found that the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) is differentially engaged during the viewing of beautiful paintings. Previous research using other stimuli in the visual esthetic domain (Kirk, 2008; Kirk et al., 2009a,b; Lacey et al., 2011; Ishizu and Zeki, 2013; Flexas et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016) and the music esthetic domain (Ishizu and Zeki, 2011) has led to similar conclusions. The insula is another key brain region involved in feelings of beauty. This reflects the "viscerality" of esthetic perception (Cupchik et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2011; Flexas et al., 2014). Jacobs et al. (2012) found that the frontomedial cortex and the amygdala appear to be selectively sensitive to beauty during beauty judgments. In addition, the lingual gyrus has been shown to be activated in some studies of beauty (Kawabata and Zeki, 2004; Vartanian and Goel, 2004; Mizokami et al., 2014; Vartanian and Skov, 2014). There are no consistent conclusions regarding the brain regions that are important for the feeling of beauty thus far.

In sum, the main purpose of our experiment was to investigate the neural substrates of the experience of beauty induced by appreciating Chinese poetry. Changes in regional cerebral blood flow can be measured during the appreciation of Chinese poetry to test our hypothesis. Our study was based on the following hypotheses:

H1. The basis of the esthetic appreciation of Chinese poetry is similar to that of German proverbs and English poems.

Brain activity during the appreciation of literature has been investigated using other types of literary material, such as German proverbs (Bohrn et al., 2013) and English poems (Zeman et al., 2013; O'Sullivan et al., 2015). However, the brain activity induced by the appreciation of Chinese poetry is still unknown. We expect that there is some consistency in the neural basis of the effects of appreciating literature in any type or form.

H2. Comparison of brain activity patterns observed during the appreciation of Chinese poetry to those observed during the reading of prose will reveal significant activation patterns in specific brain regions (e.g., OFC and insula) that are related to the appreciation of beauty. This is in accordance with previous research on the appreciation of beauty in the visual and auditory arts.

Previous studies on the esthetic appreciation of visual and auditory arts have shown that the feeling of beauty may recruit cortical systems such as the OFC (e.g., Kawabata and Zeki, 2004; Kirk, 2008; Kirk et al., 2009a,b; Lacey et al., 2011; Ishizu and Zeki, 2013; Flexas et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016) and insula (e.g., Cupchik et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2011; Flexas et al., 2014). Therefore, we hypothesize that comparing brain activity patterns observed during the appreciating Chinese poetry to those observed during the reading of prose can reveal significant activation in brain regions related to the appreciation of beauty induced by other art forms, especially in the OFC and the insula. Differences in brain activation induced by the reading of poetry vs. prose have previously been studies (Zeman et al., 2013; O'Sullivan et al., 2015). However, there are no consistent conclusions regarding this issue. Our study should validate the results obtained by other researchers and identify brain regions associated with the esthetic of poetry. The neural correlates of the appreciation of beauty induced by Chinese poetry should recruit the cortical system in a similar manner to those of the much better investigated esthetic appreciation of other art forms.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Twenty-eight right-handed participants (mean age: 19 years; range: 18–21 year; 14 women and 14 men) who were healthy and had normal vision or corrected-to-normal vision participated in this study. The participants were good at reading¹. Bad readers (e.g., those with dyslexia) were excluded. None of the participants had received special poetry education and all were naive to the hypothesis of this experiment. All participants voluntarily agreed to participate in this study and signed a written informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. The study was supported and sponsored by the Human Ethics Committee of the Southwest University for the Brain Mapping Research. The participants received financial rewards at the end of the study.

Stimuli

Two types of stimuli were used: poetry and prose. Each group of stimuli comprised 25 items (samples of the materials are shown in **Figure 1**). The stimuli shown to the participants were identical. All of the selected poems were popular *Qi Yan Jue Ju* (*Qijue* in short; i.e., seven-character quatrain), which is a type of famous Chinese poetry. In order to better study and research the neural substrates of esthetic beauty induced by appreciating Chinese poetry, high-quality poems were chosen first. Highquality Chinese poetry has the following features:

¹Our research focuses on the appreciation of Chinese poetry while reading silently by oneself. Reading aloud or being read to by others is not considered here.



- (1) The language of the poetry is succinct and the wording of the poetry is fastidious.
- (2) The poetry displays abundant and multiple artistic conception tastes.
- (3) The rhythms of the poetry are strictly in accordance with the standards of Chinese poetry.
- (4) There are only few words that are rarely used in poetry.
- (5) The poetry is liked by individuals from different times.

There are many different types of high-quality Chinese poetry. In this study, we chose QiJue as our experimental stimuli for three reasons. First, Qijue has high artistic value, which individuals appreciate. Second, Qijue has a very formal style. Qijue has strict requirements for sentence number in each poem and for character number in each sentence. There are generally four sentences in each poem and seven characters in each sentence. Third, QiJue is marked by strict tonal patterns and rhyme schemes constituting a well-structured prosodic hierarchy (Li and Yang, 2010). Because of this feature, we were able to ensure that all poems had the same number of words, sentence length, tonal patterns, rhythm, and rhyme. The poems used in the experiment were chosen from Chinese Literature Education and were equally familiar to all participants. The prose selections, which served as the control condition stimuli, lacked poetry characteristics and stylistic features, but had valid literal interpretations. The topics of the carefully chosen prose selections were familiar to the participants (simple statements regarding world-knowledge). Lexical parameters, such as the number of words and sentence length, were matched across the prose selections and were identical to those of the poems. The font type, font color, font size, and line spacing were consistent in all of the texts.

Procedure

The trials were presented using an event-related design while the participants were in the scanner. The Chinese poetry and the prose selections were randomly sorted and appeared in succession. In order to directly compare our results to those of researchers who have explored brain activity correlated with beauty, using other types of stimuli (Vartanian and Goel, 2004; Jacobsen et al., 2006; Winston et al., 2007; Kirk et al., 2009b), we decided to adopt experimental procedures similar to those used in the above studies. While we based our procedures on the above research, we made some improvements to the procedures in our study. Chinese poetry and prose were read during the scan. Similar functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) research regarding the appreciation of Chinese poetry has not been conducted before. Therefore, a behavioral preexperiment was designed to test the durations of the stimuli. We found that the average time required for the participants to appreciate a poem sufficiently was 11.33 s. We therefore used 12 s as the reading time in the fMRI experiment. After reading and appreciating the stimuli, the participants were required to provide an explicit esthetic judgment. Our experiment was thus different from a previous study that used an implicit esthetic judgment (Bohrn et al., 2013). We chose to include an explicit esthetic judgment task during the fMRI because it was likely to enhance the effects of the stimuli by requiring the participants



to pay attention to the esthetic qualities of the stimuli. This task also increased the possibility that the participants would engage in the more advanced cognitive stages of the interpretation and evaluation of art-specific attributes despite the wide range of other processes that may subconsciously impact the esthetic experience (Leder et al., 2004). Furthermore, the time required to appreciate Chinese poetry was obviously longer than that required to read a proverb. This also contributed to our decision to choose an explicit esthetic judgment task.

Before entering the scanner, the participants received complete instructions regarding the research, a consent form, and a personal information form. A brief practice session was also carried out. Once inside the scanner, the participant's head was fixed using foam pads, which minimized the motions of the participant's head. The stimuli were displayed on a backprojection screen positioned at the bottom of the scanner. The stimuli were viewed via a mirror placed on top of the head coil. The responses of the participants were recorded using two fiber-optic button boxes tied to the participant's right and left hands. E-Prime (Psychological Software Tools, Inc., Sharpsburg, PA, United States) was used to present and time the stimuli, and to collect data.

Our experiment consisted of two runs, each of which consisted of 25 trials. Each run started with a display of the word "ready" on the screen, which was followed a dummy scan for 16 s. The 25 trials were then presented consecutively. Each trial was initiated by a 2-s display of a fixation cross at the center of the viewing screen and was followed by a stimulus. The stimulus was presented for 12 s. During the presentation of the stimulus, the participants were asked to focus on appreciating the stimulus in silence. After appreciating the stimulus, the participants were requested to complete an esthetic judgment task, which consisted of rating the beauty of the stimulus on a scale ranging from 1 (no sense of beauty) to 4 (great sense of beauty). The participants were asked to provide their ratings within 2 s. Two fiber-optic button boxes were held in the participants' right and left hands. Each button box had two buttons. The buttons represented 1, 2, 3, and 4, respectively. Half of the participants used their right hands to press 1 and 2, and the other half used their left hands to press 1 and 2 when entering their answers. A blank screen was displayed after the rating task. The inter-trial intervals were randomly chosen to last 6, 8, or 10 s. Each run lasted for approximately 616 s. Every subject took part in both runs. There was a 3-min break between the two runs. Figure 2 illustrates the task and the procedures.

fMRI Acquisition

Whole-brain functional data were acquired using a 3T Siemens scanner (Siemens Magnetom Trio TIM, Erlangen, Germany). During the visual presentations, blood oxygen level-dependent imaging was performed using a single-shot echo-planar imaging sequence with the following parameters: interslice skip = 0.99 mm; number of slices = 32; repetition time = 2,000 ms; echo time = 30 ms; flip angle = 90°; field of view = 220 mm × 220 mm; matrix size = 64×64 ; voxel size = $3.4 \text{ mm} \times 3.4 \text{ mm} \times 3 \text{ mm}$. Structural data were acquired using T1-weighted images recorded from 176 1-mm-thick slices with an in-plane resolution of $1 \times 1 \text{ mm}$ (repetition time = 1,900 ms; echo time = 2.52 ms; flip angle = 9°; field of view = 250 mm × 250 mm).

Data Analysis

Functional images were preprocessed using SPM8², which was implemented in MATLAB 2014 (Mathworks Inc., Sherborn, MA, United States). The first five images were discarded to achieve steady magnet states. For T2*-weighted images, the slice order was corrected through slice timing, and head movements > 2 mm or 2° were removed. The T1-weighted images were co-registered to the mean echo-planar images and segmented into white matter, gray matter, and cerebrospinal fluid. The echo-planar images were then normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute space using structural information obtained during the co-registration and segmentation. The voxel size was 3 mm× 3 mm× 3 mm. Spatial smoothing was performed using a Gaussian kernel of 8 mm × 8 mm × 8 mm at full width at half maximum.

As the first-level analysis, a general linear model was applied to the fMRI time-series wherein stimulus onset was modeled as a single impulse response function. The data were then convolved with the canonical hemodynamic response function. We modeled two conditions of interest: poetry and prose. Head movement parameters were calculated based on the realignment procedure, and were included in the model as covariates of no interest. A high-pass filter with a cutoff of 128 s was used to remove low-frequency signal drifts. As the second-level analysis, activation patterns induced by appreciating Chinese poetry were obtained using a one-sample *t*-test. We used the contrast between appreciating poetry and reading prose to identify brain regions related to feelings of beauty induced by the appreciation of Chinese poetry (poetry > prose). False discovery rate-corrected *p* values < 0.05 were considered significant. A cluster size threshold of 40 was used.

RESULTS

Behavioral Results

The mean esthetic judgment rating scores for the Chinese poetry and the prose selections were 3.58 ± 0.64 and 1.33 ± 0.70 , respectively. The frequencies of the beauty ratings of the poetry and the prose selections by the participants are shown in **Figure 3**. The Chinese poetry had high beauty ratings, while the prose selections had low beauty ratings. Comparisons between the ratings of the Chinese poetry and those of the prose selections indicate that participants reading Chinese poetry provided

²www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm



FIGURE 3 | Frequencies of beauty scores. The participants were requested to rate the stimuli on a beauty scale after reading the Chinese poetry or prose selections. The scale ranged from 1 to 4. A score of 1 indicated no sense of beauty, 2 indicated a weak sense of beauty, 3 indicated a fair sense of beauty, and 4 indicated a great sense of beauty.



FIGURE 4 | Areas of brain activation during the appreciation of Chinese poetry (p < 0.001, FDR corrected).

significantly higher ratings than those reading prose (t = 61.49, p < 0.0001, Cohen's d = 3.35). Participants who read Chinese poetry felt more beauty than those reading prose.

fMRI Results

Areas of Brain Activation During the Appreciation of Chinese Poetry

The areas of brain activation during the appreciation of Chinese poetry are depicted in **Figure 4**. Significant activation was found in the bilateral inferior frontal gyri, bilateral inferior temporal gyri, left inferior parietal gyrus, left parahippocampal gyrus, left lingual gyrus, bilateral occipital lobes, left fusiform, bilateral insula, left supplementary motor area (SMA), and left precentral gyrus. Appreciating Chinese poetry induced massive activation of bilateral parts of the cerebral hemispheres.



FIGURE 5 | Brain activation during the appreciation of Chinese poetry vs. that of prose (p < 0.001, FDR corrected). OFC, orbitofrontal cortex; INS, insula; FFG, fusiform gyrus; SMA, supplementary motor area; PreCG, precentral gyrus.

TABLE 1 | Areas of brain activation during the appreciation of Chinese poetry vs. that of prose (p < 0.001, FDR corrected).

Brain regions	Hemisphere	MNI coordinates			t-score	Cluster size
		x	у	z		
Inferior OFC	L	-30	29	-6	5.82	35
Insula	L	-30	21	9	7.38	100
	R	33	24	6	7.15	66
Fusiform	L	-30	-36	-18	6.70	87
SMA	L	-3	21	45	6.42	125
Precentral gyrus	L	-33	-6	57	6.24	212

FDR, false discovery rate; MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute; OFC, orbitofrontal cortex; SMA, supplementary motor area.

Differences Between the Appreciation of Chinese Poetry and That of Prose

To investigate the neural substrates of the feeling of beauty induced by appreciating Chinese poetry, a subtraction analysis comparing the appreciation of Chinese poetry to that of prose was conducted to determine potential differences in blood oxygenation level dependent signal levels during the reading. There were significantly higher activation levels in the left inferior OFC, left fusiform, bilateral insula, left SMA, and left precentral gyrus (**Figure 5** and **Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

Chinese poetry is a special form of poetry and is deeply loved by readers worldwide. Individuals appreciate Chinese poetry in a subjective and engaged manner while experiencing the mood of the work, the feelings it evokes, and the poetic imagery it implies. Poetry, as the interlude of language and music, has phonological features such as those found in music. These phonological features can influence the appreciation of poetry (Lerdahl, 2001; Li and Yang, 2010). The meter and rhyme of poetry also have an impact on esthetic appreciation (Obermeier et al., 2013). Individuals are able to feel beauty during the appreciation of poetry. This has been demonstrated by our behavioral results. Participants were requested to rate the beauty induced by appreciating Chinese poetry and that induced by prose on a scale ranging from 1 (no sense of beauty) to 4 (great sense of beauty). When reading Chinese poetry, the participants felt high levels of beauty (M = 3.58, standard deviation = 0.64) and assigned a rating 4 to 65.43% of the stimuli and a rating of 1 to only 0.43% of the stimuli. In contrast, the participants reading prose felt low levels of beauty (M = 1.33, standard deviation = 0.70) and assigned a rating of 1 to 78.43% of the stimuli, and a rating of 4 to only 2% of stimuli (Figure 3). The behavioral results thus indicate that the participants felt beauty when reading Chinese poetry and that the beauty felt was significantly higher than that felt during the reading of prose. The feeling of beauty is one of the reasons that we enjoy reading Chinese poetry, although the processes that occur in our brains during the appreciation of Chinese poetry and why we feel beauty while appreciating Chinese poetry are still unknown.

Previous researchers have explored the secrets of poetry at a neural level, e.g., Al'tman la (1995). However, earlier studies were devoted to analysis of the mental state under poetic inspiration and produced no consistent conclusions regarding the neural mechanisms underlying the appreciation of poetry. Here we were interested in brain activation related to the appreciation of Chinese poetry. Our analysis of the blood oxygenation leveldependent signals during the appreciation of Chinese poetry revealed significant activation in large parts of the brain (see Figure 4). Scattered regions in both cerebral hemispheres were activated. Some of the activated regions were related to visual stimulus perception, sentence reading, and semantic processing. This finding is partly in accordance with previous research on the esthetic appreciation of other forms of literature. Bohrn et al. (2013) have reported that large parts of the left frontal lobe, bilateral middle temporal gyri, bilateral superior temporal gyri, bilateral occipital lobes, and bilateral precentral gyri were activated during the reading of proverbs. The left inferior frontal gyrus, the bilateral occipital lobes, and the left precentral gyrus are areas that were activated in both studies. Zeman et al. (2013) showed that the reading of both poetry and prose can lead to activation of the left inferior frontal gyrus, left precentral gyrus, left middle temporal gyrus, bilateral middle occipital gyri, and left mid-fusiform cortex. The same regions were also activated in our study. Specifically, we observed activation of the left inferior frontal gyrus, left precentral gyrus, bilateral occipital gyri, and left fusiform. These findings suggest that reading literature or poetry of any kind leads to the activation of similar neural substrates. This supports our hypothesis H1. Among these related regions, the bilateral occipital lobes were strongly activated when reading Chinese poetry. This indicates that the brain can receive visual stimulation from the poetry and induce intense visual attention to beautiful visual objects (Cela-Conde et al., 2004). The activations of the bilateral inferior frontal gyri, bilateral inferior temporal

gyri, left inferior parietal gyrus, left parahippocampal gyrus, and left lingual gyrus have been reported during sentence reading and semantic processing (Mechelli et al., 2000; Keller et al., 2001; Binder et al., 2009). Activation of the bilateral middle frontal gyri is related to rhymes and tones in the reading of Chinese text (Gandour et al., 2003). These findings indicate that the process of appreciating Chinese poetry involves at a minimum the perception of the visual words, sentence reading, and the semantic interpretation of the poetry.

Appreciating Chinese poetry led to the activation of other parts of the brain in addition to those described above. These regions were differentially activated during the appreciation of Chinese poetry vs. the prose selections. The contrast between the appreciation of poetry and that of prose was reflected in the activation of a distributed network including the left inferior OFC, bilateral insula, left fusiform, left SMA, and left precentral gyrus (Figure 5 and Table 1). Among these regions, the OFC and the insula are key substrates of the feeling of beauty. These two regions have been identified as important "esthetic centers" in the human brain (Brown et al., 2011). Brown et al. (2011) carried out the most comprehensive analysis of neuroesthetic processing by carrying out voxel-based meta-analyses of 93 neuroimaging studies of positive-valence esthetic appraisal across four sensory modalities. The results of the above investigation indicate that the most concordant area of activation across all four modalities is the right anterior insula. The authors of the above study the co-activation of the sensory-specific regions of the OFC and a supermodel area located in the anterior insula are involved in the overall process of esthetic appreciation. Furthermore, Blood and Zatorre (2001) found that the OFC and the insula took part in the appreciation of music and were related to musical "chills," which is a phenomenon that occurs during esthetic appreciation. In addition, Zeman et al. (2013) reported similar results using the experimental poetic material.

We observed differences in the activation of the left inferior OFC while the participants appreciate Chinese poetry vs. prose. The OFC, and especially the medial OFC, has been shown to be important for the feeling of beauty by previous studies on different art forms (Blood and Zatorre, 2001; Kawabata and Zeki, 2004; Jacobsen et al., 2006; Di Dio et al., 2007; Kirk et al., 2009b; Zhang et al., 2016). Kawabata and Zeki (2004) suggested that activation of the OFC correlates with judgments of beauty and ugliness. Kirk et al. (2009a) compared experts and non-experts in their appreciation of architectural stimuli and concluded that the response profile of the medial OFC in both groups had a positive linear correlation with esthetic ratings. The OFC is sensitive to the magnitude of the esthetic value. This is supported by studies of reward processing, which show that the relative reward values of the stimuli are reflected by the amplitudes of neural activity in the OFC (Kringelbach, 2005). The hypothesis of valence processing, which was introduced by Kringelbach (2005), states that the medial OFC is associated with positive valence, while the lateral OFC is involved in negative valence. As mentioned above, the OFC has an important role in the feeling of beauty. We thus assume that it also plays a key role in the feeling of beauty induced by Chinese poetry.

Activation of the bilateral insula in our study indicates that it may be involved in the generation of esthetic emotions when the participant is appreciating the beauty of Chinese poetry. This result agrees very well with previous studies of esthetics in other domains. Di Dio et al. (2007) have shown that the right anterior insula is activated when participants view objectively beautiful sculptures when compared to sculptures modified to be less proportional. The authors propose that the positive feeling elicited by viewing the canonical sculptures is mediated by a cortical network involving the anterior insula. Cupchik et al. (2009) have reported that esthetic perception activates the bilateral insula. They believe that the bilateral insula play important roles in esthetic emotions. Two other large-scale meta-analyses of neuroimaging studies on esthetic appreciation also concluded that the anterior insula is a key structure in experiencing esthetic emotions. The insula, and especially the anterior insula, is known to play a critical role in emotional processing (Craig, 2010). The left side of the insula is associated with the evaluation of positive emotions, while the right side is associated with the evaluation of negative emotions (Craig, 2005, 2010; Tsukiura and Cabeza, 2011). Leder et al. (2004) have suggested that the insula is involved in "continuous affective evaluation". Compared to prose, Chinese poetry contain more complex and abundant emotions. Therefore, appreciating the beauty of Chinese poetry produces many explicit esthetic emotions, which probably involve the function of the insula. We found significantly higher activation of the bilateral insula in participants appreciating Chinese poetry vs. those reading prose.

In addition to the left inferior OFC and the bilateral insula, the left fusiform, the left precentral gyrus, and the left SMA were significantly more highly activated during the reading of poetry vs. that of prose. Similar results have been reported in previous studies of esthetics using words as stimuli (Bohrn et al., 2013; Zeman et al., 2013; Hsu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). These areas are thus probably related to the process of reading and understanding of words and literature. The left fusiform is associated with reading single words, and is often described as the visual word form area (Jobard et al., 2003). Some researchers also hypothesize that this area is dedicated to determining and understanding word meanings (Devlin et al., 2006). The left precentral gyrus had heightened activation in response to Chinese poetry. This activation may be linked to motor activation via the processes of understanding (Pulvermuller et al., 2005). Activation of these regions is mainly involved in the perception of esthetics.

Based on the discussion above, the fMRI results confirm our hypothesis H2. We compared brain activity patterns during the appreciation of Chinese poetry to those during the reading of prose. We found significant activation in specific brain regions (e.g., OFC and insula) related to the appreciation of beauty. This result is in accordance with those of studies of brain regions related to the feeling of beauty induced by other art forms.

Here, we investigated the neural correlates of feeing beauty induced by the appreciation of Chinese poetry. Appreciation of Chinese poetry is a very complicated and complex process, and involves the perception of words, sentence reading,

comprehension of poetry, and the processing of esthetic emotion. Appreciating Chinese poetry thus requires different brain regions to work together. The bilateral inferior frontal gyri, bilateral inferior temporal gyri, left inferior parietal gyrus, left parahippocampal gyrus, left lingual gyrus, bilateral occipital lobes, left fusiform, bilateral insula, left SMA, and left precentral gyrus were more strongly activated during the appreciation of Chinese poetry. Our behavioral results indicate that reading Chinese poetry leads to much higher feelings of beauty than reading prose. Investigating the differences between the appreciation of Chinese poetry and that of prose can thus help us to better understand the neural substrates of beauty when appreciating Chinese poetry. We found increased activation in the left inferior OFC, left fusiform, bilateral insula, left SMA, and left precentral gyrus during the appreciation of Chinese poetry when compared to the reading of prose. These findings suggest that some of the neural correlates associated with feelings of beauty induced by Chinese poetry are the same as those activated by stimuli from other esthetic domains. While the present research is a tentative exploration, our findings suggest the possibility that the above regions are closely associated with feelings of beauty induced by Chinese poetry. The concrete mechanisms underlying the activation of these regions and their association with feelings of beauty induced by Chinese poetry merits further exploration in future studies.

REFERENCES

- Aharon, I., Etcoff, N., Ariely, D., Chabris, C. F., O'Connor, E., and Breiter, H. C. (2001). Beautiful faces have variable reward value: fMRI and behavioral evidence. *Neuron* 32, 537–551. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00491-3
- Al'tman la, A. (1995). Neiropsikhologicheskaia gipoteza mekhanizmov poeticheskogo vdokhnoveniia [The neuropsychological hypothesis of the mechanisms of poetic inspiration]. *Zh. Vyss. Nerv. Deiat. Im. I P Pavlova* 45, 227–241.
- Binder, J. R., Desai, R. H., Graves, W. W., and Conant, L. L. (2009). Where is the semantic system? A critical review and meta-analysis of 120 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cereb. Cortex* 19, 2767–2796. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhp055
- Blood, A. J., and Zatorre, R. J. (2001). Intensely pleasurable responses to music correlate with activity in brain regions implicated in reward and emotion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 11818–11823. doi: 10.1073/pnas.19135 5898
- Bohrn, I. C., Altmann, U., Lubrich, O., Menninghaus, W., and Jacobs, A. M. (2013). When we like what we know-a parametric fMRI analysis of beauty and familiarity. *Brain Lang.* 124, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2012. 10.003
- Brattico, E., and Pearce, M. (2013). The neuroaesthetics of music. *Psychol. Aesthet. Creat. Arts* 7, 48–61. doi: 10.1037/a0031624
- Brown, S., Gao, X. Q., Tisdelle, L., Eickhoff, S. B., and Liotti, M. (2011). Naturalizing aesthetics: brain areas for aesthetic appraisal across sensory modalities. *Neuroimage* 58, 250–258. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011. 06.012
- Calvo-Merino, B., Glaser, D. E., Grezes, J., Passingham, R. E., and Haggard, P. (2005). Action observation and acquired motor skills: an fMRI study with expert dancers. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 1243–1249. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhi007
- Calvo-Merino, B., Jola, C., Glaser, D. E., and Haggard, P. (2008). Towards a sensorimotor aesthetics of performing art. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 911–922. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2007.11.003
- Cela-Conde, C. J., Marty, G., Maestu, F., Ortiz, T., Munar, E., Fernandez, A., et al. (2004). Activation of the prefrontal cortex in the human visual aesthetic

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Human Ethics Committee of the Southwest University for the Brain Mapping Research with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Human Ethics Committee of the Southwest University for the Brain Mapping Research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors worked together to design the experiment, prepared materials, conducted the experiment, and finally they analyzed the data and finished this paper. All the authors agreed that the final version of the manuscript is suitable for submission and approved to take responsibilities for every aspect of the whole work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Hongwen Song, Jingxi Liao, Pan Feng, Shuang Song, and Shunmin Zhang for their valuable support.

perception. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 6321-6325. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0401427101

- Craig, A. D. (2005). Forebrain emotional asymmetry: a neuroanatomical basis? Trends Cogn. Sci. 9, 566–571. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.10.005
- Craig, A. D. (2010). The sentient self. Brain Struct. Funct. 214, 563–577. doi: 10.1007/s00429-010-0248-y
- Cross, E. S., and Ticini, L. F. (2012). Neuroaesthetics and beyond: new horizons in applying the science of the brain to the art of dance. *Phenomenol. Cogn. Sci.* 11, 5–16. doi: 10.1007/s11097-010-9190-y
- Cupchik, G. C., Vartanian, O., Crawley, A., and Mikulis, D. J. (2009). Viewing artworks: contributions of cognitive control and perceptual facilitation to aesthetic experience. *Brain Cogn.* 70, 84–91. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2009.01.003
- Devlin, J. T., Jamison, H. L., Gonnerman, L. M., and Matthews, P. M. (2006). The role of the posterior fusiform gyrus in reading. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 18, 911–922. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2006.18.6.911
- Di Dio, C., Macaluso, E., and Rizzolatti, G. (2007). The golden beauty: brain response to classical and renaissance sculptures. *PLoS One* 2:e1201. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0001201
- Flexas, A., Rossello, J., de Miguel, P., Nadal, M., and Munar, E. (2014). Cognitive control and unusual decisions about beauty: an fMRI study. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 8:520. doi: 10.3389/Fnhum.2014.00520
- Gandour, J., Xu, Y., Wong, D., Dzemidzic, M., Lowe, M., Li, X., et al. (2003). Neural correlates of segmental and tonal information in speech perception. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 20, 185–200. doi: 10.1002/hbm.10137
- Hsu, C. T., Conrad, M., and Jacobs, A. M. (2014). Fiction feelings in Harry Potter: haemodynamic response in the mid-cingulate cortex correlates with immersive reading experience. *Neuroreport* 25, 1356–1361. doi: 10.1097/WNR. 000000000000272
- Ishai, A., Fairhall, S. L., and Pepperell, R. (2007). Perception, memory and aesthetics of indeterminate art. *Brain Res. Bull.* 73, 319–324. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull. 2007.04.009
- Ishizu, T., and Zeki, S. (2011). Toward a brain-based theory of beauty. *PLoS One* 6:e21852. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021852
- Ishizu, T., and Zeki, S. (2013). The brain's specialized systems for aesthetic and perceptual judgment. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 37, 1413–1420. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12135

- Jacobs, A. M. (2015). Neurocognitive poetics: methods and models for investigating the neuronal and cognitive-affective bases of literature reception. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9:186. doi: 10.3389/Fnhum.2015.00186
- Jacobs, R. H. A. H., Renken, R., and Cornelissen, F. W. (2012). Neural correlates of visual aesthetics-beauty as the coalescence of stimulus and internal state. *PLoS One* 7:e31248. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031248
- Jacobsen, T., Schubotz, R. I., Hofel, L., and Von Cramon, D. Y. (2006). Brain correlates of aesthetic judgment of beauty. *Neuroimage* 29, 276–285. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2005.07.010
- Jobard, G., Crivello, F., and Tzourio-Mazoyer, N. (2003). Evaluation of the dual route theory of reading: a metanalysis of 35 neuroimaging studies. *Neuroimage* 20, 693–712. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00343-4
- Kawabata, H., and Zeki, S. (2004). Neural correlates of beauty. J. Neurophysiol. 91, 1699–1705. doi: 10.1152/jn.00696.2003
- Keller, T. A., Carpenter, P. A., and Just, M. A. (2001). The neural bases of sentence comprehension: a fMRI examination of syntactic and lexical processing. *Cereb. Cortex* 11, 223–237. doi: 10.1093/cercor/11.3.223
- Kirk, U. (2008). The neural basis of object-context relationships on aesthetic judgment. PLoS One 3:e3754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003754
- Kirk, U., Skov, M., Christensen, M. S., and Nygaard, N. (2009a). Brain correlates of aesthetic expertise: a parametric fMRI study. *Brain Cogn.* 69, 306–315. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2008.08.004
- Kirk, U., Skov, M., Hulme, O., Christensen, M. S., and Zeki, S. (2009b). Modulation of aesthetic value by semantic context: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 44, 1125– 1132. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.10.009
- Koelsch, S. (2010). Towards a neural basis of music-evoked emotions. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 14, 131–137. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.01.002
- Koelsch, S., and Skouras, S. (2014). Functional centrality of amygdala, striatum and hypothalamus in a "small-world" network underlying joy: an fMRI study with music. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 35, 3485–3498. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22416
- Kringelbach, M. L. (2005). The human orbitofrontal cortex: linking reward to hedonic experience. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 691–702. doi: 10.1038/nrn1747
- Lacey, S., Hagtvedt, H., Patrick, V. M., Anderson, A., Stilla, R., Deshpande, G., et al. (2011). Art for reward's sake: visual art recruits the ventral striatum. *Neuroimage* 55, 420–433. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.11.027
- Leder, H., Belke, B., Oeberst, A., and Augustin, M. D. (2004). A model of aesthetic appreciation and aesthetic judgments. *Br. J. Psychol.* 95, 489–508. doi: 10.1348/ 0007126042369811
- Lerdahl, F. (2001). The sounds of poetry viewed as music. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 930, 337–354. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb05743.x
- Li, W., and Yang, Y. (2010). Perception of Chinese poem and its electrophysiological effects. *Neuroscience* 168, 757–768. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.03.069
- Ludtke, J., Meyer-Sickendieck, B., and Jacobs, A. M. (2014). Immersing in the stillness of an early morning: testing the mood empathy hypothesis of poetry reception. *Psychol. Aesthet. Creat. Arts* 8, 363–377. doi: 10.1037/a0036826
- Mechelli, A., Humphreys, G. W., Mayall, K., Olson, A., and Price, C. J. (2000). Differential effects of word length and visual contrast in the fusiform and lingual gyri during reading. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 267, 1909–1913. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2000.1229
- Mizokami, Y., Terao, T., Hatano, K., Hoaki, N., Kohno, K., Araki, Y., et al. (2014). Difference in brain activations during appreciating paintings and photographic analogs. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:478. doi: 10.3389/Fnhum.2014.00478
- Obermeier, C., Menninghaus, W., von Koppenfels, M., Raettig, T., Schmidt-Kassow, M., Otterbein, S., et al. (2013). Aesthetic and emotional effects of

meter and rhyme in poetry. Front. psychol. 4:10. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00 010

- O'Sullivan, N., Davis, P., Billington, J., Gonzalezdiaz, V., and Corcoran, R. (2015). "Shall I compare thee": the neural basis of literary awareness, and its benefits to cognition. *Cortex* 73, 144–157. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2015.08.014
- Pearce, M. T., Zaidel, D. W., Vartanian, O., Skov, M., Leder, H., Chatterjee, A., et al. (2016). Neuroaesthetics: the cognitive neuroscience of aesthetic experience. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 11, 265–279. doi: 10.1177/174569161562 1274
- Pulvermuller, F., Hauk, O., Nikulin, V. V., and Ilmoniemi, R. J. (2005). Functional links between motor and language systems. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21, 793–797. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03900.x
- Schrott, R., and Jacobs, A. M. (2011). Gehirn und Gedicht: Wie Wir Unsere Wirklichkeiten Konstruieren [Brain and Poetry: How we Construct our Realities]. Munchen: Hanser.
- Tsukiura, T., and Cabeza, R. (2011). Shared brain activity for aesthetic and moral judgments: implications for the beauty-is-good stereotype. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 6, 138–148. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsq025
- Vartanian, O., and Goel, V. (2004). Neuroanatomical correlates of aesthetic preference for paintings. *Neuroreport* 15, 893–897. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200404090-00032
- Vartanian, O., and Skov, M. (2014). Neural correlates of viewing paintings: evidence from a quantitative meta-analysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging data. *Brain Cogn.* 87, 52–56. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2014. 03.004
- Winston, J. S., O'Doherty, J., Kilner, J. M., Perrett, D. I., and Dolan, R. J. (2007). Brain systems for assessing facial attractiveness. *Neuropsychologia* 45, 195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.05.009
- Yeh, Y. C., Lin, C. W., Hsu, W. C., Kuo, W. J., and Chan, Y. C. (2015). Associated and dissociated neural substrates of aesthetic judgment and aesthetic emotion during the appreciation of everyday designed products. *Neuropsychologia* 73, 151–160. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.05.010
- Zatorre, R. J., and Salimpoor, V. N. (2013). From perception to pleasure: music and its neural substrates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 10430–10437. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1301228110
- Zeki, S., Romaya, J. P., Benincasa, D. M. T., and Atiyah, M. F. (2014). The experience of mathematical beauty and its neural correlates. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:68. doi: 10.3389/Fnhum.2014.00068
- Zeman, A., Milton, F., Smith, A., and Rylance, R. (2013). By heart an fMRI study of brain activation by poetry and prose. *J. Conscious. Stud.* 20, 132–158.
- Zhang, W., Lai, S. Y., He, X. Y., Zhao, X. R., and Lai, S. X. (2016). Neural correlates for aesthetic appraisal of pictograph and its referent: an fMRI study. *Behav. Brain Res.* 305, 229–238. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.02.029

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Gao and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Distraction Modulates Self-Referential Effects in the **Processing of Monetary and Social Rewards**

Jia Zhu^{1,2*†} and Youlong Zhan^{3†}

¹ Department of Psychology, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ² Department of Psychology, Hunan Agricultural University, Changsha, China, ³ Department of Psychology, Hunan University of Science and Technology, Xiangtan, China

A reward that is personally relevant tends to induce stronger pursuit motivation than a reward that is linked to other people. However, the role of attention in eliciting this "self-referential reward effect" remains unclear. In our two studies, we evaluated the significance of attention in self-referential reward processing utilizing an ownership paradigm, which required participants to complete a visual search task to win either monetary rewards (in Study 1) or social rewards (in Study 2) for themselves or for an acquaintance. Access to attentional resources was manipulated by sometimes including a distracting stimulus among the presented stimuli. The results of Study 1 revealed that a significant self-referential reward effect emerged under undistracted attentional conditions and was associated with improved task performance when self-owned monetary rewards were available. However, distracted attention impaired this self-referential reward effect. Moreover, distracted attention was also observed in the self-referential social reward processing in Study 2. These results suggested that distracted attention can impair the pursuit advantage for self-relevant rewards; self-referential processing is strongly dependent on attentional resources.

Keywords: self-relevance, attention, social reward, monetary reward, ownership

INTRODUCTION

The influence of the self on attentional processes has been recognized by psychologists. It has been proposed that humans are equipped with a mechanism that enables self-relevant information to be attended to rapidly and reliably (Gray et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2006; Turk et al., 2011a). Numerous studies have reported that when a stimulus is cued as being relevant to one's self, event-related potentials (ERPs) suggest a rapid increase in both visuospatial and executive attention to the stimulus (Herbert et al., 2011; Turk et al., 2011b; Fan et al., 2013; Northoff, 2016; Sui and Gu, 2017). The tendency for self-cues to capture attention is clearly advantageous, as information that is coupled with the self is likely to be of greater personal importance than material linked with other people. Reflecting this potential importance, a reward associated with oneself elicits a robust motivating advantage compared to a reward linked to another person (Krigolson et al., 2013; Sui and Humphreys, 2015; Zhan et al., 2016). Thus, the question of interest in the present study is whether the increased motivation to earn self-relevant rewards depends on the attentional resources devoted to self-cues.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Snehlata Jaswal Chaudhary Charan Singh University, India

Reviewed by:

Jiaiin Yuan. Southwest University, China Wenhai Zhang. Hengyang Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Jia Zhu m15273195888@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 10 August 2018 Accepted: 18 December 2018 Published: 09 January 2019

Citation:

Zhu J and Zhan Y (2019) Distraction Modulates Self-Referential Effects in the Processing of Monetary and Social Rewards. Front. Psychol. 9:2723. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02723

A number of studies have reported self-referential effects in reward processing and suggested that self- and reward-related processing either interacted or were independent in various external contexts (Northoff and Hayes, 2011). For instance, compared to other-relevant reward stimuli, self-relevant reward stimuli can be perceived faster during a series of perceptual matching tasks (Sui et al., 2015a,b), result in faster learning of reward rules in a social gambling task (Kwak et al., 2014), elicit larger P2 and P3, which indicate stronger respective attentional salience and motivational importance (Martín et al., 2016; Zhan et al., 2017), and evoke stronger neural activations in the reward region of the brain (Hassall et al., 2016). Therefore, these findings are consistent with the general notion that self-relevant items often have higher intrinsic value within individuals' subjective value systems compared to stimuli related to other people (Northoff, 2016). However, it is somewhat difficult to apply this to the nonevaluative self-referential reward effect described above, as participants were not required to relate the incoming rewards to the self. This theoretical gap could be bridged by consideration of the importance of attention in processing. Given the attention capture known to follow the perception of self-cues, this may enhance resource-intensive processing in self-referential processing contexts, such as owning objects and making outcome choices. This should elicit stronger pursuit motivation for selfrelevant rewards relative to other-relevant rewards and improve subsequent task performance.

Supporting this reasoning, our study argues that selfreferential reward effect can be described as a classical "endowment effect" (Hassall et al., 2016) that is dependent on the accessibility of attentional resources (van den Bos et al., 2010). Elaboration of incoming stimuli tends to be a process requiring additional attentional resources. For instance, previous studies have reported that distraction can influence the processing of emotional stimuli, as well as emotional regulation strategies (Paul et al., 2013; Li and Yuan, 2018). Moreover, studies on self-referential memory have observed that separating attention dramatically lowered recognition (Gardiner and Richardson-Klavehn, 2000; Gardiner et al., 2001; Turk et al., 2013). Such findings indicated that elaborative self-referential memory representations depended, to a greater extent, on the application of attentional resources at encoding compared to representations associated with other people. Additionally, Hickey and his colleagues have also demonstrated that distracted attention impairs the motivating effects of stimuli associated with rewards (Hickey et al., 2006, 2009, 2010). Specifically, participants' performance decreased when target stimuli were accompanied by distracting stimuli during a visual search task. These findings suggested that available attentional resources can impact the self-referential effect during the processing of rewards. Hence, we speculated that attentional allocation may be the mechanism that enables the existence of the self-referential reward effect, in which self-owned rewards evoke stronger pursuit motivation than other-owned rewards in full-attention conditions. However, distracted attention could impair this effect due to limited attentional resources.

To further confirm this speculation, the present study included two studies (using monetary and social rewards)

to identify whether inadequate resources have a selectively deleterious role on the self-referential reward effect. More specifically, we predicted that self-relevant monetary rewards might require resource-intensive processing and would therefore be affected by distracted-attention (DA) manipulations (Study 1). Consequently, we expected that only monetarily rewarded visual searches would decrease under DA conditions and not unrewarded visual searches. Furthermore, we examined whether there was a similar impairing effect of distracted attention on the self-referential social reward effect in Study 2.

STUDY 1

Sample Population and Design

In this study, 89 right-handed college students (42 males and 47 females aged 17-23 years) were included. All participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision and no known neurological impairments. Additionally, all participants were volunteers from Hunan Normal University and received academic credit in their undergraduate psychology courses for participation. We obtained specific informed consent from each participant for publishing information or images that could potentially reveal their identities in an online open-access publication. A 2 (referential cues: self-referential cue, otherreferential cue) \times 3 (reward cues: high monetary reward cue, low monetary reward cue, non-reward cue) \times 2 (attentional condition: distracting stimulus, no distracting stimulus) withinsubjects design was employed. All experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University. After fully understanding the study, each participant signed an informed consent form.

Stimuli and Tasks

Self-Association Task

Prior to the experiment, each participant was provided a name of an acquaintance with whom they were unfamiliar but greeted upon meeting. Throughout the coupling task, the red circle and triangle geometric shapes were, respectively assigned to labels representing the participant and the acquaintance in two sessions. For instance, participants were informed that "the triangle is your acquaintance" and "the circle represents yourself" (Sui et al., 2012). Among all participants, the orders of the shape-labeled pairs presented were randomized, and the associations between shape and label were counterbalanced. Following the associative directions, participants underwent a shape-label matched pair. A shape (covering $3.5^{\circ} \times 3.5^{\circ}$ visual angle) was presented above a white central fixation cross $(0.8^{\circ} \times 0.8^{\circ} \text{ visual angle})$. Of the two labels, one (the name of the participant and their acquaintance) (covering $1.76^{\circ}/2.52^{\circ} \times 1.76^{\circ}$ of visual angle) was shown beneath the fixation cross. Participants were assigned the tasks of determining whether the shape-label pair was equivalent as initially shown or if the shape and label were altered. Participants were informed that they could only go on to the next stage if they responded correctly in all of the trials; otherwise, the cycle was repeated.

Visual Search Task

The visual search arrays included 10 object outlines (line thickness of 0.3° visual angle), each appearing equidistant (9.1°) from a central fixation point and from the other. Objects were either diamonds $(4.2^{\circ} \times 4.2^{\circ})$ or circles $(3.4^{\circ} \text{ diameter})$, while each display contained only a singular uniquely shaped item. The unique item was either a diamond (while all other stimuli were circles) or a circle (while all other stimuli were diamonds). Among 80% of the trials, one of the homogenously shaped nontarget items were of unique color, such as red (with all other objects green) or vice versa. For each trial, distractor and target colors were determined randomly. A gray line, which was randomly oriented vertically or horizontally, was contained for each object $(0.3^{\circ} \times 1.5^{\circ})$. The sequence of events on the visual search task is presented in Figure 1. The task began with a fixation cross presented for 500ms, followed by a cue for 1000ms. Each potential reward size differed on three levels, as stated by the number of parallel lines in the cue. Absence of a reward was identified by an empty white circle, while a low reward (a value of 10 Yuan) was identified by a white circle with a horizontal line and a high reward (a value of 20 Yuan) was identified by a white circle with two horizontal lines. After a random interval of 600-1000 ms, the visual search task was presented for 4000ms. Feedback stimuli were shown for 500 ms following a variable target-feedback interval of 800-1000 ms, based on the reward magnitude for

the present trial and the participant's response. In the case of no-reward trials, a " $\sqrt{}$ " or "×" was presented as a feedback stimulus based on whether the button pressed was correct. In monetary reward trials where participants provided quick correct responses, monetary rewards of 10 or 20 Chinese Yuan banknotes were given as feedback stimuli. Finally, the cumulative points of the participant and their acquaintances were presented for 500 ms. During that task, participants were informed of their performance by viewing the cumulative points for reward feedback stimuli.

Procedure

The full experiment includes the self-association task and the visual search task. Before the experiment, all participants completed some exercises to become familiarized with the procedures. During the self-association task, participants formed two special pairs between shapes (the red circle and triangle geometric shapes) and labels (the self and acquaintance). They were then given a two-minute break, after which the participants were asked to complete the visual search task for monetary reward. Finally, participants were asked to complete a 7-point subjective rating regarding motivation for the three types of reward cues; for example, answering "how much do you desire to correctly respond to the cue stimuli?" with ratings ranging from 1 (no desire at all) to 7 (strongly desire). Stimuli presentation and the recording of RTs and ACC were accomplished using E-Prime



2.0 software (Psychology Software Tools, Pittsburgh, PA). The full experiment took about 25 min.

Data Analysis

Using repeated-measures of analysis of variance (ANOVA), RTs and accuracy were separately analyzed based on withinsubjects factors, which were referential cues (self-referential and other-referential), reward cues (high monetary reward, low monetary reward, and no reward), and attentional condition (distracting stimulus, no distracting stimulus). All data analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 20.0 (IBM Inc., New York, United States). Partial η^2 was shown as an effect size estimate. For all significant interactions, we conducted *post hoc* pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustments.

Results

The analyses of subjective rating scores revealed that the 20 Yuan (\$2.88) was more strongly desired than the 10 Yuan RMB (\$1.44), $t_{1,87} = 6.13$, p < 0.001. Also, the 10 Yuan RMB was more strongly desired than a same-sized blank paper, $t_{(1,87)} = 13.56$, p < 0.001. These results suggest that monetary reward was operationalized successfully.

Table 1 presents the mean accuracy rates and RTs. The accuracy rates reveal a main effect for the reward cues $(F_{(2,176)} = 27.05, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.24)$, with significantly higher average accuracy rates in the monetary reward condition compared to the no-reward condition; however, there were no significant differences between the high and low monetary reward conditions. Additionally, a main effect of referential cues $(F_{(1,88)} = 51.60, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.37)$ suggested a significantly higher average accuracy rate for the self-referential cues than for the acquaintance-referential cues. There was also a significant three-way interaction between reward cues, referential cues, and attentional condition, $F_{(2,176)} = 4.32$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$. Further simple effect analysis revealed that in the undistracted condition, participants demonstrated higher average accuracy rates for the self-referential cues than for the other-referential cues under three kinds of rewards conditions ($Fs_{(1.88)} = 15.60$ -18.75, ps < 0.001). However, in the distracted conditions, such self-referential reward effect was reduced under both high and low monetary rewards conditions ($F_{(1,88)} = 10.08, p < 0.001$, $F_{(1,88)} = 15.60, p < 0.001$) rather than in the no-rewards conditions, $F_{(1,88)} = 2.79$, p > 0.05 (Figure 2A).

TABLE 1 | Mean and SD of accuracy rate (%) and RTs (ms) in study 1.

Findings from the RTs show a main effect of reward cue ($F_{(2,176)} = 18.74$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.18$), presenting an associated increase in RTs in the monetary reward condition compared to no-reward condition, as well as faster RTs for high monetary rewards than for low monetary rewards. Additionally, a main effect of referential cue was observed ($F_{(1.88)} = 8.60$, p < 0.01, $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.09$), suggesting significantly faster RTs for the self-referential cues than the acquaintance-referential cues. The main effect of attentional condition was significant $(F_{(1,88)} = 24.97, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.22)$, suggesting significantly faster RTs for the target stimuli in the undistracted conditions than in the distracted conditions. In addition, we observed a significant interaction between reward cue and referential cue $(F_{(2,176)} = 10.09, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.10)$. Further simple effect analysis revealed that in the high and low monetary reward conditions, the participants demonstrated faster RTs for the self-referential cues than for the acquaintance-referential cues $(F_{(1.88)} = 27.12, p < 0.001, F_{(1.88)} = 7.39, p < 0.01).$ However, such differences in RTs were not observed in the no-reward condition ($F_{(1,88)} = 1.87, p > 0.05$). Furthermore, we found an associated interaction between referential cue and attentional condition ($F_{(2,176)} = 15.56$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$). Additional simple effect analysis revealed that the self-referential reward effect was only observed in the undistracted conditions $(F_{(1.88)} = 14.74, p < 0.001)$ and not in the distracted conditions $(F_{(1,88)} = 1.72, p > 0.05,$ **Figure 2B**).

Discussion

The findings from Study 1 indeed show an obvious self-referential reward effect, suggesting that participants' performances are better (e.g., higher accuracy rate and faster RTs) when earning self-owned monetary rewards as opposed to acquaintance-owned monetary rewards. Importantly, this self-referential reward effect was impaired under distracted attentional conditions. This was observed when self-referential cues, rather than acquaintancereferential cues, were associated with reduced performance when distracting stimuli were present. The pattern of responses observed during the full-attention condition was similar to findings from van den Bos et al. (2010). Specifically, they found that ownership effects are observed during recognition along with recollective experience. Additionally, the authors suggested that the advantage for self-relevant items would diminish when participants were completing a task with divided attention at the time of encoding. Turk et al. (2013) reported

		Accuracy rate		RTs		
		Self-reference	Acquaintance-reference	Self-reference	Acquaintance-reference	
Undistracted attention	No reward	0.65 ± 0.18	0.58 ± 0.22	722.55 ± 171.70	764.02 ± 202.29	
	Low reward	0.71 ± 0.20	0.63 ± 0.21	797.38 ± 134.28	832.57 ± 168.45	
	High reward	0.74 ± 0.19	0.66 ± 0.19	793.29 ± 124.34	848.28 ± 160.59	
Distracted attention	No reward	0.64 ± 0.19	0.61 ± 0.17	804.61 ± 128.70	807.02 ± 159.42	
	Low reward	0.74 ± 0.14	0.65 ± 0.15	798.28 ± 134.45	823.84 ± 158.15	
	High reward	0.74 ± 0.17	0.62 ± 0.17	811.61 ± 147.88	850.72 ± 126.60	



that while a self-referential effect in memory was observed under full-attention conditions, the memory benefit was lost during divided attention at the time of encoding. In the present study, self-owned rewards evoked stronger pursuit motivations and were associated with better performance than otherowned rewards in the undistracted conditions. However, the self-referential reward effects were impaired in the distracted conditions. According to literature on the general attentional requirements of elaborative encoding, as well as ownership studies on the patterns of brain activation (Cunningham et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2009; Krigolson et al., 2013), the present findings revealed that ownership effects occur solely when adequate attentional resources are available. However, other studies have reported the similarities and differences between monetary and social reward processing. For example, compared to monetary rewards, participants were given greater cognitive efforts for social rewards (Rademacher et al., 2014), and autistic children showed weaker attentional bias and lower performance for social rewards (Stavropoulos and Carver, 2014; Neuhaus et al., 2015). Recently, Wang et al. (2017) suggested that social and monetary rewards effectively improved performance for all age groups (children, adolescents, and adults) as reward size increased in the selection reaction time task, and social rewards showed resilient subjective incentive power compared to monetary rewards among children and adolescents. In sum, these studies indicated that monetary and social rewards have not only similar enhancement effects for cognitive processes, but also some considerable differences in intensity. However, it remains unclear whether the impairing effect of distraction was observed in the processing of social rewards.

STUDY 2

Participants and Design

In total, 108 right-handed college-aged participants (58 males and 50 females aged 16–24 years) were included in the study. All of the participants' vision was either normal or corrected-to-normal, and the subjects had no known neurological impairments. Additionally, all participants were volunteers who received academic credit in their undergraduate psychology courses at

Hunan Normal University in exchange for participating. A 2 (referential cues: self-referential, other-referential) \times 3 (reward cues: high social reward, low social reward, non-reward) \times 2 (attentional condition: distracting stimulus, no distracting stimulus) within-subjects design was employed. We expected that when comparing undistracted attentional conditions, the task performance in the presence of both self-referential and acquaintance-referential cues would be reduced in the distracted attentional conditions. All experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University. After fully understanding the study, each participant signed an informed consent form.

Stimuli and Procedure

The same experimental methods from Study 1 were used in Study 2, and the SID task was adopted to examine how self-reference affected the processing of social rewards given different attentional resources. The social rewards were 10 or 20 cartoon smiley faces (low and high social rewards, respectively), and the no-reward stimulus was a neutral cartoon face (Rademacher et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017). Hence, the only difference from Study 1 was the reward cues.

Results

The analyses of the subjective rating scores revealed that the 20 cartoon smiley faces were more strongly desired than the 10 cartoon smiley faces ($t_{(1,106)} = 13.11$, p < 0.001), and the 10 cartoon smiley faces were more strongly desired than the neutral faces ($t_{(1,106)} = 14.82$, p < 0.001). These results suggest that the social reward was operationalized successfully.

Table 2 presents the RTs and mean accuracy rates. The accuracy rates show a main effect of reward cue ($F_{(2,214)} = 22.70$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.18$), presenting significantly higher average accuracy rates for the social rewards compared to no reward, as well as significantly higher average accuracy rates for high social rewards than low social rewards. Additionally, a main effect of referential cue ($F_{(1,107)} = 36.57$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.26$) suggested a significantly higher average accuracy rate for the self-referential cues than for the acquaintance-referential cues. There were no

TABLE 2 | Mean and SD of accuracy rate (%) and RTs (ms) in study 2.

		Acci	uracy rate	RTs		
		Self-reference	Acquaintance-reference	Self-reference	Acquaintance-reference	
Undistracted attention No reward		0.63 ± 0.21	0.55 ± 0.19	687.30 ± 190.67	700.23 ± 197.34	
	Low reward	0.68 ± 0.21	0.61 ± 0.18	750.04 ± 175.06	779.24 ± 191.06	
	High reward	0.70 ± 0.20	0.64 ± 0.21	758.50 ± 179.11	803.67 ± 185.32	
Distracted attention	No reward	0.63 ± 0.18	0.59 ± 0.18	718.24 ± 202.03	725.51 ± 206.41	
	Low reward	0.69 ± 0.16	0.64 ± 0.18	759.24 ± 175.07	779.12 ± 196.39	
	High reward	0.72 ± 0.15	0.65 ± 0.17	780.69 ± 172.47	789.69 ± 190.45	
A		Self-reference	B 900 1 **	■Self-ra ■ Acqua	rference intan ce-reference	
$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.1 \\ 0 \end{array}$			800 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	Low reward High reward	No reward Low reward High reward Distracted attention	No reward Low reward Undistracted	0	vard High reward attention	
FIGURE 3 Mean accurat	cy (A) and reaction ti	me (B) under all conditions	in Study 2. Asterisks represent the	e significant level, ** $p < 0.0^{\circ}$	1.	

other significant main effects or interaction effects (each p > 0.13; Figure 3A).

The results for the RTs showed a main effect of reward cue $(F_{(2,214)} = 21.23, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.17)$, presenting significantly increased RTs for the social rewards compared to no reward and faster RTs for high social rewards than for low social rewards. Additionally, a main effect of referential cue was observed $(F_{(1,107)} = 8.36, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.10)$, suggesting associated faster RTs for the self-referential cues compared to the acquaintancereferential cues. A main effect of attentional condition was also observed ($F_{(1,107)} = 4.20, p < 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.09$), revealing significantly faster RTs in the undistracted conditions than in the distracted conditions. Additionally, we observed a significant three-way interaction between reward cue, referential cue, and attentional condition ($F_{(2,214)} = 6.72$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$). Further simple effect analysis revealed that in the undistracted conditions, participants demonstrated faster RTs with the selfreferential cues than with the other-referential cues under the low and high social reward conditions ($F_{(1,107)} = 6.56, p < 0.01$; $F_{(1,107)} = 16.36$, p < 0.001). However, a self-referential reward effect was not observed in the no-reward conditions. Moreover, in the distracted conditions, self-referential reward effects were not observed for any of the reward conditions ($Fs_{(1,107)} = 0.33-0.58$, *ps* > 0.05; **Figure 3B**).

Discussion

As observed in the first study, the findings from Study 2 further demonstrated that the self-referential social reward effect also was impaired under the distracted conditions. This evidence showed that self-reference could also promote

the pursuit of motivation for social reward, but only under full-attentional conditions. However, previous research has shown that individuals demonstrate different behavioral and neural responses while pursuing monetary and social rewards (Stavropoulos and Carver, 2014; Neuhaus et al., 2015). For example, Rademacher et al. (2014) found that participants applied greater cognitive efforts toward earning monetary reward cues compared to social reward cues. Recently, Wang et al. (2017) revealed that both social and monetary rewards successfully improved responding in all age groups (children, adolescents, and adults) as reward size increased in the selection reaction time task, and social rewards showed resilient subjective incentive power compared to monetary rewards among children and adolescents. As seen in Study 1 with monetary rewards, Study 2 also found an obvious self-referential reward effect in the pursuit of social rewards, though divided attention impaired this advantage. However, there were some differences from Study 1. Study 1 found that the impairing effect of divided attention was only observed in the no-reward conditions and not in the low or high reward conditions. Nevertheless, in Study 2, this impairment was observed in all reward conditions. These findings revealed that the impairing effect of distracted attention on self-referential monetary reward effect was modulated by reward value rather than self-referential social reward effect.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

In the present study, we explored the extent to which distracted attention during monetary and social reward pursuit impacts the reward advantage usually associated with self-owned items (Turk et al., 2011b; Krigolson et al., 2013). It was found that under undistracted conditions, an "ownership effect" (i.e., better performance for self-owned than for acquaintance-owned rewards) emerged in the low and high monetary conditions, whereas no effect of ownership was observed in the no-reward conditions. This pattern of responses in the undistracted attention condition replicated the behavioral findings from Krigolson et al. (2013), which reported that ownership effects were observed in a simple gambling task during which participants could "win" or "lose" prizes for themselves or for someone else. Moreover, this self-referential reward effect was observed in the pursuit of social rewards.

Given the effortful nature of elaborative encoding, it was expected that the advantage of self-referenced (i.e., self-owned) rewards would be diminished when participants were completing a distracted-attention task in pursuit of rewards. This pattern was found, with no ownership effect emerging under conditions of undistracted attention. It seems plausible to conclude from this pattern that attentional resources are required when engaging in elaborative reward processing for self-owned objects, which is not possible under conditions of serious resource depletion. This pattern of reward performance augments the evidence that selfreferential reward processing, relative to the processing of objects associated with other people, triggers rich, elaborative reward processing (Sui et al., 2015a,b), which is attentionally demanding. To our knowledge, the current study provides the first evidence that the self-reference effect in reward processing is underpinned by differences in attentional processing during the pursuit of rewards.

Interestingly, pursuit of acquaintance-owned rewards was unaffected by distracted attention, suggesting that relatively little elaboration of other-owned rewards takes place, even under undistracted attentional conditions. It is possible that with more power, a small effect of distracted attention would also have been observed in the pursuit of acquaintance-owned rewards, as some elaboration would be expected to support reward processing in this condition. However, the interaction between self-reference and attention was expected, because distracted attention should have a larger effect on self-referential reward processing, reducing the elaboration with which it is distinguished. Importantly, the value of the reward could modulate the influences of self-reference and attention on the pursuit of monetary rewards rather than social rewards. This impairing effect of distracted attention on self-referential reward effect was weak or nonexistent with greater value of monetary rewards. However, this modulation of reward value was not observed in the pursuit of social rewards. We speculate that college students might not be as sensitive to social rewards as they are to monetary rewards. College students are gradually integrating into society and pay increasing attention to money due to their increasing economic independence. Therefore, the value of monetary rewards has an advantage for motivating behavior, compared to social rewards such as cartoon smiles, among college students (Wang et al., 2017). Moreover,

this could also be because the incentive value of the social reward was reduced by repeated presentation (Demurie et al., 2012).

These novel findings suggesting that attention is crucial for the self-referential reward effects casts new light on the potential links between the ways in which the self influences human cognition. In particular, the link between the dependence on attention for self-reference effects and the well-known attentional-capturing effect of self-cues during reward processing is an interesting theoretical angle. The two effects could be causally related, as the attention recruited by self-cues could be the mechanism by which resource-dependent elaborative processing and proper motivation were evoked. Cues relating to other people, which do not attract the same degree of attention, could fail to benefit from these reward-enhancement processes; hence, distracted attention has little effect on pursuit motivation by other-relevant rewards. Moreover, this modulation of attention could be explained by the parallel relationship between self and reward, as the selfreferential reward effect was indeed affected by the availability of attentional resources. However, the present study did not assess reward seeking motivation. According to reinforcement sensitivity theory, individuals show differences in subjective sensitivity and behavioral approaches toward earning the same reward (Jackson, 2003). Thus, future studies on self-referential reward effects should consider individual differences in reward sensitivity.

CONCLUSION

The current study indicated that the processes underlying the monetary and social rewards of elaborative encoding and pursuit in response to self-cues are attentionally demanding. While an ownership effect is elicited under undistracted attentional conditions, this self-referential reward effect was impaired when attention was divided by distracting stimuli. Moreover, the impairment caused by distracted attention was weaker or nonexistent along when the value of monetary rewards, rather than social rewards, increased. The present study offers clear evidence that the reward enhancement associated with selfreferential reward processing is dependent on the availability of attentional resources.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ and YZ designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. JZ recruited participants and collected the data. YZ performed the data analyses.

FUNDING

This study was supported in part by grants from the Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province (2018JJ3246).

REFERENCES

- Cunningham, S. J., Turk, D. J., Macdonald, L. M., and Neil, M. C. (2008). Yours or mine? Ownership and memory. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 312–318. doi: 10.1016/ j.concog.2007.04.003
- Demurie, E., Roeyers, H., Baeyens, D., and Sonuga-Barke, E. (2012). The effects of monetary and social rewards on task performance in children and adolescents: liking is not enough. *Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res.* 21, 301–310. doi: 10.1002/ mpr.1370
- Fan, W., Chen, J., Wang, X.-Y., Cai, R., Tan, Q., Chen, Y., et al. (2013). Electrophysiological correlation of the degree of self-reference effect. *PLoS One* 8:e80289. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080289
- Gardiner, J. M., Gregg, V. H., Mashru, R., and Thaman, M. (2001). Impact of encoding depth on awareness of perceptual effects in recognition memory. *Mem. Cogn.* 29, 433–440. doi: 10.3758/BF03196394
- Gardiner, J. M., and Richardson-Klavehn, A. (2000). "Remembering and knowing," in *The Oxford Handbook of Memory*, eds E. E. Tulving and F. I. M. Craik (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 229–244.
- Gray, H. M., Ambady, N., Lowenthal, W. T., and Deldin, P. (2004). P300 as an index of attention to self-relevant stimuli. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 40, 216–224. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1031(03)00092-1
- Hassall, C. D., Silver, A., Turk, D. J., and Krigolson, O. E. (2016). We are more selfish than we think: the endowment effect and reward processing within the human medial-frontal cortex. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 69, 1–25. doi: 10.1080/ 17470218.2015.1091849
- Herbert, C., Pauli, P., and Herbert, B. M. (2011). Self-reference modulates the processing of emotional stimuli in the absence of explicit self-referential appraisal instructions. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 6, 653–661. doi: 10.1093/ scan/nsq082
- Hickey, C., Chelazzi, L., and Theeuwes, J. (2010). Reward changes salience in human vision via the anterior cingulate. J. Neurosci. 30, 11096–11103. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1026-10.2010
- Hickey, C., Di, L. V., and Mcdonald, J. J. (2009). Electrophysiological indices of target and distractor processing in visual search. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 760–775. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21039
- Hickey, C., Mcdonald, J. J., and Theeuwes, J. (2006). Electrophysiological evidence of the capture of visual attention. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 18, 604–613.
- Huang, Y., Wang, L., and Shi, J. (2009). When do objects become more attractive? The individual and interactive effects of choice and ownership on object evaluation. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 35, 713–722. doi: 10.1177/ 0146167209333046
- Jackson, C. J. (2003). Gray's reinforcement sensitivity theory: a psychometric critique. Pers. Individ. Differ. 34, 533–544. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(02) 00305-7
- Krigolson, O. E., Hassall, C. D., Balcom, L., and Turk, D. (2013). Perceived ownership impacts reward evaluation within medial-frontal cortex. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 13, 262–269. doi: 10.3758/s13415-012-0144-4
- Kwak, Y., Pearson, J., and Huettel, S. A. (2014). Differential reward learning for self and others predicts self-reported altruism. *PLoS One* 9:e107621. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0107621
- Li, H., and Yuan, J. (2018). The emotion regulation effect of unconscious distraction on the subclinical depression. *Chin. Sci. Bull.* 20, 2057–2070.
- Martín, R. S., Kwak, Y., Pearson, J. M., Woldorff, M. G., and Huettel, S. A. (2016). Altruistic traits are predicted by neural responses to monetary outcomes for self vs charity. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 11, 863–876. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw026
- Neuhaus, E., Bernier, R. A., and Beauchaine, T. P. (2015). Electrodermal response to reward and non-reward among children with autism. *Autism Res.* 8, 357–370. doi: 10.1002/aur.1451
- Northoff, G. (2016). Is the self a higher-order or fundamental function of the brain? The "basis model of self-specificity" and its encoding by the brain's spontaneous activity. *Cogn. Neurosci.* 7, 203–222. doi: 10.1080/17588928.2015.1111868

- Northoff, G., and Hayes, D. J. (2011). Is our self nothing but reward? *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 1019–1025. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.014
- Paul, S., Simon, D., Kniesche, R., Kathmann, N., and Endrass, T. (2013). Timing effects of antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation strategies. *Biol. Psychol.* 94, 136–142. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.05.019
- Rademacher, L., Salama, A., Gründer, G., and Spreckelmeyer, K. N. (2014). Differential patterns of nucleus accumbens activation during anticipation of monetary and social reward in young and older adults. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 9, 825–831. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst047
- Stavropoulos, K. K. M., and Carver, L. J. (2014). Reward anticipation and processing of social versus nonsocial stimuli in children with and without autism spectrum disorders. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 55, 1398–1408.
- Sui, J., and Gu, X. (2017). Self as object: emerging trends in self research. Trends Neurosci. 40, 643–653. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2017.09.002
- Sui, J., He, X., and Humphreys, G. W. (2012). Perceptual effects of social salience: evidence from self-prioritization effects on perceptual matching. *J. Exp. Psychol.* 38, 1105–1117. doi: 10.1037/a0029792
- Sui, J., and Humphreys, G. W. (2015). The interaction between self-bias and reward: evidence for common and distinct processes. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 68, 1952–1964. doi: 10.1080/17470218.2015.1023207
- Sui, J., Liu, M., Mevorach, C., and Humphreys, G. W. (2015a). The salient self: the left intraparietal sulcus responds to social as well as perceptual-salience after self-association. *Cerebral Cortex* 25, 1060–1068. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bht302
- Sui, J., Yankouskaya, A., and Humphreys, G. W. (2015b). Super-capacity me! super-capacity and violations of race independence for self-but not for rewardassociated stimuli. J. Exp. Psychol. 41, 441–452. doi: 10.1037/a0038288
- Sui, J., Zhu, Y., and Han, S. (2006). Self-face recognition in attended and unattended conditions: an event-related brain potential study. *Neuroreport* 17, 423–427. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000203357.65190.61
- Turk, D. J., Brady-van den Bos, M., Collard, P., Gillespie-Smith, K., Conway, M. A., and Cunningham, S. J. (2013). Divided attention selectively impairs memory for self-relevant information. *Mem. Cogn.* 41, 503–510. doi: 10.3758/s13421-012-0279-0
- Turk, D. J., Van Bussel, K., Brebner, J. L., and Toma, A. S. (2011a). When "it" becomes "mine": attentional biases triggered by object ownership. *Cogn. Neurosci. J.* 23, 3725–3733. doi: 10.1162/jocn-a-00101
- Turk, D. J., van Bussel, K., Waiter, G. D., and Macrae, C. N. (2011b). Mine and me: exploring the neural basis of object ownership. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23, 3657–3668. doi: 10.1162/jocn-a-00042
- van den Bos, M., Cunningham, S. J., Conway, M. A., and Turk, D. J. (2010). Mine to remember: the impact of ownership on recollective experience. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 63, 1065–1071. doi: 10.1080/17470211003770938
- Wang, D., Liu, T., and Shi, J. (2017). Development of monetary and social reward processes. Sci. Rep. 7, 7–10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11558-6
- Zhan, Y., Chen, J., Xiao, X., Li, J., Yang, Z., Fan, W., et al. (2016). Reward promotes self-face processing: an event-related potential study. *Front. Psychol.* 7:735. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00735
- Zhan, Y., Xiao, X., Chen, J., Li, J., Fan, W., and Zhong, Y. (2017). Consciously over unconsciously perceived rewards facilitate self-face processing: an ERP study. *Sci. Rep.* 7:7836. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08378-z

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhu and Zhan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Increasing the Difference in Decision Making for Oneself and for Others by Stimulating the Right Temporoparietal Junction

Yinling Zhang, Siyang Chen, Xinmu Hu and Xiaoqin Mai*

Department of Psychology, Renmin University of China, Beijing, China

The right temporoparietal junction (rTPJ) has been thought to be associated with the difference in self-other decision making. In the present study, using noninvasive transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), we examined whether stimulating the rTPJ could modulate the self-other decision-making difference. We found that after receiving anodal stimulation of the rTPJ, participants were more likely to choose a high-value item for others than for themselves in the situations where the win probability of the high-value item was equal to or greater than that of a low-value item, indicating that elevating the cortical excitability of the rTPJ might increase the self-other decision-making for others depends on neural activity in the rTPJ and regulation of the excitability of the rTPJ can influence the self-other decision-making difference.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jiajin Yuan, Southwest University, China

Reviewed by:

XianXin Meng, Nanyang Normal College, China Changming Chen, Xinyang Normal University, China

> *Correspondence: Xiaoqin Mai maixq@ruc.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 17 October 2018 Accepted: 18 January 2019 Published: 06 February 2019

Citation:

Zhang Y, Chen S, Hu X and Mai X (2019) Increasing the Difference in Decision Making for Oneself and for Others by Stimulating the Right Temporoparietal Junction. Front. Psychol. 10:185. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00185 Keywords: social neuroscience, decision making, self-other decision making, temporoparietal junction (TPJ), transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS)

INTRODUCTION

In our social lives, we not only need to make decisions for ourselves but also often anticipate or make decisions for others. Indeed, decision making for others is the main content of social activities such as finance, medical treatment, consulting, and management, and acting for others in making risky decisions has gradually become an integral part of people's social and economic lives. In recent years, the difference in self-other decision-making has attracted the attention of various researchers, and some research results and theories have emerged. However, few studies have directly explored the brain mechanisms of the difference in decision making between oneself and others.

While, some studies in the field of risky decision making have examined the self-other decisionmaking difference, the results are inconsistent. Hsee and Weber (1997) found that people estimated that others were more likely than themselves to choose uncertain risk options, regardless of whether the choice was between gains or between losses. Using a risk decision-making task with a gain frame, Stone et al. (2002) found that anticipated regret increased risk aversion, but they found no significant difference between decision making for oneself and decision making for friends. Fernandez-Duque and Wifall (2007) compared participates' gambling behavior for themselves and advice giving to others regarding gambling, and found that participants showed more risk-taking tendencies in making decisions for themselves and relied less on objective probabilities when giving advice to others. Such inconsistencies arise because risk preference may be modulated by the gain/loss frame and risk probability (Liu et al., 2010, 2014; Duan et al., 2012). One study has found that people are less risk averse in a gain situation and less risk seeking in a loss situation when making decisions for a stranger than when making decisions for themselves (Zhang et al., 2017). These findings suggest that we cannot generally say whether people are more risk adverse or more risk seeking when making decisions for others than when making decisions for themselves. Rather, we must consider the contextual characteristics of decision tasks.

Researchers have also proposed some theoretical explanations for the inconsistency of risk preference in self-other decision making. For example, Loewenstein et al. (2001) propose the riskas-feelings hypothesis that people's response to risk anticipation is influenced by cognitive assessment and emotional response, with emotional response playing a decisive role in this process. The discrepancy between making decisions for oneself and predicting others' decision making is due to the "vividness" of others. The more vivid the other person is, the stronger the emotional response, which will affect the distinction in risk preference. Beisswanger et al. (2003) believe that compared with decision making for oneself, decision making on behalf of friends is associated with less anticipation of negativeemotion involvement and thus less risk aversion. Fernandez-Duque and Wifall (2007) found asymmetry in executor-observer risk decision making and proposed that when deciding for themselves, people rely more on empirical systems involving emotional and intuitive processing than on rational systems involving logical and analytical processing. This has been supported by some brain imaging studies, and the difference in decision making for oneself and that for others is reflected in the activation of the brain areas related to the emotional/empirical system and the cognitive/rational system. That is, decision making for oneself is more sensitive to rewards and perceived risks than decision making for others, as reflected in the greater involvement of the reward system and emotional-related brain areas, such as the ventral striatum, anterior cingulate gyrus, and amygdala (Albrecht et al., 2011; Jung et al., 2013). In contrast, decision making for others involves additional mentalizing and cognitive processing, as reflected in the activation of related brain areas, such as the temporoparietal junction (TPJ) and the medial prefrontal cortex (Janowski et al., 2013; Jung et al., 2013).

The right TPJ is a key brain area involved in processing different perspectives, reflecting and speculating mental states (Murray et al., 2012; Schurz et al., 2014, 2015; Krall et al., 2016; Mai et al., 2016). It is also an important part of other-processing networks and plays a role in promoting self-other distinction (Jardri et al., 2011; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2011; Murray et al., 2015; Steinbeis, 2016). Although relatively few studies have directly examined the brain mechanisms of the self-other decision-making difference, some studies have found that the TPJ plays an important role in this difference (Janowski et al., 2013; Jung et al., 2013; Ogawa et al., 2018). In an fMRI study, Jung et al. (2013) used a gambling task to directly compare the differences in brain activity when making risky decisions for oneself and for others. They found that different neural processes were involved in making risky decisions for oneself and for others; specifically, the reward system was more active in decision making for oneself, while the TPJ was more active in decision making for others. Ogawa et al. (2018) used a classical Theory-of-Mind task in an fMRI study and identified the rTPJ associated with cognitive perspective taking. They then examined whether activity in the identified rTPJ during the risky decision task (i.e., lottery-choice task) was modulated by the parameters of the behavioral-choice model, and found that rTPJ activity in the Other condition (i.e., decision making for an anonymous other) was modulated by the difference in expected value of the two lottery options, suggesting that individuals' cognitive perspective taking operates in a more risk-neutral manner when making decision for others.

The transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a noninvasive brain stimulation technique, by which researchers can explore the casual relationship between neural activity in specific brain regions and cognitive function. It contains two electrodes, cathode and anode, which act on the cerebral cortex with weak current and regulate the activity of cerebral cortical nerve cells. Generally, the stimulation of anode electrode enhances the cortical excitability (i.e., anodal-excitation effect), while the cathode electrode causes an inhibition effect. The former is quite stable in cognitive studies (Jacobson et al., 2012). The tDCS has several advantages over other brain stimulation techniques. It is noninvasive, painless, safe, and easy to administer. The equipment is cheap and easily portable.

The purpose of the present study was to use tDCS to examine whether directly stimulating the rTPJ could modulate the selfother decision-making difference. In the present study, we used the gambling task adapted from the study of Jung et al. (2013). Considering that the decision context might affect the selfother decision-making difference, three decision situations were created in this task through two options in terms of value (high value and low value) and the probability of winning. The three decision situations are high-value option disadvantage, equal probability, and high-value option advantage. In the situation of high-value option disadvantage, choosing the high-value option is irrational and risky due to the high probability of loss; in the equal probability situation, choosing the high-value option is risky because of the high variability; and in the situation of high-value option advantage, choosing the high-value option is rational due to the high probability of winning. We hypothesized that elevating the cortical excitability of the rTPJ through anodal stimulation might increase the difference between decision making for oneself and that for others by inducing people to be more rational in making decisions for others; in contrast, inhibiting the excitability of the rTPJ through the cathodal stimulation was hypothesized have the opposite effect. Therefore, in the situations of high-value option disadvantage and equal probability, the anodal stimulation of the rTPJ would reduce the choice of the irrational or high-risk high-value option in decision making for others relative to decision making for oneself; in the situation of high-value option advantage, the anodal stimulation of the rTPJ would increase the choice of the rational high-value option in decision making for others.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Seventy-five adults (mean age 22.3 \pm 1.7 years, 18 males) participated in this study as paid volunteers. They were randomly assigned to three groups of 25 participants each: the anodal,

cathodal, or control sham. All participants were right-handed and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. None of them reported a history of psychiatric or neurological disorders or a family history of epilepsy or a personal history of epilepsy. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethics committee of Department of Psychology at Renmin University of China. All participants gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the same ethics committee.

Experimental Procedure

At the beginning of the experiment, each participant was informed to play the gambling game for him- or herself (self condition) and a stranger (other condition). They were given the phone numbers of 10 strangers and were asked to choose one of them. They would make decisions for the selected stranger in the following gambling game. In the condition of decision-making for oneself, each participant had 100 initial game points, and they were informed that the final game points were related to their own reward. In the condition of decision-making for others, the selected stranger also had 100 initial game points. Participants made decisions on behalf of the strangers and were told that the points they won for others would be converted into money and transferred to the stranger's phone account, which means making decisions for others has nothing to do with the interests of the participants themselves.

The experimental task was adapted from the gambling task designed by Jung et al. (2013) to examine the distinction between decision making for oneself and decision making for others. As illustrated in Figure 1, each trial began with a fixation cross presented on the screen for 2000 ms. Then, a word "for self" or "for other" in Chinese appeared for 1000 ms, which cued the participant to make decisions for themselves or to make decisions for others. Afterward, six squares distinguished by pink and blue were presented, with the numbers 10 and 90 below the squares. The color of the squares represented the number of points (that is, value) that participants would win or lose: the value of the pink square was 10 points (low value), and the value of the blue square was 90 points (high value). The number of squares indicated the probability of winning or losing the corresponding number of points. There were five probability situations: 17, 33, 50, 67, and 83%. Each participant was asked to choose the pink or blue square by pressing the F or J key on the keyboard with their left or right index fingers. Pressing the F key represented selecting the pink square and pressing the J key represented selecting the blue square. After the participant responded, a coin represented by a yellow disk appeared randomly on any one of the six squares. If the coin appeared in the selected color square, the participant gained the corresponding value (add 10 or 90 points); if it did not appear in the selected color square, the participant lost the corresponding value (minus 10 points or 90 points). For example, when the participant chose the blue square and the coin appeared in one of the blue squares, he or she would get 90 game points. If it appeared in the pink square, he or she would lose 90 game points. The next trial began when the participant pressed the space key.

The formal experiment started after 4 trials of practice for each participant. There were 60 trials for the formal experiment, two

decision roles (for themselves or others) and 5 high-value option probabilities (17, 33, 50, 67, and 83% chance of winning when choosing the blue square), resulting in 10 types of trials with 6 trials for each type. The order of the different types of trials was random. The stimuli were presented and behavioral data were recorded using E-Prime 2.0 software (PST, Inc., Pittsburgh, PA, United States).

tDCS Protocol

The tDCS was delivered by a stimulator (DC-STIMULATOR MC, NeuroConn GmbH, Germany). The current stimulated the cerebral cortex through a pair of sponge coated electrodes (5 cm \times 7 cm in size) soaked in saline. To stimulate the rTPJ, the anodal or cathodal electrode was placed between CP6 and C6 according to the international 10-20 EEG system and previous fMRI studies (Jurcak et al., 2007; Jung et al., 2013). This area covers the MNI coordinates [58, -66, 24] of the rTPJ reported in previous fMRI research (Jung et al., 2013). The reference electrode was placed on the left cheek. For the anodal and cathodal groups, a relatively weak direct current (1.5 mA) was continuously delivered for 20 min. For the reason of physical safety, current intensity is usually limited to 2 mA. If the duration is long enough, the excitability of cerebral cortex can reach more than 1 h after stimulation (Jacobson et al., 2012). In studies exploring the social cognitive function of the rTPJ, setting the current intensity at 1.5 mA is sufficient (Mai et al., 2016; Tang et al., 2018). For the sham group, although the electrode was placed over the rTPJ for 20 min, the current stimulation lasted only 15 s. The fade in and fade out time were both 15 s for each stimulation condition.

Data Analysis

In this gambling task, the probability of the two options was variable, while the value attached to the option was fixed, and the difference multiplier of the value was greater than the maximum difference multiplier of the probability condition (i.e., the value of the blue/pink square was 90/10 greater than the 5/1). According to the equate-to-differentiate (ETD) strategy (Li, 2004; Li, 1994, Unpublished), individuals tend to focus on the high-value option for the invariant value dimension (i.e., the blue square of 90 points). Therefore, in the data analysis, we used the frequency of choosing the high-value option as the dependent variable.

In addition, the two value options were significantly different and fixed, and the win probability of each option varied between 17 and 83%. In previous research using this task, the risk level of the options was based only on the option values (Jung et al., 2013). However, the risk level of an option should take into account both the value and the probability. High-risk options thus generally refer to options with high value and a low probability of winning (Krain et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2009). According to the expected utility theory (von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1947), the rational choice in decision making is to choose the option with greatest expected utility. When the probability changes, the expected utility of the option also changes. The high-value option thus does not always represent the irrational risk-taking alternative to the rational choice. Therefore, in this study, we considered the size of value, the probability of winning, and the



expected utility. According to the probability of winning of the high-value option, we divided them into three types of probability situations: high-value option with low probability/disadvantage situation (17% and 33%), equal probability situation (50%), and high-value option with high probability/advantage situation (67 and 83%). When the probability of wining the high-value option is lower (17 and 33%), the high-value option is the irrational, high-risk choice with a high probability of loss; when the probability of winning the high-value option is 50%, the high-value option is the high-risk choice; and when the probability of winning high-value option is greater (67% and 83%), the high-value option is the rational choice with a high probability of winning (see **Table 1**).

The frequency of choosing the high-value option was subjected to a two-way repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with one between-subjects factor (tDCS groups: cathodal, sham, and anodal) and one within-subject factor (decision-maker role: for self and for other) evaluated for the three probability situations: high-value option disadvantage, equal probability, and high-value option advantage. The data were statistically analyzed using SPSS software (version 21.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States).

RESULTS

In the situation of high-value option disadvantage, the 3 (tDCS group: cathodal, sham, and anodal) \times 2 (decision maker role: for self and for other) repeated-measures ANOVA did not show any significant main effect or interaction effect on the frequency of choosing the high-value option, indicating that there

TABLE 1 | Meaning of the options under the different probability situations.

Option	High-value option disadvantage (17% and 33%)	Equal probability (50%)	High-value option advantage (67% and 83%)	
High value (90 points)	Irrational, high risk	High risk	Rational	
Low value (10 points)	Rational, low risk	Low risk	Irrational	

was no self-other difference in decision making in each tDCS group in the situation of high-value option disadvantage, i.e., when choosing the high-value option was irrational and risky (**Figure 2A**).

In the situation of equal probability, the main effect of decision-maker role was significant, F(1, 72) = 5.74, p = 0.019, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$, indicating that the frequency of choosing the highvalue option for others was higher than that for oneself. The interaction effect between decision-maker role and tDCS group was marginally significant (*F*(2, 72) = 2.48, p = 0.091, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$). Pairwise comparisons were conducted to further examine the self-other difference in decision making for each tDCS group. The results showed that in the anodal group, the frequency of choosing the high-value option for others (M = 0.67, SD = 0.26) was significantly higher than that for oneself (M = 0.49, SD = 0.25, p = 0.003), but this self-other difference was not found for the cathodal and sham groups. In addition, to examine the difference in decision making among the three tDCS groups for each decision-maker role, a one-way ANOVA was conducted separately between decision making for oneself and decision making for others. The results showed that the frequency of



choosing the high-value option was different among the three tDCS groups only for decision making for others (F(2, 72) = 3.35, p = 0.041, $\eta_p^2 = 0.09$). *Post-hoc* comparisons found that the frequency of choosing the high-value option for others was higher in the anodal group (M = 0.67, SD = 0.26) than in the sham group (M = 0.52, SD = 0.21), marginally significant, p = 0.067. Moreover, in the anodal group, the frequency of choosing the high-value option for others was more than 50% (t (24) = 3.32, p = 0.003, d = 0.92), see **Figure 2B**.

In the situation of high-value option advantage, only the main effect of decision-maker role was marginally significant (p = 0.093). Based on our hypothesis, we focused on the comparison between the "self" and "other" condition in each stimulation group. In order to avoiding missing some meaningful information due to just relying on omnibus F-test, we conducted pairwise comparisons to further examine the self-other difference in decision making for each tDCS group. The results showed that in the anodal group, the frequency of choosing the highvalue option for others (M = 0.96, SD = 0.06) was significantly higher than that for oneself (M = 0.90, SD = 0.14, p = 0.024), but this self-other difference was not found in the cathodal and sham groups (see Figure 2C). In addition, one-way ANOVA was conducted to examine the difference in decision making among three tDCS groups for each decision-maker role, but the frequency of choosing the high-value option was not different among the three tDCS groups for both decision-maker roles.

DISCUSSION

The present study examined the effects of regulating the excitability in the rTPJ by tDCS on self-other differences in risky decision making. We found that in different situations of win probability, the participants behaved differently when we elevated the excitability of their rTPJ. Specifically, in the situation of high-value option disadvantage, in which choosing the high-value option was irrational and risky, exciting or inhibiting

rTPJ activation did not influence decision making for oneself and others. Further, in the situation of equal probability, in which the high-value option had high risk, increasing the rTPJ excitability made participants more likely to choose the highrisk item for others (exceeding risk-neutral value 50%) than for themselves. This finding indicates that individuals are more adventurous when making decisions for others, which is contrary to our hypothesis. Finally, in the situation of high-value option advantage, in which the high-value item was the rational option, exciting the rTPJ made participants choose more high-value items for others than for themselves. It suggests that individuals are more rational when making decisions for others, which is consistent with the hypothesis. Overall, these results suggest that the rTPJ plays an important role in decision making for others and that regulation of the excitability of the rTPJ can influence the self-other decision-making difference.

When elevating the cortical excitability of participants' rTPJ, the frequency of choosing the high-value option for others was significantly higher than that for oneself in the situations of high-value option advantage and equal probability, suggesting that the rTPJ is involved in self-other differences in decision making. When making decisions for others, individuals as decision-makers need to distinguish themselves from others, realize that they are making choice on behalf of others (i.e., change perspectives), and even consider the impact of potential outcomes on others (i.e., theory of mind). Brain imaging studies has also found that the TPJ is related to perspective taking (Santiesteban et al., 2012; Schurz et al., 2015) and theory of mind (Schurz et al., 2014; Krall et al., 2016; Mai et al., 2013).

However, the high-value potion is the rational choice in the high-value option advantage situation, but the high-risk choice in the equal probability situation. It indicated that participants made more rational decisions for others than for themselves in the high-value option advantage situation, while they made more risky decisions for others than for themselves in the equal probability situation. These results are contradictory with each other and partly contrary to our hypothesis. Nevertheless, if we ignore the context-dependent meaning of the option and focus on the option itself, we can find that the frequency of choosing high-value option with high potential gain and high potential loss values was in fact greater for others than for oneself in both situations. It seems to be caused by the weakening of the impact of the high potential loss (may be the aversion to potential loss) in the "other" condition. Jung et al. (2013) reported that right amygdala activation was positively correlated with individuals' probability of choosing high-value items for themselves, while the activity of the left dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (DMPFC) was positively correlated with the probability of choosing high-value items for strangers. In addition, further analysis found a stronger functional connectivity between the rTPJ and the left DMPFC in decision making for others than that for oneself (Jung et al., 2013), while amygdala activation could be regulated by the DMPFC through the functional connectivity between these two brain areas (Banks et al., 2007; Phillips et al., 2008; Leiberg et al., 2011; Potvin et al., 2017). Brain imaging studies of risky decision making have found that the amygdala is not only sensitive to potential loss in decision making but also closely related to loss aversion (Bechara et al., 1999; De Martino et al., 2010; Sokolhessner et al., 2013; Phelps et al., 2014). Therefore, we believe that the TPJ may not only play a role in perspective taking and interpreting other's mental state, but also may indirectly regulate some cognitive processes through its connection with the DMPFC. Moreover, the activation of the left DMPFC can negatively regulate amygdala activation, which inhibits the avoiding response to potential high losses of the high-value option and makes individuals more likely to choose it. Hence, we can explain the seemingly contradictory results in this way. In situations in which the win probability of the high-value item is equal to or greater than that of the lowvalue item, the anodal stimulation of the rTPJ may reduce the emotional response to the potential loss of the high-value option by increasing the inhibition of the DMPFC on the amygdala in decision making for others, and thus increase the frequency of choosing high-value items for others rather than for oneself.

In the high-value option disadvantage situation, anodal stimulation of the rTPJ did not increase the self-other decisionmaking difference. One explanation is that because the high-value item is the irrational and high-risk choice in this situation, a floor effect may arise owing to the low frequency of choosing the high-value item. Another possible explanation is that amygdala activity is strong when the win probability of the high-value item is low and the loss probability is high (i.e., the disadvantage situation for the high-value item), and although exogenous enhancement of rTPJ activity can promote the regulation of the amygdala by the DMPFC, the amygdala activity remains strong enough to induce the individuals to avoid options with a high probability of a large loss. Therefore, the role of anodic stimulation in the situation of high-value option disadvantage is not obvious.

We did not observe any cathodal effect on the participants' decision making, which was inconsistent with our assumptions that cathodal stimulation of the rTPJ could reduce the difference in self-other decision making. This may be because there was

no self-other decision-making difference in the sham group. Therefore, although inhibiting the rTPJ activation can reduce the difference in self-other decision making, it is impossible to show such a reduction in this study due to the floor effect. In addition, the inhibition effect of negative stimulation may usually be influenced by the initial activation state of neurons and the functional compensation of related brain regions in cognitive studies (Jacobson et al., 2012). The left TPJ (LTPJ) is also involved in theory of mind (Gallagher et al., 2000; Samson et al., 2004; Ye et al., 2015), and it is functionally connected with the prefrontal lobe in decision making for others (Janowski et al., 2013). Thus, the LTPJ might play a compensatory role in inhibiting the rTPJ, resulting in a lack of behavioral changes when the cortical excitability of the rTJP is inhibited.

The self-other difference of decisions was not shown in the sham group for each of the decision situations. Previous studies have reported inconsistent results regarding risk preference in self-other decision making, which might be caused by the different decision contexts (Hsee and Weber, 1997; Stone et al., 2002; Fernandez-Duque and Wifall, 2007). Some researchers have found that the self-other difference in risk decision-making can be affected by the gain/loss framework, the decision makers' selfesteem level, and the mental distance between decision makers and others (Liu et al., 2010; Duan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2017, 2018). Thus, the gambling task we applied in the present study may not be sensitive enough to examine differences in decision-making between for oneself and for others when no stimulation is applied to the rTPJ. The lack of a self-other decision-making difference in the sham group may restrict our investigation of the role of cathodal stimulation. Therefore, to better understand the function of the rTPJ, in future research, it is necessary to consider the possible factors that influence the self-other decision-making difference and design a task by which we can observe the difference in decision making between for oneself and for others when no stimulation is applied to the rTPJ.

There are some limitations to our study. First, we designed the sham stimulation group as a control group in which participants did not receive effective stimulation. But the general effect of the anodal stimulation on cerebral cortex cannot be ruled out. To help us better understand the specific function of the rTPJ, in the future studies we can stimulate another brain region to serve as a control region, such as the occipital cortex which does not associate directly with decision making or some other regions which are responsible for decision making in general but not specifically for self-other differences in decisions. In addition, the manipulation of "others" is relatively rough compared to real life. Prior studies have found that similarities, relationships, and preferences for others relate to different neural systems (Guroglu et al., 2008; Krienen et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012; Braams et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2016). Some researchers believe that the fundamental difference between oneself and others is mental distance (Liu et al., 2014). Braams et al. (2014) compared neural activity when participants engaged in gambling tasks for themselves, good friends, and disliked others and found that brain areas associated with social information processing,

such as the DMPFC and TPJ, showed greater activation with respect to the win or loss outcome of gambling for others than for themselves and friends. Therefore, to comprehensively examine the neural mechanisms of the self-other decisionmaking difference, further studies involving different mental distance between oneself and others are needed.

The present study validates the crucial role of the rTPJ in the self-other decision-making difference through elevating the cortical excitability suggesting that decision making for others depends on the neural activity in the rTPJ, which has important implications for us to understanding the function of the TPJ in self-other decision making. The TPJ may not only associate with perspective taking and theory of mind, but also indirectly regulate emotion responses through its functional connection with the medial prefrontal lobe. Combining the tDCS with other techniques that can record neural and peripheral physiological activity in future studies would help us further reveal the neural mechanism of decision making for others and understand specific

REFERENCES

- Albrecht, K., Volz, K. G., Sutter, M., Laibson, D. I., and Von Cramon, D. Y. (2011). What is for me is not for you: brain correlates of intertemporal choice for self and other. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* 6, 218–225. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsq046
- Banks, S. J., Eddy, K. T., Angstadt, M., Nathan, P. J., and Phan, K. L. (2007). Amygdala-frontal connectivity during emotion regulation. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 2, 303–312. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsm029
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Damasio, A. R., and Lee, G. P. (1999). Different contributions of the human amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex to decision-making. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 5473–5481. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-13-05473.1999
- Beisswanger, A. H., Stone, E. R., Hupp, J. M., and Allgaier, L. (2003). Risk taking in relationships: differences in deciding for oneself versus for a friend. *Basic Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 25, 121–135. doi: 10.1207/S15324834BASP2502_3
- Braams, B. R., Güroğlu, B., Water, E. D., Meuwese, R., Koolschijn, P. C., Peper, J. S., et al. (2014). Reward-related neural responses are dependent on the beneficiary. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* 9, 1030–1037. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst077
- De Martino, B., Camerer, C. F., and Adolphs, R. (2010). Amygdala damage eliminates monetary loss aversion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 3788–3792. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910230107
- Duan, J., Liu, Y., and He, Q. (2012). The effects of decision makers' roles and related variables on risk preferences. Acta Psychol. Sin. 44, 369–376. doi: 10.3724/SP.J. 1041.2012.00369
- Fernandez-Duque, D., and Wifall, T. (2007). Actor/observer asymmetry in risky decision making. Judgm. Decis. Mak. 2, 1–8. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9136-4
- Gallagher, H. L., Happé, F., Brunswick, N., Fletcher, P. C., Frith, U., and Frith, C. D. (2000). Reading the mind in cartoons and stories: an fmri study of 'theory of mind' in verbal and nonverbal tasks. *Neuropsychologia* 38, 11–21. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(99)00053-6
- Guroglu, B., Haselager, G. J., van Lieshout, C. F., Takashima, A., Rijpkema, M., and Fernã, N. G. (2008). Why are friends special? implementing a social interaction simulation task to probe the neural correlates of friendship. *Neuroimage* 39, 903–910. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.09.007
- Hsee, C. K., and Weber, E. U. (1997). A fundamental prediction error: self-others discrepancies in risk preference. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 126, 45–53. doi: 10.1037/ 0096-3445.126.1.45
- Jacobson, L., Koslowsky, M., and Lavidor, M. (2012). Tdcs polarity effects in motor and cognitive domains: a meta-analytical review. *Exp. Brain Res.* 216, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s00221-011-2891-9
- Janowski, V., Camerer, C., and Rangel, A. (2013). Empathic choice involves vmPFC value signals that are modulated by social processing implemented in IPL. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 8, 201–208. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsr086

economic phenomena (e.g., loss aversion) from the perspective of decision making for oneself and others.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XM and SC designed the study. SC, YZ, and XH collected and analyzed the data. YZ wrote the manuscript. XM and XH edited the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the paper for submission.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31771206), and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities and the Research Funds of Renmin University of China (15XNLQ05).

Jardri, R., Pins, D., Lafargue, G., Very, E., Ameller, A., Delmaire, C., et al. (2011). Increased overlap between the brain areas involved in self-other distinction in schizophrenia. *PLoS One* 6:e17500. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017500

- Jung, D., Sul, S., and Kim, H. (2013). Dissociable neural processes underlying risky decisions for self versus other. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:15. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013. 00015
- Jurcak, V., Tsuzuki, D., and Dan, I. (2007). 10/20, 10/10, and 10/5 systems revisited: their validity as relative head-surface-based positioning systems. *Neuroimage* 34, 1600–1611. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.024
- Krain, A. L., Wilson, A. M., Arbuckle, R., Castellanos, F. X., and Milham, M. P. (2006). Distinct neural mechanisms of risk and ambiguity: a meta-analysis of decision-making. *Neuroimage* 32, 477–484. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006. 02.047
- Krall, S. C., Volz, L. J., Oberwelland, E., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., and Konrad, K. (2016). The right temporoparietal junction in attention and social interaction: a transcranial magnetic stimulation study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 37, 796–807. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23068
- Krienen, F. M., Tu, P. C., and Buckner, R. L. (2010). Clan mentality: evidence that the medial prefrontal cortex responds to close others. J. Neurosci. 30, 13906–13915. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2180-10.2010
- Leiberg, S., Eippert, F., Veit, R., and Anders, S. (2011). Intentional social distance regulation alters affective responses towards victims of violence: an fmri study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 33, 2464–2476. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21376
- Li, S. (2004). A behavioral choice model when computational ability matters. Appl. Intell. 20, 147–163. doi: 10.1023/b:apin.0000013337.01711.c7
- Liu, Y., Bi, Y., and Wang, H. (2010). The effects of emotions and task frames on risk preferences in self decision making and anticipating others' decisions. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 42, 317–324. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1041.2010.00317
- Liu, Y., Wang, P., Zhuang, J., Zhong, J., Sun, Q., and Liu, Y. (2014). Self-other differences in decision-making: questions, studies and reflection. Adv. Psychol. Sci. 22, 580–587. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1042.2014.00580
- Loewenstein, G. F., Weber, E. U., Hsee, C. K., and Welch, N. (2001). Risk as feelings. *Psychol. Bull.* 127, 267–286. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.2.267
- Mai, X., Zhang, W., Hu, X., Zhen, Z., Xu, Z., Zhang, J., et al. (2016). Using tdcs to explore the role of the right temporo-parietal junction in theory of mind and cognitive empathy. *Front. Psychol.* 7:380. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00380
- Murray, R. J., Debbané, Martin, Fox, P. T., Bzdok, D., and Eickhoff, S. B. (2015). Functional connectivity mapping of regions associated with self- and otherprocessing. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 36, 1304–1324. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22703
- Murray, R. J., Schaer, M., and Debbané, M. (2012). Degrees of separation: a quantitative neuroimaging meta-analysis investigating self-specificity and shared neural activation between self- and other-reflection. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 36, 1043–1059. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.12.013

- Ogawa, A., Ueshima, A., Inukai, K., and Kameda, T. (2018). Deciding for others as a neutral party recruits risk-neutral perspective-taking: model-based behavioral and fMRI experiments. *Sci. Rep.* 8:12857. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-31308-6
- Phelps, E. A., Lempert, K. M., and Sokolhessner, P. (2014). Emotion and decision making: multiple modulatory neural circuits. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 37, 263–287. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014119
- Phillips, M. L., Ladouceur, C. D., and Drevets, W. C. (2008). A neural model of voluntary and automatic emotion regulation: implications for understanding the pathophysiology and neurodevelopment of bipolar disorder. *Mol. Psychiatry* 13, 829–833. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.65
- Potvin, S., Tikàsz, A., Lungu, O., Stip, E., Zaharieva, V., Lalonde, P., et al. (2017). Impaired coupling between the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex and the amygdala in schizophrenia smokers viewing anti-smoking images. *Front. Psychiatry* 8:109. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00109
- Samson, D., Apperly, I., Chiavarino, C., and Humphreys, G. (2004). The left tempero-parietal junction is necessary for representing someone else's belief. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 499–500. doi: 10.1038/nn1223
- Santiesteban, I., Banissy, M., Catmur, C., and Bird, G. (2012). Enhancing social ability by stimulating right temporoparietal junction. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 2274–2277. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.10.018
- Schurz, M., Kronbichler, M., Weissengruber, S., Surtees, A., Samson, D., and Perner, J. (2015). Clarifying the role of theory of mind areas during visual perspective taking: issues of spontaneity and domain-specificity. *Neuroimage* 117, 386–396. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.04.031
- Schurz, M., Rudua, J., Aichhorn, M., Richlan, F., and Perner, J. (2014). Fractionating theory of mind: a meta-analysis of functional brain imaging studies. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 42, 9–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.009
- Smith, B. W., Mitchell, D. G. V., Hardin, M. G., Jazbec, S., Fridberg, D., Blair, R. J. R., et al. (2009). Neural substrates of reward magnitude, probability, and risk during a wheel of fortune decision-making task. *Neuroimage* 44, 600–609. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.016
- Sokolhessner, P., Camerer, C. F., and Phelps, E. A. (2013). Emotion regulation reduces loss aversion and decreases amygdala responses to losses. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 8, 341–350. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss002
- Steinbeis, N. (2016). The role of self-other distinction in understanding others' mental and emotional states: neurocognitive mechanisms in children and adults. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 371:74. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2015. 0074
- Stone, E. R., Yates, A. J., and Caruthers, A. S. (2002). Risk taking in decision making for others versus the self. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 32, 1797–1824. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb00260.x

- Tang, H., Ye, P., Wang, S., Zhu, R., Su, S., Tong, L., et al. (2018). Corrigendum: stimulating the right temporoparietal junction with tdcs decreases deception in moral hypocrisy and unfairness. *Front. Psychol.* 9:142. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018. 00142
- Venkatasubramanian, G., Jayakumar, P. N., Keshavan, M. S., and Gangadhar, B. N. (2011). Schneiderian first rank symptoms and inferior parietal lobule cortical thickness in antipsychotic-naïve schizophrenia. *Progress Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 35, 40–46. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010. 07.023
- von Neumann, J., and Morgenstern, O. (1947). Theory of Games and Economic Behavior, 2nd Edn, Vol. 26. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 131–141.
- Wang, G., Mao, L., Ma, Y., Yang, X., Cao, J., Liu, X., et al. (2012). Neural representations of close others in collectivistic brains. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 7, 222–229. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsr002
- Ye, H., Chen, S., Huang, D., Zheng, H., Jia, Y., and Luo, J. (2015). Modulation of neural activity in the temporoparietal junction with transcranial direct current stimulation changes the role of beliefs in moral judgment. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9:659. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00659
- Zhang, X., Chen, X., Gao, Y., Liu, Y., and Liu, Y. (2018). Self-promotion hypothesis: the impact of self-esteem on self-other discrepancies in decision making under risk. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 127, 26–30. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018.01.031
- Zhang, X., Liu, Y., Chen, X., Shang, X., and Liu, Y. (2017). Decisions for others are less risk-averse in the gain frame and less risk-seeking in the loss frame than decisions for the self. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1601. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017. 01601
- Zhao, W., Yao, S., Li, Q., Geng, Y., Ma, X., Luo, L., et al. (2016). Oxytocin blurs the self-other distinction during trait judgments and reduces medial prefrontal cortex responses. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 37, 2512–2527. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 23190

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhang, Chen, Hu and Mai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Influence of Self-Relevance and Cultural Values on Moral Orientation

Junfeng Bian^{1*}, Liang Li^{2*}, Jianzhou Sun², Jie Deng², Qianwei Li², Xiaoli Zhang² and Liangshi Yan^{2,3*}

¹ Centre for Mental Health Education, Changsha University of Science and Technology, Changsha, China, ² Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ³ Department of Psychology, Centre for Research of Cultural Psychology and Behavior, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China

Moral orientation refers to moral values that have a consistent guiding orientation toward an individual's moral cognition and behavior. Gilligan (1982) proposed that individuals have two moral orientations, namely "justice" and "care." In the current study, we investigated the influence of self-relevance and cultural values on justice and care by using Single Attribute Implicit Association Test (SA-IAT). In Experiments 1 and 2, we adopted cultural icon prime paradigm to examine the effects of different self-referential stimuli (self, friend, and stranger) on implicit moral justice and care orientation under two cultural value conditions: traditionality, modernity, and neutral cultural values. Participants exhibited more difference toward different self-referential stimuli in the traditionality condition than in the modernity condition; the priming of traditional culture aggravated the differential order, whereas the priming of modernity weakened the differential order regarding implicitly just moral orientation. In the implicit care orientation, participants in the modern culture group exhibited the least difference to different self-referential stimuli compared with the other two groups, and the traditional group and the control group did not differ significantly. These findings indicate that psychological modernity weakens the degree of self-related effect in implicit justice and care orientation, whereas traditional culture aggravates the differential order in justice orientation. The current studies provide empirical support for theories relating moral orientation, also informing the literature on the role of self-relevance information and cultural values in moral decision making.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chao Liu, Beijing Normal University, China

Reviewed by: Youlong Zhan,

Hunan University of Science and Technology, China Shengtao Sun, Shanahai Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Junfeng Bian bianjf1984@163.com Liang Li psych2008@163.com Liangshi Yan Yanlshi@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 27 November 2018 Accepted: 29 January 2019 Published: 28 February 2019

Citation:

Bian J, Li L, Sun J, Deng J, Li Q, Zhang X and Yan L (2019) The Influence of Self-Relevance and Cultural Values on Moral Orientation. Front. Psychol. 10:292. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00292 Keywords: moral orientation, justice, care, degree of self-reference, differential effect, cultural value

INTRODUCTION

Moral orientation refers to moral values that have a consistent guiding orientation toward an individual's moral cognition and behavior and consists of two types: reward good cops and punish bad ones. Kyte (1996) suggested that moral orientation plays an integral role in moral decision-making.

Piaget and Kohlberg are recognized as representatives of the "justice" moral orientation. Kohlberg's (1976) proposed model for moral justice orientation focuses on adjudicating between individual interests or rights while solving moral dilemmas. This orientation depends on the application of fairness, reciprocity, and universal moral principles in the abstract features of ethical situations. At the pretraditional level of moral reasoning, individuals are egocentric while selecting behaviors that will help them avoid punishment and maximize self-interest (Kohlberg, 1969, 1976). By contrast, Gilligan (1982) proposed the ethics of care in response to methodological concerns

29

about Kohlberg's(1969; 1976) research. Kohlberg examined hypothetical dilemmas among male respondents instead of the real moral dilemmas they experienced. Gilligan examined women who experienced real moral dilemmas and revealed evidence of an alternative moral orientation characterized by authentic relationships that reflect concerns about understanding the subjective experience and requirements of others, and responding to them in a genuine manner. Unlike Kohlberg, Gilligan proposed that individuals who demonstrate a care orientation do not focus on adjudicating between competing rights. According to Gilligan, individuals with a care orientation focus on identifying creative methods of simultaneously fulfilling competitive responsibilities for others (Jaffee and Shibley-Hyde, 2000).

Moral orientation refers to the manner in which an individual handles dilemma decisions. This topic is not often discussed in the context of cognitive scientific development and practice. In addition, when the stimuli related to an individual's selfconcept differ (i.e., self-relevance), the individual's judgment about the orientation of justice and care also differ. Studies have demonstrated that individual factors (such as attitudes and motivations) and cultural values are two integral sources of influence (Cottone and Claus, 2000; Haidt and Joseph, 2004; Yang, 2004; Greene, 2013). For example, some studies have noted that cultural values (traditionality and modernity) provide a better reflection of individuals' performance and objectively interpret the internal motivation of their participation in social activities (Miller and Bersoff, 1992; Hong and Mallorie, 2004; Kagitcibasi, 2013; Shin et al., 2013). Traditionality (modernity) refers to a cluster of most common psychological characteristics, such as needs, attitudes, beliefs, values, temperaments and behaviors in traditional (modern) society. Therefore, when the degree of association between the target stimulus and an individual differs (i.e., self-relevance), the behavioral reactions of individuals with different cultural values may vary in justice and care moral orientation.

The modern society is presented as a multimodernity of the convergence of Eastern and Western cultures that entangles traditionality with modernity, because these basic forms of cultural values are the key psychological elements in modern society (Shin et al., 2013). Some studies have noted that examining the psychological influences of traditionality and modernity can provide a better explanation of individual behaviors and effectively interpret the internal source of our participation in modern social activities (Chan and Palley, 2005; Kagitcibasi, 2013; Frías et al., 2014). Researches have suggested that cultural values influence moral judgment. Kohlberg's theory of moral cognitive development and Gilligan's moral dualism propose that the principle of moral orientation is applicable in various social cultures (Kyte, 1996; Jaffee and Shibley-Hyde, 2000; Ellis and Shute, 2007; Tucker et al., 2014). Few scholars also believe that moral principles are culturally specific. For example, Shweder et al. (1987) noted that individuals acquired different core moral values of the society through cross-cultural studies. These moral values reflect the cultural significance of a particular group, and indicate that when they are confronted with a moral dilemma, they exhibit preference for a specific moral orientation. Miller and Bersoff (1992) examined the differences between Americans and Indians and found that Americans indicated a typical moral justice orientation, whereas Indians indicated a typical care orientation for an identical moral dilemma. Therefore, (Yang, 2004) noted that Chinese and Western culture have different origins in terms of moral principles. The fundamental difference is that both cultural systems have different assumptions about the relationship between the individual and society. Other studies have also obtained similar findings. For example, Roberts (2017) noted that both gender and cultural dilemmas play an integral role in the judgment of justice. Suh et al. (2008) used an icon paradigm to examine that the independent (Americans) vs. interdependent (Korea) self-construal process leads to different cultural behaviors. Furthermore, the results strongly suggested that differences in self-construal processes underlined crosscultural differences in life satisfaction judgments.

Recent studies have demonstrated that examining the cultural icon prime paradigm is an effective method for studying the dynamic interaction between culture and psychology. To examine how cultural values affect the corresponding psychological processes, most studies have used experiments with higher internal validity with regards to various elements, such as cultural symbols, representations, and norms. For instance, Friedman et al. (2012) used cultural priming paradigm to reveal that managers who have been abroad switch their cultural orientation as a result of being shown Western or Chinese cultural icons, and this effect occurs when "environmental" priming is used, and also confirmed that this effect is found when examining pay allocation decisions in addition to attribution patterns. In addition, Hu and Liu (2009) recently used a classic cultural icon prime paradigm to reveal that Chinese young people showed priority to the principles of justice and care in moral dilemmas under traditional and modern cultural values.

Observations regarding the behavioral interactions in terms of moral decisions, cultural values, and self-relevant processing have triggered researchers to consider a pertinent question: does the priming of psychological modernity or traditionality substantially influence self-relevant processing on moral orientation? One of the problems that arise is that most studies have taken an explicit rather than implicit approach. Few studies in this domain have reported on the implicit level. More importantly, some studies have indicated the discrepancy between findings based on the implicit and explicit levels (Deshon and Alexander, 1996; Asendorpf et al., 2002; Schnabel et al., 2010).

Research has indicated that the IAT is a flexible and relatively straightforward tool for assessing the strengths of associations between different concepts, thus contributing notably to its widespread use in research (Nosek et al., 2007). IAT scripts are based on a seven-block (seven-task) structure; if no opposite category is evident, single-attribute IATs (SA-IATs) are deemed superior to traditional bipolar-attribute IATs (Penke et al., 2006; Seval Gündemir et al., 2014). Therefore, our research employed an SA-IAT to derive the relevant results. Thus, we aimed to use cultural icon prime paradigm to uncover the influence of self-relevance and cultural values (psychological tradition and modernity) on implicit justice and care level. Previous studies suggested that effect of self-relevance of moral orientation exists both at the implicit and explicit level (Hu and Liu, 2009, November.; Bian and Yan, 2015). More importantly, the results on the implicit level were more stable (Schneider et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2015; Burnside et al., 2018).

Based on the aforementioned studies, we sought to clarify their relationship at the implicit level by examining the following hypotheses: (1) cultural values can predict the self-reference effect on moral justice or moral care; (2) participants in the traditional culture group exhibit more differential effects on different selfreferential stimuli (self, friend, or stranger) at the implicit justice level, whereas those in the modern culture group exhibit less differential effects at the implicit justice level; and (3) participants in the traditional culture group exhibit more differential effects on different self-referential stimuli (self, friend, or stranger) at the implicit care level, whereas those in the modern culture group exhibit less differential effects at the implicit care level.

METHODS

Overview of Procedure and Design

We collected data using two experiments with similar procedures. Therefore, the procedures and results of both experiments are reported together. We used moral justice as the trait category label for an SA-IAT in Experiment 1, whereas moral care was used as the trait category label for Experiment 2. These trait categories were represented using single-attributes (e.g., "fairness" and "concern"). We informed the participants that the experiments focused on personality traits. The experiments lasted for approximately 25 min, and we promised and delivered feedback to the participants about their results after they completed the tasks. The cultural value icons and order of combined tasks within IATs were counterbalanced among participants. We designed each experiment using a 3 (cultural value icon: traditionality vs. modernity vs. no culture) \times 3 (self-referential stimulus: self vs. friend vs. stranger) mixed factorial design, with repeated measures on the first factor. The dependent variables were the response time of the implicit moral justice and moral care experiments.

Participants

A total of 126 (63 pairs of friends; 59 male participants; and 67 female participants; average age of 23.93 years; age 18–26 years) and 114 (57 pairs of friends; 54 male participants; and 60 female participants; average age of 21.56 years; age 17–26 years) healthy college students participated in Experiment 1 and 2, respectively. The participants were right-handed, had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and had no history of neurological or psychiatric disorders. After the experiments concluded, we paid the participants \pm 50. The Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University approved this study.

Materials

Based on the cultural icon paradigm, cultural icons were used as a stimulus (Hong et al., 2000; Hu and Liu, 2009). Similarly sized sheets of blank paper were used as the control stimulus
 TABLE 1 | Single-attribute IAT for justice: Task sequence (One example of justice SA-IAT).

Block			Response key assignment		
	No. of trials	Task	Left key (Key F)	Right key (Key J)	
1	40	Target justice	Jie Deng	Yin Wang	
2	40+80	Initial combined task	Jie Deng	Yin Wang, justice	
3	40+80	Reversed combined task	Jie Deng, jusitice	Yin Wang	

(no culture cue; 470 pixels \times 220 pixels; Hu, 2011). We asked 30 respondents to indicate their responses using a 9-point Likert scale (1 = not at all, 9 = to a great extent) to determine the extent to which cultural icons were represented.

The results indicated that the ratings of traditional cultural icons (8.23) was significantly higher than the sheets of similarly sized sheets of blank paper [1.21, $t_{(29)} = 25.34$, p < 0.001], and the ratings of modern cultural icons (8.16) was significantly higher than that those for similarly sized sheets of blank paper [1.32, $t_{(29)} = -27.61, p < 0.001$]. Therefore, we used 72 pictures (24) pictures of traditional culture, modern culture, and no culture) as the cultural cue stimuli for these Chinese participants. After reviewing recent studies (Chen et al., 2011; Fan et al., 2016), we presented self-relevant names with varying degrees of correlation as the target stimuli: (a) those with high correlations to selfmaterial, such as the participant's name; (b) those moderately correlated with self-material, such as the name of the participant's friend; and (c) those with low correlations to self-material, such as a stranger's name. We presented stimuli from each class of self-referential stimulus.

Procedure

Trial Blocks

In both studies, Single-attribute IAT (SA-IAT) used a standard seven-block procedure (Greenwald et al., 1998; Nosek et al., 2007). Target concepts were the names of self, friend and stranger, but only justice/care served as the (unipolar) attribute. The testing and analysis procedures were the same as for the justice/care IAT. **Table 1** presents an example of justice SA-IAT task.

Participants started with single tasks (20 trials each) of the target concepts ("self" vs. "friend") and the attribute concepts ("justice"/"care"). This was followed by the combined task of these concepts. Finally, the second combined task employed the reversely paired justice of target and attribute concepts.

Timing Details

In each trail, a fixation cross was presented for 200 ms, followed by a black screen presented for a random interval between 250 and 500 ms. A priming stimulus then were presented in white letters against the black background screen, centered in the display and remaining on screen until the subject's response. A feedback ("Right"/"Wrong") was given and appeared for 500 ms, followed by a black screen presented for 1,000 ms before the next trials.

RESULTS

Data Reduction

The data for each trial block included response latencies (in milliseconds) and error rates. The solution used for these was to recode values below 300 to 300 ms and those above 3,000 to 3,000 ms (Greenwald et al., 1998). We then log-transformed latencies in order to use a statistic that had satisfactory stability of variance for analyses (Greenwald et al., 1998). Also, the first two trials of each block were dropped because of their typically lengthened latencies. Analyses of error rates are not described in detail.

IATs

IAT scores (i.e., the "IAT-effect") were based on the difference in mean response latencies between the two combined blocks of different target-attribute pairings. Scores were calculated as using the d' algorithm (Greenwald et al., 1998). A positive IAT-effect is interpreted as a stronger association for the category pairing in the initial combined task—for attitude-IATs it may as well be interpreted as a preference for one concept over the other (Greenwald et al., 1998).

Scores in both studies were coded such that high scores represent high level of justice/care. Internal consistencies were estimated over separate scores for the two sub-blocks of the combined tasks (i.e., one sub-block of 40 and one sub-block of 80 trials).

Attribute stimuli were selected from Zhang et al. (2007) collection of 215 traits that had been rated for valence, arousal and social desirability. We selected 24 Words that were rated as prototypical for their respective attributes and balanced the IAT categories for social desirability and valence.

Descriptive Statistics and Mean Differences

The descriptive statistics and internal consistencies of the main variables are depicted in **Table 2**. As shown in **Table 2** all IATs showed satisfactory internal consistencies. IAT error rates were M = 7.48%, SD = 4.39% and M = 6.32%, SD = 5.91%, for justice and care attribute IATs in Study 1 and Study 2, respectively. No participant had error rates higher than 25%.

Effects of Priming Different Cultural Values on Implicit Justice Judgment

To examine the influence of self-relevance on implicit justice judgment, we used the effect size measure "d" as the dependent variable, whereas the correlation between self-relevance and cultural values was determined using a 3 × 3 ANOVA with repeated measures on the first factor (**Figure 1**). The results indicated that the effect of self-relevance and cultural values were both significant, $[F_{(2,492)} = 228.89, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.65]$, and $[F_{(2,123)} = 4.18, p < 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.36]$. The post hoc comparisons indicate that participants' implicit justice

TABLE 2 | Internal consistencies (Cronbach's $\alpha)$ and descriptive statistics of implicit measures.

Variable	Experiment 1 (<i>N</i> = 126) (Justice SA-IAT)			Experiment 2 (<i>N</i> = 114) (Care SA-IAT)		
	α	М	SD	α	М	SD
IATs (in ms)						
Traditionality	0.83	679.86	120.05	0.76	644.67	90.73
Modernity	0.78	516.19	109.46	0.85	506.20	105.55
No culture	0.75	542.89	119.30	0.71	538.01	95.38

judgments varied among the self-referential stimuli, as presented in the following differential order: self < friend < stranger, thus suggesting that the participants' justice judgments were more strict toward strangers than those for their friends and themselves. $[ts_{(125)} = -19.28 \sim -5.05, ps < 0.001].$ Moreover, the modernity group indicated smaller IAT effects than the control group $[t_{(82)} = -2.22, p < 0.05]$ and the traditionality group $[t_{(82)} = -2.90, p < 0.01]$. However, the correlation between the control and traditionality groups was not significant (p > 0.05). In addition, the interaction between self-relevance and cultural values were significant $[F_{(5,492)} =$ 2.69, p < 0.01, $\eta^2_p = 0.45$]. A simple effects analysis revealed that regardless of the priming conditions, the target stimulus elicited more strict justice judgments toward strangers than friends and themselves. Specifically, the target stimulus under traditional culture conditions elicited stronger justice awareness $[F_{(2,120)} = 52.68, p < 0.001]$ than the control group under neutral conditions $[F_{(2,120)} = 37.03, p < 0.001]$ and modern culture conditions $[F_{(2,120)} = 24.69, p < 0.001]$. The post hoc multiple comparisons indicated that the highly self-relevant (self) stimulus elicited more strict justice judgments than other names, whereas moderately self-relevant names (friend) elicited more strict justice judgments than non-self-relevant names (stranger) $[all Fs_{(2,120)} > 21.94, all p < 0.001].$

Effects of Priming Different Cultural Values on Implicit Care Judgment

To examine the influence of self-relevance on the implicit care judgment, the effect size measure "d" was used as the dependent variable, the correlation between self-relevance and cultural values was determined using a 3 \times 3 ANOVA with repeated measures on the first factor (see Figure 2). The results showed that the effect of self-relevance and cultural values were both significant, $[F_{(2,440)} = 234.26, p < 0.001,$ $\eta_p^2 = 0.68$], and $[F_{(2,110)} = 4.86, p < 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.28]$. The post hoc comparisons indicated that participants' implicit care judgments varied among the self-referential stimuli, as presented in the following differential order: self > friend > stranger, thus suggesting that the participants showed less concern attitudes toward strangers than those for friends and themselves. $[t_{s_{(113)}} = -19.33 \sim -8.35, p_s < 0.001]$. Besides, the traditionality group indicated larger IAT effects than the modernity group $[t_{(74)} = 3.18, p < 0.05]$, the control group



FIGURE 1 | d' values of implicit justice SA-IATs under varying cultural value conditions. * p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



indicated larger IAT effects than the modernity group $[t_{(74)}]$ = 2.26, p < 0.01]. However, the correlation between the traditionality and control groups was not significant (p > 0.05). In addition, the interaction between self-relevance and cultural values were significant, $[F_{(5,440)} = 3.05, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.25].$ A simple effects analysis revealed that regardless of the priming conditions, the target stimulus elicited less care judgments toward strangers than friends and themselves. Specifically, the target stimulus under traditional culture conditions elicited stronger care awareness $[F_{(2,120)} = 54.66, p < 0.001]$ than the control group under neutral condition $[F_{(2,107)} = 35.06,$ p < 0.001] and modern culture conditions [$F_{(2,107)} = 25.86$, p < 0.001]. The post hoc multiple comparisons indicated that the highly self-relevant stimulus (self) elicited more care attitudes than other names, while as moderately selfrelevant names (friend) elicited more concern judgments than non-self-relevant names (stranger) [all $Fs_{(2,107)} > 22.64$, all p < 0.001].

DISCUSSION

We employed the SA-IAT and the cultural icon prime paradigm to examine whether and how self-relevance and cultural values influence implicit moral orientation (justice and care) processing. The findings showed a clear self-relevance effect: the highly selfrelevant stimulus (self-names) elicited a stronger justice attitude than the names of friends and strangers in the modern cultural setting (context), whereas they elicited a weaker care attitude than the names of friends and strangers in the traditional cultural context. Moreover, the findings demonstrated variations in the justice and care orientation of the participants of the control and modernity groups, thus indicating that different cultural value orientations influence the moral justice or care attitudes of the target objects of different self-relevance at the implicit level.

The results of Experiment 1 indicate that participants' implicit justice judgments varied among the self-referential stimuli, as presented in the following differential order: $d'_{self} > d'_{friend}$ > d'stranger. Participants spent the shortest response time to associate justice attributes with strangers, followed by those for their friends. Moreover, participants spent the longest response time to associate justice attitudes with themselves. In other words, participants strongly associated justice with the low self-relevant stimulus (names of strangers) compared with the moderate self-relevant stimulus (names of friends) and high self-relevant stimulus (their own names). This indicates that participants' sensibility to self-relevant stimuli related to justice gradually increased; that is to say, the tendency to adapt a justice attitude toward different self-relevant stimuli gradually became stricter. Moreover, the priming of different cultural values has varying effects on the differential order of justice attitude. Participants exhibited the lowest differential order in justice attitude in the context of the modernity group, whereas no significant difference was observed between the traditionality and control groups (p > 0.05). This result is consistent with that of explicit justice orientation (Hu and Liu, 2009; Bian and Yan, 2015). Pluralistic modern information, such as autonomy, democracy, and equality, modulates the "privateness" of justice judgments, whereas the differential order of justice was not exacerbated in the traditionality group. This may be due to the deep-rooted feudalistic ideology in China. The self-relevance effect remained significant even in the blank context (control group), indicating that no difference was evident with the traditional culture context (Chun, 1995; Tan et al., 2015).

The correlation between self-relevance and cultural values was significant, thus demonstrating that both cultural values and self-relevance influenced the implicit justice attitude. Compared with the control group, the priming of traditional cultural values aggravated the differential order of justice attitude, and the differential sequence was performed from near to far and from close to sparse, which caused differences in the justice attitude toward different self-relevant stimuli to further expand (Otten and Epstude, 2006; Le et al., 2007). Therefore, justice attitudes strengthen in response to estranged targets, thus reflecting the phenomenon of "being tolerant toward those who are close to you, but strict toward those who are unfamiliar" in the context of traditional culture. Studies have also noted that traditional traits have been internalized into people's subconscious and become automatic behaviors. The priming of traditional cultural values only affects the differential level of justice attitude and causes no other differences (Chan and Palley, 2005; Jin, 2007; Wang et al., 2016).

However, the results indicate a significant difference in the justice attitude toward self-relevant stimuli between the modern culture and control groups. The differences in the attitude tendency gradually decreased, indicating that the modernity context moderated the differential order of justice attitude. Moreover, regardless of the self-relevance level, the priming of modern cultural values can weaken the performance of the differential order and reduce the degree of "privateness."

The results of Experiment 2 indicated that participants' implicit care judgments varied among the self-referential stimuli, as presented in the following differential order: $d'_{self} < d'_{friend}$ < d'_{stranger}, thus suggesting that participants spent the longest response time to associate care attributes with strangers, followed by that of their friends, whereas participants had the shortest response time to associate care attitudes with themselves. In other words, participants strongly associated care with the high self-relevant stimulus (their own names) compared with the moderate self-relevant stimulus (names of their friends) and high self-relevant stimulus (names of strangers). This indicates that participants' sensibility toward self-relevant stimulus in relation to care gradually decreases; therefore, the tendency of care attitude toward different self-relevant stimuli gradually weakens. Moreover, the priming of different cultural values has varying effects on the differential order of justice attitude. Participants exhibited the highest differential order in care attitude in the context of the modernity group, and the differential performance was more significant in the control group than in the modernity group. Therefore, participants indicated the lowest differential order in the care orientation in the modernity context. Studies have also demonstrated that individuals associate positive stimuli with high self-relevance in the traditional context, whereas they exhibit a weaker differential attitude in the modernity context (Northoff et al., 2009; Fan et al., 2013; Zhan et al., 2016).

Consistent with the aforementioned findings, we also found that the priming of traditional cultural values accelerated the differential order in care orientation, whereas this "privateness and differential order" phenomenon was weakened in the modern culture context. The reason may be that traditional cultural values activate Confucian beliefs, such as "Qinqin," "Zunzun," and "Renlun," which have a deep-rooted influence on people's care orientation (Yan et al., 2013). By contrast, the elements of modernity reflect more democratic, equal, independent, and inclusive thoughts. Individuals may exhibit less consideration for relationships with the self-relevant stimulus in terms of care judgment for diversified characteristics in modern society context. The correlation between selfrelevance and cultural values was significant, indicating that both cultural values and self-relevance influence the implicit care attitude. Compared with the control group, those who were subject to the priming of traditional cultural had an aggravated differential order of care attitude, and the differential sequence was performed from near to far and from close to sparse, which caused further expansions in the differences between care attitudes and self-relevance (Otten and Epstude, 2006; Tan et al., 2015). Participants also expressed increased concerns regarding the privacy of highly self-relevant stimulus, whereas they had less concerns regarding those of lower self-relevance.

Studies have also noted that participants responded with increased positivity toward those they had personal relationships with; whereas they responded with increased negativity toward those they were unfamiliar with (Fan et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016). Our findings are consistent with these studies, and revealed that the differences in care attitude for different self-relevant stimuli were negligible between the modernity and control groups; in other words, the modernity context moderated the differential order of care attitude. Therefore, unlike other factors, the effects of the modern cultural context were reconciled, and individuals' weakened differential performance in terms of care was universal. Therefore, the modern cultural context weakened the performance of the differential order and reduces the extent of moral "privateness" regardless of the proximity or unfamiliarity of relationships between individuals and others.

CONCLUSION

Taken together, in addition to the weakening effect of partial on justice and care orientation processing such as task-switching, perceptual matching reported in the previous studies, the present study further showed that culture values can weaken social cognitive processing, such as that associated with self-relevance. This self-related weakening effect occurred at both implicit justice and care orientation in the modern culture context, but not in the traditional culture context, whereas traditional culture aggravates the self-related effect in justice orientation. These findings suggest that culture values can influence self-perception in an implicit manner. Future studies should focus on specific characteristics of modern culture and self-relevant stimuli to investigate the weakening effect of moral orientation on selfprocessing, particularly using high-spatial-resolution fMRI to uncover neural substrates that mediate this weakening effect, and how these neural activities are related to the justice and care attitudes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB and LY: conceived and designed the experiments. JB, LL, QL, and JS: performed the experiments. JB, LL, XZ, and JD: analyzed the data. JB and LY: contributed reagents, materials, and analysis tools. JB and LL: wrote the paper.

FUNDING

This research was sponsored by the National Social Science Fund project of China (14BSH083), the Hunan Province Education Science 13th Five-year Plan Project (XJK18QGD001).

REFERENCES

- Asendorpf, J., Banse, R., and Mücke, D. (2002). Double dissociation between implicit and explicit personality self-concept: the case of shy behavior. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 83, 380–393. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.83. 2.380
- Bian, J. F., and Yan, L. S. (2015). The influence of interpersonal relationship between children aged 5-12 years on moral justice and moral care. *Preschool Educ. Res.* 38–44. doi: 10.13861/j.cnki.sece.2015.05.006
- Burnside, K., Wright, K., and Poulin-Dubois, D. (2018). Social orienting predicts implicit false belief understanding in preschoolers. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 175:167. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2018.05.015
- Chan, L. W., and Palley, H. A. (2005). The use of traditional chinese culture and values in social work health care related interventions in hong kong. *Health Soc. Work* 30:76. doi: 10.1093/hsw/30.1.76
- Chen, J., Yuan, J., Feng, T., Chen, A., Gu, B., and Li, H. (2011). Temporal features of the degree effect in self-relevance: neural correlates. *Biol. Psychol.* 87, 290–295. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.03.012
- Chun, A. (1995). An oriental orientalism: the paradox of tradition and modernity in nationalist Taiwan. *Hist. Anthropol.* 9, 27–56. doi: 10.1080/02757206.1995.9960869
- Cottone, R. R., and Claus, R. E. (2000). Ethical decision-making models: a review of the literature. J. Counsel. Dev. 78, 275–283. doi: 10.1002/j.1556-6676.2000.tb01908.x
- Deshon, R. P., and Alexander, R. A. (1996). Goal setting effects on implicit and explicit learning of complex tasks. Organ. Behav. Hum. Dec. Process. 65, 18–36. doi: 10.1006/obhd.1996.0002
- Ellis, A. A., and Shute, R. (2007). Teacher responses to bullying in relation to moral orientation and seriousness of bullying. *Br. J. Educ. Psychol.* 77, 649–663. doi: 10.1348/000709906x163405
- Fan, W., Chen, J., Wang, X.-Y., Cai, R., Tan, Q., and Chen, Y. (2013). Electrophysiological correlation of the degree of self-reference effect. *PLoS ONE* 8:e80289. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080289
- Fan, W., Zhong, Y., Li, J., Yang, Z., Zhan, Y., Cai, R., et al. (2016). Negative emotion weakens thedegree of self-reference effect: evidence from ERPs. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1408. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01408
- Frías, M. T., Shaver, P. R., and Díaz-Loving, R. (2014). Individualism and collectivism as moderators of the association between attachment insecurities, coping, and social support. J. Soc. Pers. Relat. 31, 33–31. doi: 10.1177/0265407513484631
- Friedman, R., Liu, W., Chi, S. C. S., Hong, Y. Y., and Sung, L. K. (2012). Crosscultural management and bicultural identity integration: when does experience abroad lead to appropriate cultural switching?. *Int. J. Intercul. Relation.* 36, 130–139. doi: 10.1016/j.ijintrel.2011.03.002
- Gilligan, C. (1982). In a Different Voice: Psychological Theory and Women's Development. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. doi: 10.1017/s0360966900023859
- Greene, J. (2013). Moral Tribes: Emotion, Reason, and the Gap Between Us and Them. New York, NY: The Penguin Press. doi: 10.1080/03057240.2015. 1012365
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., and Schwartz, J. L. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 1464–1480. doi: 10.1016/s0191-8869(98)00234-7
- Haidt, J., and Joseph, C. (2004). Intuitive ethics: how innately prepared intuitions generate culturally variable virtues. *Daedalus* 133, 155–166. doi: 10.1162/0011526042365555
- Hong, Y., Morris, M. W., Chiu, C., and Benet-Martínez, V. (2000). Multicultural minds: a dynamic constructivist approach to culture and cognition. *Am. Psychol.* 55, 709–720. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.7.709
- Hong, Y. Y., and Mallorie, L. A. M. (2004). A dynamic constructivist approach to culture: lessons learned from personality psychology. J. Res. Pers. 38, 59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2003.09.003
- Hu, X. M. (2011). The Influence of Psychological Tradition and Modernity on the Moral Dilemma of Young People in Chinese Changing Cultural. Unpublished Master's Dissertation, Beijing Normal University.
- Hu, X. M., and Liu, L. (2009). "Research progress and future prospects of cultural psychology," in *Paper Presented at the Meeting of National Psychological Academic Conference* (Shandong).

- Jaffee, S., and Shibley-Hyde, J. (2000). Gender differences in moral orientation: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 126, 703–726. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909. 126.5.703
- Jin, G. (2007). Socialism and tradition: the formation and development of modern chinese political culture. J. Contemp. China 2, 3–17. doi: 10.1080/10670569308724171
- Kagitcibasi, C. (2013). Adolescent autonomy-relatedness and the family in cultural context: what is optimal? *J. Res. Adolesc.* 23, 223–235. doi: 10.1111/jora.12041
- Kohlberg, L. (1969). Stages in the Development of Moral Thought and Action. New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Kohlberg, L. (1976). "Moral stages and moralization: the cognitivedevelopmental approach," in *Moral Development and Behavior*, ed T. Lickona (New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart and Winston), 31–53.
- Kyte, R. (1996). Moral reasoning as perception: a reading of Carol Gilligan. *Hypatia* 11, 97–113. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-2001.1996.tb01017.x
- Le, B., Moss, W. B., and Mashek, D. (2007). Assessing relationship closeness online moving from an interval-scaled to continuous measure of including others in the self. Soc. Sci. Comput. Rev. 25, 405–409. doi: 10. 1177/0894439307297693
- Miller, J. G., and Bersoff, D. M. (1992). Culture and moral judgment: how are conflicts between justice and interpersonal responsibilities resolved? J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 62, 541–554. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.62.4.541
- Northoff, G., Schneider, F., Rotte, M., Matthiae, C., Tempelmann, C., and Wiebking, C. (2009). Differential parametric modulation of self-relatedness and emotions in different brain regions. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 369–382. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20510
- Nosek, B. A., Greenwald, A. G., and Banaji, M. R. (2007). "The implicit association test at age 7: a methodological and conceptual review," in *Automatic Processes in Social Thinking and Behavior*, ed J. A. Bargh (London: Psychology Press), 265–292. doi: 10.31234/osf.io/sv8bv
- Otten, S., and Epstude, K. (2006). Overlapping mental representations of self, ingroup, and outgroup: unraveling self-stereotyping and self-anchoring. *Person. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 32, 957–969. doi: 10. 1177/0146167206287254
- Penke, L., Eichstaedt, J., and Asendorpf, J. B. (2006). Single-attribute implicit association tests (sa-iat) for the assessment of unipolar constructs. The case of sociosexuality. *Exp. Psychol.* 53:283. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169.53.4.283
- Roberts, R. (2017). Gender, justice, and the problem of culture: from customary law to human rights in tanzania by dorothy l. hodgson (review). Am. Anthropol. 61, 258–260. doi: 10.1017/asr.2018.20
- Schnabel, K., Asendorpf, J. B., and Greenwald, A. G. (2010). Understanding and using the implicit association test: v. measuring semantic aspects of trait self-concepts. *Eur. J. Personal.* 22, 695–706. doi: 10.1002/per.697
- Schneider, D., Slaughter, V. P., and Dux, P. E. (2015). What do we know about implicit false-belief tracking? *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 22, 21–12. doi: 10.3758/s13423-014-0644-z
- Seval Gündemir, Homan, A. C., Dreu, C. K. W. D., and Vugt, M. V. (2014). Think leader, think white? capturing and weakening an implicit pro-white leadership bias. *PLoS ONE* 9:e83915. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083915
- Shi, H., Wang, X., Yi, J., Zhu, X., Zhang, X., and Yang, J. (2015). Default mode network alterations during implicit emotional faces processing in firstepisode, treatment-naive major depression patients. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1198. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01198
- Shin, H., Dovidio, J. F., and Napier, J. L. (2013). Cultural differences in targets of stigmatization between individual-and group-oriented cultures. *Basic Appl. Soc. Psych.* 35, 98–108. doi: 10.1080/01973533.2012.746604
- Shweder, R. A., Mahapatra, M., and Miller, J. G. (1987). "Culture and Moral Development," in *The Emergence of Morality in Young Children*, eds J. Kagan and S. Lamb (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press), 1–83.
- Suh, E. M., Diener, E., and Updegraff, J. A. (2008). From culture to priming conditions: self-construal influences on life satisfaction judgments. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 39, 33–15. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-2352-0_7
- Tan, Q., Zhan, Y., Gao, S., Fan, W., Chen, J., and Zhong, Y. (2015). Closer the relatives are, more intimate and similar we are: kinship effects on selfother overlap. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 73, 77–11. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014. 08.038
- Tucker, C. M., Moradi, B., Wall, W., and Nghiem, K. (2014). Roles of perceived provider cultural sensitivity and health care justice in african
american/black patients' satisfaction with provider. J. Clin. Psychol. Med. Settings 21:282. doi: 10.1007/s10880-014-9397-0

- Wang, X., Tu, M., Yang, R., Guo, J., Yuan, Z., and Liu, W. (2016). Determinants of pro-environmental consumption intention in rural china: the role of traditional cultures, personal attitudes and reference groups. *Asian J. Soc. Psychol.* 19, 215–224. doi: 10.1111/ajsp.12142
- Yan, L. S., Zhou, L., and Zeng, L. (2013). Differences in moral justice and care: on collective bias in Chinese moral orientation. *Psychol. Sci.* 1168–1175. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.2013.05.011
- Yang, G. S. (2004). Theoretical analysis and experimental research on chinese self: social orientation and personal orientation. *J. Indig. Psychol.* 2004, 2011–2080. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01106
- Zhan, Y., Jie, C., Xiao, X., Jin, L., Yang, Z., and Wei, F. (2016). Reward promotes self-face processing: an event-related potential study. *Front. Psychol.* 7:735. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00735

Zhang, D., Wang, D., Yang, Y., and Teng, F. (2007). Do personality traits predict work values of chinese college students? Soc. Behav. Personal. Int. J. 35, 1281–1294. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2007.35.9.1281

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bian, Li, Sun, Deng, Li, Zhang and Yan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Effect of Negative Feedback on Positive Beliefs in Self-Deception

Juan Liu^{1,2}, Wenjie Zhang^{1,2*}, Youlong Zhan^{3*}, Lixin Song⁴, Peipei Guan⁵, Dan Kang², Jie Jian^{1,2}, Ronghua Cai² and Mei Li^{1,2}

¹ Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ² School of Education Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ³ Department of Psychology, Hunan University of Science and Technology, Xiangtan, China, ⁴ School of Design, Hunan University, Changsha, China, ⁵ Department of Psychology, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

In the present study, we applied the forward-looking paradigm to examine how positive beliefs appear in self-deception and to further reveal the influence of negative feedback on positive beliefs to decrease self-deception. In Experiment 1, the answer group (with answer hints provided below the test material) and the control group (without answer hints) completed two tests. Participants estimated their Test 1 scores, predicted their performance on the upcoming Test 2 without answer hints, and completed Test 2. Their actual scores on the two tests were recorded. The results showed that the answer group predicted higher Test 2 scores than the control group, but the two groups did not differ in their actual scores. These results showed that the answer group had positive self-deception. In Experiment 2, the two groups were given negative feedback (vs. no feedback) after Test 1, and the changes between their estimated scores on Test 1 and their predicted score and actual score on Test 2 were measured. The results indicated that there was no significant difference in the estimated scores and the predicted score between the two groups under the feedback condition compared with the negative feedback condition. These findings demonstrated that the effectiveness of the forwardlooking paradigm can activate participants' positive beliefs and cheat behaviors by providing the answers to induce self-deception, and negative feedback can decrease the occurrence of self-deception by reducing the positive beliefs of individuals and improving self-awareness to prevent or eliminate the negative impact of self-deception.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zhao Xin, Northwest Normal University, China

Reviewed by:

Li Kaiyun, University of Jinan, China Hui Jing Lu, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong Honghong Tang, Beijing Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Wenjie Zhang zwjpreschool@126.com Youlong Zhan youlongzhan8717@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 25 October 2018 Accepted: 13 March 2019 Published: 05 April 2019

Citation:

Liu J, Zhang W, Zhan Y, Song L, Guan P, Kang D, Jian J, Cai R and Li M (2019) The Effect of Negative Feedback on Positive Beliefs in Self-Deception. Front. Psychol. 10:702. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00702 Keywords: self-deception, positive beliefs, forward-looking paradigm, negative feedback, cheating

INTRODUCTION

Self-deception is considered a positive belief about the self that persists despite specific evidence to the contrary (Mitchell, 2000; Mele, 2002). Many studies about biased self-evaluation suggest that people are motivated to overestimate their abilities or to believe that they are doing better than they truly are (Burson et al., 2006). This motivation is so strong that individuals rationalize or ignore negative evaluations of themselves to uphold a positive belief (Norton, 2009). For example, overconfidence that overestimates one's actual abilities is a form of self-deception and positive belief (Li et al., 2016). In our view, no overconfidence process is fully self-deceptive. Self-deception is a special case in which an individual maintains a positive self-view and evaluation when faced with negative information. Some researchers believe that self-deception is an act of focusing on the

37

positive to defend oneself and repress the influence of negative feedback to adjust one's mental state (Fan et al., 2017), to fortify self-enhancement and self-confidence, and to recalibrate an individual's imbalanced cognition to improve the fit with his or her own perception (Lopez and Fuxjager, 2012; Seiffert-Brockmann and Thummes, 2017).

As of now, knowledge on self-deception mainly comes from two sources: laboratory researches and assessment of scales. Earlier studies mainly obtained data from the self-deception (SD) and impression management (IM) scales from the Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding (BIDR, Paulhus, 1984). These two scales are widely used as credible assessments of individual self-deception and impression management. Moreover, methods for studying self-deception mainly include retrospective paradigms and forward-looking paradigms. The retrospective paradigms generally focus on measuring the inconsistency between an individual's evaluation of past experience and the actual behavior of a real event. For example, Quattrone and Tversky (1984) used a classical pain experiment that asked participants to report whether their self-evaluated pain tolerance was affected by the relationship of pain tolerance and heart disease that was previously described to them. The scores of the pain experiment showed that all participants denied the existence of this influence, but their actual behavior proved that they were affected. Participants who were told that a higher pain tolerance means a healthier heart indicated much higher levels of self-evaluated pain tolerance than other participants who were not told so (Quattrone and Tversky, 1984). Gur and Sackeim (1979) adapted a voice recognition task to examine self-deception. Participants were asked to distinguish their own voice from many other voices that had been given positive or negative evaluations, and then they reported "mine" or "not me" for each voice while being connected to a polygraph to test their emotional reaction. This experiment found that participants tended to recognize voices with positive evaluations as themselves and negative evaluations as others, but their physiological response measured by the polygraph was inconsistent with the subjective judgment. Lie detector monitoring showed that the participants' physical reactions to their own voices or other participants' voices differed from their subjective reports; that is, the physiological indicators measured by the polygraph showed that the subjects' physiological responses to the sounds were inconsistent with their subjective reports (Gur and Sackeim, 1979). Additionally, Sloman et al. (2010) used the dot-tracking task to explore self-deception. The dot-tracking task was a video game in which participants started with the cursor on the left side of a computer screen and moved the cursor as fast as possible to a dot that appeared in a random position on the right half of the screen. After completing the initial phase, the fast group was given the instruction that people who moved the cursor faster tended to have higher than average general IQ (intellegence quotient) scores. The slow group was given the instruction that people who moved the cursor slower tended to have higher than average general IQ scores. Then, the participants completed the task in the test phase when the computer screen displayed vague speed feedback (fast, slow, or normal) according to the

participants' speed of cursor movement. The results showed that there was no difference in cursor speed between the two groups in the initial phase. Under the influence of the instructions, the cursor speed of the fast group was significantly higher than that of the slow group. However, all the participants denied that they were affected by the instructions. Accurate speed feedback was provided to the participants in the second experiment. The results showed that there was no significant difference between the fast group and the slow group in the test phase in the second experiment. That is, accurate feedback reduced the occurrence of self-deception. This dot-tracking paradigm established the theory that self-deception occurs under ambiguous conditions, as has been widely recognized. Although the above experimental methods illustrate the classic paradigm for studying self-deception, they cannot be used to measure the unconscious processes of self-deception (Ren et al., 2018) or applied stably and repeatedly to follow-up studies of self-deception. Therefore, advances in the experimental paradigms are an important prerequisite for further exploration of self-deception.

Recently, Chance et al. (2011) applied the forward-looking paradigm to investigate the mechanism of self-deception. In this paradigm, participants were informed of the correct answer before they answered the questions, which offered them the chance to cheat and obtain a better score. Researchers regard this process of seeing answers as cheating (Chance et al., 2011, 2015). The participants overestimated their future test scores by self-deception. These participants chose to deceive themselves into believing that better scores were obtained not because they had the answers beforehand but because of their actual talent. This experiment consisted of two knowledge tests. Participants completed 10 knowledge questions in Test 1 (e.g., "How many US states border Mexico?" and "In which US state is Mount Rushmore located?"), estimated the scores of Test 1 and predicted their future scores on Test 2 (100 knowledge questions similar to Test 1). Specifically, in Test 1, the answer group had the opportunity to see the answer at the bottom of the question sheet, while the control group did not. Then, both groups of participants continued to Test 2, for which neither group had answer keys. Through a comparison of the difference between the actual and estimated scores on Test 1, the behavioral aspects of cheating and establishing positive beliefs could be examined. If both the actual scores and the estimated scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, then it could be deduced that the answer group was cheating and established a positive belief: "I am good at this task." Self-deception was examined through the difference between the predicted scores and the actual scores for Test 2. If the scores predicted by the answer group were significantly higher than those predicted by the control group and the actual scores were not different, this result indicated that self-deception occurred in the answer group. The results showed that the actual scores and the estimated scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, which indicated that the answer group was cheating and established a positive belief in Test 1. In Test 2, the prediction scores made by the answer

group were significantly higher than those by the control group, and the true scores were not significantly different. The answer group deceived themselves into believing that they would perform better in the future than they actually did (holding positive beliefs about their ability being better than their actual ability) despite knowledge of negative evidence, such as "I saw the answer."

Deceiving others is beneficial, but why do people deceive themselves? Evolutionary psychologists believe that selfdeception can help individuals ignore clues such as cognitive load, conscious repression, and tension in order to better deceive others (von Hippel and Trivers, 2011). Deception and selfdeception are like two sides of the same coin that are mutually dependent and interactive. Self-deception slowly becomes a strategy to persuade or deceive others without being detected, and then deceiving others also becomes a means of self-deception (Dings, 2017). In the forward-looking paradigm, participants do not interpret their cheating behavior as "I am a liar," a negative belief, but use the positive scores of deception to enhance their positive beliefs ("I am capable") and the logical belief that "I am capable, I am not a cheater." The forward-looking paradigm could not only be used to study self-deception in individuals but also be extended to interpersonal self-deception. Such an approach would be easy to carry out and could avoid the difficult problem of the retrospective paradigm, which is not having an objective measure of unconscious decisions. Chance et al.'s (2011) experiment is based on knowledge of material familiar to people in the United States, but it is not applicable for Chinese participants more broadly. Furthermore, some studies have shown that there are significant differences in social cognition and behavior between people in the East and the people in the United States (Norenzayan and Nisbett, 2000; Yukiko and Shinobu, 2009). Hence, not only does the forward-looking paradigm experimental material need to be studied, but the validity of the experimental paradigm must also confirm in the Eastern cultural context. Therefore, the first purpose of this study was to verify the effectiveness of the forward-looking paradigm to induce self-deception in the context of Chinese culture and to expand and enrich the experimental material.

In addition, many studies have proven that self-deception has positive effects on individuals, such as improving subjective wellbeing (Ford, 2004; Lopez and Fuxjager, 2012) and increasing self-confidence (Ren et al., 2018) and self-perceived personal charm (Linton and Wiener, 2001). However, other studies have shown that self-deception has a negative effect on individuals. The negative impact of self-deception on individuals makes it impossible for individuals to clearly recognize themselves, and self-deception is not conducive to long-term development. Self-deception has benefits from a short-term perspective, but there is a high price to pay in the long term (Chance et al., 2011; Lauria et al., 2016). Self-deception can be misleading for social policy and may cause disasters for groups and society; war is the most expensive price that we have paid, as illustrated by Hitler's Nazi party (Trivers, 2000). Self-deception can be a strategy of moral hypocrisy to misperceive one's behavior as moral and avoid comparing one's behavior with

moral standards (Batson et al., 1999). Self-deception promotes unethical behavior, cheating, the bankruptcy of enterprises and governments (Chance et al., 2015), corrupt behavior (Desai et al., 2017), and the undermining of corporations (Babino et al., 2018). Thus, it is important to prevent and eliminate the negative impact of self-deception. It is of great theoretical and practical significance to explore how reducing such costly self-deception helps individual better monitor their self-deception behavior to prevent individual losses and prevent the harmful effects of self-deception on society.

How can self-deception be decreased? Self-deception is considered a positive belief about the self that persists despite specific evidence to the contrary. In our view, self-deception can be decreased by weakening the positive beliefs of selfdeceivers. How do these positive beliefs change? According to belief adjustment theory, when people find new information that conflict with their original beliefs, they will adjust their original beliefs to accept the inconsistent information to adapt to the new environment. When confronted with inconsistent information, individuals readjust the strength of their belief rather than completely revising their original belief (Johnson-Laird et al., 2004). Does positive belief in self-deception follow belief adjustment theory? That is, will this positive belief be weakened when people face inconsistent negative beliefs? We examine the decline of self-deception by manipulating the negative feedback to influence positive beliefs in self-deception. We support the theory suggested by Sloman (2011) that self-deception depends on ambiguous conditions. However, it remains unclear how negative feedback affects self-deception in the forward-looking paradigm, and non-feedback has the greatest ambiguity with regard to self-deception. Therefore, the second purpose of this study was to provide relatively truthful and accurate feedback to the participants and to examine whether the answer group would be aware of the good scores obtained by cheating on Test 1 and whether their predictions for Test 2 would be closer to the control group's scores. According to the theory of belief adjustment and the idea that selfdeception depends on ambiguous conditions, we hypothesize that self-deception can be decreased by weakening individuals' positive beliefs.

Based on the above, this study used a forward-looking paradigm to examine how the positive beliefs of self-deception occurs and to further explore the impact of negative feedback on that positive beliefs to decrease self-deception.

EXPERIMENT 1: POSITIVE BELIEFS IN SELF-DECEPTION IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING PARADIGM

Purpose and Hypothesis

The purpose of this study was to examine how positive beliefs occur in the forward-looking paradigm during selfdeception. The study assumed that compared to the control group participants, the participants in the answer group would establish positive beliefs about their scores because of cheating in Test 1 and predict higher scores for their future Test 2 to show self-deception.

Methods Participants

The experimental procedure was approved by the IRB of the Institute of Psychology, Hunan Normal University. A total of 47 college students (19 male and 28 female, average age 22.48 ± 0.69 years) were recruited, none were psychology majors. All participants were right-handed, with normal or corrected-to-normal vision. They were randomly divided into the answer group (25 people, with answer hints) and the control group (22 people, without answer hints). All participants signed their written informed consent to the experiment and were given appropriate compensation after the experiment.

Experimental Design

A 2 (group type: answer group vs. control group) \times 2 (score: estimation/prediction scores vs. actual scores) mixed design was conducted in Experiment 1. The group type was the between-subject variables, and the within-subject variable was the score. The dependent variable was the estimated and actual scores for Test 1 and the predicted and actual scores for Test 2.

Material

Dot estimation task: Each graph is a problem, and there are 60 rectangular red dot graphs (see Figure 1 for an example). Ten of the 60 graphs had an answer hint written at the bottom right corner and were used for Test 1 by the answer group, and the same type of graphs without answer hints was used for Test 1 by the control group. The remaining 50 graphs without the answer hint were used for Test 2 for both groups. Each graph is a rectangle divided into two halves by a diagonal line. In each graph, 39 or 40 red dots are evenly distributed on both sides of the diagonal line. To increase the ambiguity of the answer, the number of points on both sides of the graph was either nearly equal or equal. There were three types of answers: more dots the left side, more dots on the right side and an equal number of dots on each side. Among these graphs, 20 graphs have the same number of dots on both sides, 20 graphs have one more dot on the right side, and the remaining 20 graphs have one more dot on the left side. The task of estimating the number of points without counting is quite difficult, and the answer is chosen based on intuition. The red dots are randomly presented in the graph. Each graph is rendered randomly by a computer program. Each graph appears as a trial, and the time taken for each trial is 6 s. The participants would press the "F" key if they think there are more dots on the left side, "J" for the right side, and "Y" for an equal number of dots.

Procedure

Forty-seven participants completed the test on computers equipped with Eprime 2.0. The test consisted of Test 1 and Test 2 (see **Figure 2**). Before the test, a sample dot estimation task with instructions was presented to participants, and the participants were informed about the requirements and specific operations of the test. Participants were informed that the dot estimation



task was designed to investigate the visual observation ability of the college students. In the answer group, the participants were also given this instruction "There is an answer below and to the right of the screen; you can check your answer, but please do your own work." This was an ambiguous instruction, they did not forbidden to look at the answer, but they did imply that using the answer hint to answer the question would be wrong (Chance et al., 2015). The control group completed the same test task but without the answer hints and the ambiguous instructions. After the participants completed Test 1 with 10 questions, they needed to estimate their score for Test 1 and predict their future score for Test 2, which had 50 graphs, by entering the scores on the computer screen. Finally, they completed Test 2 with no answer hints. In Test 1, because of the influence of the answer hint (participants of the answer group saw the answer hint, the control group did not have the answer hint), the answer group had a significantly higher score than the control group on both the estimated scores and actual scores. If the actual score of the answer group was significantly higher than that of the control group, this result indicated that the answer group was cheating by looking at the answer; if the estimation of the score made by the answer group was significantly higher than that of the control group, this result meant that the answer group had set up a positive belief: I am good at this test. In Test 2, these participants chose to deceive themselves into believing that the better scores were obtained not because they had the answers beforehand but because of their actual talent. Then, participants of answer group more estimated their scores in Test 2 by selfdeception than those of the control group. If the predicted scores made by the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group but the actual scores were not different, then the answer group was self-deceptive; that is, they had a positive belief and still persisted in this belief in the face of the opposite evidence.

Results

Estimated and Actual Scores for Test 1

Repeated-measures analyses of variance (ANOVA) were performed on the estimated scores and actual



TABLE 1 | Estimated and actual scores for test 1 and predicted and actual scores for test 2 ($M \pm SD$).

	Test 1		Test 2	
	Answer	Control	Answer	Control
Score	6.57 ± 1.50	5.46 ± 1.42	33.81 ± 9.47	27.00 ± 9.62
Actual Score	5.67 ± 2.15	4.23 ± 1.17	19.90 ± 2.37	20.65 ± 3.81

scores in the two groups for Test 1 (see **Table 1** and **Figure 3**). The results showed that the main effect of the group type was significant, $F_{(1,45)} = 14.33$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.24$, and the scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group. There was a significant main effect of score, $F_{(1,45)} = 17.34$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.28$, and the estimated scores were higher than the actual scores. There was no significant interaction effect for the group type and the score, $F_{(1,45)} = 0.33$, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$.

To further verify whether the answer hints could cause cheating behavior and positive beliefs, we used an independent-sample *t*-test to compute the difference of the estimated scores and the actual scores between the two groups. The results showed that the estimated scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group, t(45) = 2.84, p = 0.007, *conhen's d* = 0.76, and the actual scores of the answer group were group were significantly higher

than those of the control group, t(45) = 3.07, p = 0.005, *conhen's d* = 0.71.

Predicted and Actual Scores for Test 2

Repeated-measures ANOVAs were performed on the predicted and actual scores in the two groups for Test 2 (see Table 1 and Figure 3). The results showed that the main effect of the group type was significant, $F_{(1,45)} = 5.26$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$, and the scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group. There was a significant main effect of the score, $F_{(1,45)} = 52.52$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.54$, and the predicted scores were higher than the actual scores. There was a significant interaction effect for the group type and the score, $F_{(1.45)} = 7.32$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$. We conducted a simple effect analysis for the answer group and the control group. The results showed that the answer group had higher predicted scores than the control group, $F_{(1,45)} = 7.11$, p < 0.05, and the actual scores of the two groups were not significantly different, $F_{(1,45)} = 0.64$, p > 0.05. In addition, the predicted scores of the answer group and the control group were significantly higher than the actual scores, $F_{(1,45)} = 44.76, p < 0.001, F_{(1,45)} = 11.54, p < 0.001.$

To further verify whether the answer hints could affect the actual scores of the answer group to induce self-deception by the participants' cheating, we converted raw scores to percentages and used a paired-sample t-test to compute the difference between the scores and the actual scores in Test 1 and Test 2 for the two groups. The results showed that the percentages of estimated scores for Test 1 were not significantly higher than the



percentages of predicted scores for Test 2 in the answer group, t(24) = -0.66, p = 0.52, *conhen's d* = -0.15, and the percentages of actual scores for Test 1 were significantly higher than the percentages of predicted scores for Test 2, t(24) = 3.99, p = 0.001, *conhen's d* = 1.24. In contrast, the percentages of estimated scores for Test 1 were not significantly higher than the percentages of predicted scores for Test 2 in the control group, t(21) = 0.22, p = 0.83, *conhen's d* = 0.06, and the percentages of the actual scores for two tests were not significantly different, t(21) = 0.50, p = 0.62, *conhen's d* = 0.11.

Discussion

In Experiment 1, the main effect of the group type was significant, and the actual scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group in Test 1, which indicated that the answer group was affected by the answer hints and cheated by seeing the answers. The answer group had higher estimated scores than the control group in Test 1, which indicated that the participants in the answer group had established positive beliefs. In Test 2, the main effect of the group type was significant, the predicted scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, and the actual scores were did not differ between the groups, which indicated that the answer group occurred self-deception. These results are not only consistent with the previous hypothesis but also consistent with the study by Chance et al. (2011). By ignoring the influence of negative evidence, people deceive themselves to maintain a positive belief about their future performance to reflect their abilities (Chance et al., 2011, 2015).

In addition, the main effect of score was significant in the two tests, and the estimated or predicted scores were higher than the actual scores. These findings indicate that the participants in the two groups overestimated their actual ability and that they enhanced and maintained a positive self-concept by evaluating their traits above their actual level (Greenwald, 1980; Taylor and Brown, 1988; Burson et al., 2006). However, there was no significant difference in the percentages of scores between Test 1 and Test 2 in the control group and a significant difference

in the percentages of actual scores between Test 1 and Test 2 in the answer group. These results support the effect of the answer hints on the answer group. That is, the positive beliefs of the control group were not self-deception, but the positive beliefs of the answer group when they were faced with the negative evidence (answer hints) were regarded as self-deception. However, the question remains whether this positive belief can be changed by presenting opposing negative beliefs. Therefore, Experiment 2 further explored the variability of positive beliefs in self-deception by investigating the effect of negative feedback on positive beliefs in self-deception. In Experiment 1, the average actual scores for Test 2 in the two groups were 20.65 (the control group) and 19.9 (the answer group). Both groups had scores lower than their self-evaluation, so the feedback in Experiment 2 was the negative feedback of the "low test scores of your test".

EXPERIMENT 2: THE EFFECT OF NEGATIVE FEEDBACK ON POSITIVE BELIEFS IN SELF-DECEPTION

Purpose and Hypothesis

The purpose of this experiment was to examine the effect of negative feedback on positive belief in self-deception. We hypothesized as follows: (1) compared to the control group participants, the participants in the answer group would establish positive beliefs about their higher scores because of cheating in Test 1 and predict higher scores for their future Test 2 to show self-deception under the no-feedback condition; (2) compared to the control group participants, the participants in the answer group would reduce positive beliefs about their scores in Test 1 to decrease the occurrence of self-deception in Test 2 under the negative-feedback condition.

Methods Participants

The experimental procedure was approved by the IRB of the Institute of Psychology, Hunan Normal University. A total of 93



college students (40 male and 53 female; average age 23.45 ± 0.71 years) were recruited. The participants were all right-handed, had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and were randomly assigned to the answer group (28 participants in the negative feedback condition, 20 participants in the no-feedback condition, with answer hints) and the control group (25 participants in the negative feedback condition, 20 participants in the no-feedback condition, with answer hints). All participants signed their written informed consent for the experiment and were given appropriate compensation after the experiment.

Experimental Design

A 2 (group type: answer group vs. control group) \times 2 (feedback condition: negative vs. no-feedback) \times 2 (score: estimation/prediction scores vs. actual scores) mixed design was conducted in Experiment 2. The group type and feedback condition were the between-subject variables, and the within-subject variable was the score. The dependent variable was the estimated and actual scores for Test 1 and the predicted and actual scores for Test 2.

Material

The same dot estimation task material used in Experiment 1 was used for Experiment 2.

Procedure

At the end of Test 1, the computer gave the participants negative feedback that said "low test score for your test." Then, the

TABLE 2 | Comparison of estimated, predicted, and actual scores between groups ($M \pm SD$).

	Estimated score for Test 1 Actual score for Test 1		Predicted score for Test 2 Actual score for Test 2	
	Answer	Control	Answer	Control
Negative	4.57 ± 1.69	4.10 ± 1.37	23.40 ± 6.53	24.90 ± 8.57
Feedback	5.89 ± 2.77	4.25 ± 1.45	19.46 ± 2.73	19.55 ± 4.20
No feedback	6.60 ± 1.50	5.64 ± 0.32	34.00 ± 9.54	27.49 ± 10.13
	5.50 ± 2.35	4.32 ± 1.11	20.05 ± 2.42	20.12 ± 4.52

participants were asked to estimate their scores for Test 1 and predict their scores for Test 2. The other procedures were the same as those in Experiment 1 (**Figure 4**).

Results

Estimated and Actual Scores for Test 1

Repeated-measures ANOVAs were performed on the feedback condition and score in the two groups for Test 1 (**Table 2**). The results showed that the main effect of the group type was significant, $F_{(1,89)} = 12.76$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$, and the scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group. There was a significant main effect of the feedback condition, $F_{(1,89)} = 7.43$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$, and the score of the no-feedback condition. There was no significant main

effect of the score, $F_{(1,89)} = 0.92$, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$, and the estimated scores were not different from the actual scores. There was no significant interaction effect of group type and score, $F_{1,89} = 1.99$, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$, and no significant interaction effect for group type, feedback condition and score, $F_{(1,89)} = 0.93$, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$. However, there was a significant interaction effect for the feedback condition and the score, $F_{(1,89)} = 15.53$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$. We conducted a simple effect analysis for the answer group and the control group. The results showed that the estimated scores of the nofeedback condition were significantly higher than those of the negative feedback condition, $F_{(1,89)} = 25.41$, p < 0.001, and the actual scores were not significantly different between the two conditions, $F_{(1,89)} = 0.65$, p > 0.05. In addition, the estimated scores of the no-feedback condition were higher than the actual scores, $F_{(1,89)} = 11.98$, p < 0.01, and the estimated scores of the negative feedback condition were lower than the actual scores, $F_{(1,89)} = 5.93, p < 0.05.$

To further verify whether negative feedback could decrease positive beliefs by reducing the estimated scores and whether the answer hints could cause cheating behavior and positive beliefs, we used an independent-sample *t*-test to compute the difference between the estimated scores and the actual scores between the two groups (see **Figure 5**). The results of the negative feedback condition showed that the estimated scores of the answer group were not significantly different from those of the control group, t(46) = 1.03, p = 0.31, *conhen's* d = 0.31, and the actual scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, t(46) = 2.67, p = 0.01, *conhen's* d = 0.74. The results of the no-feedback condition showed that the estimated scores and the actual scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, t(43) = 1.20, p = 0.05, *conhen's* d = 0.89, t(43) = 2.07, p = 0.04, *conhen's* d = 0.64.

Predicted and Actual Scores for Test 2

Repeated-measures ANOVAs were performed on the feedback condition and score in the two groups for Test 2 (see Table 2 and Figure 5). The results showed that the main effect of the group type was not significant, $F_{(1,89)} = 1.55$, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$, and the scores of the answer group were not different from those of the control group. There was a significant main effect of the feedback condition, $F_{(1,89)} = 13.51$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$, and the scores of the no-feedback condition were higher than those of the negative feedback condition. There was a significant main effect of the score, $F_{(1,89)} = 58.97$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.40$, and the predicted scores were higher than the actual scores. There was a significant interaction effect for group type, feedback condition and score, $F_{(1,89)} = 4.05$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$. We conducted a simple effect analysis for the answer group and the control group. The results showed that the predicted scores and the actual scores were not significantly different between the answer group and the control group under the negative feedback condition, $F_{(1,89)} = 0.92, p > 0.05, F_{(1,89)} = 0.03, p > 0.05$. Under the no-feedback condition, the predicted scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group, $F_{(1, 89)} = 4.33$, p < 0.05, and the actual scores did not differ between the answer group and the control group, $F_{(1, 89)} = 0.02, p > 0.05$.

Discussion

In Experiment 2, the results of Test 1 showed that the main effect of the group type and the feedback condition were significant, and the main effect of the score was not significant, which indicated that the scores of the participants were affected by the negative feedback. Under the no-feedback condition, the estimated scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those for the control group, and the estimated scores were higher than the actual scores, which indicated that the participants cheated on the test by seeing the answer hints and obtained a positive belief. These results are consistent not only with the previous hypothesis and the results of Experiment 1 but also with the study by Chance et al. (2011). Under the negative feedback condition, the estimated scores of the answer group were not significantly different from those of the control group, and the predicted scores were lower than the actual scores. The actual scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, which indicated that the negative feedback reduced the positive beliefs in Test 1, even if the participants cheated on the test by seeing the answer hints.

The results of Test 2 showed that the main effect of the feedback condition and score was significant and the main effect of the group type was not significant, which indicated that the positive beliefs of the answer group reduced their scores to the level of the control group because of the impact of negative feedback. There was a difference between Test 1 and Test 2 in the main effect of the score because the actual scores of the answer group reduced by the lack of answer hints provided to the participants in Test 2. Under the no-feedback condition, the predicted scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group and the actual scores of the two groups did not differ, which indicated that the participants in the answer group occurred self-deception. These results are consistent not only with the previous hypothesis and the results of Experiment 1 but also with the study by Chance et al. (2011). Under the negative feedback condition, the estimated scores and the actual scores of the answer group were not significantly different from those of the control group, which indicated that negative feedback decreased self-deception to the level of the control group. The results of Experiment 2 suggest that negative feedback might have decreased the occurrence of self-deception in Test 2 by reducing the positive beliefs in Test 1 to reduce such costly self-deception.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The present study used the forward-looking paradigm to examine how positive beliefs appeared in self-deception and further revealed the influence of negative feedback on positive beliefs to decrease self-deception. The findings of Experiment 1 and the nofeedback condition for Experiment 2 showed that the estimated scores and the actual scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group in Test 1. The predicted scores of the answer group were higher than those of the control group in Test 2, but the actual scores did not differ between the groups in Test 2. However, the findings of the negative feedback condition



for Experiment 2 showed that the estimated scores, the predicted scores and the actual scores (Test 2) of the answer group were not significantly different from those of the control group, and the actual scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group in Test 1. These findings demonstrate that the effectiveness of the forward-looking paradigm can induce self-deception to expand and enrich the experimental material used, and negative feedback may have decreased the occurrence of self-deception in Test 2 by reducing the positive beliefs in Test 1 to prevent or eliminate the negative impact of self-deception.

The Effectiveness of the Forward-Looking Paradigm to Induce Self-Deception

To further improve and develop the experimental methods to study self-deception, we used computer programs and graph materials to examine the effectiveness of the forward-looking paradigm to induce self-deception and to verify the applicability of the dot estimation material to more general participants. The results of Experiment 1 and the no-feedback condition of Experiment 2 showed that the estimated scores, the actual scores in Test 1 and predicted scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group, but the actual scores did not differ between the groups in Test 2. These findings indicate that the answer group occurred self-deception. The participants in the answer group deceived themselves into believing that they would perform better in the future than they actually did despite knowledge of negative evidence, such as seeing the answers. These results are consistent with Chance et al.'s (2011) research and prove that the "forward-looking" paradigm can better induce selfdeception in an Eastern cultural context. The dot estimation material can induce self-deception and can be widely used in academic settings to study self-deception (Ren et al., 2018). To our knowledge, this is the first time that the forward-looking paradigm has been tested using a computer program and graph materials. Our research results represent an improvement in the experimental methods used to study self-deception. It is expected that improvements in this method can provide an experimental basis for the study of the neural mechanisms of self-deception.

Negative Feedback Decreases Positive Beliefs in Self-Deception

To effectively prevent the occurrence of self-deception, we provided negative feedback after Test 1 in Experiment 2 to explore whether this negative feedback could decrease selfdeception by reducing the positive beliefs of participants. The results of Experiment 2 showed that the estimated scores, the predicted scores and the actual scores in Test 2 of the answer group were not significantly different from those of the control group, and the actual scores of the answer group were significantly higher than those of the control group in Test 1. These results indicated that negative feedback may have decreased the occurrence of self-deception in Test 2 by reducing the positive beliefs in Test 1. Our results are consistent with belief adjustment theory, which suggest that individuals adjust their original beliefs to accept inconsistent information (Johnson-Laird et al., 2004). Most previous studies on selfdeception have used the retrospective paradigm to promote the generation of self-deception through negative feedback (Gur and Sackeim, 1979; Quattrone and Tversky, 1984; Sloman et al., 2010). The negative feedback of the retrospective paradigm is a type of threatening information that can induce self-deception in participants by changing their behavior and denying the change of behavior. However, in our research, negative feedback affected the positive beliefs of the participants to reduce the occurrence of self-deception. Therefore, the difference in the results between the retrospective paradigm and our study was due to the difference in the operation of the experimental conditions and the measurement of self-deception. Sloman et al. (2010) found that self-deception occurred under ambiguous conditions, and compared with ambiguous feedback, accurate feedback could effectively reduce the occurrence of self-deception. The findings of our study demonstrated that no-feedback conditions have more highly ambiguous conditions to facilitate the occurrence of self-deception than do relatively accurate negative feedback conditions. Thus, our results also support the theory of Sloman et al. (2010) that self-deception depends on ambiguous conditions. In addition, high self-awareness has been positively correlated with low self-deception (Lynn et al., 2014), and negative feedback might increase the level of awareness of self-competence to reduce positive beliefs in self-deception by improving self-perception.

Biased Information Processing of Positive Beliefs in Self-Deception

Many studies have shown that individuals tend to overestimate their positive traits of intelligence, capability and morality (Taylor and Brown, 1988). Our study found the same psychological phenomena. The results showed that the main effect of scores was significant in Experiment 1 and Test 2 of Experiment 2, and the predicted scores were higher than the actual scores of the control group and the answer group. These results showed that the participants generally overestimated their real scores due to overconfidence. von Hippel and Trivers (2011) suggested that not all biased processing of information is self-deception, however, when people are consciously inclined toward positive information, unconsciously avoiding negative information and reflecting individual motivation is regarded as self-deception. That is, the positive beliefs of the control group were not selfdeception, but the positive beliefs of the answer group when faced with negative evidence (answer hints) were regarded as self-deception. The pursuit of truth is important in human survival and reproduction. Why do individuals have unrealistic positive beliefs about themselves through self-deception? Most researchers now use the theory of biased information processing to explain the mechanism of positive beliefs in self-deception (van der Leer and McKay, 2017). Self-deception can occur at any stage of biased information processing, and people maintain a positive self-evaluation according to their willingness to deviate, ignore their memory and rationalize improper behavior. Furthermore, self-deception can occur at any stage of information processing, and people are biased according to their willingness to extract and block information or reconstruct memories. When individuals search for or receive information, they are sometimes inclined to avoid further searches for information and even automatically question the validity and authenticity of the information because it does not match their own goals and ideas. As individuals attempt to interpret the information they obtain, some unwelcome information may be recoded as being more positive. When information is extracted from memory, it is not guaranteed that unwelcome information is retrieved even if it has been acknowledged or even accepted for encoding. Information that is not consistent with an individual's own preferences is easily forgotten or misunderstood.

Logic of the Relationship Between Cheating and Self-Deception

From the interpersonal point of view, some researchers have suggested that self-deception is contributes to interpersonal deception (von Hippel and Trivers, 2011). For example, it has been proposed that self-deception can promote interpersonal persuasion by maintaining positive self-image (Seiffert-Brockmann and Thummes, 2017; Smith et al., 2017), which shows that deception and self-deception are interdependent and mutually promoting. Cheating is a fraudulent way of doing illegal or unregulated things; that is, cheating is a kind of deceit. Therefore, cheating and self-deception are also interdependent and mutually beneficial, and our experiment is in line with this logic. However, people generally think that the problematic behavior of cheating will make individuals feel worse about themselves; that is, if they have the ability to obtain the desired scores, they do not need to cheat. However, in reality, when self-deception appears, the sense of morality will fade (Tenbrunsel and Messick, 2004). Self-deception reduces the cognitive dissonance caused by unethical behavior (Lauria et al., 2016). Self-deception is regard as a strategy to deal with conflict between self-interest and moral standards (Batson et al., 1999; Tang et al., 2017, 2018). Even if unconsciously one thinks of it as a kind of immoral behavior, the conscious mind rationalizes this immoral behavior. People tend to focus on the positive scores of cheating, leading to their neglect of the disagreeable process of cheating in order to maintain positive beliefs for self-view.

Limitations and Future Study

Previous studies have found that it is difficult for real feedback to reduce self-deception to the level of the control group after repeated feedback (Chance et al., 2015; Tang et al., 2018). However, our research found that one incident of negative feedback decreased self-deception to the level of the control group. This difference might be because the negative feedback in our experiment appeared after Test 1 and before the estimated scores (Chance included feedback after Test 2). Thus, we could reduce the occurrence of self-deception by influencing the establishment of positive beliefs among our participants. Our study did not examine self-deception at different points of feedback (after Test 1 or Test 2), which is one of our limitations. Future research should place negative feedback at different time points in an experiment to test whether self-deception differences exist. Furthermore, the results of our research only explained and examined ubiquitous self-deception with positive beliefs but not broader self-deception, such as negatively twisted selfdeception (Mele, 2002; Leeuwen, 2007). In addition, our study did not examine self-deception other than negative feedback types (ambiguous vs. real) and social situations. Future studies can investigate the cognitive mechanism of self-deception depending on ambiguous or real negative-feedback conditions and social situation factors. The neural mechanisms of individual selfdeception can be further explored using ERP technology or fMRI technology.

CONCLUSION

This study contributes to experimental methods and suggests ways to reduce self-deception. On the one hand, we used computer programs and "dot estimation" materials in the forward-looking paradigm to prove that the effectiveness of the forward-looking paradigm can induce self-deception in an Eastern cultural context, and to expand the experimental material used. On the other hand, our research demonstrated that negative feedback can decrease the occurrence of selfdeception by reducing the positive beliefs of individuals and improving self-awareness to avoid or eliminate the negative impact of self-deception on the basis of belief adjustment theory. No-feedback conditions have more ambiguous conditions to facilitate the occurrence of self-deception than do negative feedback conditions. In other words, the forward-looking paradigm is an effective experimental method to explore self-deception by inducing cheating, and negative feedback can decrease self-deception.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL was responsible for the preparation of experimental procedures and wrote the manuscript. YZ and LS analyzed the data. PG, DK, and JJ performed the experimental procedures and organized the participants for the experiments. RC and ML examined the experimental material. WZ reviewed the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Babino, A., Makse, H. A., DiTella, R., and Sigman, M. (2018). Maintaining trust when agents can engage in self-deception. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 8728–8733. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1803438115
- Batson, C. D., Thompson, E. R., Seuferling, G., Whitney, H., and Strongman, J. A. (1999). Moral hypocrisy: appearing moral to oneself without being so. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 77, 525–537. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.77.3.525
- Burson, K. A., Larrick, R. P., and Joshua, K. (2006). Skilled or unskilled, but still unaware of it: how perceptions of difficulty drive miscalibration in relative comparisons. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 90, 60–77. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 90.1.60
- Chance, Z., Gino, F., Norton, M. I., and Ariely, D. (2015). The slow decay and quick revival of self-deception. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1075. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 01075
- Chance, Z., Norton, M. I., Gino, F., and Ariely, D. (2011). Temporal view of the costs and benefits of self-deception. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108(Suppl. 3), 15655–15659. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010658108
- Desai, N., Dalal, S., and Rawal, S. (2017). The effects of volunteerism on selfdeception and locus of control. Int. J. Volunt. Nonprofit Organ. 29, 83–92. doi: 10.1007/s11266-017-9857-x
- Dings, R. (2017). Social strategies in self-deception. New Ideas Psychol. 47, 16–23. doi: 10.1016/j.newideapsych.2017.03.011
- Fan, W., Yang, B., Liu, J., and Fu, X. (2017). Self-deception:for adjusting individual psychological states. *Adv. Psychol. Sci.* 25:1349. doi: 10.3724/sp.j.1042.2017. 01349
- Ford, C. V. (2004). "Lying and self-deception in health and disease," in Emotional Expression and Health: Advances in Theory, Assessment and Clinical Applications, eds I. Nyklíček, L. Temoshok, and A. Vingerhoets (New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge), 11–28.
- Greenwald, A. G. (1980). The totalitarian ego fabrication and revision of personal history. Am. Psychol. 35, 603–618. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.35. 7.603
- Gur, R. C., and Sackeim, H. A. (1979). Self-deception: a concept in search of a phenomenon. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 37, 147–169. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.37.2.147
- Johnson-Laird, P. N., Girotto, V., and Legrenzi, P. (2004). Reasoning from inconsistency to consistency. *Psychol. Rev.* 111, 640–661. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.111.3.640
- Lauria, F., Preissmann, D., and Clement, F. (2016). Self-deception as affective coping. an empirical perspective on philosophical issues. *Conscious. Cogn.* 41, 119–134. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2016.02.001
- Leeuwen, D. S. N. V. (2007). The spandrels of self-deception: prospects for a biological theory of a mental phenomenon. *Philosoph. Psychol.* 20, 329–348. doi: 10.1080/09515080701197148
- Li, K., Szolnoki, A., Cong, R., and Wang, L. (2016). The coevolution of overconfidence and bluffing in the resource competition game. *Sci. Rep.* 6:21104. doi: 10.1038/srep21104

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31500883 and 31671134), the Hunan Province Philosophy Social Science Project (16YBQ073 and 15YBA268), the Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province (2018JJ3341, 2015JJ2101, and 2018JJ2254), the Hunan Provincial Department of Education Scientific Research General Project (15C0885 and 17C1013), and the Key Project of the Hunan Provincial Social Science Achievement Review Committee (XSP17ZDI019 and XSP18ZDI036). The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Linton, D. K., and Wiener, N. I. (2001). Personality and potential conceptions: mating success in a modern western male sample. *Pers. Indiv. Diff.* 31, 675–688. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00170-7
- Lopez, J. K., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2012). Self-deception's adaptive value: effects of positive thinking and the winner effect. *Conscious. Cogn.* 21, 315–324. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2011.10.008
- Lynn, C. D., Pipitone, R. N., and Keenan, J. P. (2014). To thine own self be false: self-deceptive enhancement and sexual awareness influences on mating success. *Evol. Behav. Sci.* 8, 109–122. doi: 10.1037/h0097255
- Mele, A. R. (2002). Self-deception unmasked. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 76:1042.
- Mitchell, J. (2000). Living a Lie: self-deception, habit, and social roles. *Human Stud.* 23, 145–156. doi: 10.1023/A:1005685919349
- Norenzayan, A., and Nisbett, R. E. (2000). Culture and causal cognition. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 9, 132–135. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00077
- Norton, M. I. (2009). "I Read Playboy for the Articles": Justifying and Rationalizing Questionable Preferences. Boston MA: Harvard Business School.
- Paulhus, D. L. (1984). Two-component models of socially desirable responding. J. Pers. Soc.al Psychol. 46, 598–609. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 46.3.598
- Quattrone, G. A., and Tversky, A. (1984). Causal versus diagnostic contingencies: on self-deception and on the voter's illusion. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 46, 237–248. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.46.2.237
- Ren, M., Zhong, B., Fan, W., Dai, H., Yang, B., Zhang, W., et al. (2018). The influence of self-control and social status on self-deception. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1256. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01256
- Seiffert-Brockmann, J., and Thummes, K. (2017). Self-deception in public relations. a psychological and sociological approach to the challenge of conflicting expectations. *Public Relat. Rev.* 43, 133–144. doi: 10.1016/j.pubrev.2016. 12.006
- Sloman, S. A., Fernbach, P. M., and Hagmayer, Y. (2010). Self-deception requires vagueness. *Cognition* 115, 268–281. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2009. 12.017
- Smith, M. K., Trivers, R., and von Hippel, W. (2017). Self-deception facilitates interpersonal persuasion. J. Econom. Psychol. 63, 93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.joep. 2017.02.012
- Tang, H., Wang, S., Liang, Z., Sinnott-Armstrong, W., Su, S., and Liu, C. (2018). Are proselfs more deceptive and hypocritical? social image concerns in appearing fair. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2268. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02268
- Tang, H., Ye, P., Wang, S., Zhu, R., Su, S., Tong, L., et al. (2017). Stimulating the right temporoparietal junction with tDCS decreases deception in moral hypocrisy and unfairness. *Front. Psychol.* 8:2033. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02033
- Taylor, S. E., and Brown, J. D. (1988). Illusion and well-being: a social psychological perspective on mental health. *Psychol. Bull.* 103, 193–210. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103.2.193
- Tenbrunsel, A. E., and Messick, D. M. (2004). Ethical fading: the role of selfdeception in unethical behavior. *Soc. Just. Res.* 17, 223–236. doi: 10.1023/b: sore.0000027411.35832.53

- Triandis, H. C. (2009). Fooling Ourselves: Self-deception in Politics, Religion, and Terrorism. Westport: Praeger Publishers.
- Trivers, R. (2000). The elements of a scientific theory of self-deception. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 907, 114–131. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06619.x
- van der Leer, L., and McKay, R. (2017). The optimist within? Selective sampling and self-deception. *Conscious. Cogn.* 50, 23–39. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2016.07.005
- von Hippel, W., and Trivers, R. (2011). The evolution and psychology of self-deception. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 34, 1–16; discussion16–56. doi: 10.1017/ S0140525X10001354
- Yukiko, U., and Shinobu, K. (2009). Happiness and unhappiness in east and west: themes and variations. *Emotion* 9:441. doi: 10.1037/a0015634

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Liu, Zhang, Zhan, Song, Guan, Kang, Jian, Cai and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Temporal Features of Psychological and Physical Self-Representation: An ERP Study

Lei Liu^{1,2,3†}, Wenjie Li^{1,2†}, Jin Li^{1,2}, Lingna Lou⁴ and Jie Chen^{1,2*}

¹School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ²Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ³School of Psychological and Cognitive Science, Peking University, Beijing, China, ⁴Faculty of Philosophy, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle, Germany

Psychological and physical-self are two important aspects of self-concept. Although a growing number of behavioral and neuroimaging studies have investigated the cognitive mechanism and neural substrate underlying psychological and physical-self-representation, most of the existing research on psychological and physical-self-representation had been done in isolation. The present study aims to examine the electrophysiological responses to both psychological (one's own name) and physical (one's own voice) self-related stimuli in a uniform paradigm. Event-related potentials (ERPs) were recorded for subjects' own and others' names uttered by subjects' own or others' voice (own voice-own name, own voice-other's name, other's voice-own name, other's voice-other's name) while subjects performed an auditory passive oddball task. The results showed that one's own name elicited smaller P2 and larger P3 amplitudes than those of other's names, irrespective of the voice identity. However, no differences were observed between self and other's voice during the P2 and P3 stages. Moreover, an obvious interaction effect was observed between voice content and voice identity at the N400 stage that the subject's own voice elicited a larger parietal N400 amplitude than other's voice in other name condition but not in own name condition. Taken together, these findings suggested that psychological (one's own name) and physical (one's own voice) self-representation induced distinct electrophysiological response patterns in auditory-cognitive processing.

Keywords: psychological-self, physical-self, own name, own voice, P3, N400

INTRODUCTION

Self-recognition is an essential biological and social function for human species, which represents a capacity to identify the distinction between self and others (Candini et al., 2014; van Veluw and Chance, 2014; Conde et al., 2015). Multiple behavioral and neuroimaging studies have revealed the cognitive and neural mechanisms of self-reference effect (Kalenzaga et al., 2015; Humphreys and Sui, 2016; Tamura et al., 2016), self-relevant effect (Chen et al., 2011, 2015a,b), and self-positive bias (Watson et al., 2007; Fields and Kuperberg, 2015; Kiang et al., 2017). However, these studies usually characterized the self at a single and unidimensional structure (Platek et al., 2004). From the time of William James, the multidimensionality of self-concept has been emphasized and highlighted (Marsh, 1990), some psychologists suggest

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jiajin Yuan, Southwest University, China

Reviewed by:

Xiangru Zhu, Henan University, China Yifeng Wang, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, China

> *Correspondence: Jie Chen xlxchen@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 04 December 2018 Accepted: 21 March 2019 Published: 10 April 2019

Citation:

Liu L, Li W, Li J, Lou L and Chen J (2019) Temporal Features of Psychological and Physical Self-Representation: An ERP Study. Front. Psychol. 10:785. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00785

49

that the self-concept cannot be understood sufficiently and accurately if its multidimensionality is ignored (Marsh, 1990; Walla et al., 2008; Klein, 2010; Uddin, 2011; Philippi et al., 2017). For example, Gillihan and Farah (2005) reviewed a series of self-related studies and divided the self-concept into two aspects: physical and psychological self (Gillihan and Farah, 2005). The physical-self contains the sensory and image-based representations of our face, voice, proprioceptive and motor-based representations of our body (Gallagher, 2005; Gillihan and Farah, 2005; Keyes et al., 2010; Uddin, 2011; Sugiura, 2013), which is the biological basis of the self. The psychological-self involves the processing of self-related knowledge (e.g., autobiographical memory, semantic memory knowledge about oneself) and the first-person perspective, such as personality trait adjectives, own name, own born place (Gray et al., 2004; Gillihan and Farah, 2005; Su et al., 2010; Uddin, 2011; Tateuchi et al., 2015). Moreover, Kircher et al. (2000) suggested that the physical and psychological self-processing might involve different cognitive and neural mechanism (Kircher et al., 2000). Hu et al. (2016) examined the commonalities and distinctions between physical and psychological self-representation using an ALE meta-analysis. They found that physical self-representation was particularly linked to lateral brain regions with a right hemispheric dominance, while psychological self-representation significantly and predominantly activated the cortical midline structures. Moreover, the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and left inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) were activated both in physical and psychological self-processing (Hu et al., 2016).

However, most of these existing studies on physical- and psychological-self had been done in isolation, and there was relatively limited research directly examing the physical and psychological self-processing in the same study. Kircher et al. (2000) firstly studied the neural correlates of physical (selfface) and psychological (self-related trait) self-processing using the functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Their results showed that physical self-processing is related to the right limbic areas, right middle temporal lobe, left inferior parietal, and the left prefrontal regions, while the psychologicalself activated the precuneus, left parietal lobe, left insula/IFG, and the left ACC (Kircher et al., 2000). Lou et al. (2004) further found that the right lateral parietal regions not only played an important role in physical-self (e.g., imagination of agency, body representation) but also activated in the psychological-self task (Lou et al., 2004). Although these studies have advanced our understanding of the similarities and differences in terms of the neural mechanism underlying physical and psychological self-related processing, little is known about the dynamical temporal features of physical and psychological self-related processing.

With the advantages of high temporal resolution and direct measure of neural activity, event-related potential (ERP) is an ideal methodology for exploring the dynamical temporal features of cognitive processing (Graux et al., 2013, 2015; Pinheiro et al., 2016, 2017). A growing number of ERP studies have provided evidences of the self-relevant effect. For example, the P3 component could be the most noticeable marker of the

self-relevant effect, larger P3 amplitude was almost always elicited by self-relevant stimulus (e.g., the subject's own name) than non-self-relevant stimulus (Berlad and Pratt, 1995; Gray et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2013; Humphreys and Sui, 2016). Recent studies also have suggested that the N400 component is sensitive to the meaning processing and memory retrieval of self-concept (Metzler et al., 2014; Fields and Kuperberg, 2015; Coronel and Federmeier, 2016). In addition, the P2 component may also index privileged automatic process of self-related stimulus. Thus, the current study uses ERP measures to investigate the dynamical temporal course of physical- and psychological self-related processing.

Four types of vocal stimuli (subject's own name and other's name uttered by subject's own and other's voices) were recorded as the physical/non-physical and psychological/non-psychological self-related stimuli. We examine the psychological self-relevant effect by comparing the difference between subject's own and other's name (Gray et al., 2004; Gillihan and Farah, 2005; Su et al., 2010), while we examine the physical self-relevant effect by comparing the difference between subject's own and other's voice (Su et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2013; Conde et al., 2015). Moreover, in order to set the experimental design similar to natural situation, our study adopted an oddball paradigm, and the setting of experimental stimuli can well match the stimulus and task properties during physical- and psychological selfrelated processing. Four types of vocal stimuli were presented as rare and task-irrelevant stimuli. Participants were instructed to distinguish and recognize an 800 Hz pure tone from 1,000 Hz pure tone standard stimuli. Besides, we also conducted a control task with two unfamiliar other's names uttered by two unfamiliar other's voices as small probability and task-irrelevant stimuli, the control task aims to test the controlling effect of unrelated acoustic properties (such as the F0, see Graux et al., 2013; Conde et al., 2015).

Thus, as previous neuroimaging studies demonstrating differences in terms of the neural mechanisms underlying physical and psychological self-processing (Kircher et al., 2000; Lou et al., 2004; Hu et al., 2016), we hypothesized that the physical and psychological self-processing might also elicit different electrophysiological responses in P2, P3, or N400 components, which were sensitive to different types of self-relevant processing (Chen et al., 2011, 2013, 2015a; Metzler et al., 2014; Fields and Kuperberg, 2015). We also hypothesized that there is no statistically significant effect in each condition of control task.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Design

Thirty-one undergraduates (eight males), age between 18 and 25 years (M = 21.3 years), participated in the experiment. All participants were native Mandarin speakers without any local accent, right-handed, with normal hearing, normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and no history of neurological or psychiatric disorders. Each participant was given written informed consent prior to the experiment and received a certain amount of money for their reward after the experiment. The experiment

was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Liaoning Normal University. The experiment includes two tasks, and all subjects participated in the experimental task, while only 25 subjects participated in the control task due to the long time interval. Besides, one subject's nose reference was invalid in whole experimental procedure, and the valid trials of two subjects were too less (invalid trials >25%) to accepted in control task. Thus, only 30 valid subjects in experimental task and 22 valid subjects in control task are included in the ERP analysis.

Stimuli and Materials

A pool of voices was recorded by Philips SHM1000 microphone¹ with Adobe Audition CS6 (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) at a sampling rate of 44,100 Hz and16-bit resolution 1-2 weeks before the ERP experiment. We created a voice template by a trained female speaker before the recording. Each participant was instructed to pronounce names (subject's own name and names of other subjects in the present study) according to the voice template with neutral prosody, and each name was repeated 10 times. All names are three Chinese characters. The voice materials were further edited to 600 ms in duration and with sound intensity in 70 dB by Audition CS6 and Praat². Finally, four types of vocal stimuli (subject's own name and other's name uttered by subject's own and other's voices) were selected for the experiment. Voice stimuli were gender-matched and have similar mean fundamental frequency (F0) for each participant.

Procedure

An auditory passive oddball paradigm was used in the present study, in which the 1,000-Hz pure-tone was presented 600 times (60%), the 800-Hz pure-tone was presented 80 times (8%), and each set of voice stimuli 80 times (8%). Each trial began with a fixation cross presented for 200 ms, followed by an intertrial interval (ITI) of 300–500 ms. Then, the experimental stimuli (voice stimuli, 800-Hz and 1,000-Hz puretones) were presented for 600 ms. The task of the participants was to detect the 800-Hz pure-tone and to press the "F" key on the keyboard with their right index finger if the 800-Hz pure-tone was presented. No responses were required for other stimuli. Each experimental stimulus was followed by a blank with 800 ms duration. There were totally five blocks, and the sequence of stimuli was randomized across conditions in each block.

The whole experiment includes the experimental and control task. The experimental procedures for the two tasks were identical except the set of voice stimuli. During the experiment task, the voice stimuli were one's own name uttered by his/ her own voice (ov-on), one's own name uttered by unfamiliar other's voice (uv-on), unfamiliar other's name uttered by own voice (ov-un), and unfamiliar other's name uttered by unfamiliar other's voice (uv-un). During the control task, the voice

¹https://www.philips.com.cn

²http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/praat/



stimuli were two unfamiliar other's names uttered by two unfamiliar people (uv1-un1, uv1-un2, uv2-un1, and uv2-un2) (see **Figure 1**). Participants were required to do eight trial exercises to familiarize the 800-Hz and 1,000-Hz pure-tones before the formal experiment. Stimulus presentation was accomplished with E-prime 2.0 software (Psychology Software Tools, Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL RECORDING AND DATA ANALYSIS

EEG Recording

Continuous EEG signals were recorded using an "EEGo Sports" EEG system (ANT Neuro, Enschede, the Netherlands) with 65 Ag/AgCl electrodes arranged in an international 10/10 system layout. Additional electrodes were applied on the nose for offline analysis, above and below the left eye to record the electro-oculogram (EOG). The signals were recorded with a sampling rate of 500 Hz. The online reference is CPz and the impedance of each electrode was maintained below 5 k Ω . The EEG data were re-referenced offline to the nose and filtered at 0.1–30 Hz by Butterworth filter.

Data Analysis

The EEG data were pre-processed by the EEGLAB toolbox (Delorme and Makeig, 2004). We visually inspected the EEG data and removed trials containing high amplitude noise, such as large body movements-related high-frequency noise and other

easily identifiable confounds such as sudden electrode drifts and jumps. Then, the eye-blinks, saccades, and any other consistent artifacts were removed using independent component analysis (Delorme and Makeig, 2004). Bad channels were interpolated based on the data of neighboring electrodes. And the continuous data were epoched into single trials beginning 200 ms before sound stimuli presentation and ending 800 ms after stimuli presentation. The data were baseline-corrected according to the 200 ms before the onset of sound stimuli. ERP trials with residual artifacts (mean voltage exceeding $\pm 80 \mu$ V) were excluded from averaging, and if the number of artifact trials is more than 25% of the total trials, the subject was deleted. Artifact-free ERP trials were averaged separately for each experimental condition.

After a cautious inspection of the topographic maps and grand-averaged ERP waveforms (see Luck and Gaspelin, 2017; Jack et al., 2019), a central N1 (averaged of C3/z/4) in the time-window of 110-210 ms, central P2 (averaged of C3/z/4) in the time-window of 210-310 ms, parietal P3 (averaged of P3/z/4) in the time-window of 310-410 ms, and parietal N400 (averaged of P3/z/4) in the time-window of 420-480 ms were identified. These scalp areas and time-windows are also consistent with the previous literature (see Duncan et al., 2009; Kutas and Federmeier, 2011; Stekelenburg and Vroomen, 2012). Consistent with the experimental task, a scalp central area (averaged of C3/z/4) for the time-window 110-210 ms and 210-310 ms was selected in the control task. As no prominent late components were elicited in the control task, a parietal area (averaged of P3/z/4) for the time-window 310-410 ms and a frontal area (averaged of F3/z/F4) for the time-windows 410-510 ms and 510-610 ms were selected according to the collapsed localizer methods (Luck and Gaspelin, 2017). A two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on all measured amplitudes for each component. ANOVA factors were the voice identity (two levels: own voice vs. unfamiliar other's voice), voice content (two levels: own name vs. unfamiliar other's name). The ERP results were calculated by the ERPLAB toolbox (Lopezcalderon and Luck, 2014), and the statistical analysis was conducted by the IBM SPSS 20.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The degree of freedom of F-ratios was corrected according to the Greenhouse-Geisser method. The Bonferroni correction was used in multiple comparison correction, and the partial eta-squared (η_p^2) was reported as a measure of effect size.

RESULTS

The Results of Experimental Task

The grand-averaged ERP waveforms of four conditions (ov-on, ov-un, uv-on, and uv-un) were illustrated in **Figure 2**, with scalp voltage topographical maps for N1, P2, P3, and N400 components.

N1: The left panel of **Figure 2** shows the grand-averaged ERP waveforms and scalp voltage topographic maps of central N1 component for each condition at Cz electrode. There was neither a significant main effect for the voice identity, $F_{(1,29)} = 0.006$, p = 0.941, nor for the voice content, $F_{(1,29)} = 0.598$, p = 0.446. There was also no interaction effect between voice identity and voice content ($F_{(1,29)} = 0.061$, p = 0.807). These results revealed a similarity of early auditory processing of the four types voice stimuli.





P2: The two-way repeated ANOVA measures for mean amplitude of central P2 component demonstrated significant main effect of voice content ($F_{(1, 29)} = 6.496$, p = 0.016, $\eta_p^2 = 0.183$), own name (3.036 µV) elicited smaller P2 amplitude than other's name (3.641 µV). However, there was neither a significant main effect for voice identity ($F_{(1, 29)} = 0.030$, p = 0.864) nor significant interaction effect for voice identity and voice content ($F_{(1, 29)} = 1.775$, p = 0.193) (see **Figure 2**).

P3: The grand-averaged ERP waveforms of P3 at Cz and Pz electrodes and topographic maps of parietal P3 for each condition were showed in **Figure 2**. The two-way repeated ANOVA results showed a significant main effect for voice content ($F_{(1, 29)} = 10.399$, p = 0.003, $\eta_p^2 = 0.264$). Compared to the unfamiliar other's name (3.761 µV), subject's own name (4.941 µV) elicited larger P3 amplitude. It means that psychological-self elicited a larger P3 component than non-psychological-self. However, the main effect of voice identity ($F_{(1, 29)} = 0.032$, p = 0.860), the interaction effect between voice identity and voice content ($F_{(1, 29)} = 0.121$, p = 0.731), did not reach significance.

N400: The two-way repeated ANOVA results of parietal N400 component demonstrated a significant main effect of voice content ($F_{(1, 29)} = 18.737$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.393$); unfamiliar other's name (1.450 µV) elicited more negative N400 amplitude than subject's own name (3.165 µV). More importantly, the interaction between voice identity and voice content was also significant, $F_{(1, 29)} = 4.691$, p = 0.039, $\eta_p^2 = 0.139$. The further simple main effect analysis revealed that there is no difference between subject's own voice and other's voice under the own name condition ($F_{(1, 29)} = 0.191$, p = 0.665), while own voice (1.076 µV) elicited more negative N400 amplitude than other's voice (1.823 µV) under the unfamiliar other's name condition, $F_{(1, 29)} = 5.048$, p = 0.032 (see **Figure 2**). Besides, the main effect of voice identity failed to reach significance, $F_{(1, 29)} = 2.061$, p = 0.162.

Taken together, these results indicated that psychological-self elicited a small P2, large P3, and N400 component than non-psychological-self. More importantly, there is an interaction effect between voice identity and voice content, specifically, physical-self (own voice) elicited a more negative N400 component than non-physical-self (other's voice) under the non-psychological-self condition.

The Results of Control Task

The two-way repeated ANOVA measures for mean amplitudes of the five time-windows were performed. The grand-averaged ERP waveforms of four conditions (uv1-un1, uv1-un2, uv2-un1, and uv2-un2) were illustrated in **Figure 3A**, with scalp topographical voltage maps for the five time-windows (see **Figure 3B**). The results showed that there was neither a significant main effect for the voice identity (Fs < 0.582, ps > 0.454) nor for the voice content (Fs < 4.191, ps > 0.053) during the five time-windows. Besides, no significant interaction effect was observed between voice identity and voice content during the five time-windows (Fs < 1.267, ps > 0.273) (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

The present study examined the dynamical temporal features of the physical-self and psychological-self representation using ERP measures. Our results showed that subjects' own name elicited smaller P2 and larger P3 amplitudes compared to other's name, irrespective of the voice identity. However, no P2 and P3 differences were observed between subjects' own voice and other's voice until the late N400 stage, in which a significant voice identity by voice content interaction effect was observed. Subject's own voice elicited more negative N400 amplitude than other's voice under the other's name condition, and no such effect was observed under own name condition. Thus, in addition to previous fMRI studies showing the different neural representation underlying the physical-self and psychological-self (Kircher et al., 2000; Hu et al., 2016), the present study further demonstrated different temporal features of physical-self and psychological-self representation using ERP measures.

The N1 component reflects the early auditory processing of the physical properties of the voice stimulus (Naatanen and Picton, 1987). In our current study, neither main effects nor interaction effects were observed at N1 stage perhaps due to the mean fundamental frequency (F0) was matched, and the voice intensity and duration were identical for the four types of voices for each participant.

Meanwhile, the present study found that subject's own name elicited a smaller P2 component than unfamiliar other's name, irrespective of the voice identity. It has been suggested that the P2 component reflects a selective attention (Chen et al., 2015b, 2017), a small P2 component may reflects an automatic attention. Minati et al. (2010) also confirmed that a melody-like sound sequence elicited a reduced P2 component than a random-generated sound sequence (Minati et al., 2010). Similar effects were also found in the Chinese phonograms processing. Hsu et al. (2009) found that characters with high combinability and high consistency elicited smaller P2 amplitude than low combinability and low consistency characters (Hsu et al., 2009). The high combinability and consisting obtained a more automatic process, which demonstrated a less positive P2 effect. Analogously, unlike unfamiliar other's name that processed in phoneme unit, subject's own name may be processed in syllable unit due to the binding effect of self (Sui and Humphreys, 2015). The decreased amplitude observed for own name suggest an easier detection and processing of the own name relative to the other's name in auditory presented condition and indicates that psychological-self and non-psychological-self was discriminated at an early auditory attentional processing stage.

More importantly, our results demonstrated that subject's own name elicited a larger P3 component than unfamiliar other's name, irrespective of the voice type. In other words, the psychological-self elicited a larger P3 component than non-psychological-self. As previous studies claimed that the P3 component is a significant index of psychological selfrepresentation, significant P3 component was elcitied even



FIGURE 3 | The grand-averaged ERP waveforms at Fz, Cz, and Pz and the scalp voltage topographic maps of five time-windows for four conditions. (A) The grand-averaged ERP waveforms with different color bars for five time-windows were shown in the upper panel. (B) The scalp voltage topographic maps of five time-windows for four conditions were shown in the bottom panel.

when participants was passive hearing their own name under either sleep or minimally conscious state (Perrin et al., 1999, 2006). It has been suggested that the P3 is related to attentional resource allocation (Polich, 2007), the larger P3 amplitude of psychological-self suggest that the psychological self-recruits a larger amount of attention resource than non-psychological-self. Moreover, this finding is consistent with previous studies that used other psychological-selfrelated stimuli, such as autobiographical information (Berlad and Pratt, 1995; Gray et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2011) and possessive pronouns (Zhou et al., 2010). Thus, the larger P3 effect of psychological-self could be illustrated by the fact that psychological-self evoked enhanced saliency and motivational expression.

Moreover, there was an interaction effect observed between voice identity and voice content on the N400 component. Subject's own voice elicited more negative N400 amplitude than other's voice when the voice content was other's name, whereas no difference was observed between self and other's voices when the voice content was subject's own name. In other word, an obvious self-voice effect (physical self-relevant effect) was occurred when the voice content was other's name. The N400 component was first proposed by Kutas and Hillyard, which typically occurs between 200 and 500 ms and maximal over the scalp of central-parietal sites (Kutas and Hillyard, 1980; Kutas and Federmeier, 2011). Some studies suggest that the N400 reflects the semantic violation, which usually elicits more negative N400 amplitude (Baetens et al., 2011; Kiang et al., 2017). One more general opinion proposes that the N400 indexes the access to long-term memory (Kutas and Federmeier, 2011). When participants starting to detect and identify their own voice, the heard record voices are not totally same as their own voices heard naturally due to different sound conducting ways. Specifically, we hear recorded sounds via air conduction only, whereas hearing own natural voice via both air and bone conduction (Graux et al., 2013). Thus, subjects' own voices detected during the experiment was not totally and absolutely consistent with those stored in long-term memory, which might contribute to the larger N400 for subjects' own than others' voices when voice contents were others' names. However, no N400 differences were observed between subjects' own and others' voices when voice contents were subjects' own names. It was more likely because that the preference of processing subjects' own names (psychologicalself) inhibited the processing of subjects' own voices (physical-self).

Furthermore, using unfamiliar others' names uttered by different unfamiliar others' voices as voice stimuli, the control task showed no significant main effects or interaction effects during the 110–210, 210–310, 310–410, 410–510, and 510–610 ms time intervals. Moreover, all vocal stimuli have similar mean

REFERENCES

- Baetens, K., Der Cruyssen, L. V., Achtziger, A., Vandekerckhove, M., and Van Overwalle, F. (2011). N400 and LPP in spontaneous trait inferences. *Brain Res.* 1418, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.08.067
- Berlad, I., and Pratt, H. (1995). P300 in response to the subject's own name. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 96, 472–474. doi: 10.1016/0168-5597(95)00116-A
- Candini, M., Zamagni, E., Nuzzo, A., Ruotolo, F., Iachini, T., and Frassinetti, F. (2014). Who is speaking? Implicit and explicit self and other voice recognition. *Brain Cogn.* 92, 112–117. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2014.10.001
- Chen, Q., Liang, X., Li, P., Ye, C., Li, F., Lei, Y., et al. (2015b). The processing of perceptual similarity with different features or spatial relations as revealed by P2/P300 amplitude. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 95, 379–387. doi: 10.1016/j. ijpsycho.2015.01.009
- Chen, Q., Liang, X., Peng, X., Liu, Y., Lei, Y., and Li, H. (2017). The modulation of causal contexts in motion processes judgment as revealed by P2 and P3. *Biol. Psychol.* 123, 141–154. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.11.003
- Chen, J., Shui, Q., and Zhong, Y. (2015a). Self-esteem modulates automatic attentional responses to self-relevant stimuli: evidence from event-related brain potentials. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9:376. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00376

fundamental frequency (F0) for each participant. Thus, these results might reflect that the psychological self-related and physiological self-related effects observed in the experimental task was due to the self-relevance rather than the acoustic properties of these voice stimuli.

In conclusion, the results of this study suggest that the psychological self-effect appeared in both the early P2, P3, and late N400 stages, while the physiological self-effect did not appear until the late N400 stage. Consistent with previous neuroimaging studies, the present study demonstrated a different temporal pattern between physical and psychological self-representation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The experiment was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Liaoning Normal University. Each participant was given written informed consent prior to the experiment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LL, JC, and JL designed the study. LL, JC, WL and JL wrote the the manuscript. LL, JC, WL and LNL carried out all data analyses. LL, LNL conducted data collection. All authors contributed to and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC31771240), Hunan Provincial Natural Science Foundation of China (2017JJ3204), and Hunan Provincial Fund for Philosophy and Social Sciences (15YBA263).

- Chen, J., Yuan, J., Feng, T., Chen, A., Gu, B., and Li, H. (2011). Temporal features of the degree effect in self-relevance: neural correlates. *Biol. Psychol.* 87, 290–295. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.03.012
- Chen, J., Zhang, Y., Zhong, J., Hu, L., and Li, H. (2013). The primacy of the individual versus the collective self: evidence from an event-related potential study. *Neurosci. Lett.* 535, 30–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012.11.061
- Conde, T., Gonçalves, Ó. F., and Pinheiro, A. P. (2015). Paying attention to my voice or yours: an ERP study with words. *Biol. Psychol.* 111, 40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2015.07.014
- Coronel, J. C., and Federmeier, K. D. (2016). The n400 reveals how personal semantics is processed: insights into the nature and organization of selfknowledge. *Neuropsychologia* 84, 36–43. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2016.01.029
- Delorme, A., and Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 134, 9–21. doi: 10.1016/j. jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Duncan, C. C., Barry, R. J., Connolly, J. F., Fischer, C., Michie, P. T., Näätänen, R., et al. (2009). Event-related potentials in clinical research: guidelines for eliciting, recording, and quantifying mismatch negativity, P300, and N400. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 120, 1883–1908. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.07.045

Fields, E. C., and Kuperberg, G. R. (2015). Loving yourself more than your neighbor: ERPs reveal online effects of a self-positivity bias. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 10, 1202–1209. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsv004

Gallagher, S. (2005). How the body shapes the mind. (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

- Gillihan, S. J., and Farah, M. J. (2005). Is self special? A critical review of evidence from experimental psychology and cognitive neuroscience. *Psychol. Bull.* 131, 76–97. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.1.76
- Graux, J., Gomot, M., Roux, S., Bonnet-Brilhault, F., and Bruneau, N. (2015). Is my voice just a familiar voice? An electrophysiological study. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 10, 101–105. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu031
- Graux, J., Gomot, M., Roux, S., Bonnet-Brilhault, F., Camus, V., and Bruneau, N. (2013). My voice or yours? An electrophysiological study. *Brain Topogr.* 26, 72–82. doi: 10.1007/s10548-012-0233-2
- Gray, H. M., Ambady, N., Lowenthal, W. T., and Deldin, P. (2004). P300 as an index of attention to self-relevant stimuli. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 40, 216–224. doi: 10.1016/s0022-1031(03)00092-1
- Hu, C., Di, X., Eickhoff, S. B., Zhang, M., Peng, K., Guo, H., et al. (2016). Distinct and common aspects of physical and psychological self-representation in the brain: a meta-analysis of self-bias in facial and self-referential judgements. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 61, 197–207. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.12.003
- Hsu, C., Tsai, J., Lee, C., and Tzeng, O. J. L. (2009). Orthographic combinability and phonological consistency effects in reading Chinese phonograms: an eventrelated potential study. *Brain Lang.* 108, 56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2008.09.002
- Humphreys, G. W., and Sui, J. (2016). Attentional control and the self: the self-attention network (SAN). *Cogn. Neurosci.* 7, 5–17. doi: 10.1080/17588928.2015.1044427
- Jack, B. N., Pelley, M. E., Griffiths, O., Luque, D., and Whitford, T. J. (2019). Semantic prediction-errors are context-dependent: an ERP study. *Brain Res.* 1706, 86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2018.10.034
- Kalenzaga, S., Sperduti, M., Anssens, A. L., Martinelli, P., Devauchelle, A., Gallarda, T., et al. (2015). Episodic memory and self-reference via semantic autobiographical memory: insights from an fMRI study in younger and older adults. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8, 449–449. doi: 10.3389/ fnbeh.2014.00449
- Keyes, H., Brady, N., Reilly, R. B., and Foxe, J. J. (2010). My face or yours? Event-related potential correlates of self-face processing. *Brain Cogn.* 72, 244–254. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2009.09.006
- Kiang, M., Farzan, F., Blumberger, D. M., Kutas, M., McKinnon, M. C., Kansal, V., et al. (2017). Abnormal self-schema in semantic memory in major depressive disorder: evidence from event-related brain potentials. *Biol. Psychol.* 126, 41–47. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.04.003
- Kircher, T. T. J., Senior, C., Phillips, M. L., Benson, P. J., Bullmore, E. T., Brammer, M., et al. (2000). Towards a functional neuroanatomy of self processing: effects of faces and words. *Cogn. Brain Res.* 10, 133–144. doi: 10.1016/s0926-6410(00)00036-7
- Klein, S. B. (2010). The self: as a construct in psychology and neuropsychological evidence for its multiplicity. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci. 1, 172–183. doi: 10.1002/wcs.25
- Kutas, M., and Federmeier, K. D. (2011). Thirty years and counting: finding meaning in the N400 component of the event-related brain potential (ERP). *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 62, 621–647. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.131123
- Kutas, M., and Hillyard, S. A. (1980). Reading senseless sentences: brain potentials reflect 694 semantic incongruity. *Science* 207, 203–205. doi: 10.1126/ science.7350657
- Lopezcalderon, J., and Luck, S. J. (2014). ERPLAB: an open-source toolbox for the analysis of event-related potentials. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8, 213–213. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00213
- Lou, H. C., Luber, B., Crupain, M., Keenan, J. P., Nowak, M., Kjaer, T. W., et al. (2004). Parietal cortex and representation of the mental self. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101, 6827–6832. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400049101
- Luck, S., and Gaspelin, N. (2017). How to get statistically significant effects in any ERP experiment (and why you shouldn't). *Psychophysiology* 54, 146–157. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12639
- Marsh, H. W. (1990). A multidimensional, hierarchical model of self-concept: theoretical and empirical justification. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 2, 77–172. doi: 10.1007/BF01322177
- Metzler, S., Theodoridou, A., Aleksandrowicz, A., Müller, M., Obermann, C., Kawohl, W., et al. (2014). Evaluation of trait adjectives and ego pathology

in schizophrenia: an N400 study. Psychiatry Res. 215, 533–539. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2013.12.025

- Minati, L., Salvatoni, L., Rosazza, C., Pietrocini, E., Visani, E., Panzica, F., et al. (2010). Event-related potential (ERP) markers of melodic processing: the N2 component is modulated by structural complexity, not by melodic 'meaningfulness'. *Brain Res. Bull.* 83, 23–28. doi: 10.1016/j. brainresbull.2010.06.011
- Naatanen, R., and Picton, T. (1987). The N1 wave of the human electric and magnetic response to sound: a review and an analysis of the component structure. *Psychophysiology* 24, 375–425. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1987. tb00311.x
- Perrin, F., Garcia-Larrea, L., Mauguiere, F., and Bastuji, H. (1999). A differential brain response to the subject's own name persists during sleep. *Clin. neurophysiol.* 110, 2153–2164. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00177-7
- Perrin, F., Schnakers, C., Schabus, M., Degueldre, C., Goldman, S., Brédart, S., et al. (2006). Brain response to one's own name in vegetative state, minimally conscious state, and locked-in syndrome. *Arch. Neurol.* 63, 562–569. doi: 10.1001/archneur.63.4.562
- Philippi, N., Roquet, D., Malek, H. B., Noblet, V., Botzung, A., Cretin, B., et al. (2017). Henry, where have you lost your self? *Cortex* 95, 37–50. doi: 10.1016/j. cortex.2017.06.019
- Pinheiro, A. P., Rezaii, N., Rauber, A., Nestor, P. G., Spencer, K. M., and Niznikiewicz, M. (2017). Emotional self-other voice processing in schizophrenia and its relationship with hallucinations: ERP evidence. *Psychophysiology* 54, 1252–1265. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12880
- Pinheiro, A. P., Rezaii, N., Rauber, A., and Niznikiewicz, M. (2016). Is this my voice or yours? The role of emotion and acoustic quality in self-other voice discrimination in schizophrenia. *Cogn. Neuropsychiatry* 21, 335–353. doi: 10.1080/13546805.2016.1208611
- Platek, S. M., Thomson, J. W., and Gallup, G. G. (2004). Cross-modal selfrecognition: the role of visual, auditory, and olfactory primes. *Conscious. Cogn.* 13, 197–210. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2003.10.001
- Polich, J. (2007). Updating P300: an integrative theory of P3a and P3b. Clin. Neurophysiol. 118, 2128–2148. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2007.04.019
- Stekelenburg, J., and Vroomen, J. (2012). Electrophysiological correlates of predictive coding of auditory location in the perception of natural audiovisual events. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.* 6:26. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2012.00026
- Su, Y., Chen, A., Yin, H., Qiu, J., Lv, J., Wei, D., et al. (2010). Spatiotemporal cortical activation underlying self-referencial processing evoked by self-hand. *Biol. Psychol.* 85, 219–225. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.07.004
- Sugiura, M. (2013). Associative account of self-cognition: extended forward model and multi-layer structure. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:535. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2013.00535
- Sui, J., and Humphreys, G. W. (2015). The integrative self: ow self-reference integrates perception hand memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 19, 719–728. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.08.015
- Tamura, K., Mizuba, T., and Iramina, K. (2016). Hearing subject's own name induces the late positive component of event-related potential and beta power suppression. *Brain Res.* 1635, 130–142. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.032
- Tateuchi, T., Itoh, K., and Nakada, T. (2015). Further characterization of "subject's own name (SON) negativity," an ERP component reflecting early preattentive detection of SON. *BMC. Res. Notes* 8, 195–195. doi: 10.1186/ s13104-015-1150-8
- Uddin, L. Q. (2011). The self in autism: an emerging view from neuroimaging. *Neurocase* 17, 201–208. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2010.509320
- van Veluw, S. J., and Chance, S. A. (2014). Differentiating between self and others: an ALE meta-analysis of fMRI studies of self-recognition and theory of mind. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 8, 24–38. doi: 10.1007/s11682-013-9266-8
- Walla, P., Duregger, C., Greiner, K., Thurner, S., and Ehrenberger, K. (2008). Multiple aspects related to self-awareness and the awareness of others: an electroencephalography study. *J. Neural Transm.* 115, 983–992. doi: 10.1007/ s00702-008-0035-6
- Watson, L. A., Dritschel, B., Obonsawin, M. C., and Jentzsch, I. (2007). Seeing yourself in a positive light: brain correlates of the self-positivity bias. *Brain Res.* 1152, 106–110. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.03.049
- Xu, M., Homae, F., Hashimoto, R., and Hagiwara, H. (2013). Acoustic cues for the recognition of self-voice and other-voice. *Front. Psychol.* 4:735. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00735

Zhou, A., Shi, Z., Zhang, P., Liu, P., Han, W., Wu, H., et al. (2010). An ERP study on the effect of self-relevant possessive pronoun. *Neurosci. Lett.* 480, 162–166. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.06.033

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Copyright © 2019 Liu, Li, Li, Lou and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials

Zifu Shi*, Lin Yin, Jian Dong, Xiang Ma and Bo Li

Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China

People often confront Bayesian reasoning problems and make decisions under uncertainty in daily life. However, the time course of Bayesian reasoning remains unclear. In particular, whether and how probabilistic information is involved in Bayesian reasoning is controversial, and its neural mechanisms have rarely been explored. In the current study, event-related potentials (ERP) were recorded from 18 undergraduates who completed four kinds of Bayesian reasoning tasks. It was found that compared with the high hit rate task, the low hit rate task elicited more significant N1 (100~200 ms) and N300 (250~350 ms) components, suggesting that N1 might be associated with the attention to stimulus materials, and N300 might be associated with the anchor to hit rate. In contrast to the low base rate task, the high base rate task elicited more significant late positive components (LPC, 350~700 ms), indicating that LPC might reflect the adjustment of probability estimation based on the base rate. These results demonstrate that both the base rate and hit rate play significant roles in Bayesian reasoning, and to some extent, these findings verify that people may follow the "anchoring-adjustment" heuristic in Bayesian reasoning. The current findings provide further proof for the information processing mechanism of Bayesian reasoning.

Keywords: Bayesian reasoning, base rate, hit rate, ERPs, "anchoring-adjustment" heuristic

INTRODUCTION

People are prone to adjust the existing point of view according to new emerging information or evidence to make an appropriate judgment and decision under conditions of uncertainty, called Bayesian inference (Samuel and Wu, 2000). Although Bayesian reasoning is vital in our daily lives, the performance by an individual is poor. The Bayesian reasoning problem textual paradigm (Gigerenzer and Hoffrage, 1995) is as follows:

The probability of breast cancer in the population is 1% for a woman who participates in a routine screening. If a woman has breast cancer, the probability that she will have a positive mammography is 80%. If a woman does not have breast cancer, the probability that she will also have a positive mammography is 9.5%. If a woman in this group had a positive mammography, what's the probability that she has breast cancer?

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zhao Xin, Northwest Normal University, China

Reviewed by:

Zhixiong Yan, Guangxi Teachers Education University, China Junfeng Bian, Changsha University of Science and Technology, China

> *Correspondence: Zifu Shi shizf@hunnu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 December 2018 Accepted: 29 April 2019 Published: 14 May 2019

Citation:

Shi Z, Yin L, Dong J, Ma X and Li B (2019) Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials. Front. Psychol. 10:1106. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01106

58

The probability information can be written according to Bayes' rules:

$$P(d|h) = \frac{P(h) P(d|h)}{P(h) P(d|h) + P(-h) P(d|-h)}$$

In the equation above, P(h) stand for the base rate as 1%, P(d|h) represents the hit rate as 80%, P(d|-h) is the false alarm rate as 9.6%, and P(h|d) is the posterior probability. Whether people follow the Bayesian rules in the Bayesian reasoning process has been widely debated since Edward initially researched the Bayesian reasoning process in the 1960s (Edwards, 1968; Slovic et al., 1976; Gould, 1992; Tang and Shi, 2011). Tversky and Kahneman (1974) introduced the concept of "base rate neglected" to explain the human reasoning process and they argued that people ignored the base rate 1% when did the Bayesian reasoning problems then made an overestimate result. Samuel and Wu (2000) suggested that people didn't follow the Bayesian rules when did calculation in the reasoning process and they proposed "to assume a probability value - to find the evidence - to modify the probability value," or "anchoring and adjusting" strategy for short, might be the main strategy of human reasoning (Shi and Zhang, 2009). However, whether probabilistic information is fully involved in Bayesian reasoning and whether its calculations follow Bayesian criteria are not supported by empirical evidence.

As a kind of classical probabilistic reasoning, Bayesian reasoning consists of the selection and processing of various probabilistic, and arithmetic information. However, the time course of Bayesian reasoning in the context task is still unclear, whether the base rate and hit rate were used in Bayesian reasoning and whether the calculation of probability information follows Bayesian rules was deduced reversely, and indirectly on the basis of reasoning results for the subjects in existing studies. Researchers found that the fixation time of the probability information can reflect the attention and use of the information and confirmed the possibility to speculate on the reasoning process of the subjects (Cohen and Staub, 2015; Reani et al., 2017). An eye movement study that monitored and analyzed the time course in the reasoning process revealed that people did not neglect the base rate and presented three stages of the Bayesian reasoning process. Stage 1 is the problem representation stage, in which attention to stimulus materials is involved in the reasoning process; Stage 2 consists of information integration and the selection of probability estimation strategy, in which people construct and select the "anchoring and adjusting" probability estimation strategy; and Stage 3 is the probability judgment stage (Shi et al., 2015).

Event-related potential (ERP) techniques have been applied to observe the time course of higher-level cognitive functions in many other studies, such as reasoning, problem solving, etc., as these techniques can provide a visual indicator for information processing (Liang et al., 2010). Some related ERP components were identified and discussed. Chen et al. (2005) adopted ERP to explore the neural mechanism of inductive reasoning and found that the amplitude of the late positive component (LPC) for the inductive task was significantly higher; namely, subjects consumed more cognitive resources and mental energy when conducting inductive tasks. Similarly, the LPC and N2 (200 \sim 300 ms) amplitudes were also found to be positively correlated with the input amount of psychological resources in series Bayesian reasoning studies (Kolossa et al., 2015; Kopp et al., 2016; Seer et al., 2016). An urn-ball task was used to investigate the neural bases of the cognitive processes of Bayesian reasoning. The LPC (P3a, P3b, and slow wave) provided dissociable measures of the Bayesian reasoning process, and the N2 (N300) component was stronger when the prior probability could not be computed (Seer et al., 2016). This research did not address the N2 wave and attributed the prior probability to the P3a wave.

In many other studies, the N2 (N300) components were related to the anchoring effect. The prior probability cannot be computed means the anchoring effect needs more cognitive resources and arouses stronger N300. The study of Qu et al. (2008) provided strong evidence for the anchoring effect related to N300, and the N300 and LPC were aroused by psychological scale and reflected the same psychological component psychological calculation, thus supporting the anchor adjustment heuristic model. Additionally, N300 was detected to be a representation of algorithmic feature recognition and selection (Zhou et al., 2006). However, Kolossa et al. (2015) provided an example for us to combine the ERP techniques and the context Bayesian reasoning paradigm in this study. In this way, the time procedure of the Bayesian reasoning process was explored, and whether and how probabilistic information is involved in Bayesian reasoning would be tested.

Therefore, this study assumes that: (1) People do not neglect the base rate; thus, both the base rate and hit rate information plays an important role in the Bayesian inference process. (2) The calculation of probability information does not follow the Bayesian rules, and the "anchoring – adjustment" heuristic strategy is adopted in Bayesian inference.

EXPERIMENT

Purpose and Hypothesis

The experiment aimed to research how base rate and hit rate effect on the Bayesian reasoning textual paradigm. This study hypothesized that the EEG data shows a significant difference in the amplitude and latency of ERP components induced by high and low level basal rate and hit rate task. (2) The calculation of probability information does not follow the Bayesian rules, and the "anchoring – adjustment" heuristic strategy is adopted in Bayesian inference; therefore, the EEG data showed N300 related to the anchoring effect, whereas the LPC components related to the adjustment procedure.

Materials and Methods Participants

This experiment was approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University in China, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the experiment. Twenty paid students were recruited from a university for this study, ten males and ten females. The average age of the subjects was 20.55 years, ranging from 19 to 22 years. All participants were right-handed and had no physical or mental illness and had normal eyesight and keyboard operation ability. Two students were removed for showing relatively higher artifacts. Thus, eight males and ten females, whose average age was 20.38 years, were recorded validly.

Materials

This experiment used the classical Bayesian reasoning problem, with two levels of base rate and hit rate, high and low, and a false positive of 10%. The participants needed to make posterior probability estimations based on the probabilistic information given in the problems. Thus, there were four conditions: low base rate and low hit rate (low-low for short), low base rate and high hit rate (low-high for short), high base rate and low hit rate (high-low for short), and high base rate and high hit rate (high-high for short) (Tang and Shi, 2011). In addition, to strictly control the irrelevant variables and meet the needs of the ERP experiment, the experimental materials were reorganized as follows: an integer was chosen randomly as the base rate and hit rate from 70 to 80% (high level) and 1-10% (low level) to construct 100 reasoning problems of each kind, i.e., "low-low," "low-high," "high-low," "high-high," and "high-high." Then, 35 Bayesian reasoning problems were chosen as formal experimental materials for each kind, namely, 140 problems were chosen in total. For example, the "low-high" experiment could be constructed when 1% was chosen as the low-level base rate and 80% as the high-level hit rate, and the probabilistic information in the problems was marked in red to for easier visualization and comprehension in reading (see Figure 1).

Procedure

The participants were seated 60 cm away from a computer screen and tasked to estimate the Bayesian problems. Some practices were made prior to the experiment to ensure that the participants could understand and become familiar with the experimental task.

The formal experiment consisted of 2 blocks, and there were 70 questions for each block. The questions were presented in a random order in each block, and the blocks were counterbalanced between participants.

The procedure is illustrated in **Figure 1**. A "+" was shown in the center of the screen at the beginning of a trial for 500 ms, and the Bayesian problem appeared on the screen. The subjects were asked to press the space key within 3000 ms to enter the answer interface and then press the estimated value relying on the integer in 2000 ms. Finally, a 2000 ms empty screen was shown before the next trial began. The tasks were presented in the style of black background and white foreground, except for the two numbers highlighted in red. After each block, the participants were permitted to take a rest for 2 min.

EEG Recording

EEG was collected by $10\sim20$ system expansion 64-channel electrode caps produced by Brain Products of Germany. The two mastoids in the ears were linked and served as the reference electrodes. Two channels were placed at the outside canthi and downside canthi of oculus dexter to record the horizontal electrooculogram (HEOG) and vertical electrooculogram (VEOG). The impedance of all electrodes was maintained below 5 k Ω . The bandpass of the filtering was set at DC~100 Hz. The sampling rate was 500 Hz.

ERP Data Analyses and Statistics

After recording the EEG, the offline method was used to analyze the datum. Then, trials with amplitudes over \pm 80 μ v, after autocorrecting VEOG and HEOG, were observed as artifacts, and removed. The Bayesian reasoning process occurred after the tasks were presented; thus, an epoch from 200 ms prestimulus until 800 ms poststimulus was chosen for analysis, and 200 ms prestimulus served as the baseline. According to the kinds of Bayesian reasoning tasks, the EEG needed to be overlaid and averaged, and trials with artifacts or unfinished tasks were removed. The overlaid times for each kind of task exceeded 30 trails. Based on this study, the total average chart and the voltage topographic map, nine electrode points located in the central part of the brain were selected (FC_Z, FC1, FC2, C_Z, C1, C2, CP_Z, CP1, and CP2) (Kolossa et al., 2015), and a three factors repeated measure variance analysis (ANOVA) of each electrode point was conducted. Three factors included the base rate, the hit rate and the recording spot. The P value of variance analysis was revised by the Greenhouse - Geisser method, and the EEG topographic map was drawn based on data from the 64 channels.

RESULTS

Behavioral Results

In this study, the posterior probability was estimated, and the reaction times for four reasoning tasks are given in **Table 1**.

By repeated measures ANOVA of the reaction time, the results indicated that there was no significant main effect of the hit rate and the base rate $[F(1,17) = 0.54, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.03; F(1,17) = 0.36, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.02]$, and the effect between the base rate and hit rate was significant $[F(1,17) = 7.25, p < 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.30]$. Furthermore, the reaction time in the low-low conditions was significantly less than that in the low-high conditions. The simple effect test showed that the simple effect of the hit rate was significant in the low level base rate condition [F(1,17) = 7.02, p < 0.05]. The reaction time in the high hit rate task was longer than that in the low hit rate task. The simple effect of the hit rate was not significant in the high level base rate condition [F(1,17) = 1.60, p > 0.05]. This finding indicates that the effect of the hit rate was affected by the low base rate.

TABLE 1 | The average posterior probability and reaction times for the four reasoning tasks from 18 participants (M \pm SD).

Task type	Probability estimates	Response time (ms)
Low base rate – low hit rate	14.92 ± 15.00	1072.21 ± 306.07
Low base rate – high hit rate	35.99 ± 24.60	1162.55 ± 401.19
High base rate – low hit rate	32.69 ± 19.60	1168.17 ± 392.50
High base rate – high hit rate	66.13 ± 14.22	1112.32 ± 371.24





EEG Results

The ERP results induced by the four reasoning tasks are shown in **Figure 2**.

According to the grand mean (see Figure 2) and the differential wave topographic map (see Figure 3) in this study, $100 \sim 200 \text{ ms}$ (N1), $250 \sim 350 \text{ ms}$ (N2), and $350 \sim 700 \text{ ms}$ (LPC) were identified as time windows for the ERP components analysis, and ANOVA was used to analyze the base rate, hit rate and electrode point. The results were as follows.

The Average Amplitude of the Time Window: 100~200 ms (N1)

Three factors repeated measures ANOVA of the average amplitude of 100~200 ms found that the main effect of the hit rate was significant, and the elicited amplitude in the low hit rate task was more negative than that in the high hit rate task [F(1,17) = 13.89, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.45$]. In addition, the main effect of the electrode point was significant, CPz > FCz > Cz [F(8,136) = 15.30, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.47$]. The main effect of the base rate was not significant [F(1,17) = 0.34, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$], and the

interaction of the base rate and hit rate was not significant $[F(1,17) = 0.87, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.05]$. In addition, there were no significant interaction effects between the electrode point and the base rate $[F(8,136) = 0.45, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.03]$ or between the electrode point and the hit rate $[F(8,136) = 0.55, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.03]$.

The Average Amplitude of the Time Window: 250~350 ms (N2)

Three factors repeated measures ANOVA of the average amplitude of 250 350 ms demonstrated a significant main effect of the hit rate, and the elicited amplitude in the low hit rate task was more negative than that in the high hit rate task $[F(1,17) = 7.92, p < 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.32]$. In addition, the main effect of the electrode point was significant, CPz > FCz > Cz, $[F(8,136) = 10.74, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.39]$. However, no significant main effect was observed for the base rate $[F(1,17) = 2.59, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.13]$, no significant interaction was observed for the base rate, and the hit rate was not significant $[F(1,17) = 0.07, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.01]$. In addition, the interaction of the electrode point and the base rate was not significant $[F(8,136) = 0.57, p > 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.03]$,



and the interaction of the electrode point and the hit rate was not significant [F(8,136) = 1.53, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$].

The Average Amplitude of Time Window: $350 \sim 700 \text{ ms}$ (LPC)

Three-factor repeated measures ANOVA of the average amplitude of 350~700 ms indicated that the main effect of the base rate was significant, and the elicited amplitude in the high hit rate task was more positive than that in the low hit rate task [F(1,17) = 8.77, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.34$]. The main effect of the electrode point was significant, CPz > FCz > Cz [F(8,136) = 21.45, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.56$], while the main effect of the hit rate was not significant [F(1,17) = 0.13, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$], and there were no significant interaction effect between the base rate and hit rate [F(1,17) = 0.12, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$]. In addition, the interaction of the electrode point and the base rate [F(8,136) = 0.90, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$] and the interaction of the electrode point and the hit rate were not significant [F(8,136) = 0.78, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$].

The Different Wave and Topographic Maps in Different Hit Rate Tasks

Considering the grand mean (see **Figure 2**) and the analyses of the behavioral results, we could see that the effect of the hit rate was affected by the low base rate. Thus, the performance of the subjects in "low-low" and "low-high" tasks was selected to conduct the different wave analysis.

Figure 3A shows that compared to the high hit rate task in the $100 \sim 200$ ms time window, the low hit rate task could elicit a more negative component at Cz.

Figure 3B indicates that compared to the low base rate task in the $350 \sim 700$ ms time window, the high base rate task could elicit a larger positive component, and the different waves manifested as the LPC at CPz.

Analysis of the topographic maps for the 4 types of tasks every 100 ms. As shown in **Figure 4**, four different types of reasoning

tasks activate the temporal lobe, the parietal occipital region and the lateral region of the frontal. Combined with the different wave topographic map in **Figure 3**, it can be further concluded that, compared with the high hit rate task, the low hit rate task mainly activates the prefrontal and the parietal regions. Compared with the low-rate task, the high-rate task activates parts of the parietal, lobi temporalis and frontal lobes.

DISCUSSION

The Role of the Base Rate and Hit Rate in Bayesian Inference

To a certain extent, this study provided new evidence for the fact that both the base rate and hit rate played important roles in Bayesian inference. First, high and low base rate information had a significant influence on the posterior probability estimation, and there were significant differences in amplitude induced by high and low base rate information in LPC. This result showed that the participants pay attention to the base rate information in Bayesian reasoning. Second, in the 100~200 ms time window, the low hit rate task evoked a more negative component than the high hit rate task, indicating that the brain processing stages underlying the high, and low hit rates were different. Third, in the 250~350 ms time window, the low hit rate task evoked a more negative component than the high hit rate, and the N300 peak appeared; then, LPC appeared in the next window. This finding might suggest that in Bayesian reasoning, the subjects initially anchored the hit rate information, adjusted up and down in line with the base rate, and then finally obtained the estimated posterior probability value. In this way, the hit rate information was successful at this stage. The current results also showed that the hit rate information was processed earlier than the base rate information in the time course. These results were completely consistent with the results of a previous eye movement experiment (Shi et al., 2015) of Bayesian reasoning,



namely, the subjects paid more attention to the hit rate than the base rate, indicating that hit rate got processed at a priority. The present study has provided further evidence, different from the eye movement results, from the proposed model of Bayesian reasoning and in accordance with Kopp et al. (2016), suggesting that probability information played an important role in the reasoning task, even in the Bayesian inference textual paradigm, and shows a significant difference in N300 and LPC between the high and low level of the base rate and hit rate.

The "Anchoring and Adjustment" Heuristic in Bayesian Reasoning

Tversky and Kahneman (1974) introduced the concept of the "heuristic method" and used it to explain why the human mind does not conform to the rules of logic. Samuel and Wu (2000) proposed that people may employ the "anchor and adjustment" strategy to conduct Bayesian reasoning. Subsequently, some attempts have been made to verify the proposed strategy/theory for Bayesian reasoning (Zhu and Gigerenzer, 2006; Shi and Zhang, 2009). However, most of these studies mainly conjectured the reasoning process only from the posterior probability and cannot fully explain the "base rate neglected" effect as well as how people reasoned by using the "anchoring and adjustment" heuristic.

Based on previous studies, this study further used the ERP technique to directly examine the Bayesian reasoning process. First, the behavior performance indicates that both the hit rate and the based rate are considered simultaneously during the Bayesian reasoning process, as the two main effects of the base rate and hit rate were significant, and the posterior probability varied with the level of the two kinds of probability information. These results supported the view that "the participants do not ignore the base rate" (Over and Perham, 2002; Shi and Zhang, 2009; Johnson and Tubau, 2015). This idea is also consistent with that of previous studies (Tang and Shi, 2011). Second, the ERP results have provided direct evidence (at least partially) for the "anchoring and adjustment" strategy, as the base rate and hit rate evoked N300 related to the anchoring based on adjustment (Qu et al., 2008; Kolossa et al., 2015). This finding indicates that people may adopt an "anchorage-adjustment" strategy in the Bayesian reasoning process, but which components accurately link to the anchoring effect and adjustment effect also need further research.

Three-Stage Model of the Bayesian Reasoning Process

This study provided electrophysiological evidence for the time course of probability information processing in Bayesian reasoning. In the $100 \sim 200$ ms time window, compared with the high hit rate task, the low hit rate task elicited a more negative N1 in the frontal region. The N1 components appeared after the stimulation was presented, and was significantly affected by attention, which showed the increase of amplitude. It's related to the visual auditory stimulation and attention. This earlier ERP component might reflect the early visual processing of stimuli in Bayesian reasoning. This result was congruent with a previous study indicating that N1 was associated with the attention to stimulus materials in the reasoning process (Lei et al., 2010).

Kolossa et al. (2015) and Seer et al. (2016) used urn-ball task to investigate the neural bases of Bayesian inference. They argued that the N2 and P3 comonents has been considered to anticipate events and to react to unexpected discrepancies (Hillyard and Picton, 1987). What's more, their researches found that the N2 amplitudes were enhanced when probability informations were unknown. Then, in the 250~350 ms time window, the difference of N300 elicited by the high or low hit rate information was significant in our research, which might suggest that N300 in this study was associated with the anchor to the hit rate. This explanation is also consistent with the anchoring effect from Qu et al. (2008). In the 350~700 ms time window, the high base rate task elicited a more significant LPC compared with the low base rate task. According to the current experimental task, it was argued that LPC might be correlated with the adjustment of the probability estimation based on the base rate.

Together, the process of Bayesian reasoning could be divided into three stages: first, Bayesian reasoning tasks were visually processed as reflected by N1. Second, the "anchoring and adjusting" heuristic method was used to solve Bayesian reasoning tasks as reflected by N300 and LPC. Third, the posterior probability was estimated. This idea is consistent with the results from Shi et al. (2015), which suggested the three-stage model by using eye movement technique, we may research this theory next.

In summary, the neural bases and time process in Bayesian reasoning were investigated by combining the classical Bayesian reasoning paradigm with ERPs in this experiment. The present results demonstrated that people did not neglect the base rate in Bayesian inference, and both the base rate and the rate had an important effect on the Bayesian reasoning process. The calculation of probability information did not follow the Bayesian

REFERENCES

- Chen, A., Li, H., Feng, T. Y., Gao, X. M., Zhang, Z. M., Li, F. H., et al. (2005). The diversity effect of inductive reasoning under segment manipulation of complex cognition. *Sci. China Ser. C Life Sci.* 48, 658–668. doi: 10.1360/062004-92
- Cohen, A. L., and Staub, A. (2015). Within-subject consistency and betweensubject variability in Bayesian reasoning strategies. *Cogn. Psychol.* 81, 26–47. doi: 10.1016/j.cogpsych.2015.08.001
- Edwards, W. (1968). Conservatism in Human Information Processing. Formal Representation of Human Judgment. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Gigerenzer, G., and Hoffrage, U. (1995). How to improve bayesian reasoning without instruction - frequency formats. *Psychol. Rev.* 102, 684–704. doi: 10. 1037//0033-295x.102.4.684
- Gould, S. J. (1992). Bully for Brontosaurus : Further Reflections in Natural History. New York, NY: Penguin Books.
- Hillyard, S. A., and Picton, T. W. (1987). "Electrophysiology of cognition," in Handbook of Physiology: The Nervous System, Section 1, Higher Functions of the Brain, Part 2, Vol. 5, ed. F. Plum (Bethesda, MD: American Physiological Society), 519–584.
- Johnson, E. D., and Tubau, E. (2015). Comprehension and computation in Bayesian problem solving. *Front. Psychol.* 6:938. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00938
- Kolossa, A., Kopp, B., and Fingscheidt, T. (2015). A computational analysis of the neural bases of Bayesian inference. *Neuroimage* 106, 222–237. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2014.11.007
- Kopp, B., Seer, C., Lange, F., Kluytmans, A., Kolossa, A., Fingscheidt, T., et al. (2016). P300 amplitude variations, prior probabilities, and likelihoods: a

rules, while the "anchoring – adjustment" heuristic strategy was adopted in Bayesian inference. These findings have new implications for an in-depth understanding of the time procedure of Bayesian reasoning as well as the functional role of probability information in the reasoning process.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This experiment was approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University in China, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the experiment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZS, LY, and JD contributed to conception and design of the study and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. JD, XM, and BL performed the experimental procedures and organized the participants for the experiments. LY and JD analyzed the data. XM and BL wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Social Science Foundation of China (BBA160044). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Bayesian ERP study. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 16, 911-928. doi: 10.3758/ s13415-016-0442-3

- Lei, Y., Li, F. H., Long, C. Q., Li, P., Chen, Q. F., Ni, Y. Y., et al. (2010). How does typicality of category members affect the deductive reasoning? An ERP study. *Exp. Brain Res.* 204, 47–56. doi: 10.1007/s00221-010-2292-5
- Liang, P. P., Zhong, N., Lu, S. F., and Liu, J. M. (2010). ERP characteristics of sentential inductive reasoning in time and frequency domains. *Cogn. Syst. Res.* 11, 67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cogsys.2008.10.001
- Over, D. E., and Perham, N. (2002). Background beliefs in Bayesian inference. Mem. Cogn. 30, 179–90. doi: 10.3758/BF03195279
- Qu, C., Zhou, L. M., and Luo, Y. J. (2008). The mental scale in anchoring effects: evidence from event-related potentials. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 40, 681–692. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1041.2008.00418
- Reani, M., Davies, A., Peek, N., and Jay, C. (2017). How do people use information presentation to make decisions in Bayesian reasoning tasks? *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.* 111, 62–67. doi: 10.1037/xlm000 0374
- Samuel, K., and Wu, X. Z. (2000). Modern Bayesian Statistics. Beijing: China Statics press.
- Seer, C., Lange, F., Boos, M., Dengler, R., and Kopp, B. (2016). Prior probabilities modulate cortical surprise responses: a study of event-related potentials. *Brain Cogn.* 106, 78–89. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2016.04.011
- Shi, Z. F., Liao, Z. X., and Liu, M. (2015). An eye movement study about the influence of base-rate and cognitive styles on Bayesian reasoning. *J. Psychol. Sci.* 5, 1045–1050.

- Shi, Z. F., and Zhang, Q. L. (2009). The Psychological Research on Bayesian Reasoning. Changchun: Jilin University Press.
- Slovic, P., Fischhoff, B., and Lichtenstein, S. (1976). "Cognitive processes and societal risk taking," in *Decision Making and Change in Human Affairs*, eds H. Jungermann and G. de Zeeuw (Dordrecht: Springer). doi: 10.1007/978-94-010-1276-8_2
- Tang, Y. H., and Shi, Z. F. (2011). The inhibition from hit rate reference of Bayesian reasoning. *J. Psychol. Sci.* 1, 220–224.
- Tversky, A., and Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgement under uncertainty heuristics and biases. *Science* 185, 1124–1131. doi: 10.1126/science
- Zhou, X. L., Chen, C. S., Dong, Q., Zhang, H. C., Zhou, R. L., Zhao, H., et al. (2006). Event-related potentials of single-digit addition, subtraction, and multiplication. *Neuropsychologia* 44, 2500–2507. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia
- Zhu, L. Q., and Gigerenzer, G. (2006). Children can solve Bayesian problems: the role of representation in mental computation. *Cognition* 98, 287–308. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2004.12.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shi, Yin, Dong, Ma and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Corrigendum: Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials

Zifu Shi*, Lin Yin, Jian Dong, Xiang Ma and Bo Li

OPEN ACCESS

Approved by:

Changsha, China

A Corrigendum on

Frontiers Editorial Office, Frontiers Media SA, Switzerland

> ***Correspondence:** Zifu Shi shizf@hunnu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 09 September 2019 Accepted: 10 September 2019 Published: 24 September 2019

Citation:

Shi Z, Yin L, Dong J, Ma X and Li B (2019) Corrigendum: Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials. Front. Psychol. 10:2182. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02182 **Effect of Probability Information on Bayesian Reasoning: A Study of Event-Related Potentials** by Shi, Z., Yin, L., Dong, J., Ma, X., and Li, B. (2019). Front. Psychol. 10:1106. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01106

Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University,

Keywords: Bayesian reasoning, base rate, hit rate, ERPs, "anchoring-adjustment" heuristic

In the published article, there was an error in affiliations 1 and 2. Instead of "Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, Changsha, China," and "School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China," it should only be "Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China."

The authors apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

Copyright © 2019 Shi, Yin, Dong, Ma and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Self-Relevance on Preschool Children's Sharing

Wenjie Zhang^{1,2}, Songmei Xiang³, Hongmei Dai⁴, Mengmeng Ren^{1,2}, Yuqi Shen¹, Wei Fan^{1,2*} and Yiping Zhong^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Psychology, School of Education Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ² Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ³ The Second Kindergarten of Yuelu District Preschool Education, Changsha, China, ⁴ Department of Pediatrics, The Third Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China

This study was designed to investigate the impact of self-relevance between preschool children and recipients on children's sharing behavior in dictator games using a forcedchoice resource distribution paradigm. Experiment 1: A total of 75 children aged 3-6 years were evaluated in a first-party situation in which they were distributed as recipients and dictators and shared resources with distracting recipients with different extents of self-relevance under three different payoff structures, including non-costly, costly, and envy structures. Children could choose between a sharing option and a nonsharing option. The results showed that, in a first-party situation, children aged 3-6 years old typically share more resources with highly self-relevant recipients (friends) than with moderately self-relevant recipients (acquaintances) and lowly self-relevant recipients (strangers) and that they share more resources with moderately self-relevant recipients (acquaintances) than lowly self-relevant recipients (strangers). Experiment 2: A total of 62 children aged 3-6 years old were evaluated in a third-party situation in which they were distributed not as recipients but only dictators, making decisions between the options of sharing more or sharing less with distracting recipients who had different extents of self-relevance under three different payoff structures, such as non-bias, high self-bias, and low self-bias. The results showed that, in a third-party situation, children typically share in a similar manner to that of Experiment 1, meaning that children display selective generosity and that the self-relevance between the children and recipients played a key role. Across age groups, this study of preschool children (total N = 137) demonstrates a degree of effect of self-relevance on preschool children's sharing in first-party and thirdparty situations, with highly self-relevant recipients receiving a more preferential share in the dictator game than those with low self-relevance, although this effect was stronger in the older preschool children.

Keywords: self-relevance, recipient, resource sharing, preschool children, dictator game

INTRODUCTION

Sharing behavior is a vital research topic in the field of children's moral and developmental psychology. Sharing resources with others is an important prosocial behavior (Markovits et al., 2003; Steinbeis and Over, 2017). Recently, many studies have focused on sharing behavior in early childhood (Rochat et al., 2009; Svetlova et al., 2010; Baumard et al., 2012; Paulus et al., 2015). The growing focus of these studies was mainly on the many factors that influence

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xi-Nian Zuo, Institute of Psychology (CAS), China

Reviewed by:

Li Kaiyun, University of Jinan, China Zhixiong Yan, Guangxi Teachers Education University, China

*Correspondence:

Wei Fan fanwei@hunnu.edu.cn Yiping Zhong ypzhong@hunnu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 04 September 2018 Accepted: 18 April 2019 Published: 28 May 2019

Citation:

Zhang W, Xiang S, Dai H, Ren M, Shen Y, Fan W and Zhong Y (2019) The Impact of Self-Relevance on Preschool Children's Sharing. Front. Psychol. 10:1028. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01028

67

sharing behavior and decisions in young children, including recipients, distributors, objects and situations related to sharing resources (Kanngiesser and Warneken, 2012; Crittenden and Zes, 2015; Kogut et al., 2015; Gasiorowska et al., 2016; Hao et al., 2016; Malti et al., 2016). Rogers first discovered the self-reference effect, he thought the memory effect of the self-associated memory material was significantly better than that of other coding conditions, namely the self-referential effect (Rogers et al., 1977). Symons and Johnson believe that the self-reference effect occurred because the ego was a well-developed and frequently used structure (Symons and Johnson, 1997), which facilitated the fine processing of information (Brown et al., 1986) and tissue processing (Klein et al., 1994). The generation of self-referential effects was related to the degree of development of self-concepts.

A study by Sui and Zhu (2005) found that 5-year-old children already exhibit self-reference effects (Sui and Zhu, 2005). Zhou further found that 4-year-old children already have a self-reference effect (Zhou et al., 2010). Later, some researchers found that 3-year-old children already have a self-reference effect (Mei Haibo, 2013). The above research showed that the self-concept of 3–6 age year children was fully developed, which could not only distinguish themselves from others, but also could produce memory self-referencing processing effects according to this familiarity.

Researchers often described the level of familiarity and association between individuals and others using self-relevance (Farb et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2017). Researchers often used the IOS scale to measure the degree of self-relevance between individuals and others. Those who scored 5–7 points to be highly self-related (such as close friends), and those who scored 3–4 points were moderately self-related (such as acquaintances), those who will score at 1–2 points for others as low self-related (such as strangers) (Aron et al., 1992; Zhong et al., 2015).

Studies (Fehr et al., 2008; Moore, 2009) have provided evidence that preschool children already react differently to different kinds of recipients in resource allocation tasks and that they are very sensitive to the principle of reciprocity in social interaction and communication (Kenward et al., 2015; Paulus et al., 2015; Lu and Chang, 2016; Mulvey et al., 2016; Paulus, 2016b; Xiong et al., 2016; Scharpf et al., 2017). In resource allocation tasks, children share more generously with in-group members or recipients with similar interests than with outgroup members (Sparks et al., 2017). Studies from some western cultures have shown that preschool children tend to share more resources with friends than with mere acquaintances (Costin and Jones, 1992; Rao and Stewart, 1999; Paulus and Moore, 2014), or they share more with friends than with disliked peers, non-friends or strangers (Birch and Billman, 1986; Fehr et al., 2008; Olson and Spelke, 2008). However, recent studies (Scharpf et al., 2016, 2017; Cowell et al., 2017) pointed to cross-cultural differences in young children's sharing. A study from eastern Africa (Scharpf et al., 2017) points out that sharing among young children in Uganda did not depend on the social relationship between the sharer and the recipient. One study (Rochat et al.,

2009) indicated that children from a collectivist culture are more likely to share goods with others.

The social relationships from previous theories (Newcomb and Bagwell, 1995) were divided into kin, friends, acquaintances, strangers and disliked peers or enemies. Friends are defined as people with close, interpersonal ties and positive, amiable preexisting relationships (Jehn and Shah, 1997). Acquaintances, strangers, and disliked peers or enemies belong to the group of non-friends. Acquaintances are defined as people with limited familiarity, intimacy and contact. Strangers are defined as people with hardly any familiarity or common experience. Enemies or disliked peers are defined as people with a few common experiences and negative or even contemptuous relationships. However, acquaintances, strangers, and disliked peers or enemies were not strictly distinguished in many previous studies about early sharing. For example, acquaintances were mixed with disliked peers in one study (Moore, 2009), which defined peers who dislike one another yet play together as acquaintances. Additionally, in a number of studies (Birch and Billman, 1986; Costin and Jones, 1992; Olson and Spelke, 2008; Cowell et al., 2017), acquaintances were recipients in resource sharing tasks, but the familiarity and intimacy between participants and recipients were not strictly and systematically manipulated (Blake et al., 2015). Therefore, these studies only compared two levels of relationships between participants and recipients, preexisting and non-existing, such as friends and strangers, and positive and negative relationships, such as friends and disliked peers.

According to the self-relevance concept from China, interpersonal relationships present differences depending on whether a subject is close to oneself or distant from oneself thus; self-relevance should be manipulated to different degrees, such as high self-relevance, moderate self-relevance and low self-relevance (Fan et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2015). One study (Zhong et al., 2015) from China supposed that self-relevance influences prosocial behavior among adults and found that the higher the degree of overlap was between oneself and others, the more obvious the presence of helping behavior. What about the impact of self-relevance on prosocial behavior in preschool children? This study will systemically manipulate self-relevance based on the familiarity and intimacy between distributors and recipients as well as explore the differences when children make sharing decisions about recipients with different degrees of self-relevance, such as friends, acquaintances, and strangers.

In addition to the relationship between recipients and distributors, the situations of resource allocation were thought to affect sharing behaviors among young children. In previous studies, situations based on different payoff structures were mainly divided into non-costly, costly, and envy situations. Studies indicated that children aged 2 years old start to display a strong tendency to share with others (especially with intimate peers) in non-costly situations (Brownell et al., 2009) but that children aged 3–6 exhibit a reduction in sharing and are not willing to sacrifice their own interests when in costly situations (Fehr et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2013). Similarly, children aged 3–8 often refuse to deprive themselves of their own dominant position to choose the option of benefiting

others. Researchers (Brownell et al., 2009) found that children dislike others who get more than them (motivated by social comparison); thus, children are less willing to share with others in envy situations (Shaw et al., 2014; Sheskin et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2014). For example, 5-year-old children will refuse the option of two resources for each child to choose the option of one resource going to themselves and others getting nothing. Therefore, these studies indicate that young children aged 3-6 are very sensitive to situations that affect their payoff. One study (Kanngiesser and Warneken, 2012) indicated that children in early childhood have an ability to take merit into account in third-party situations but that merit-based sharing in first-party situations does not appear until school age. Do young children take self-relevance into account in sharing? Additionally, is there any difference between first-party and third-party situations? Most studies (Rochat et al., 2009; Paulus et al., 2013) demand that young children share a resource between themselves and others in first-person scenarios and rarely exclude the self-interests of participants. Therefore, it remains an open question whether children will behave in accordance with selfrelevance when sharing resources in first-person and thirdperson situations.

EXPERIMENT 1 THE IMPACT OF SELF-RELEVANCE ON PRESCHOOL CHILDREN'S SHARING IN FIRST-PARTY SITUATIONS

Aim and Hypothesis

Aim: Experiment 1 requires participants to share resources between themselves and others and participants also as resource recipients. The study allowed participants to choose "sharing" or "non-sharing" based on three different conditions (non-costly, costly, and envy). The study records the number of times the participants choose to "sharing" with others, and explore the role of self-relevance in participants' sharing behavior.

Hypothesis: Compared with acquaintances and strangers, the participants shared more behaviors with close friends; compared with strangers, the participants shared more behaviors with acquaintances; compared with 3–4 years old children, 5–6 years old children will share more behaviors, which means that the degree of self-relevance in the 5–6 years old children was more stable.

Research Method

Participants

The participants in Experiment 1 consisted of 75 children aged 3–6 years from an urban kindergarten located in China. The participants were divided into two groups based on age: 3–4 years (n = 39, 21 males and 15 females; M = 53.00 months, SD = 5.09, range = 38–58) and 5–6 years (n = 36, 15 males and 21 females; M = 68.19 months, SD = 5.44, range = 60–77). No children were suffering from mental or neurological disorders, and all spoke Chinese as their first language. This study was approved by the ethics committee of Hunan Normal University. Informed written

consent was obtained from the parents of all participants. The participants received gifts.

Materials

Experiment design

This experiment used a two-factor mixed design of 3 (self-correlation: high self-related – friends, medium self-related – acquaintance, low self-related – stranger) \times self 2 (age group: 3–4 years old, 5–6 years old group). Self-relevance is the intragroup variable, including high, medium, and low levels; the age group is the inter-group variable, including the 3–4-year-old group and the 5–6-year-old group. The dependent variable is the number of times the participants chooses to share generously with the recipient.

Photos of recipients

Photos of friends, acquaintances and strangers served as three different self-relevance recipients, the friends, acquaintances, and strangers selected in this study had the same age as the participants. All photos were standardized at a size of 2.5×3.5 cm, containing an image of the head with a neutral facial expression. The genders of the three recipients were matched.

IOS scale

The degrees of self-relevance between oneself and others were measured using the IOS scale. The people whose scores ranged from 5 to 7 were highly self-relevant others (e.g., friends), those whose scores ranged from 3 to 4 were moderately self-relevant others (e.g., acquaintances), and these whose scores ranged from 1 to 2 were lowly self-relevant others (e.g., strangers) (Aron et al., 1992; Zhong et al., 2015).

Food in sharing task

Researchers chose the children's favorite food, M&M chocolates, as the sharing resource. Children were required to rate their preference for the food using a cartoon expression with one of three associate point values (like, neither like nor dislike, dislike) before the experiment (Birch and Billman, 1986; Crittenden and Zes, 2015).

Procedure

Food preference ratings

The experiment was conducted in a quiet room located in the kindergarten. The experimenter provided a sample of food (M&M's, M&M is a chocolate bean in the United States, in 2004, M&M's was named the most favorite food in the United States) to the children. After tasting, the children chose a cartoon expression (like, neither like nor dislike, dislike) to rate the food. If a child reported that they liked the food, the child would continue with the experiment as a participant.

Recipients' selection

First, photos of all classmates were provided, with a corresponding name written on the back of each photo. The participants were asked to find their own photo and divide the other photos into three categories: like, neither like nor dislike, and dislike. Second, the participants chose their three favorite photos from the "like" category, one of which had a score of 5–7 on the IOS scale, indicating high self-relevance,

and was identified as a close friend. Third, the experimenters randomly chose three photos from the "neither like nor dislike" category, one of which had a score of 3–4, indicating moderate self-relevance, and was identified as a regular acquaintance. Finally, the experimenters provided three photos of strangers, one of which had a score (Zhong et al., 2015). In addition, when the experimenters selected photos, they made sure that the three recipients (close friends, acquaintances, and strangers) were the same gender.

Resource sharing task

After the completion of the two procedures above, the participants sat on a chair facing a desk. The experimenters introduced the resource sharing task to the participant and told him/her how to share chocolates with the recipients (close friends, acquaintances, and strangers). The experimenters put the photo of the participant before him and one of recipients' photos opposite him on the desk and then displayed two options (as shown in **Figure 1**). During the experiment, the experimenters not only stated the experimental content but also assisted with the physical operation to help participants understand it. After children decided, the experimenters would record the selected options.

Experiment 1 presented 3 blocks to participants (3-4-yearolds and 5-6-year-olds), which consisted of 9 trials in each block, amounting to 27 trials in total. Each block contained three different trial types according participants' payoff: noncostly, costly, and envy situations, non-costly situations. The experimenter asked the participants to choose between two options [the participant and the recipient, respectively, have a sugar (1/1), the other is the participants have a sugar and the recipient have not a sugar (1/0)], costly situations [the experimenter asked the participants to choose between two options. One option was that the participants and the recipient, respectively, have one sugar (1/1), and the other option was that the participants had two sugars while others had no sugar (2/0)], envy situations [he experimenter asked the participants to make a choice between the two options. One option was that the participant and the recipient did not have sugar (0/0), the other option was that the participant had one sugar and the recipient had two sugars (1/2)]. In each trial, the participants made decisions between two options by using forced-choice resource sharing to form a simple dictator game. The dictator game is a very simple, one-shot decision situation in which the

dictator can distribute resources to recipients in any way, and the recipient has to accept the allocation (Gummerum et al., 2008; Moore, 2009; Wilkening, 2009). The orders of the trials and options were balanced between the blocks and participants.

Data Analysis

The experimenter scored the results of the participant selection (Paulus, 2016a). If the participant chooses to share generously with the recipient (friend, acquaintance, stranger) and benefit from others, then the participant will get 1 point in this trial. For example, for costly conditions and non-costly conditions, the participant selects the option (1/1), scores 1 point; the envy condition, the participants select the option (1/2), scores 1 point. If the participant chooses another option and record 0 points. The scores obtained by all the trials of all blocks are accumulated according to the trial type and are regarded as the share scores of the accepted objects.

Experiment 1 mainly investigated the influence of self-relevance on children's sharing behaviors and, specifically, whether higher self-relevance between recipients and participants made it more likely that children would share resources with the recipients. Therefore, this experiment adopts a repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA) using a mixed model with two factors, 3 self-relevance (high self-relevance – friends, moderate self-relevance – acquaintances, and low self-relevance – strangers) \times 2 age (the 3–4-year-old group and the 5–6-year-old group). The degrees of freedom of the F-ratio were corrected according to the Greenhouse–Geisser method.

Results

Self-Relevance Ratings

The post-experiment assessment using an IOS scale showed a significant main effect of self-relevance in the recipients, F(2,72) = 1381.54, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.95$; *post hoc* testing revealed the self-relevance scores of friends' recipients to be significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients and the self-relevance scores of acquaintances recipients to be higher than those of strangers' recipients, p < 0.001.

Sharing Behavior in Non-costly Situations

Under non-costly conditions, a multiple ANOVA showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,146) = 30.96, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.30$; *post hoc* multiple comparison



revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers and that the sharing scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers, p < 0.05. The main effect of age group was not significant, F(1,73) = 0.08, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$. There were no significant interactions between age and self-relevance, F(2,146) = 2.30, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$.

For the data of the 3–4-year-old participants, the one-factor ANOVA of self-relevance showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,114) = 10.49, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.22$. Post hoc multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients (p < 0.01) and strangers' recipients (p < 0.001), and there was no significant difference in the sharing scores of moderately self-relevant recipients and lowly self-relevant recipients (p > 0.05).

For the data of the 5–6-year-old participants, the one-factor ANOVA of self-relevance showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,115) = 21.99, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.39$. *Post hoc* multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients (p < 0.01) and strangers' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients (p < 0.01) and strangers' recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.001) (as shown in **Figure 2**).

Sharing Behavior in Costly Situations

Under costly conditions, a multiple ANOVA showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,146) = 26.17, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.26$. Post hoc multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients, and the sharing scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients, p < 0.001. The main effect of age was marginally significant, with children aged 5-6 sharing more than those aged 3-4, F(1,146) = 3.68, p = 0.06, $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$. There was also a marginally significant interaction between self-relevance and age, $F(2,146) = 2.70, p = 0.07, \eta_p^2 = 0.04$. Simple effects analysis showed that, for participants aged 3-4, the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients (p < 0.01) and strangers' recipients (p < 0.01), and the sharing scores of acquaintances recipients were not significantly different than those of strangers' recipients (p > 0.05). For participants aged 5-6, the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients (p < 0.05) and strangers' recipients (p < 0.001), and the sharing scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (*p* < 0.01) (as shown in **Figure 3**).

Sharing Behavior in the Envy Situation

Under envy conditions, a multiple ANOVA showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,146) = 8.82, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$. *Post hoc* multiple comparison revealed



that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients, and the sharing scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients, p < 0.01. The main effect of age was highly significant, with children aged 3-4 sharing more than those aged 5-6, $F(1,146) = 16.52, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.19$. There was also a significant interaction between self-relevance and age, F(2,146) = 4.70, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$. Simple effects analysis showed that, for participants aged 3-4, sharing scores were not significantly different among friends' recipients, acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients (p > 0.05). For participants aged 5–6, the sharing scores of friends and acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.01), and the sharing scores of friends' recipients were not significantly different than those of acquaintances recipients (p > 0.05)(as shown in Figure 4).

Discussion

Before the resource allocation task, the results of the selfrelevance rating between participants and recipients using an IOS scale showed that the scores of self-relevance were extremely significantly different since the scores of highly self-relevant






recipients were significantly higher than those of moderately selfrelevant recipients, and the scores of moderately self-relevant recipients were significantly higher than those of lowly selfrelevant recipients. These results indicate that participants were able to distinguish the different degree of self-relevance among recipients and prove the validity of manipulating self-relevance in the experiment.

In Experiment 1, the results in non-costly situations showed that preschool children shared more with highly self-relevant recipients than moderately self-relevant recipients as well as more with moderately self-relevant recipients than with lowly self-relevant recipients, which indicated that preschool children could not only distinguish the different degree of self-relevance among recipients but also demonstrate different sharing behavior and decisions based on this distinction. Preschool children are able to take self-relevance into account when sharing resources with others. The experimental results bear our hypothesis in the experiment. These results were consistent with those reported in previous research. Previous studies found that children are more likely to share with friends and acquaintances (Birch and Billman, 1986; Fehr et al., 2008; Olson and Spelke, 2008) and that children share more with friends than acquaintances (Costin and Jones, 1992; Olson and Spelke, 2008). These studies showed that early sharing behavior is obviously influenced by the closeness and intimacy of relationships between oneself and recipients and that parochialism plays an important role in early sharing behaviors (Bernhard et al., 2006).

However, the results under non-costly conditions did not reveal a significant difference between the age groups of 3– 4 and 5–6. Many studies (Brownell et al., 2009) about early sharing behavior often examined children's sharing behavior in non-costly situations. In resource distribution tasks without a sacrifice of self-interest, young children exhibited a strong tendency for sharing (Olson and Spelke, 2008; Kenward and Dahl, 2011; Baumard et al., 2012). For example, at the age of two, young children have shown a strong willingness to share with others in non-costly situations (Brownell et al., 2009). These studies indicated that children are more willing to share under non-costly conditions. Therefore, participants in non-costly situations tended to share resources at the ages of 3–4 and 5–6, and there was no difference between the two age groups.

Experiment 1 under costly conditions also showed that, when children shared resources with others, the scores of highly self-relevant recipients were significantly higher than those of moderately self-relevant recipients, and the scores of moderately self-relevant recipients were significantly higher than those of lowly self-relevant recipients. These results indicated that, even in situations where participants need to sacrifice self-interest, children still perform differently in sharing behaviors and decisions based on the self-relevance between participants and recipients. The experimental results bear our hypothesis in the experiment. This result is similar to the results in non-costly situations, and the effect of self-relevance on children's sharing behaviors is observed. Unlike in non-costly conditions, the effect of age difference on sharing behaviors was significant in costly situations, with the scores of 3-4year-old children being significantly lower than those of 5-6-year-old children. This result was consistent with those of previous studies. Other researchers (Thompson et al., 1997) pointed out that, when self-interests are decreased, children's willingness to share is weakened. In costly situations, children will start to occasionally share goods that they gained with others when they are 3 years old. Previous researchers (Ugurel-Semin, 1952) pointed out that children could make the leap to generously sharing with others at the age of 5 or 6. Thus, the loss of self-interest led to the decline of the sharing tendency in children aged 3-4, but children aged 5-6 were still willing to generously share with others. In addition, the results in costly situations showed that children aged 3-4 were able to distinguish highly self-relevant recipients from moderately selfrelevant recipients and lowly self-relevant recipients but were unable to distinguish moderately self-relevant recipients from lowly self-relevant recipients; however, children aged 5-6 were able to clearly distinguish among the three different kinds of self-relevant recipients. These results suggest that preschool children could be able to take self-relevance into account when performing sharing behaviors in costly situations. However, in costly situations, children aged 5-6 showed a stronger and steadier degree of effect on sharing behaviors and decisions than did children aged 3-4.

The results of Experiment 1 under envy conditions also showed that scores of highly self-relevant recipients were significantly higher than those of moderately self-relevant recipients, and the scores of moderately self-relevant recipients were significantly higher than those of lowly self-relevant recipients. Thus, even in cases where self-interest advantages were threatened, children still performed differently in sharing behaviors and decisions based on the self-relevance between participants and recipients. The experimental results bear our hypothesis in the experiment. Interestingly, the results in envy situations indicate that there was a significant difference based on age in the sharing behaviors among preschool children, with children aged 5–6 years sharing significantly less than those aged 3–4. Jealousy is a kind of negative feeling experienced by individuals; when individuals realize others have an advantage that they lack, they display mixed feelings of inferiority, hostility, and resentment (Hart and Behrens, 2013; Mize et al., 2014). Recently, research (Sheskin et al., 2016) pointed out that, when their own resource advantage was threatened, children's sharing behaviors developed very slowly. Children compare themselves to others, and when, they realize others have more resources than them, jealousy is induced (Shaw and Olson, 2012). Awareness of competition will decrease prosocial and sharing behaviors in preschool children (Pappert et al., 2016). In this case, children tend to choose the options favoring themselves and accept the unfair advantage (Blake and Mcauliffe, 2011; Lobue et al., 2011).

In envy conditions, recipients in sharing tasks were peers, which induced strong feelings of envy in the children aged 5-6. Early social comparison emotions, including envy, reduced early prosocial motivation (Steinbeis and Singer, 2013). Fehr and Schmidt (1999) pointed out that, when the participants' income was lower than others, they experienced envy. Therefore, in envy conditions, the sharing behaviors of children aged 5-6 were significantly reduced under feelings of intense jealousy. Even so, the self-relevance of recipients was still considered when children aged 5-6 shared resources. This result indicated that, in envy conditions, children aged 5-6 would make a sharing decision according to self-relevance, and the effect of the degree of self-relevance still exists. However, there was no significant difference among children aged 3-4 in sharing behaviors, and the effect of the degree of self-relevance disappeared. On the one hand, this may be due to the immaturity of self-consciousness and self-relevance among children aged 3-4 (Gerardi-Caulton, 2000). The participants could not distinguish among the three types of self-relevant recipients very well because of their envy. On the other hand, it may be the limitations of recognition (Paulus et al., 2015) that make it so that children aged 3-4 could not distinguish situations that elicited jealousy (Masciuch and Kienapple, 1993). In envy conditions, children aged 3-4 failed to compare themselves with others who faced different payoffs. Thus, the lack of envy generated by social comparison made no difference among these recipients.

The results of Experiment 1 proved that children are more generous to highly self-relevant recipients, regardless of whether in non-costly conditions, costly conditions or, even, envy conditions. This finding suggests that young children are able to distinguish between different self-relevant recipients and discriminate differently in sharing behaviors. This is the effect of the degree of self-relevance on children's sharing behavior. Of course, the effect of self-relevance is steadier in children aged 5–6 than in children aged 3–4.

Experiment 1 investigated the tendency of children to share with different self-relevant recipients when they allocate resources between themselves and recipients. Previous studies (Benenson et al., 2007; Blake and Rand, 2010; Gummerum et al., 2010) have shown that children's sharing behaviors are inevitably disturbed when their own interests are involved, although children exhibit a strong tendency of sharing from an early age. To eliminate the interference of self-interests, participants were asked to allocate resources between two recipients, and participants are dictators but not recipients in Experiment 2. In third-party situations, will children share resources with others according to the self-relevance of recipients?

EXPERIMENT 2: THE IMPACT OF SELF-RELEVANCE ON PRESCHOOL CHILDREN'S SHARING IN THIRD-PARTY SITUATIONS

Aim and Hypothesis

Aim: Experiment 2 requires participants to allocate resources to other people (close friends, acquaintances, and strangers) as distributors and participants no accepted resources. According to the resource allocation paradigm, the study sated three task scenarios (no bias, high self-bias, low self-bias) and each task scenarios provides two distribution options (multiple sharing, less sharing). Last, the study records participants' choice of "multiple sharing" and explore the role of self-relevance in children's sharing behavior.

Hypothesis: Compared with acquaintances and strangers, the participants shared more behaviors with close friends; compared with strangers, the participants shared more behaviors with acquaintances; compared with 3–4 years old children, 5–6 years old children will share more behaviors, which means that the degree of self-relevance in the 5–6 years old children was more stable.

Research Method

Participants

The participants in Experiment 2 consisted of 62 children aged 3–6 years from a kindergarten located in urban China. The participants were divided into two groups based on age: 3–4 years (n = 30, 15 males and 15 females; M = 52.50 months, SD = 3.34, range = 46–59) and 5–6 years (n = 32, 16 males and 16 females; M = 65. 97 months, SD = 2.95, range = 61–71). No children suffered from mental or neurological disorders, and all spoke Chinese as their first language. This study was approved by the ethics committee of Hunan Normal University. Informed written consent was obtained from the parents of all the participants. The participants received gifts.

Experimental Materials

Same as Experiment 1.

Procedure

- (1) Food preference ratings (same as Experiment 1).
- (2) Recipients' selection (same as Experiment 1).
- (3) Resource sharing task (similar to Experiment 1).

The difference between Experiments 1 and 2 at this step is that participants need to allocate chocolates to two recipients (close friends, acquaintances, and strangers), but participants themselves are not recipients. Experiment 2 presented 3 blocks of 27 trials in total in the same manner as Experiment 1. Each block contained three different trial types according to participants' payoffs: non-bias, high self-bias, and low self-bias. For example, participants made the decision between a 3/1 option and a 1/3 option in non-bias trials (under the nonbias condition, there were two options for the participant, one option 3/1 was to give the friend three sugars and give the acquaintance a sugar, the other option 1/3 was to give the friend a sugar and give the acquaintance three sugars), between a 3/1 option and a 2/2 option in high self-bias trials (under the high self-bias condition, the participant had two options, one option 3/1 was given friends three sugars and give acquaintances one sugar; the other option 2/2 was, respectively, giving friends and acquaintances two sugars), between 1/3 and 2/2 options in low self-bias trials (under the low self-bias condition, the participant had two options, one option 1/3 was given friends one sugars and give acquaintances three sugar; the other option 2/2 was, respectively, given friends and acquaintances two sugars). In each trial, participants allocated resources to a higher self-relevant recipient and a lower self-relevant recipient. The orders of trials and options were balanced between the blocks and participants.

Data Analysis

The experimenter recorded and coded the participant's decision into sharing scores (Paulus, 2016a). When participants chose an option to benefit one of the recipients, the corresponding recipient would get a score of one. For example, if participants chose to share more (3/1) instead of sharing less (1/3) with higher self-relevant recipients in non-bias trials, then the higher selfrelevant recipients would get a score of one. Scores in all trials were calculated according to the trial type, which was considered the sharing scores of the corresponding recipients.

This experiment adopted a repeated measures analyses of variance (ANOVA) using a mixed model with two factors, 3 self-correlations (high self-related – friends, medium self-related – acquaintances, low self-related – strangers) $\times 2$ (age: 3 to 4 years old group, 5 to 6 years old group). The degrees of freedom of the F-ratio were corrected according to the Greenhouse–Geisser method.

Results

Self-Relevance Ratings

The post-experiment assessment using an IOS scale showed a significant main effect of the type of self-relevance in the recipients, F(2,59) = 1056.91, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.95$. *Post hoc* testing revealed the self-relevance scores of friends' recipients to be significantly higher than those of acquaintances' recipients and strangers' recipients, and the self-relevance scores of moderately self-relevant recipients were higher than those of strangers' recipients, p < 0.001.

Sharing Behavior in Non-bias Situations

Under non-bias conditions, a multiple ANOVA showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,120) = 57.95, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.49$. *Post hoc* multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances' recipients and strangers' recipients, and the scores of acquaintances' recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients, p < 0.001. The main effect of age was not significant, F(1,60) = 1.07, p > 0.05,

 $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$. There were no significant interactions between age and self-relevance, F(2,120) = 0.02, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.001$.

For the data of the 3–4-year-old participants, the one-factor ANOVA of self-relevance showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,87) = 31.53, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.52$. *Post hoc* multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients, and the scores of acquaintances recipients were higher than those that of strangers' recipients (p < 0.001).

For the data of the 5–6-year-old participants, the one-factor ANOVA of self-relevance showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,93) = 27.42, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.47$. Post hoc multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients (p < 0.001), and the scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.01) (as shown in **Figure 5**).

Sharing Behavior in High Self-Bias Situations

In high self-bias conditions, a multiple ANOVA showed a significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,120) = 33.88, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.36$. *Post hoc* multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients and strangers' recipients, and the scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients, p < 0.001. The main effect of age was not significant, F(1,60) = 1.07, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$. There were no significant interactions between age and self-relevance, F(2,120) = 1.60, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$.

For the data of the 3–4-year-old participants, the one-factor ANOVA of self-relevance showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,87) = 10.83, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.27$. Post hoc multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients (p < 0.001) and acquaintances recipients (p < 0.01) were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients and that there was no significant difference between highly self-relevant recipients and acquaintances recipients (p > 0.05).



For the data of the 5–6-year-old participants, the one-factor ANOVA of self-relevance showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,93) = 24.37, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.44$. Post hoc multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients were significantly higher than those of acquaintances recipients (p < 0.01) and strangers' recipients (p < 0.001), and the scores of acquaintances recipients were significantly were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.001) (as shown in **Figure 6**).

Sharing Behaviors in Low Self-Bias Situations

In low self-bias conditions, a repeated measures ANOVA showed a highly significant main effect of self-relevance, F(2,120) = 26.72, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.32$. *Post hoc* multiple comparison revealed that the sharing scores of friends' recipients and acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.05), and there was no significant difference between friends' recipients and acquaintances recipients (p > 0.05). The effect of age was not significant, F(1,60) = 0.001, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.001$.

There was also a marginally significant interaction between self-relevance and age, F(2,120) = 2.76, p = 0.06, $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$. Simple effects analysis showed that, for participants aged 3–4, the sharing scores of friends recipients and acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.05), and there was no significant difference between friends recipients aged 5–6, the sharing scores of friends recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers of friends recipients and acquaintances recipients (p > 0.05); for participants aged 5–6, the sharing scores of friends recipients and acquaintances recipients were significantly higher than those of strangers' recipients (p < 0.001), and there was not significant difference between friends recipients and acquaintances recipients (p < 0.001), and there was not significant difference between friends recipients and acquaintances recipients (p < 0.001), and there was not significant difference between friends recipients and acquaintances recipients (p < 0.05) (as shown in **Figure 7**).

Discussion

To eliminate the interference of self-interest, participants were distributors but not recipients of resources in Experiment 2. The results in non-bias conditions showed that children aged 3–4 and aged 5–6 both clearly distinguished among highly self-relevant, moderately self-relevant and lowly self-relevant recipients, and effects of the degree of self-relevance appeared in preschool children's sharing behaviors, which is in accordance with the





experimental hypothesis. Some studies point out that children share more generously with in-group recipients than with outgroup members (Olson and Spelke, 2008; Moore, 2009; Sparks et al., 2017). Usually, highly self-relevant recipients are closer to oneself and more likely to belong to in-group recipients. Lowly self-relevant recipients are more likely to belong to out-group members. When choosing between options without any bias, children will choose to share more resources with those recipients who have higher self-relevance.

The results from the high-self bias situations show that children clearly distinguished between highly self-relevant, moderately self-relevant, and lowly self-relevant recipients, and the effect of the degree of self-relevance appeared in preschool children's sharing behaviors, which is in accordance with the experimental hypothesis and the results in the non-bias conditions. However, the results of the data of participants aged 3-4 showed that they could not distinguish between more highly self-relevant recipients and moderately self-relevant recipients, but the results of the data of participants aged 5-6 showed that they could distinguish among all three types of self-relevant recipients. This result indicated that children aged 5-6 could better share resources according to the self-relevance of recipients than children aged 3-4. The effect of the degree of relevance became steadier as the children developed.

The results in low self-bias conditions found that children aged 3-4 and children aged 5-6 could distinguish the highly self-relevant recipients from the lowly self-relevant recipients and distinguish the moderately self-relevant recipients from the lowly self-relevant recipients. However, neither could distinguish the highly self-relevant recipients from the moderately selfrelevant recipients. In low self-bias conditions, one option provides more resources to the lower self-relevant recipients. This tendency to provide an advantage of resources to the lower self-relevant recipients may betray children's psychological preference to in-group recipients (Bauer et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2014) or higher self-relevant groups (Wood et al., 1996; Thibaut, 2017). In this situation, children may need more cognitive resources to distinguish between highly selfrelevant recipients and lowly self-relevant recipients so that the effect of the degree of self-relevance may be decreased in children's sharing.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

More Self-Relevant Recipients, More Sharing: The Effect of the Degree of Self-Relevance on Preschool Children

Experiments 1 and 2 explored the impact of self-relevance on children's sharing behaviors in first-party and third-party situations. The results of Experiment 1 and Experiment 2 both showed that children aged 3-6 could treat recipients differently based on self-relevance. In fact, the higher the self-relevance was, the more sharing that occurred among preschool children. These results were consistent with those of western studies. Previous studies found that preschool children tend to share more resources with friends than mere acquaintances (Costin and Jones, 1992; Rao and Stewart, 1999; Paulus and Moore, 2014) and share more with friends than with disliked peers, nonfriends, or strangers (Birch and Billman, 1986; Fehr et al., 2008; Olson and Spelke, 2008). These studies showed that early sharing behavior is obviously influenced by the closeness and intimacy of relationships between oneself and recipients, and parochialism played an important role in early sharing behaviors (Bernhard et al., 2006). Therefore, the results of both experiments showed that preschool children could take the self-relevance of recipients into account. The self-relevance between children and recipients will have an impact on sharing behaviors and decisions.

More Mature Self-Relevance Awareness Develops Gradually: The Effect of the Degree of Self-Relevance on Children's Sharing Behavior Becomes Steadier With Age

The results in the non-costly, costly and envy conditions from Experiment 1 and those in the high self- and low self-bias situations from Experiment 2 showed that children aged 3-4 sometimes could not distinguish between moderately selfrelevant and lowly self-relevant recipients and sometimes could not distinguish between highly self-relevant and moderately selfrelevant recipients in terms of sharing behaviors. The self-concept and self-consciousness of children aged 3-4 are not mature enough, which leads to the unsteady effect of the degree of self-relevance in sharing behavior. However, children aged 5 to 6 were more likely to share according to the self-relevance of recipients in any situation observed in this study. As age increased, the self-concept and self-consciousness of children aged 5-6 tended to mature. Children could delicately process selfconcept and differentiate among the three kinds of self-relevant recipients well. Therefore, the effect of the degree of self-relevance tends to be stable.

In recent years, most studies in psychology seem to be more inclined to support the concept of energy preservation rather than the concept of energy exhaustion (Muraven et al., 2006). For instance, Muraven asked all subjects to perform two different self-control tasks; however, before the second task, the experimental group was told that there was a third more important self-control tasks awaiting them; hence, the subjects in experimental group were observed to give up faster than those in the control group while performing the second selfcontrol task, meaning that an individual might save certain self-control resources for a subsequent more important task (Muraven et al., 1998, 2006). Similar results were obtained in the study of Tyler and Burns (2008, 2009).

In Experiment 2, we examined the impact of self-control resources on deceptive behavior. Participants in the group of depletion of self-control resource had to complete a 15-min color discrimination Stroop task, then perform the operation test, and finally complete the red dot task. The control group participants only needed to complete a simple word recognition task (noncolor noun), then perform the operation test, and, finally, finish the red dot task. The subjective assessment results showed that compared to the subjects in the control group, those in the group with depletion of the self-control resource believed that the task was more difficult; however, the differences in the evaluation of the level of effort by the two groups were not significant. These results might indicate that the subjects in the group of depletion of the self-control resource exhibited more deceptive behaviors or tendencies; however, in the previous task of self-control resource consumption (the Stroop task), the self-control resource was not depleted, and reserves of self-control resources were still available to cope with emergency incidents. Hence, our experiments also support the concept of energy preservation. Individuals fail to control themselves without completely depleting selfcontrol resources, which is then followed by increased deceptive behaviors and tendencies.

Strong Self-Interest Awareness: Preschool Children Are Willing to Share Resources in Unrelated Self-Interest Situations

The results from the non-costly situation in Experiment 1 and all results from the third-party situation in Experiment 2 showed a difference based on age. The non-costly condition of Experiment 1 provided two options, one to participants and zero to the recipients (1/0), or one to participants and one to the recipients (1/1). In the non-costly condition from experiment 1, participants would get 1 resource when they chose either of the two options and could not reduce or threaten their own self-interest. This condition is similar to all situations in experiment 2 since participants were not recipients of resources so that all options were unrelated to their selfinterest. Research (Scharpf et al., 2017) from Uganda, a collective socialist country in Africa, adopted the same paradigm as our study and found that children aged 4-5 and children aged 6-7 also did not display an age difference in sharing. A cross-cultural study (Rochat et al., 2009) supposed that children growing up in a collectivist social culture are more likely to share to benefit others than those brought up in individualistic cultures, regardless of the age of the children. Chinese children live in a collectivist social culture and are educated based on a tradition of sharing and equity. Children aged 3-4 and aged 5-6 were both willing to share with others when sharing did not reduce their self-interest. Young children are sensitive to self-interest, and such self-interest influences children's trust and trustworthiness (Reyes-Jaquez and Echols, 2015). Moreover, self-interest impacts children's prosocial behaviors and decisions (Dietz, 2015; Zlatev and Miller, 2016). The results of this study provided more evidence of children's awareness of self-interest. When under conditions related to self-interest in costly and envy situations, differences based on age appear in children's sharing behaviors. These results may indicate that children aged 3–6 have a very strong awareness of self-interest when sharing resources.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Hunan Normal University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WZ prepared the experimental procedures. WF and HD analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. SX and YS performed

REFERENCES

- Aron, A., Aron, E. N., and Smollan, D. (1992). Inclusion of other in the self scale and the structure of interpersonal closeness. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 63, 596–612. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.63.4.596
- Bauer, M., Cassar, A., Chytilová, J., and Henrich, J. (2014). War's enduring effects on the development of egalitarian motivations and in-group biases. *Psychol. Sci.* 25, 47–57. doi: 10.1177/0956797613493444
- Baumard, N., Mascaro, O., and Chevallier, C. (2012). Preschoolers are able to take merit into account when distributing goods. *Dev. Psychol.* 48, 492–498. doi: 10.1037/a0026598
- Benenson, J. F., Pascoe, J., and Radmore, N. (2007). Children's altruistic behavior in the dictator game. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 28, 168–175. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2016. 07.010
- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. Nature 442:912. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Birch, L. L., and Billman, J. (1986). Preschool children's food sharing with friends and acquaintances. *Child Dev.* 57, 387–395. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1986. tb00038.x
- Blake, P. R., and Mcauliffe, K. (2011). "I had so much it didn't seem fair": Eight-year-olds reject two forms of inequity. *Cognition* 120, 215–224.
- Blake, P. R., Mcauliffe, K., Corbit, J., Callaghan, T. C., Barry, O., Bowie, A., et al. (2015). Data from: the ontogeny of fairness in seven societies. *Nature* 528, 258–261. doi: 10.1038/nature15703
- Blake, P. R., and Rand, D. G. (2010). Currency value moderates equity preference among young children. Evol. Hum. Behav. 31, 210–218.
- Brown, P., Keenan, J. M., and Potts, G. R. (1986). The self-reference effect with imagery encoding. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 51, 897–906.
- Brownell, C. A., Svetlova, M., and Nichols, S. (2009). To share or not to share: when do toddlers respond to another's needs? *Infancy* 14, 117–130.
- Costin, S. E., and Jones, D. C. (1992). Friendship as a facilitator of emotional responsiveness and prosocial interventions among young children. *Dev. Psychol.* 28, 941–947.
- Cowell, J. M., Kang, L., Malcolm-Smith, S., Selcuk, B., Zhou, X., and Decety, J. (2017). The development of generosity and moral cognition across five cultures. *Dev. Sci.* 20, 1–12. doi: 10.1111/desc.12403
- Crittenden, A. N., and Zes, D. A. (2015). Food sharing among hadza hunter-gatherer children. *PLoS One* 10:e0131996. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 131996
- Dietz, T. (2015). Altruism, self-interest, and energy consumption. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 1654–1655.

the experimental procedures and organized participants to the experiments. WZ and MR contributed to the experimental materials. YZ reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31671134), the Hunan Province Philosophy Social Science Project (15YBA268, 16YBQ073, 18YBQ095), the Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province (2018JJ3341 and 2018JJ2254), the Hunan Provincial Department of Education Scientific Research General Project (15C0885, 17C1013, 18A006), the Key Project of the Hunan Provincial Social Science Achievement Review Committee (XSP17ZDI019, XSP18ZDI036). This research was supported by Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, Hunan Normal University (CBL201803). This work also was supported from China Scholarship Council. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Fan, W., Chen, J., Wang, X. Y., Cai, R., Tan, Q., Chen, Y., et al. (2013). Electrophysiological correlation of the degree of self-reference effect. *PLoS One* 8:e80289. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080289
- Farb, N. A. S., Segal, Z. V., Mayberg, H., Bean, J., Mckeon, D., Fatima, Z., et al. (2007). Attending to the present: mindfulness meditation reveals distinct neural modes of self-reference. *Soc. Cogn. Affect Neurosci.* 2, 313–322. doi: 10.1093/ scan/nsm030
- Fehr, E., Bernhard, H., and Rockenbach, B. (2008). Egalitarianism in young children. Nature 454, 1079–1083. doi: 10.1038/nature07155
- Fehr, E., and Schmidt, K. M. (1999). A Theory of Fairness, Competition, and Cooperation. University of Munich: Munich.
- Gasiorowska, A., Chaplin, L. N., Zaleskiewicz, T., Wygrab, S., and Vohs, K. D. (2016). Money cues increase agency and decrease prosociality among children early signs of market-mode behaviors. *Psychol. Sci.* 27, 331–344. doi: 10.1177/ 0956797615620378
- Gerardi-Caulton, G. (2000). Sensitivity to spatial conflict and the development of self-regulation in children 24–36 months of age. *Dev. Sci.* 3, 397–404.
- Gummerum, M., Hanoch, Y., Keller, M., Parsons, K., and Hummel, A. (2010). Preschoolers' allocations in the dictator game: the role of moral emotions. *J. Econ. Psychol.* 31, 25–34.
- Gummerum, M., Keller, M., Takezawa, M., and Mata, J. (2008). To give or not to give: children's and adolescents' sharing and moral negotiations in economic decision situations. *Child Develop*. 79, 562–576. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008. 01143.x.
- Hao, J., Yang, Y., and Wang, Z. (2016). Face-to-Face sharing with strangers and altruistic punishment of acquaintances for strangers: young adolescents exhibit greater altruism than adults. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1512. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016. 01512
- Hart, S. L., and Behrens, K. Y. (2013). Affective and behavioral features of jealousy protest: associations with child temperament, maternal interaction style, and attachment. *Infancy* 18, 369–399.
- Jehn, K. A., and Shah, P. P. (1997). Interpersonal relationships and task performance: an examination of mediation processes in friendship and acquaintance groups. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 72, 775–790.
- Jordan, J. J., McAuliffe, K., and Warneken, F. (2014). Development of in-group favoritism in children's third-party punishment of selfishness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 111, 12710–12715. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402280111
- Kanngiesser, P., and Warneken, F. (2012). Young children consider merit when sharing resources with others. *PLoS One* 7:e43979. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0043979

- Kenward, B., and Dahl, M. (2011). Preschoolers distribute scarce resources according to the moral valence of recipients' previous actions. *Dev. Psychol.* 47, 1054–1064. doi: 10.1037/a0023869
- Kenward, B., Hellmer, K., Winter, L. S., and Eriksson, M. (2015). Four-yearolds' strategic allocation of resources: attempts to elicit reciprocation correlate negatively with spontaneous helping. *Cognition* 136, 1–8.
- Klein, S. B., Loftus, J., and Schell, T. (1994). Repeated testing: a technique for assessing the roles of elaborative and organizational processing in the representation of social knowledge. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 66, 830–839.
- Kogut, T., Slovic, P., and Västfjäll, D. (2015). The effect of recipient identifiability and neediness on children's sharing behavior. J. Behav. Decis. Mak. 12, 33–59.
- Lobue, V., Nishida, T., Chiong, C., Deloache, J. S., and Haidt, J. (2011). When getting something good is bad: even three-year-olds react to inequality. *Soc. Dev.* 20, 154–170.
- Lu, H. J., and Chang, L. (2016). Resource allocation to kin, friends, and strangers by 3- to 6-year-old children. J. Exp. Child. Psychol. 150, 194–206. doi: 10.1016/j. jecp.2016.05.018
- Malti, T., Gummerum, M., Ongley, S., Chaparro, M., Nola, M., and Bae, N. Y. (2016). Who is worthy of my generosity?" recipient characteristics and the development of children's sharing. *Int. J Behav. Dev.* 40, 31–40.
- Markovits, H., Benenson, J. F., and Kramer, D. L. (2003). Children and adolescents' internal models of food-sharing behavior include complex evaluations of contextual factors. *Child Dev.* 74, 1697–1708.
- Masciuch, S., and Kienapple, K. (1993). The emergence of jealousy in children 4 months to 7 years of age. J. Soc. Pers. Relat. 10, 421–435.
- Mei Haibo (2013). Self-Referential Effect of Three-Year-Old Children and Familiarity with Other People's Reference Effects. Haidian: Peking University.
- Mize, K. D., Pineda, M., Blau, A. K., Marsh, K., and Jones, N. A. (2014). Infant physiological and behavioral responses to a jealousy provoking condition. *Infancy* 19, 338–348.
- Moore, C. (2009). Fairness in children's resource allocation depends on the recipient. *Psychol. Sci.* 20, 944–948. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02378.x
- Mulvey, K. L., Buchheister, K., and McGrath, K. (2016). Evaluations of intergroup resource allocations: the role of theory of mind. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 142, 203–211. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2015.10.002
- Muraven, M., Shmueli, D., and Burkley, E. (2006). Conserving self-control strength. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 91, 524–537. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.3.524
- Muraven, M., Tice, D. M., and Baumeister, R. F. (1998). Self-control as a limited resource: regulatory depletion patterns. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 774–789. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.3.774
- Newcomb, A. F., and Bagwell, C. L. (1995). Children's friendship relations: a meta-analytic review. Psychol. Bull. 117, 306–347.
- Olson, K. R., and Spelke, E. S. (2008). Foundations of cooperation in young children. *Cognition* 108, 222–231. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2007.12.003
- Pappert, A. T., Williams, A., and Moore, C. (2016). The influence of competition on resource allocation in preschool children. Soc. Dev. 26, 367–381.
- Paulus, M. (2016a). Friendship trumps neediness: the impact of social relations and others' wealth on preschool children's sharing. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 146, 106–120. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2016.02.001
- Paulus, M. (2016b). It's payback time: preschoolers selectively request resources from someone they had benefitted. *Dev. Psychol.* 52, 1299–1306. doi: 10.1037/ dev0000150
- Paulus, M., Gillis, S., Li, J., and Moore, C. (2013). Preschool children involve a third party in a dyadic sharing situation based on fairness. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 116, 78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2012.12.014
- Paulus, M., Licata, M., Kristen, S., Thoermer, C., Woodward, A., and Sodian, B. (2015). Social understanding and self-regulation predict pre-schoolers' sharing with friends and disliked peers: a longitudinal study. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 39, 53–64.
- Paulus, M., and Moore, C. (2014). The development of recipient-dependent sharing behavior and sharing expectations in preschool children. *Dev. Psychol.* 50, 914–921. doi: 10.1037/a0034169
- Rao, N., and Stewart, S. M. (1999). Cultural influences on sharer and recipient behavior: sharing in Chinese and Indian preschool children. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 30, 219–241.
- Reyes-Jaquez, B., and Echols, C. H. (2015). Playing by the rules: self-interest information influences children's trust and trustworthiness in the absence of feedback. *Cognition* 134, 140–154. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2014.10.002

- Rochat, P., Dias, M. D. G., Guo, L., Broesch, T., Passos-Ferreira, C., Winning, A., et al. (2009). Fairness in distributive justice by 3- and 5-year-olds across seven cultures. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 40, 416–442.
- Rogers, T. B., Kuiper, N. A., and Kirker, W. S. (1977). Self-reference and the encoding of personal information. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 35, 677–688.
- Scharpf, F., Paulus, M., and Wörle, M. (2016). The impact of social relationships on Ugandan children's sharing decisions. *Eur. J. Dev Psychol.* 14, 436–448.
- Scharpf, F., Paulus, M., and Wörle, M. (2017). The impact of social relationships on Ugandan children's sharing decisions. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* 14, 436–448.
- Shaw, A., Montinari, N., Piovesan, M., Olson, K. R., Gino, F., and Norton, M. I. (2014). Children develop a veil of fairness. J. Exp Psychol. Gen. 143:363. doi: 10.1037/a0031247
- Shaw, A., and Olson, K. R. (2012). Children discard a resource to avoid inequity. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 141:382. doi: 10.1037/a0025907
- Sheskin, M., Bloom, P., and Wynn, K. (2014). Anti-equality: social comparison in young children. *Cognition* 130, 152–156. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2013.10.008
- Sheskin, M., Nadal, A., Croom, A., Mayer, T., Nissel, J., and Bloom, P. (2016). Some equalities are more equal than others: quality equality emerges later than numerical equality. *Child Dev.* 87, 1520–1528. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12544
- Smith, C. E., Blake, P. R., and Harris, P. L. (2013). I should but I won't: why young children endorse norms of fair sharing but do not follow them. *PLoS* One 8:e59510. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059510
- Sparks, E., Schinkel, M. G., and Moore, C. (2017). Affiliation affects generosity in young children: the roles of minimal group membership and shared interests. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* 159, 242–262. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2017.02.007
- Steinbeis, N., and Over, H. (2017). Enhancing behavioral control increases sharing in children. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 159, 310–318. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2017.02.001
- Steinbeis, N., and Singer, T. (2013). The effects of social comparison on social emotions and behavior during childhood: the ontogeny of envy and Schadenfreude predicts developmental changes in equity-related decisions. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 115, 198–209. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2012. 11.009
- Sui, J., and Zhu, Y. (2005). Five-year-olds can show the self-reference advantage. Int. J. Behav. Dev. 29, 382–387.
- Svetlova, M., Nichols, S. R., and Brownell, C. A. (2010). Toddlers' prosocial behavior: from instrumental to empathic to altruistic helping. *Child Dev.* 81:1814. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01512.x
- Symons, C. S., and Johnson, B. T. (1997). The self-reference effect in memory: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 121, 371–394.
- Tan, Q., Zhan, Y., Gao, S., Fan, W., Chen, J., and Zhong, Y. (2015). Closer the relatives are, more intimate and similar we are: kinship effects on self-other overlap. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 73, 7–11.
- Thibaut, J. W. (2017). The Social Psychology of Groups. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Thompson, C., Barresi, J., and Moore, C. (1997). The development of futureoriented prudence and altruism in preschoolers. *Cogn. Dev.* 12, 199–212.
- Tyler, J. M., and Burns, K. C. (2008). After depletion: the replenishment of the self's regulatory resources. *Self Identity* 7, 305–321. doi: 10.1002/ijop. 12235
- Tyler, J. M., and Burns, K. C. (2009). Triggering conservation of the self's regulatory resources. *Basic Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 31, 255–266. doi: 10.1080/ 01973530903058490
- Ugurel-Semin, R. (1952). Moral behavior and moral judgment of children. J Abnorm. Psychol. 47 (Suppl.2), 463-474.
- Wilkening, F. (2009). Children's and adolescents' intuitive judgements about distributive justice: integrating need, effort, and luck. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* 6, 481–498.
- Williams, A., O'Driscoll, K., and Moore, C. (2014). The influence of empathic concern on prosocial behavior in children. *Front. Psychol.* 5:425. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2014.00425
- Wood, W., Pool, G. J., Leck, K., and Purvis, D. (1996). Self-definition, defensive processing, and influence: the normative impact of majority and minority groups. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 71, 1181–1193.
- Xiong, M., Shi, J., Wu, Z., and Zhang, Z. (2016). Five-year-old preschoolers' sharing is influenced by anticipated reciprocation. *Front. Psychol.* 7:460. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.00460
- Zhong, Y., Yang, Z., and Fan, W. (2015). The influence of self-others' overlap on helping people's behavior: the role of perspective selection. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 47, 1050–1057.

- Zhou, H., Guo, J., Ma, X., Zhang, M., Liu, L., Feng, L., et al. (2017). Self-reference emerges earlier than emotion during an implicit self-referential emotion processing task: event-related potential evidence. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 11:451. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00451
- Zhou, A., Liu, P., Shi, Z., Zhang, P., Wu, H., and Li, Q. (2010). Selfreferential effect of four-year-old children. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 26, 239-244.
- Zlatev, J. J., and Miller, D. T. (2016). Selfishly benevolent or benevolently selfish: when self-interest undermines versus promotes prosocial behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum Decis. Process. 137, 112–122.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhang, Xiang, Dai, Ren, Shen, Fan and Zhong. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Moderation Effect of Self-Enhancement on the Group-Reference Effect

Ruixue Xia^{1,2}, Wanru Su^{1,2}, Fangping Wang^{1,2}, Shifeng Li^{1,2*}, Aibao Zhou^{1,2*} and Dong Lyu³

¹ School of Psychology, Northwest Normal University, Lanzhou, China, ² Key Laboratory of Behavioral and Mental Health of Gansu Province, Lanzhou, China, ³ Department of Social Sciences and Psychology, Baku State University, Baku, Azerbaijan

Previous studies have documented that people tend to respond faster and memorize better to the in-group traits. It may be particularly manifest for ethnic minorities, due to their salient ethnic identity. However, few studies have explored how the valence of traits modulates the in-group preference effect. The present study examined the impacts of ethnic identity salience and the valence of traits on the group-preference effect among 33 Han Chinese in a Tibetan-dominant area and 32 Tibetan participants in a Han-dominant area. Two weeks before the experiment, we measured the ethnic identity salience of participants in both groups. In the formal experiment, we used the group-reference effect (GRE) paradigm with three encoding tasks. The results showed that, regardless of whether ethnic identity was salient, both groups responded faster to positive traits than to negative traits when evaluating their own group, whereas there were no significant difference between the processing of positive traits and negative traits in the out-group evaluation and font judgment tasks. This suggested a pervasive processing advantage of the in-group positive characteristics. The results imply that self-enhancement motivation had a moderation effect on the GRE, as well as the ethnic identity salience may not be necessary for a GRE.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei Fan, Hunan Normal University, China

Reviewed by:

Xiaoyan Wang, East China Normal University, China Chao Liu, Beijing Normal University, China Annelie Rothe-Wulf, University of Freiburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Shifeng Li lishifeng1988@126.com Aibao Zhou zhoulabpapers@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 03 March 2019 Accepted: 07 June 2019 Published: 26 June 2019

Citation:

Xia R, Su W, Wang F, Li S, Zhou A and Lyu D (2019) The Moderation Effect of Self-Enhancement on the Group-Reference Effect. Front. Psychol. 10:1463. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01463 Keywords: group-reference effect, self-enhancement motivation, social identity, ethnic minorities, salience

INTRODUCTION

Research on the self can be traced back to the age of ancient Greece. According to Turner et al. (1987), the self-concept includes three basic components: the individual self, the relational self, and the collective self. The collective self reflects the individual's social identity at the group level. A number of studies have reported that the individual's social identity may have an impact on how people process information that is related to themselves, e.g., face recognition (Anastasi and Rhodes, 2005; Chiao et al., 2006; Ng et al., 2015; Marsh et al., 2016) and attitudes toward their in-group (Yang et al., 2008; Li H. et al., 2016).

The group-reference effect (GRE) is a kind of processing advantage (e.g., better memory performance, faster reaction time) to the in-group stimuli over the out-group stimuli (Greenwald et al., 1998, 2003; Johnson et al., 2002; Bennett et al., 2010). The in-group is an extension of the self, and people tend to think of themselves as being similar to their in-group (Smith and Henry, 1996). Therefore, individuals may tend to base in-group judgments on the self (Cadinu and Rothbart, 1996).

Ethnic identity is one of the representative identities that an individual can hold. Existing research has shown that ethnic identity can induce the GRE and result in better recognition

80

performance (Mamat et al., 2014). Some studies have also demonstrated that the GRE was more obvious when considered in the context of the salience of the ethnic identity. For example, when Tibetans move to a Han Chinese dominant area, their identity would be highly salient. Therefore, a significant in-group (ethnic) memory advantage was observed; however, no such effect was observed for the Han Chinese, who were already dominant in the area (Yang et al., 2008). A study with Tibetan students who lived in a predominantly Tibetan area showed that when ethnic identity was primed, a significant in-group effect on memory performance was present (Li H. et al., 2016). These findings demonstrated that ethnic identity could induce the GRE, and it might be modulated by the salience of the individual's ethnic identity. Therefore, the first aim of the present study was to replicate the modulation effect of the salience of ethnic identity on GRE in Tibetan and Han Chinese who lived where their ethnicity was not dominant.

Based on self-enhancement viewpoints, individuals tend to think that they and their in-group have better personality traits than others and out-groups (Sedikides and Gregg, 2008; Alicke and Sedikides, 2009; Sedikides and Alicke, 2012) while sorting the combination of self/other and positive/negative traits (Brown, 1986; Dunning et al., 1989; Gebauer et al., 2012). Thus, positive traits would be integrated quickly and automatically into the self-concept or the in-group concept. Meanwhile, negative traits would be excluded from the self-concept or the in-group concept (Watson et al., 2007; Cai et al., 2016). This self-enhancement effect can be observed even without any explicit requirement for self-referential appraisal (Herbert et al., 2011). Therefore, people may process positive traits and negative traits differently in the GRE paradigm. However, most studies on GRE did not differentiate the valances of traits. The second aim of the present study was to explore how self-enhancement influences the GRE and examine the interaction between self-enhancement and the salience of ethnic identity.

In the present study, we examined the effect of ethnic identity salience and the valence of the traits on GRE in two groups of participants. One group was Han Chinese, which came from a Tibetan dominant area, the other group was Tibetan, which came from a Han Chinese dominant area. Most studies have used memory performance as the GRE index (Johnson et al., 2002; Yang and Huang, 2007; Bennett et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016). However, in the present study we used reaction times (RT) as the GRE index. RT have been well documented as sensitive in differentiating between the in-group's and out-group's attitudes and cognitive processing (Greenwald et al., 2003; Cai et al., 2016). We expected that the GRE effect would primarily occur in positive trait judgments and would be modulated by self-enhancement.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Thirty-two Tibetan students (17 female and 15 male, Mean age = 20.25 years, SD = 1.34) were recruited from Northwest Normal University and thirty-three Han Chinese students

(23 female and 10 male, mean age = 22.56 years, SD = 0.77) were recruited from Gansu Normal University for Nationalities. All participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and no participants had any prior experience with this study. All students were paid for their participation. The scientific and research Ethics Committee of the School of Psychology, Northwest Normal University approved the experimental protocol, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the study. The participants were free to withdraw at any point in the experiment without penalty. If, for any reason, they did not feel comfortable during this study, they could leave the laboratory. Participants were informed that all information they provided would remain confidential and would not be associated with their name. The experiment lasted for approximately 30 min, and participants received feedback regarding their results after they completed the tasks.

Experimental Design

A 3 (encoding task: Han Chinese vs. Tibetan vs. font) \times 2 (valence: positive vs. negative) \times 2 (ethnic group: Tibetan vs. Han Chinese) mixed experimental design was conducted, with both encoding task and valence as within-subjects variables, and ethnic group as a between-subjects variable. Reaction time was the dependent variable.

Stimulus Material

The stimuli of the current study included 126 (half positive and half negative) personality trait adjectives. The participants first practiced the task with six words (three positive and three negative). The remained 120 words were used in the formal experimental task. The adjectives were selected from existing studies (Zhou et al., 2013; Li S. et al., 2016). All selected words were two-character trait adjectives. We matched the familiarity $(M_{\rm pos.}=5.69,~SD=0.94,~M_{\rm neg.}=5.68,~SD=1.23),$ frequency $(M_{\rm pos.}=22.52$ per million, $M_{\rm neg.}=20.63$ per million) and the number of strokes ($M_{pos.} = 16.52$, SD = 3.73, $M_{neg.} = 17.30$, SD = 4.51) of the words. *T*-test showed no significant differences between the positive and negative words on the three dimensions (ps > 0.05). Moreover, the valence of words ($M_{pos.} = 5.12$, SD = 0.64, $M_{\text{neg.}} = 2.24$, SD = 0.62) differed significantly between the positive and negative words (p < 0.05). In order to avoid mutual interference between the various encoding tasks, each word was presented only once across all judgment tasks. Each word was randomly assigned to one encoding tasks for each participant. 63 positive and 63 negative trait adjectives were evenly distributed across the three encoding tasks.

Experimental Tasks

Participants were asked to perform three encoding tasks, respectively, the in-group encoding task, the out-group encoding task, and the font structure judgment task. In the in-group and the out-group encoding tasks, the participants were asked to make judgments on whether the trait words presented on the screen appropriately described people of their own or another ethnic group. For the Tibetan participants, judgments of Han Chinese was the out-group encoding task; for the Han Chinese, judgments of the Tibetans was the out-group encoding task. As a

	Tibetan en	coding task	Han Chines	e encoding task	Font struc	ture task
	М	SD	м	SD	М	SD
Tibetan	1537.79	69.95	1726.67	71.46	1661.14	66.75
Han Chinese	1534.29	68.88	1417.78	70.37	1503.82	65.73

TABLE 1 | The mean scores and standard deviance of Reaction time (ms) in three encoding tasks for Tibetan and Han Chinese.

control condition, the participants were asked to judge the words' font structure (Are there characters with left-right structure?). Participants responded to each of the stimuli by pressing the appropriate keys. The keys for each of the participants were counterbalanced. Half of the participants were instructed to press "f" for "yes" and "j" for "no," while the other half were given the opposite instructions. All stimuli were randomly presented.

Procedure

Two weeks before the experiment all participants were asked to complete the Twenty Statements Test (Kuhn and Mcpartland, 1954). This test is often used to examine whether one's ethnic identity is salient in their self-schema. The more salient the ethnic identity, the more likely it is to be mentioned (Yang et al., 2008).

Before the formal experimental task, each of the participants performed a six-trial (two trials for each encoding task) practice. The six trials were identical to the formal experimental tasks. The participants' reaction time to the practice trials were not included in the data analysis. Each trial started with a fixation cross at the center of the screen for 500 ms and a follow-up blank screen for 250 ms. Next, a trait adjective was presented together with a label for the current encoding tasks (Han Chinese, Tibetan, or font) above it until the subject made a response. Three encoding tasks were randomly distributed in each of the trials. Then a blank screen showed up for 500 ms before the next trial. The stimuli procedure were programed and presented using E-Prime 2.0. The data were analyzed using the SPSS 21.0.

RESULTS

Ethnic Identity Salience

Tibetan participants showed higher ethnic identity salience than Han participants. In the Twenty Statements Test (Kuhn and Mcpartland, 1954), 29 of the 32 Tibetan participants mentioned their own ethnic identity, such as "I am a Tibetan" or "I am from Tibet." However, only 5 of 33 Han participants mentioned their own ethnic identity, χ^2 (1, N = 65) = 37.10, p < 0.001.

Reaction Times

Responses were scored if the appropriate key was pressed between 300 and 3000 ms after the adjective was displayed on the screen. A mixed measures ANOVA was conducted with encoding task and valence as within-subject variables and ethnic group as a between-subjects variable. The results showed that the main effects of encoding task, ethnic group, and valence were not significant Fs < 2.94, ps > 0.05. Also, the interactions between

encoding task and valence, and ethnic group and valence were also not significant, Fs < 2.13, ps > 0.05.

However, there was a significant interaction between encoding task and ethnic group, $F_{(2,63)} = 13.59$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.18$. A simple effects analysis showed that the trait judgment for the in-group was significantly faster than that for out-group (Bonferroni-corrected ps < 0.001, Cohen's $ds \ge 1.67$) for both Tibetans and Han Chinese, and Tibetans also responded faster for the in-group encoding task than for the font encoding task (Bonferroni-corrected p < 0.01, Cohen's d = 1.80). Whereas there was no significant difference between the out-group and the font encoding tasks ($ps \ge 0.13$) (shown in **Table 1** and **Figure 1**). These results suggest that both Tibetan and Han Chinese exhibited the advantage effect of the in-group reference processing.

Importantly, the results also revealed a significant three-way interaction for encoding task, valence, and ethnic group, $F_{(2,63)} = 5.96$, p < 0.01, $\eta^2_p = 0.09$. A simple effects analysis comparing valences indicated that for both Tibetans and Han Chinese, participants showed faster RT for the in-group positive traits than that for negative traits (ps < 0.05, Cohen's $ds \ge 0.97$). However, there was no significant difference for trait valence both in the out-group (ps > 0.05) and the font encoding tasks (ps > 0.05). These results suggested that the processing superiority effect on the in-group positive traits was apparent for both Tibetans and Han Chinese (shown in **Table 2** and **Figure 2**).

Another simple effects analysis of comparing encoding tasks also showed that for both Tibetans and Han Chinese, judgments for the in-group positive characteristics were significantly faster than that for the out-group characteristics (Bonferroni-corrected



	Ĩ	ibetan enc	libetan encoding task				Han	Chinese (Han Chinese encoding task	×			_	Font structure task	ture task			
	Positive	tive	Negative	tive	٩	q	Positive	ve	Negative	ive	٩	q	Positive	ive	Negative	ive	٩	q
	W	SD	W	SD			W	SD	W	SD			W	SD	W	SD		
Tibetan	1502.88	71.94	1572.71	72.06	0.045	-0.97	-0.97 1722.46	69.49	1730.88 7	78.7	0.082		1688.78	66.04	1633.49	71.50	0.104	0.80
Han Chinese	1549.33	70.85	1519.24	70.95	0.374	0.42 1	1365.43	68.43	1470.12	76.68	0.005	-1.44	1486.24	65.03	1521.39	70.41	0.291	-0.52

ps < 0.001, Cohen's $ds \ge 2.64$) and the font encoding task (Bonferroni-corrected $ps \le 0.01$, Cohen's $ds \ge 1.81$), and no significant differences between the font and out-group encoding tasks were observed ($ps \ge 0.24$). For the negative characteristics, Han Chinese showed no significant difference among three encoding tasks for in-group, out-group and font ($ps \ge 0.26$), however, Tibetan participants showed faster RT in the in-group encoding tasks than in the out-group tasks (Bonferroni-corrected p = 0.001, Cohen's d = 2.11).

Finally, due to the significant difference of salience of ethnic identity that was found between Tibetan and Han Chinese, we repeated the analyses of reaction time with ethnic identity salience as a covariate variable and similar results were obtained with and without ethnic identity salience in the analyses.

DISCUSSION

The current study explored how self-enhancement motivation and the salience of ethnic identity affected GRE among Tibetan and Han Chinese groups at two universities. Firstly, the results indicated that Tibetan participants had stronger ethnic identity salience than Han Chinese participants, even though Tibetan participants were in a Han Chinese dominant area and the Han Chinese participants were in a Tibetan dominant area. Both groups demonstrated significantly faster RT under the in-group encoding task in comparison to the out-group encoding and font encoding tasks. This was the case regardless of ethnic identity salience and confirmed the existence of the GRE. Most importantly, both Tibetans and Han Chinese exhibited faster RT when judging positive traits, rather than negative traits, in the in-group encoding task. However, in the out-group and the font encoding tasks, no such valence effect was observed. These findings suggested that self-enhancement motivation modulates the GRE.

In the present study, Tibetan participants exhibited higher ethnic identity salience than did the Han Chinese students. These results are consistent with previous findings on ethnic identity for Tibetan groups (Yang et al., 2008; Li H. et al., 2016). The present study's Tibetan participants came from a predominantly Han Chinese university and the Han Chinese participants came from a predominantly Tibetan university. However, Han Chinese is considered the default ethnic category in China, due to being the majority ethnicity, and is seldom reflected upon by its members (Yang et al., 2008), and ethnic identity may not be as salient in the Han Chinese self-concept in comparison to the Tibetan self-concept (Mamat et al., 2014; Li H. et al., 2016). Since Tibetan is an ethnic minority group in China, Tibetan students living in a Han Chinese dominant area may frequently confront issues surrounding their ethnic identity. Thus, ethnic identity may be a salient characteristic of their overall self-concept (Li H. et al., 2016). Illustrating this salience in other groups, Mcguire et al. (1978) demonstrated that Black ethnic minorities in the United States of America spontaneously mentioned their ethnicity when asked to answer the question "Who am I?" Therefore, ethnic identity being

rable 2 | The mean scores and standard deviance of Reaction time (ms) of positive and negative adjective in three encoding tasks for Tibetan and Han Chinese



a salient characteristic within the self-concept of minority groups is an over-arching phenomenon and not specific to the Tibetan population.

Regardless of the salience of their ethnic identity, both Tibetans and Han Chinese showed significant GRE in the present study. These results are congruent with previous studies on GRE (Johnson et al., 2002; Bennett et al., 2010). For example, Bennett et al. (2010) reported that in-group referential recall was significantly greater than out-group referential recall. The collective identities (e.g., ethnic) provide a useful organizational framework, which would facilitate memory due to the organizational, elaborative, mental cueing, or evaluative properties of the group-reference encoding task, or the combination of these characteristics (Johnson et al., 2002). The present study further showed that such organizational framework would also facilitate the categorization of the in-group information. However, our results were inconsistent with those of Yang et al. (2008) and Li H. et al. (2016), which demonstrated that Han Chinese participants did not show a significant GRE. One possible explanation for this inconsistency may be the use of a different index in the present and previous studies (Johnson et al., 2002; Bennett et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016). In contrast to using memory performance, as done by Yang et al. (2008) and Li H. et al. (2016), RT is a more sensitive index for categorizing and measuring inter-group attitudes

(Greenwald et al., 2003; Watson et al., 2007; Gebauer et al., 2012). The present study used RT rather than memory performance and found that Han Chinese participants also showed a significant GRE. This suggested that extrinsic ethnic identity salience might not be a necessary condition for inducing the GRE. It should be noted that the group descriptiveness task itself may highlight ethnic identity and make in-group membership very salient and relevant on a situational level. This may also have contributed to the GRE observed for the two groups in the present study. Further studies are needed to examine whether the GRE depends on which index is used. Also, future studies should use an implicit task to examine how ethnic identity salience affects the GRE.

The present results showed that GRE was modulated by the self-enhancement motivation. Both Tibetans and Han Chinese showed faster judgments for the in-group positive traits than that for negative traits. However, this tendency toward positive response priority was not found in the out-group encoding task or the font encoding task. These results suggested that individuals tend to integrate positive traits more easily than negative traits into their in-group members (Dasgupta, 2004). This tendency of more easily recognizing positive personality characteristics of one's own ethnic group may satisfy their needs for self-enhancement and self-esteem (Sedikides et al., 2013). The pursuit of self-enhancement, which is prevalent across persons, groups, nations, and cultures, promotes and helps to

maintain a positive self-schema (Hepper et al., 2013). Such self-enhancement motivation would lead to the individuals' evaluating their own membership group as more favorable (e.g., inter-group bias), and, sometimes, even to derogate the out-group (e.g., group-serving bias). In-group preference is an essential human characteristic, and in-group favoritism is a form of self-identification (Tajfel and Turner, 1986). People tend to evaluate in-group members more positively, thereby validate their own cultural worldview (Hewstone et al., 2002; Sedikides et al., 2013). Therefore, in-group preference plays an important role in individual survival and social adaptation. An interesting outcome of the present study was that the Tibetan participants responded faster to the negative traits in the in-group encoding task than to those in the out-group or the font encoding tasks. A possible explanation may be that the faster responses to negative traits by Tibetan participant means that they tend to avoid the in-group negative information as quickly as possible. This may further confirm the self-enhancement/self-protection effect.

CONCLUSION

In summary, the present study expanded the findings of the previous research by demonstrating that self-enhancement motivation moderates the GRE. That is, ethnic identity salience may not be necessary for GRE when self-enhancement is considered. Further research should verify the effect of self-enhancement motivation on GRE in different paradigms (explicit vs. implicit) and different contexts (dominant groups vs. non-dominant groups), and examine the different indicators (reaction time vs. memory performance) of GRE.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the Supplementary Files.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The School of Psychology, Northwest Normal University, 967 East Anning Road, Lanzhou, 730070, China. Tel.: +86-0931-7975316.

PROTOCOL

(1) Introduction

Previous studies have documented that people tend to respond faster and memorize in-group traits better. This process of superiority is called the group-reference effect (GRE). It may be particularly manifest for ethnic minorities, due to their salient ethnic identity. However, few studies have explored how the valence of traits may modulate this in-group preference effect. According to self-enhancement motivation theory, individuals may only show preference for positive traits rather than negative traits.

(2) Ethical issues

- 1. In this study we will ask participants to watch the picture on computer screen and make a button response.
- 2. If participants agree to participate, they are free to withdraw at any time throughout the duration of the experiment without any penalty.
- 3. During the study if the participants feel uncomfortable, they may leave the laboratory and participants' information will be discarded.
- 4. All information participants provide will remain confidential and will not be associated with participants' name.
- 5. This study will last for approximately 30 min.
- 6. Participants were informed of their rights and were free to ask any questions concerning the research.
- 7. If participants can finish all the experiments, he or she may obtain financial compensation.
- 8. If participants have any further questions concerning this study please feel free to contact us.

(3) Objectives

We expected that the GRE effect would primarily occur in positive trait judgment and would be motivated by self-enhancement.

(4) Enrollment Procedures

By posting ads on campus, recruit the participant.

(5) What is collected?

(5.1) Behavioral results:

According to the button responses of subjects, record Reaction Times.

Contact:

Researcher: Wanru Su Email address: 2514439660@qq.com Tel.: +86-15101210805 Supervisor: AiBao Zhou Email address: zhouab@nwnu.edu. Tel.: +86-0931-7975075

The scientific and research Ethics Committee of the School of Psychology, NWNU.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AZ conceived the research. RX participated in writing the manuscript. WS participated in performing the research. FW participated in reviewing the literatures. DL participated in making the figures and tables. SL participated in modifying the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Humanities and Social Science Youth Project of Ministry of Education in China (14XJC190005), the Science and Technology Project of Gansu Province (18JR3RA082).

REFERENCES

- Alicke, M. D., and Sedikides, C. (2009). Self-enhancement and self-protection: what they are and what they do. *Eur. Rev. Soc. Psychol.* 20, 1–48. doi: 10.1080/ 10463280802613866
- Anastasi, J. S., and Rhodes, M. G. (2005). An own-age bias in face recognition for children and older adults. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 12, 1043–1047. doi: 10.3758/ bf03206441
- Bennett, M., Allan, S., Anderson, J., and Asker, N. (2010). On the robustness of the group reference effect. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 40, 349–354. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.630
- Brown, J. D. (1986). Evaluations of self and others: self-enhancement biases in social judgments. Soc. Cogn. 4, 353–376. doi: 10.1521/soco.1986.4.4.353
- Cadinu, M. R., and Rothbart, M. (1996). Self-anchoring and differentiation processes in the minimal group setting. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 70, 661–677. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.70.4.661
- Cai, H., Wu, L., Shi, Y., Gu, R., and Sedikides, C. (2016). Self-enhancement among Westerners and Easterners: a cultural neuroscience approach. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 11, 1569–1578. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw072
- Chiao, J. Y., Heck, H. E., Nakayama, K., and Ambady, N. (2006). Priming race in biracial observers affects visual search for Black and White faces. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 387–392. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01717.x
- Dasgupta, N. (2004). Implicit ingroup favoritism, outgroup favoritism, and their behavioral manifestations. Soc. Justice Res. 17, 143–169. doi: 10.1023/b:sore. 0000027407.70241.15
- Dunning, D., Meyerowitz, J. A., and Holzberg, A. D. (1989). Ambiguity and selfevaluation: the role of idiosyncratic trait definitions in self-serving assessments of ability. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 57, 1082–1090. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.57.6. 1082
- Gebauer, J. E., Göritz, A. S., Wilhelm, H., and Constantine, S. (2012). Self-Love or other-love? Explicit other-preference but implicit self-preference. *PLoS One* 7:e41789. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041789
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., and Schwartz, J. L. K. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 74, 1464–1480. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.6. 1464
- Greenwald, A. G., Nosek, B. A., and Banaji, M. R. (2003). Understanding and using the implicit association test: I. An improved scoring algorithm. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 85, 197–216. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.197
- Hepper, E. G., Sedikides, C., and Cai, H. (2013). Self-Enhancement and self-protection strategies in China: cultural expressions of a fundamental human motive. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 44, 5–23. doi: 10.1177/002202211142 8515
- Herbert, C., Pauli, P., and Herbert, B. M. (2011). Self-reference modulates the processing of emotional stimuli in the absence of explicit self-referential appraisal instructions. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 6, 653–661. doi: 10.1093/ scan/nsq082
- Hewstone, M., Rubin, M., and Willis, H. (2002). Intergroup bias. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 53, 575–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135109
- Johnson, C., Gadon, O., Carlson, D., Southwick, S., Faith, M., and Chalfin, J. (2002). Self-reference and group membership: evidence for a group-reference effect. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 32, 261–274. doi: 10.1002/ ejsp.83
- Kuhn, M. H., and Mcpartland, T. S. (1954). An empirical investigation of selfattitudes. Am. Sociol. Rev. 19, 68–76. doi: 10.2307/2088175
- Lee, H. N., Rosa, N. M., and Gutchess, A. H. (2016). Ageing and the groupreference effect in memory. *Memory* 24, 746–756. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2015. 1049184
- Li, H., Wang, E. X., Jin, S., and Wu, S. (2016). Ethnic identity salience improves recognition memory in tibetan students via priming. *Cult. Divers. Ethn. Minor. Psychol.* 22, 229–236. doi: 10.1037/cdp0000051

- Li, S., Xu, K., Xu, Q., Xia, R., Ren, D., and Zhou, A. (2016). Positive bias in self-appraisals from friend's perspective: an event-related potential study. *Neuroreport* 27, 694–698. doi: 10.1097/WNR.000000000000599
- Liu, Z., Wu, L., and Hou, C. (2015). Social identity: the cause of distinction between group-reference and self-reference effects. Soc. Behav. Personal. Int. J. 43, 1409–1418. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2015.43.9.1409
- Mamat, M., Huang, W., Shang, R., Zhang, T., Li, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2014). Relational self versus collective self: a cross-cultural study in interdependent self-construal between Han and Uyghur in China. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 45, 959–970. doi: 10.1177/0022022114530558
- Marsh, B. U., Pezdek, K., and Ozery, D. H. (2016). The cross-race effect in face recognition memory by bicultural individuals. *Acta Psychol.* 169, 38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2016.05.003
- Mcguire, W. J., Mcguire, C. V., Child, P., and Fujioka, T. (1978). Salience of ethnicity in the spontaneous self-concept as a function of one's ethnic distinctiveness in the social environment. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 36, 511–520. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.36.5.511
- Ng, A. H., Steele, J. R., Sasaki, J. Y., Sakamoto, Y., and Williams, A. (2015). Culture moderates the relationship between interdependence and face recognition. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1620. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01620
- Sedikides, C., and Alicke, M. D. (2012). "Self-enhancement and self-protection motives," in Oxford handbook of Motivation, ed. R. M. Ryan (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195399820.013.0017
- Sedikides, C., Gaertner, L., Luke, M. A., O'Mara, E. M., and Gebauer, J. (2013). A three-tier hierarchy of motivational self-potency: individual self, relational self, collective self. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 48, 235–296. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407188-9.00005-3
- Sedikides, C., and Gregg, A. P. (2008). Self-enhancement: food for thought. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 3, 102–116. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2008.00068.x
- Smith, E., and Henry, S. (1996). An in-group becomes part of the self: response time evidence. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 22, 635–642. doi: 10.1177/ 0146167296226008
- Tajfel, H., and Turner, J. C. (1986). The social identity theory of intergroup behavior. *Psychol. Intergroup Relat.* 13, 7–24.
- Turner, J. C., Hogg, M. A., Oakes, P. J., Reicher, S. D., and Wetherell, M. S. (1987). Rediscovering the social group: a self-categorization theory. *Br. J. Soc. Psychol.* 26, 347–348. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8309.1987.tb00799.x
- Watson, L. A., Dritschel, B., Obonsawin, M. C., and Jentzsch, I. (2007). Seeing yourself in a positive light: brain correlates of the self-positivity bias. *Brain Res.* 1152, 106–110. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.03.049
- Yang, H., and Huang, X. (2007). Group-reference effect in chinese. Acta Psychol. Sin. 39, 235–241.
- Yang, H., Liao, Q., and Huang, X. (2008). Minorities remember more: the effect of social identity salience on group-referent memory. *Memory* 16, 910–917. doi: 10.1080/09658210802360629
- Zhou, A., Li, S., Herbert, C., Xia, R., Xu, K., Xu, Q., et al. (2013). Perspective taking modulates positivity bias in self-appraisals: behavioral and event-related potential evidence. *Soc. Neurosci.* 8, 326–333. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2013. 807873

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Xia, Su, Wang, Li, Zhou and Lyu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cultural Orientation of Self-Bias in Perceptual Matching

Mengyin Jiang¹*, Shirley K. M. Wong², Harry K. S. Chung², Yang Sun³, Janet H. Hsiao², Jie Sui⁴ and Glyn W. Humphreys^{1†}

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom, ² Department of Psychology, University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam, Hong Kong, ³ Tsinghua University, Beijing, China, ⁴ Department of Psychology, University of Bath, Bath, United Kingdom

Previous research on cross-culture comparisons found that Western cultures tend to value independence and the self is construed as an autonomous individual, while Eastern cultures value interdependence and self-identity is perceived as embedded among friends and family members (Markus and Kitayama, 1991). The present experiment explored these cultural differences in the context of a paradigm developed by Sui et al. (2012), which found a bias toward the processing of self-relevant information using perceptual matching tasks. In this task, each neutral shape (i.e., triangle, circle, square) is associated with a person (i.e., self, friend, stranger), and faster and more accurate responses were found to formerly neutral stimuli tagged to the self compared to stimuli tagged to non-self. With this paradigm, the current study examined crosscultural differences in the self-bias effect between participants from Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. Results demonstrated a reliable self-bias effect across groups consistent with previous studies. Importantly, a variation was identified in a larger selfbias toward stranger-associated stimuli in the United Kingdom participants than the Hong Kong participants. This suggested the cultural modulation of the self-bias effect in perceptual matching.

Keywords: cross-culture comparison, independent and interdependent, self-construal, perceptual matching, self-bias

INTRODUCTION

The "self" is an important concept that has been the focus of different fields, from social psychology, cross-culture psychology to social cognitive neuroscience. Many have attempted to decode and explain what the self is in the mind and brain. In recent years, much literature has focused on cultural differences between the East (e.g., East Asia) and the West (e.g., North America and Western Europe). These differences have been referred to as individualism versus collectivism by Triandis (1989), or independence versus interdependence by Markus and Kitayama (1991), and the concept of the self in relation to others is one of the key distinctions between the East and the West (Gardner et al., 1999). This study investigates the impact of cultural experiences on the self-bias effect in British and Hong Kong participants.

Cultural experiences play a crucial part in forming the concept of the self. The self is developed through interactions with, not only other people, but also the social environment and cultural background (Markus and Kitayama, 2003; Kitayama et al., 2007). Markus and Kitayama (1991) stress the importance of independence and interdependence in self-identity. In particular, Western cultures tend to emphasize independence and perceive the self as distinct autonomous entities

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei Fan, Hunan Normal University, China

Reviewed by: Anne Giersch,

Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France Michał Wierzchoń, Jagiellonian University, Poland

*Correspondence:

Mengyin Jiang mengyinj@outlook.com

[†]This paper is dedicated to the memory of GH who passed away on 14th January 2016

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 November 2018 Accepted: 11 June 2019 Published: 28 June 2019

Citation:

Jiang M, Wong SKM, Chung HKS, Sun Y, Hsiao JH, Sui J and Humphreys GW (2019) Cultural Orientation of Self-Bias in Perceptual Matching. Front. Psychol. 10:1469. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01469

87

unique from other people. This encourages one to discover and express one's unique attributes. In order to achieve independence from other people, one's self-identity is formed with reference to one's own internal thoughts, feelings, motivations, and actions irrespective of other people (see **Figure 1A**). Eastern cultures, however, place greater emphasis on interdependence, which refers to the interconnectedness of oneself to other people and group membership forms an important part of self-identity. This is reflected in the overlap of one's concept of the self to other people (see **Figure 1B**).

Typically, one's level of independence and interdependence is measured through self-reported questionnaires such as the Self-Construal Scale (Singelis, 1994) and the Individualism and Collectivism Scale (Singelis et al., 1995). The focus of these questionnaires is to measure one's relationship with others and the extent to which representations of the self are perceived as separated or connected with family and friends (Markus and Kitayama, 1991).

Cultural differences not only influence the concept of the self but also affect one's perception and cognition. East Asians tend to live in a highly interdependent society where attention is directed more to relationships with other people. Westerners, however, live in a more independent society where less attention is paid to the social context. This cultural difference impacts the way stimuli are perceived in the environment. Many have found that Westerners pay more attention to salient objects than contextual background and that Easterners detect contextual relations more than specific items (Nisbett and Miyamoto, 2005). For example, Masuda and Nisbett (2001) demonstrated this attention difference by asking the participants to view and describe a series of vignettes and pictures. In one study, American students tend to describe the most salient objects first (e.g., "I saw a trout") while Japanese students described the context first (e.g., "I saw a stream"). Results demonstrated that the Japanese students noticed 60% more details about the context than the American students (Masuda and Nisbett, 2001). In another study, American and East Asian participants viewed pictures and vignettes that have focal object or contextual information changes. Findings showed that American participants were more sensitive to changes in focal objects than to changes in the periphery or context. In contrast, East Asian participants were more sensitive to contextual changes than to focal object changes (Masuda and Nisbett, 2006). Similarly, Singelis and Brown (1995) reported that the context of the situation easily influences the behavior of interdependent individuals but not independent individuals. Kühnen et al. (2001) also found that stimulus processing is more affected by context in interdependent than independent self-construals. These findings confirm that culture guides the perception of the self, as well as the way we perceive our environment.

Similar results were also reported by Kitayama et al. (2003) through a framed-line test. Participants viewed a square with a line inside and were asked to reproduce the line in another square in either the same absolute length or in the same proportion to the square. The East Asian participants performed more accurately in the relative task than the absolute task. In contrast, the Western participants performed better in the absolute task

than the relative task. The Westerners were also much better at the absolute task than the East Asians, while the East Asians outperformed the Westerners in the relative task.

Eye movement study also demonstrated culturally different viewing patterns. Objects placed into photographs of naturalistic scenes were presented to the participants for viewing. It was found that Americans fixated more on the object, whereas the Chinese spent more time looking at the background (Chua et al., 2005). Thus, the context of the situation heavily influences stimuli processes and the responses of the interdependent individuals (Singelis and Brown, 1995; Kühnen et al., 2001).

As a result of the focus on contextual information, people from interdependent cultures have adapted to perceive the self and close others very differently from independent cultures. Memory encoded in self-reference had been found to vary between cultures. Wagar and Cohen (2003) compared Euro-Canadians and Asian-Canadians using a paradigm that cued referential memory with three questions. Each of the questions corresponded to an encoding level - self-reference ("Does this word describe you?"), other-reference ("Does this word describe your best friend?"), and word structure ("Is the first letter a vowel?"). Each question was followed by the display of a word that was either a personal trait or a collective trait. The task was to decide whether the trait words applied to the cued questions. Later, a memory test on what words appeared in the previous phase was administered. Results showed that Euro-Canadian participants responded fastest to words encoded in selfreference regardless of trait type. Self-referenced words were also significantly quicker in response than words encoded in otherreference and vowel structure. The Asian Canadians, however, were only faster to recognize collective traits, but much slower with personal traits, when both were encoded in self-reference. This indicated a strong context-dependent description of the self in Asian Canadians.

Anecdotal memories were also different across the East and the West. Using a self-reported questionnaire, Wang (2001) asked participants to report their earliest childhood memory. American participants reported specific memories that were focused more on individual events (e.g., "when I was 4, I got stung by a bee") with elaborate and expressive descriptions of emotions and personal experiences. On the other hand, the Chinese memories were more about routine activities within the family or neighborhood (e.g., "my mum took me to school everyday"), with descriptions that focused on significant others or the relationship with others.

Cross-culture variations were also found in self-face recognition. Sui et al. (2009) conducted a study to examine self-face processing using event-related potentials (ERPs) in British and Chinese participants. During the study, participants were asked to make judgments about the orientation of target faces that was either self-face or a familiar face. Behaviorally, the British participants showed a larger self-advantage than Chinese participants, but performance was faster and more accurate to self-faces than to familiar faces in both British and Chinese participants. ERP analyses revealed larger activity at 280–340 ms in the anterior N2 component for self-faces than familiar faces in British participants, while the Chinese showed



reduced anterior N2 amplitudes to self-faces than familiar faces. This suggests that self-advantage is universal, but people from different cultural backgrounds develop different strategies to fit with the environment.

The neural representation of the self also differs across culture. Zhu et al. (2007) measured brain activity using fMRI as participants performed a trait judgment task. Similar to the memory test mentioned above, one of three questions was presented to cue the person to be judged - self, mother, and public figure (other). A null condition was presented between the judgment tasks where participants viewed rows of asterisks. Following the cue question, a trait adjective was presented and the participant decided whether the adjective described the cued person. Results illustrated that relative to the null condition, Western participants showed increased activations in the medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) in response to self-judgments and reduced MPFC activities to mother-judgments. Unlike their Western counterparts, the Chinese showed enhanced MPFC activity in response to both self-judgments as well as motherjudgments when compared with other-judgments and null condition. These results indicated that while the MPFC is involved in self-representation in both cultures, MPFC also represented mother in Chinese participants.

In a similar study, Chiao et al. (2009) found different degrees of neural activation within the anterior rostral regions of MPFC due to cultural contrasts. Results found individualists, as revealed by the Self-Construal Scale, showed greater activation in the MPFC in response to general self-descriptions (traits that describe the participant in general) than contextual selfdescriptions (traits that describe the participant only under certain conditions such as "when you are talking to your mother"), while collectivists demonstrated increased activation for contextual self-description than general self-description. These findings gave evidence that different cultural values have led to the neural unification or separation of the self in relation to close others.

Nevertheless, the self-bias effect has been consistently found in previous studies. Most results consistently showed a prioritization effect when processing self-relevant information. This bias toward self-stimuli was particularly robust in the perceptual matching task. Sui et al. (2012) designed a simple shape (i.e., triangle, square, or circle) and label (i.e., self, friend, or stranger) matching task. Participants were asked to learn to associate a shape with a label (e.g., triangle is you, square is your best friend, and circle is a stranger) and were tested by making judgments on whether the shape and label shown on screen matched the associations previously learnt. It was shown that responses were faster and more accurate to the self-associations than to friend and stranger associations.

In collaboration with the University of Hong Kong, the current study was conceived to test the cultural differences in self bias between participants from Hong Kong (HK) and the United Kingdom (UK). Though previous studies have examined the self-bias effect in cognitive processes such as memory and high-level decision-making (Cunningham et al., 2008; Turk et al., 2008), relatively few has examined low-level processes. Moreover, previous research often used stimuli that were highly familiar to the participant (e.g., one's own face or familiar faces). The current study focused on low-level processing in perceptual matching by using geometric shapes as stimuli. Geometric shapes such as triangle, circle, and square are commonly found in both Western and Eastern cultures. This means that confounds such as familiarity (in studies using familiar faces as stimuli) can be controlled by making associations with geometric shapes. Additionally, geometric shapes also control for any cultural predispositions or self-relevant information carried by the stimuli prior to learning the associations. Thus, the perceptual matching paradigm (Sui et al., 2012) improves the validity of studies that make comparisons between variables.

The aim of the current study was to examine the difference in the relationship between self and others in independent and interdependent cultures using the perceptual matching paradigm. In interdependent cultures, the self-identity is embedded among the identity of family and friends, and the idea of an individual self is less pronounced. As a result, it was expected that one's reaction time (RT) to self and friend stimuli should demonstrate a smaller difference because the friend-stimuli are a reflection of the self (see **Figure 1B**). In contrast, individualistic cultures promote an autonomous self, which should be reflected in a stronger sense of the individual, resulting in a faster response to the self when compared to other associations (see **Figure 1A**). Based on these ideas, it was hypothesized that the self-bias effect relative to friend would be significantly smaller in HK than in UK participants in perceptual matching.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Altogether 56¹ volunteers took part in this study. Of these, 32 healthy Caucasian volunteers (10 male, 18–35 years of age, mean age \pm standard deviation = 22.22 \pm 4.51) were recruited in the UK and tested at the University of Oxford; 24 healthy Chinese volunteers (five male, 18 to 24 years of age, mean age \pm standard deviation = 19.92 \pm 1.91) were recruited in Hong Kong and tested at the University of Hong Kong. Hong Kong participants were bilingual and had not previously studied overseas for more than 1 year. All participants were right-handed and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. Informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the experiment. The procedure used in this experiment was ethically approved by the University of Oxford Central University Research Ethics Committee.

Stimuli and Materials

The computer task was displayed on different sized monitors, with different degrees of visual angle, in the UK and HK studies. In the UK, a white fixation cross was presented at the center of the screen at $0.8^{\circ} \times 0.8^{\circ}$ of visual angle. Then, one of three geometric shapes (triangle, square, or circle) was presented above the fixation cross at $3.8^{\circ} \times 3.8^{\circ}$ of visual angle, and one of three personal labels (you, friend, or stranger) was presented below the fixation cross at $3.1/3.6^{\circ} \times 1.6^{\circ}$ of visual angle. The association of shapes with labels was counterbalanced across participants. The distance between the shape/label to the fixation cross was 3.5° of visual angle. All stimuli were presented in a gray background on a 23-in monitor (1920 \times 1400 at 60 Hz). The program was run on a PC using E-prime software (version 2.0). All stimuli were consistent with those used in the Sui et al.'s (2012) study. In Hong Kong, the white fixation cross was presented at $0.4^{\circ} \times 0.4^{\circ}$ of visual angle. The three geometric shapes were presented at $3.3^{\circ} \times 3.3^{\circ}$ of visual angle, and the three labels were presented at $2.0/4.3^{\circ} \times 0.9^{\circ}$ of visual angel. The distance between the shape and the fixation cross was 1.8°, and the distance between the label and the fixation cross was 1°. Stimuli were presented in a gray background on a 17-in monitor (1024 \times 768 at 60 Hz). The program was run on a PC using E-prime software (version 2.0).

To determine the effects of testing using different parameters, 12 participants in the UK were tested using the HK specifications. However, I was unable to locate a 17-in monitor, so a 13-in monitor was used instead to determine whether the smaller screen affected the results. All stimuli presented were identical to the ones used in HK. A mixed design ANOVA was performed within the UK participants using the group with different parameters as a between-subject variable. No significant differences were found between the two groups, eliminating the parameters as a confounding variable. As a result, data from all participants were included in the final analyses.

Each participant completed a word-search task at the beginning of the experiment, which consisted of two short texts with no pronouns that described trips to tourist destinations. The reason behind this was that this experiment was part of a larger project. The goal of the project was to examine the effects of culture on the modulation of self-bias. The current experiment focused on the default cultural framework and its effects on the self-bias effect, while a second part of the project investigated the effects of cultural priming on the modulation of the self-bias effect. Previous studies have shown that pronouns such as "I" or "we" can successfully prime independent and interdependent self-construals (e.g., Brewer and Gardner, 1996; Sui and Han, 2007). The other part of project with priming manipulations used texts that contain pronouns such as "I" or "we." For procedural consistency within the project, the word-search task in this particular experiment excluded the use of pronouns to make sure that the participants were tested at baseline where no cultural priming would occur as a result of pronoun words such as "I" or "we."

Self-reported questionnaires were implemented at the end of the experiment to measure the relationship between behavioral responses and trait characteristics. This included the Self-Construal Scale (Singelis, 1994) and the Individualism and Collectivism Scale (Singelis et al., 1995).

Procedure

Each participant conducted a word-search task and a computerbased matching task twice (see Figure 2). A questionnaire booklet was completed at the end of the study. The purpose of the wordsearch task was to ensure that each participant performed the computer task in their default cultural frame of mind - that is independence for UK participants and interdependence for HK participants. The word-search task consisted of two short texts with no pronouns that described a tourist destination (Sui and Han, 2007). This made sure that the participants were tested at baseline where no cultural priming would occur as a result of pronouns such as "I" or "we." Participants were instructed to read each text and circle target nouns in the text (such as park, area, pyramid, giza, sphinx). The number of target words was the same for both texts. Verbal instructions were given for participants to read each text three times to make sure all target words were found. After each text, participants subsequently performed a perceptual matching task on the computer.



¹Based on the effect size from previous research (e.g., Sui et al., 2012), a minimum of 26 subjects were required to achieve *power* = 0.80, *a* = 0.05.



For the computer task, participants first learned to associate a shape with a label. For example, the triangle represents you, the square represents your best friend, and the circle represents a stranger. Verbal and oral instructions were given as the participants learned the correct associations, though shape images were not presented at this stage. The learned associations remained the same throughout the two computer tasks for each participant. At the beginning of each trial, a fixation cross was presented at the center of the screen for 2000 ms, followed by a pair of a shape with a label above and below the fixation cross for 100 ms. The shape and label either matched the associations previously learned or was a recombination of a shape with a label randomly generated by the computer. Next, the screen remained blank for 1100 ms, during which time participants had to judge whether the shapelabel pair matched or not by pressing one of the two buttons as quickly and accurately as possible with one of two index fingers (see Figure 3). Following each response, feedback (green "Correct" or red "Incorrect") was given on the screen for 500 ms at the end of each trial. If no response was given within the 1100 ms window, the feedback "Too Slow!" was displayed in yellow to prompt faster responses. Feedback on overall accuracy was provided at the end of each block. Participants performed nine practice trials and three blocks of 60 trials following each word-search task. This cycle of word-search task and computer task was repeated twice. After completing all the word-search tasks and the computer-based tasks, participants filled out the questionnaire booklet (see Figure 2).

Experimental Design and Data Analyses

Reaction times (based on the correct responses) from the UK and HK data were normalized by calculating the difference between two associations divided by the sum of the same two associations [i.e., (A-B)/(A+B)] to equate for possible group differences in the range of RTs. This method of normalizing the results makes comparisons between two associations, which is in line with the goal of this experiment. Results were reported in normalized RTs for both match trials and mismatch trials. The results of the ANOVAs on the normalized RTs between self and friend and the normalized RTs between self

and stranger were reported. Finally, analyses of d-prime were also performed. Holm–Bonferroni corrections were applied to all multiple comparisons (Holm, 1979). See **Supplementary Table S1** for raw data.

RESULTS

RTs on Match Trials

Since this study mainly focused on examining the difference between self and others, mixed-design ANOVAs were performed on the normalized RTs between self and friend and between self and stranger. The type of normalized RTs (between self and friend or between self and stranger) was used as the withinsubjects variable and culture group (HK vs. UK) as the betweensubjects variable. A significant main effect of normalized RTs type was found, F(1,54) = 6.28, p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.10$ (see **Table 2**). Pairwise comparison showed a larger difference in the normalized RTs between self and stranger than between self and friend (p < 0.05) regardless of culture group. No significant main effect of culture group was found, F(1,54) = 2.15, p = 0.15. A significant interaction between the type of normalized RTs and culture group was found, F(1,54) = 4.48, p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.08$ (see **Table 1** for mean match RTs and **Table 2** for mean normalized match RTs).

Independent samples *t*-tests were performed to decompose the two-way interaction between the type of normalized RTs and culture group. A significant difference in the normalized RTs between self and stranger was found between the UK and the HK participants, t(54) = 2.12, p = 0.039, dz = 0.75 (see **Table 2** and **Figure 4**). The normalized RTs between self and friend, however, was not significantly different between the UK and HK participants, t(54) = 0.50, p = 0.617, dz = 0.28 (see **Table 2** and **Figure 4**). Though different from the initial hypothesis, a difference in self-bias (relative to stranger) was still identified between the two culture groups.

Additionally, one sample *t*-tests were performed on the normalized RTs to examine whether a significant self-bias effect was evident as previously demonstrated by Sui et al. (2012). Normalized RTs from both culture groups were compared against 0, which revealed significant effects of self-bias in both normalized scores between self and friend, UK: t(31) = 6.49,

TABLE 1 | Mean RTs (ms) and standard deviations (in brackets) for match trials as a function of association and culture group.

Associations	UK	нк
Self	632 (68)	649 (59)
Friend	695 (64)	706 (52)
Stranger	722 (56)	709 (62)

TABLE 2 | Mean normalized RTs (ms) and standard deviations (in brackets) for match trials as a function of bias and culture group.

Normalized RTs	UK	НК	Mean
Self and friend	0.05 (0.04)	0.04 (0.03)	0.05 (0.04)
Self and stranger	0.07 (0.04)	0.04 (0.04)	0.06 (0.04)



FIGURE 4 | Interaction between normalized RTs and culture group. Error bars represent one standard error. Significant differences are marked with "*."

TABLE 3 | Mean RTs (ms) and standard deviations (in brackets) for mismatch trials as a function of association and culture group.

Associations	UK	нк
Self	754 (63)	747 (57)
Friend	754 (61)	737 (67)
Stranger	746 (58)	735 (57)

p < 0.001, d = 1.15, HK: t(23) = 7.19, p < 0.001, d = 1.47, and between self and stranger, UK: t(31) = 9.24, p < 0.001, d = 1.63, HK: t(23) = 5.69, p < 0.001, d = 1.16. This means that a culturally independent self-bias effect was observed in both UK and HK participants.

RTs on Mismatch Trials

Data from shape-based mismatch trials were also analyzed. A mixed-design ANOVA was carried out with one withinsubjects variable – type of normalized RTs (between self and friend or between self and stranger) – and one between-subjects variable – culture group (HK or UK). This revealed no significant main effect of normalized RT type, F(1,54) = 0.72, p = 0.40, nor culture group, F(1,54) = 1.81, p = 0.18. No significant interaction was found between the type of normalized RTs and culture group, F(1,54) = 0.37, p = 0.55 (see **Table 3** for mean mismatch RTs and **Table 4** for mean normalized mismatch RTs). This suggested that the responses were not significantly different between the shape-based mismatch associations across the two culture groups.

D-Prime

Using the Green and Swets (1966) formula, d-prime was calculated for each participant to determine their sensitivity to correct and incorrect associations across both match and mismatch shape-label associations. This sensitivity refers to how difficult it is for the participant to discriminate the target stimuli (i.e., match trials) from background noise (i.e., mismatch trials) and is calculated using the accuracy from the match and mismatch conditions.

A mixed-design ANOVA was performed on the d-prime values, using the shape-label association (self, friend, or stranger) as the within-subjects variable and culture group (HK or UK) as the between-subjects factor (see **Table 5**). The analysis

 $\mbox{TABLE 4}\xspace$ | Mean normalized RTs and standard deviations (in brackets) for mismatch trials as a function of bias and culture group.

Biases	UK	НК	Mean
Self and friend	0.00 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.02)	-0.00 (0.02)
Self and stranger	-0.01 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.02)

TABLE 5 | Mean d-prime and standard deviations (in brackets) for both match

 trials and mismatch trials as a function of association and culture group.

Associations	UK	НК	Mean
Self	2.76 (0.83)	2.12 (0.98)	2.48 (0.94)
Friend	2.19 (0.90)	1.77 (0.90)	2.01 (0.91)
Stranger	2.15 (1.10)	1.56 (1.02)	1.90 (1.10)
Mean	2.37 (0.10)	1.82 (0.06)	

TABLE 6 | Mean scores and standard deviations (in brackets) for the Individualism and Collectivism Scale and the Self-Construal Scale reported by UK and HK participants.

UK	нк
112.72 (6.76)	67.38 (9.43)
127.41 (7.75)	76.38 (8.09)
71.63 (10.27)	68.71 (8.13)
70.41 (12.46)	73.29 (8.40)
	112.72 (6.76) 127.41 (7.75) 71.63 (10.27)

revealed a significant main effect of shape-label association, F(2,108) = 16.71, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.24$. Pairwise comparison of the shape-label associations indicated that d-prime for the self-association was significant higher than for friend (p < 0.001), and stranger associations (p < 0.001). Friend and stranger associations were not significantly different from each other (p = 1.00). There was also a significant main effect of culture group, F(1,54) = 4.28, p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.07$. Larger d-prime was found in the UK participants than HK participants (p = 0.05) (see **Table 5**). The interaction between the shape-label association and culture group was not significant, F(2,108) = 0.51, p = 0.60.

Questionnaires Analyses

Correlation analyses were conducted to examine whether the selfbias effect (in normalized RT scores and d-prime) correlated with questionnaire measures for independent and interdependent selfconstrual. Data for the following questionnaires were collected – Individualism and Collectivism Scale (Singelis et al., 1995), Self-Construal Scale (Singelis, 1994). However, no significant results were found between the behavioral responses from the computer task and measures of independent and interdependent self from either questionnaires (please see **Table 6** for responses from the questionnaires). The lack of findings will be discussed in the following section.

DISCUSSION

This study explored the cultural influence on the self-bias effect in HK and UK participants through the perceptual matching paradigm. The aim of this study was to identify

the differences in cultural background as a modulating factor for the self-bias effect. The initial hypothesis was that due to cultural differences in the emphasis on independent and interdependent self, the self-bias effect relative to friend would be larger in the UK participants than HK participants. Though the results in RTs were slightly different from this hypothesis, a cultural variation was still identified between the two cultural groups: the UK participants demonstrated a larger self-bias effect relative to strangers than the HK participants. This difference in the self-bias effect relative to strangers was an indication that independent and interdependent cultural frameworks can modulate the magnitude of the self-bias effect in RTs. In contrast, d-prime results showed no cultural modulation on the selfbias effect. The d-prime results from both culture groups demonstrated the robustness of the self-bias effect - there was a significant advantage for the self-association than for friend and stranger associations in both HK and UK participants. This confirmed the prioritization in the processing of selfrelevant information, consistent with previous research (e.g., Frings and Wentura, 2014; Mattan et al., 2015). However, no significant cultural differences in d-prime were observed between the two groups.

However, the UK participants were much more sensitive to all of the stimuli than HK participants, resulting in higher overall d-prime in the UK than in HK participants. The lower d-prime score may be due to the fact that the HK participants found the task more difficult. Previous research found that interdependent samples process objects with reference to the context or background more than Western samples (e.g., Masuda and Nisbett, 2001, 2006; Wang and Ross, 2005). It is possible that this strategy is not as well suited for the interdependent subjects of this particular task where the stimuli were presented on a blank background without context. In contrast, Western samples have an advantage over the Eastern samples as they process target objects individually.

Alternatively, the lower d-prime performance in the HK participants may have been a result of testing in a second language (English). One of the criteria for the HK participants was that they must not have studied more than 1 year abroad. Although this controls for the level of exposure to independent cultures, it also suggests that the participants may not be fluent in the English language. In which case, individuals may have more difficulty detecting the English stimuli. Future research should be conducted to test another group of non-native English speakers using English stimuli and use language as a between-subjects factor to see if there are any significant integration between English as a second language and task performance. Despite these limitations, the results of our experiment identified a difference in the self-bias effect between the two cultural groups.

Although no significant results were found between the questionnaire measures and the self-bias effect, it is important to keep in mind that the self is an ambiguous and abstract concept that is difficult to measure (Grace and Cramer, 2003). Many have questioned the reliability of questionnaire measures due to

inconsistent results. For example, Harb and Smith (2008) criticize self-construal scales for not providing references to specific contexts in the interdependent measures when interdependent individuals are particularly sensitive to contextual cues. The environment is crucial to providing messages that elicit access to independent or interdependent self-construals (Sorensen and Oyserman, 2013). Large-scale studies across 30 nations also suggested that the Self-Construal Scale is unstable in structure within and across cultures (Levine et al., 2003; Georgas et al., 2006). Moreover, the number of questionnaire responses in this study may be too limited to produce enough statistical power to the correlation analyses. It is also important to note that western and eastern samples are not restricted to being only independent or interdependent. For example, although Americans were typically attributed to being more individualistic than people from other cultures, they are not less collectivistic than East Asians (Takano and Osaka, 1999; Oyserman et al., 2002). Independent and interdependent cultures are, in fact, two parallel dimensions that are not negatively correlated (Ng and Lai, 2011), which means that a higher measure of independence does not indicate a lower measure of interdependence, and vice versa. The results from the questionnaires in this study also confirmed this in that responses from both UK and HK participants showed similar values on independent and interdependent scores in the Self-Construal Scale and individualism and collectivism scores in the Individualism and Collectivism Scale. The self is a dynamic concept that can shift and evolve based on relations and contexts (Nisbett et al., 2001), and thus makes self-construal difficult to measure with fixed scales.

The findings of this experiment indicated that cultural variations play a role in the way humans process information about ourselves and unfamiliar others. Although previous studies have addressed cross cultural comparisons, the significance of this experiment lies in utilizing the shape-label paradigm, which included simple geometric shapes as stimuli (Sui et al., 2012). Previously, experiments have used stimuli such as faces (e.g., Keenan et al., 1999; Sui et al., 2009) and texts (e.g., Zhang and Mittal, 2007; Chiao et al., 2009) to study self-construal styles. These stimuli may introduce confounding variables because visual familiarity of faces, as well as complex language processes, are difficult to control. Geometric shapes, however, are universal in both Western and Eastern cultures, which makes it less susceptible to any cultural predispositions. The association of familiar and unfamiliar persons with geometric shapes eliminates the confounding effect of visual familiarity with faces, and removes translational and language problems produced in complex texts. The use of geometric shapes may also eliminate any self-relevant information carried by the stimuli prior to learning the association. Thus, this paradigm potentially improves the validity of the cross-cultural comparisons and provides more comparable data without the introduction of prior knowledge.

Some limitations of this experiment are as follows. First, HK participants are considered more bicultural than other East Asian cultures. Hong Kong has been the confluence of both Chinese

and Western cultures for nearly two centuries. The Hong Kong students recruited in this study may be more representative of a bicultural sub-group than the typical East Asian interdependent group. This may explain the lack of a decrease in self-bias relative to friend as was initially hypothesized, though further research is needed to fully explain this phenomenon.

Second, the experiment was administered in English in both the UK and the HK groups. Usually, experiments that use languages as stimuli are administered in the native tongue to avoid the effects of cultural priming. Participants who used an independent language (i.e., English) show decreased cognitive accessibility of the interdependent self compared to those who used a interdependent language (i.e., Chinese) (Trafimow et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2010). Ross et al. (2002) also reported that bicultural participants were more likely to report more favorable self-statements when writing in English than in Chinese. According to Kemmelmeier and Cheng (2004), language priming effects primarily occurred for self-construals that were not already salient in the respondents' culture. Despite this, the results of this experiment are still quite robust. Therefore, it is unclear to what extent the language cue has affected these results. Notably, the results showed the cultural effect even with these limitations.

Third, it is impossible to determine how much of the observed difference in this study could be attributed to cultural differences. For example, the reaction to strangers in HK participants could potentially be explained by the high-density population in Hong Kong. People may simply be more aware of others due to living in crowded spaces, as opposed to the British living in relative spacious environments. Other potential explanations could be living habits, genetics, etc. However, whether the significant findings were due to the study manipulations is a problem that is commonly faced by all researchers. Thus, it is important to keep in mind that we should be careful when drawing conclusions from study results. In the case of this study, interdependent culture should be considered a potential explanation for the results and not a definitive cause, especially when the questionnaire data do not support it.

This experiment provides some interesting future research questions. First, it would be interesting to explore the extent of the self-bias effect in relation to family members in cultures which possess different family values. Moreover, the strength of the self-bias against other members such as siblings, spouse, or children have yet to be examined. Interdependent cultures would suggest a stronger embeddedness of the self in one's family members than independent cultures. It would be interesting to examine whether the closeness of one's family member predicts the strength of the self-bias effect and how this effect changes due to cultural values.

Second, it is important to keep in mind that individual differences can exist within culture groups. Some people from independent cultures may be more interdependent and some from interdependent cultures may be more independent. The concept of the self, whether independent or interdependent, is a dynamic concept that can change

depending on many factors such as social context (Markus and Kunda, 1986; Markus and Wurf, 1987; Oyserman et al., 2009; Colzato et al., 2012). Hence, future studies should take into consideration that cultural background is not the determining factor on the magnitude of the self-bias effect.

CONCLUSION

The present study investigated the impact of culture on self and other processing through a new paradigm. The results revealed that compared to their UK counterparts, HK participants showed reduced self-bias in relation to strangers. This supports the concept that interdependent self-construal style recognizes the self as an entity in relation to others while the individualist self is a single independent entity. Hence, cultural background can modulate the self-bias effect.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the University of Oxford Central University Research Ethics Committee and the University of Hong Kong Human Research Ethics Committee with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the University of Oxford Central University Research Ethics Committee and the University of Hong Kong Human Research Ethics Committee and the University of Hong Kong Human Research Ethics Committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MJ, YS, JH, JS, and GH contributed conception and design of the study. MJ organized the database. MJ, SW, and HC performed the statistical analysis. MJ wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Economic and Social Research Council (ES/K013424/1), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31371017), and the Research Grants Council of Hong Kong (HKU758412H).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2019. 01469/full#supplementary-material

TABLE S1 | Raw data in normalized RTs and d-prime.

REFERENCES

- Brewer, M. B., and Gardner, W. (1996). Who is this" we"? levels of collective identity and self representations. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 71:83. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.71.1.83
- Chiao, J. Y., Harada, T., Komeda, H., Li, Z., Mano, Y., Saito, D., et al. (2009). Neural basis of individualistic and collectivistic views of self. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 2813–2820. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20707
- Chua, H. F., Boland, J. E., and Nisbett, R. E. (2005). Cultural variation in eye movements during scene perception. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 12629– 12633. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506162102
- Colzato, L. S., de Bruijn, E. R., and Hommel, B. (2012). Up to "me" or up to "us"? The impact of self-construal priming on cognitive self-other integration. *Front. Psychol.* 3:341. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00341
- Cunningham, S. J., Turk, D. J., Macdonald, L. M., and Macrae, C. N. (2008). Yours or mine? Ownership and memory. *Consc. Cogn.* 17, 312–318. doi: 10.1016/j. concog.2007.04.003
- Frings, C., and Wentura, D. (2014). Self-priorization processes in action and perception. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percep. Perform. 40:1737. doi: 10.1037/ a0037376
- Gardner, W. L., Gabriel, S., and Lee, A. Y. (1999). "I" value freedom, but "we" value relationships: Self-construal priming mirrors cultural differences in judgment. *Psychol. Sci.* 10, 321–326. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00162
- Georgas, J., Berry, J. W., Van de Vijver, F. J., Kagitçibasi, Ç, and Poortinga, Y. H. (eds) (2006). *Families Across Cultures A 30-Nation Psychological Study*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Grace, S. L., and Cramer, K. L. (2003). The elusive nature of self-measurement: The self-construal scale versus the twenty statements test. J. Soc. Psychol. 143, 649–668. doi: 10.1080/00224540309598469
- Green, D. M., and Swets, J. A. (1966). *Signal Detection Theory and Psychophysics*. England: John Wiley.
- Harb, C., and Smith, P. B. (2008). Self-construals across cultures beyond independence—interdependence. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 39, 178–197. doi: 10. 1037/xge0000175
- Holm, S. (1979). A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand. J. Stat. 6, 65–70.
- Keenan, J. P., McCutcheon, B., Freund, S., Gallup, G. G. Jr., Sanders, G., and Pascual-Leone, A. (1999). Left hand advantage in a self-face recognition task. *Neuropsychologia* 37, 1421–1425. doi: 10.1016/s0028-3932(99)00025-1
- Kemmelmeier, M., and Cheng, B. Y. M. (2004). Language and self-construal priming a replication and extension in a Hong Kong sample. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 35, 705–712. doi: 10.1177/0022022104270112
- Kitayama, S., Duffy, S., Kawamura, T., and Larsen, J. T. (2003). Perceiving an object and its context in different cultures a cultural look at new look. *Psychol. Sci.* 14, 201–206. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.02432
- Kitayama, S., Duffy, S., and Uchida, Y. (2007). "Self as cultural mode of being," in *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*, eds S. Kitayama and D. Cohen (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 136–174.
- Kühnen, U., Hannover, B., and Schubert, B. (2001). The semantic-procedural interface model of the self: The role of self-knowledge for context-dependent versus context-independent modes of thinking. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 80:397. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.80.3.397
- Levine, T. R., Bresnahan, M. J., Park, H. S., Lapinski, M. K., Wittenbaum, G. M., Shearman, S. M., et al. (2003). Self-construal scales lack validity. *Hum. Comm. Res.* 29, 210–252. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2015.05.037
- Markus, H., and Kunda, Z. (1986). Stability and malleability of the self-concept. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 51:858. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.51.4.858
- Markus, H., and Wurf, E. (1987). The dynamic self-concept: a social psychological perspective. Ann. Rev. Psychol. 38, 299–337. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.38. 1.299
- Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: Implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol. Rev.* 98:224. doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.98.2.224
- Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (2003). Models of agency: sociocultural diversity in the construction of action. Nebr. Symp. Motiv. 49, 1–58.
- Masuda, T., and Nisbett, R. E. (2001). Attending holistically versus analytically: comparing the context sensitivity of Japanese and Americans. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 81, 922. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.81.5.922

- Masuda, T., and Nisbett, R. E. (2006). Culture and change blindness. *Cogn. Sci.* 30, 381–399. doi: 10.1207/s15516709cog0000_63
- Mattan, B., Quinn, K. A., Apperly, I. A., Sui, J., and Rotshtein, P. (2015). Is it always me first? effects of self-tagging on third-person perspectivetaking. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 41:1100. doi: 10.1037/xlm000 0078
- Ng, S. H., and Lai, J. C. (2011). Bicultural self, multiple social identities, and dual patriotisms among ethnic Chinese in Hong Kong. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 42, 89–103. doi: 10.1177/0022022110361715
- Nisbett, R. E., and Miyamoto, Y. (2005). The influence of culture: holistic versus analytic perception. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 9, 467–473. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005. 08.004
- Nisbett, R. E., Peng, K., Choi, I., and Norenzayan, A. (2001). Culture and systems of thought: holistic versus analytic cognition. *Psychol. Rev.* 108:291. doi: 10.1037/ 0033-295x.108.2.291
- Oyserman, D., Coon, H. M., and Kemmelmeier, M. (2002). Rethinking individualism and collectivism: evaluation of theoretical assumptions and meta-analyses. *Psychol. Bull.* 128:3. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.128.1.3
- Oyserman, D., Sorensen, N., Reber, R., and Chen, S. X. (2009). Connecting and separating mind-sets: culture as situated cognition. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 97:217. doi: 10.1037/a0015850
- Ross, M., Xun, W. E., and Wilson, A. E. (2002). Language and the bicultural self. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 28, 1040–1050.
- Singelis, T. M. (1994). The measurement of independent and interdependent self-construals. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 20, 580–591. doi: 10.1177/ 0146167294205014
- Singelis, T. M., and Brown, W. J. (1995). Culture, self, and collectivist communication linking culture to individual behavior. *Hum. Comm. Res.* 21, 354–389. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1995.tb00351.x
- Singelis, T. M., Triandis, H. C., Bhawuk, D. P., and Gelfand, M. J. (1995). Horizontal and vertical dimensions of individualism and collectivism: A theoretical and measurement refinement. *Cross Cult. Res.* 29, 240–275. doi: 10.1177/106939719502900302
- Sorensen, N., and Oyserman, D. (2013). "Understanding cultural syndrome effects on what and how we think a situated cognition model," in *Understanding Culture*, eds R. S. Wyer, C.-Y. Chiu, and Y.-Y. Hong (London: Psychology Press), 39–66.
- Sui, J., and Han, S. (2007). Self-construal priming modulates neural substrates of self-awareness. *Psychol. Sci.* 18, 861–866. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01 992.x
- Sui, J., He, X., and Humphreys, G. W. (2012). Perceptual effects of social salience: evidence from self-prioritization effects on perceptual matching. *J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percep. Perform.* 38:1105. doi: 10.1037/a002 9792
- Sui, J., Liu, C. H., and Han, S. (2009). Cultural difference in neural mechanisms of self-recognition. Soc. Neurosci. 4, 402–411. doi: 10.1080/17470910802674825
- Takano, Y., and Osaka, E. (1999). An unsupported common view: comparing Japan and the US on individualism/collectivism. Asian J. Soc. Psychol. 2, 311–341. doi: 10.1111/1467-839x.00043
- Trafimow, D., Silverman, E. S., Fan, R. M. T., and Law, J. S. F. (1997). The effects of language and priming on the relative accessibility of the private self and the collective self. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 28, 107–123. doi: 10.1177/ 0022022197281007
- Triandis, H. C. (1989). The self and social behavior in differing cultural contexts. *Psychol. Rev.* 96:506. doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.96.3.506
- Turk, D. J., Cunningham, S. J., and Macrae, C. N. (2008). Self-memory biases in explicit and incidental encoding of trait adjectives. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 1040–1045. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2008.02.004
- Wagar, B. M., and Cohen, D. (2003). Culture, memory, and the self: An analysis of the personal and collective self in long-term memory. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 39, 468–475. doi: 10.1016/s0022-1031(03)00021-0
- Wang, Q. (2001). Culture effects on adults' earliest childhood recollection and selfdescription: implications for the relation between memory and the self. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 81:220. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.81.2.220
- Wang, Q., and Ross, M. (2005). What we remember and what we tell: The effects of culture and self-priming on memory representations and narratives. *Memory* 13, 594–606. doi: 10.1080/0965821044400 0223

- Wang, Q., Shao, Y., and Li, Y. J. (2010). My way or mom's way? the bilingual and bicultural self in Hong Kong Chinese children and adolescents. *Child Dev.* 81, 555–567. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01 415.x
- Zhang, Y., and Mittal, V. (2007). The attractiveness of enriched and impoverished options: culture, self-construal, and regulatory focus. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 33, 588–598. doi: 10.1177/014616720629 6954
- Zhu, Y., Zhang, L., Fan, J., and Han, S. (2007). Neural basis of cultural influence on self-representation. *Neuroimage* 34, 1310–1316. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2006.08.047

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jiang, Wong, Chung, Sun, Hsiao, Sui and Humphreys. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Relationship Between Future Time Perspective and Self-Esteem: A Cross-Cultural Study of Chinese and American College Students

Houchao Lyu1*, Gang Du1 and Kimberly Rios2

¹ Faculty of Psychology, Southwest University, Chongqing, China, ² Department of Psychology, Ohio University, Athens, OH, United States

The present study explored cross-cultural differences in future time perspective (FTP) and self-esteem and investigated whether the relationship between FTP and self-esteem differs between China and America. The FTP Scale and Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale were administered to 460 Chinese and 340 American undergraduates. Results showed that American undergraduates scored higher on the future-negative, future-positive, future-confusion, future-perseverant, and future-perspicuity subscales than did Chinese undergraduates. The dimensions of FTP (future-negative, future-positive, future-confusion, and future-perseverant) significantly predicted self-esteem in both the Chinese and American samples. These results broaden our understanding of cross-cultural differences in FTP and self-esteem. Implications and future directions are discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei Fan, Hunan Normal University, China

Reviewed by:

Youlong Zhan, Hunan University of Science and Technology, China Junfeng Bian, Changsha University of Science and Technology, China

> *Correspondence: Houchao Lvu

houchao928@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 26 November 2018 Accepted: 17 June 2019 Published: 03 July 2019

Citation:

Lyu H, Du G and Rios K (2019) The Relationship Between Future Time Perspective and Self-Esteem: A Cross-Cultural Study of Chinese and American College Students. Front. Psychol. 10:1518. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01518 Keywords: future time perspective, time perspective, self-esteem, cross-cultural differences, undergraduates

INTRODUCTION

Time perspective is an individual-differences variable that influences behavior in various ways (Zimbardo and Boyd, 1999). In recent years, future time perspective (FTP) has acquired a prominent position within research on the psychology of time. FTP is a schema, or experience and conceptualization, of future time, and is operationalized as an individual's level of cognitive involvement in future life domains (Nuttin, 1985; Seginer and Lens, 2015). Follow-up studies found that FTP includes not only cognitive but also affective, behavioral, and motivational components (Peetsma, 2000; Lyu and Huang, 2016). Therefore, FTP can be defined as an individual's cognitive, affective, and behavioral tendencies toward the future that are manifested as relatively stable personality traits (Peetsma, 2000; Lyu and Huang, 2016). As a future-oriented personality trait, FTP embodies individual differences in future expectations and predictions; hence, FTP is an important predictor of the actual behaviors of individuals. Results of a meta-analysis revealed significant relationships between FTP and many outcomes (e.g., achievement, well-being, health behavior, risk behavior, retirement planning) (Kooij et al., 2018). However, are FTP scores consistent across different cultural contexts, and how does FTP relate to the self-concept (e.g., self-esteem)? The present study intends to explore these issues.

Future Time Perspective

The future involves uncertainty and ambiguity, in that risks and opportunities co-exist. Individuals might perceive the future with hope, but the future might also produce feelings of fear

(Morselli, 2013), which could be manifested as approachavoidance conflict. Given the vast cultural differences in people's economic and social circumstances (Markus and Kitayama, 1991), will individuals with different cultural backgrounds have similar thoughts regarding their future? McInerney (2004) stated that researchers should maintain a cautious attitude toward the generalization of conclusions based on Western cultural backgrounds to non-Western cultures. Future consciousness is one concept that may be heavily influenced by culture. In traditional societies, the past and present are more important than the future, and this effect is more salient in cultures with an agricultural or nomadic-based economy (McInerney et al., 1997). For example, studies have shown that North Americans have a strong future orientation (Spears et al., 2001), whereas the Chinese are predominantly past-oriented (Brislin and Kim, 2003). However, such comparisons shed light on preferences for time orientations (e.g., past vs. future) within a single culture, but provide less information about how preferences differ between two or more cultures (Gao, 2016). For instance, although there is evidence showing that North Americans are relatively more focused on the future than on the past, there is no evidence indicating that North Americans are more concerned about the future than East Asians (Gao, 2016). Therefore, to determine whether the latter is actually the case, it is necessary to directly compare North American and East Asian participants' future orientations.

Morselli (2013) divided FTP into personal FTP and social FTP. Personal FTP refers to the personal achievements embedded within one's culture, which are not applicable to other cultures. In contrast, social FTP emphasizes the importance of social co-existence, with a focus on long-term goals and goals that transcend personal achievements, as well as the enhancement of intergroup and interpersonal relationships. Although future orientation has been examined in conjunction with other psychological constructs, there is currently insufficient research directly comparing FTP across cultures.

On the one hand, according to research in cultural psychology, American culture emphasizes individualism, freedom, and thinking about the future from one's own perspective. However, Chinese culture emphasizes collectivism, relationship orientation, and thinking about the future from the perspective of one's relationship network (Earley, 1989; Forbes et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2016). Cultural differences may therefore affect the way that individuals think about the future. On the other hand, aspects of the immediate social environment, such as economic prosperity and recession, also affect the way people think about the future (Liebgold, 2014). In other words, people may think about the future according to their society's current social and economic conditions, and China and America are at different stages of development. Ecological system theory, as proposed by Bronfenbrenner (1979), emphasizes that individuals are embedded in a series of environmental systems (such as culture, society, and shared beliefs) that affect one another. That is, the system interacts with the individual and influences individual development. Investigating whether FTP scores are consistent among individuals with different cultural backgrounds can enhance understanding of the impact of the

socio-cultural environment on future orientation generally and FTP specifically.

Self-Esteem

According to Baumeister et al. (1996), self-esteem is the evaluative component of the self-concept (i.e., the global evaluation of the self). Self-esteem is an important aspect of an individual's social and cognitive development (Berndt, 2002). Research has shown that self-esteem varies across cultures, such that individuals in Asian countries tend to report lower levels of self-esteem compared to individuals in North America and Western Europe (Farruggia et al., 2004; Cai et al., 2007; Li et al., 2015). These differences in selfesteem might be influenced by differences in individualism (which is more prevalent in Western cultures) and collectivism (which is more prevalent in non-Western cultures). Under individualism, individuals have a tendency toward the expression of autonomy and believe that they are unique within their surroundings. In contrast, under collectivism, individuals regard themselves as similar to others, emphasize social harmony and dependency, and pursue harmonious interpersonal relationships.

Future Time Perspective and Self-Esteem

We hypothesized that FTP would predict self-esteem. First, self-esteem has been used as an indicator of validity for the FTP scale in several studies (e.g., Zimbardo and Boyd, 1999; Worrell et al., 2015), and these past studies have revealed a positive relationship between FTP and self-esteem (r = 0.19, p < 0.001; r = 0.13, p < 0.05, respectively). Second, theoretically, Zaleski (1996) suggests that FTP is the basis for future anxiety, and that the nature of negative events expected and perceived by individuals determines their level of anxiety about the future. Intense anxiety experience triggers a threat to the self-concept and is directly associated with lower self-esteem (Sowislo and Orth, 2013; Zhang et al., 2016). Third, in our daily lives, positive future orientation can promote the improvement of individuals' self-esteem. For example, future-oriented students will set future goals according to their personal circumstances. If they strive to achieve future goals, they will evaluate themselves positively and hence exhibit higher self-esteem to the extent that they see themselves as meeting these goals. Finally, time balance (namely, remembering the past, grasping the current and planning the future) is conducive to maintenance of mental health, which, to some extent, helps to improve self-esteem.

Pursuing goals, planning, and forming future expectations are daily activities performed by individuals. These goals and expectations reflect self-worth, which requires high self-esteem (Crocker and Wolfe, 2001). We therefore argue that maintaining positive future thinking and high self-esteem are essential to psychological well-being in many societies. It is also possible that differences in sociocultural environments relate to discrepancies between FTP and self-esteem.

The Present Study

The aims of the current study are to investigate cultural differences in FTP and self-esteem and to test whether crosscultural consistency exists in the relationship between FTP and self-esteem. We hypothesize that: (1) individuals from two different cultural backgrounds will show differences on FTP dimensions and self-esteem; and (2) within two cultural backgrounds, all FTP dimensions will be significantly correlated with self-esteem, but with differences in predictive power.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 819 undergraduates were recruited, of whom 19 participants provided incomplete information and were removed; thus, the final sample consisted of 800 participants. Four hundred and sixty participants were Chinese undergraduates (180 males, 280 females, ages ranged between 17 and 24, Mage = 19.27, SD = 1.17), who were recruited from universities in Chongqing, China. Three hundred and forty participants were American undergraduates (108 males, 232 females, ages ranged between 18 and 28, Mage = 20.09, SD = 3.44), who were recruited from the University of Chicago and Ohio University, United States.

Instruments

The Chinese version of the FTP scale (Lyu and Huang, 2016) was used, which comprises 28 items. Responses were collected via a five-point scale. To obtain an American English version of the FTP scale, the procedure for forward-backward translation recommended by Brislin (1970) was employed. Two psychology professors translated the 28 Chinese items into English, and two bilingual psychology teachers performed back-translation and comparative modifications. Exploratory structural equation modeling (ESEM) analysis, which takes into account the characteristics of exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis (Asparouhov and Muthén, 2009), was performed by using Mplus 7.0 (Muthén and Muthén, 2012). The results showed that the model fit for the Chinese sample was good ($\chi^2/df = 1.78$, RMSEA = 0.04, 90% confidence interval [0.03, 0.05], CFI = 0.95, TLI = 0.91, SRMR = 0.03). The American model fit index was also good $(\chi^2/df = 1.83)$, RMSEA = 0.07, 90% confidence interval [0.06, 0.08], CFI = 0.90, TLI = 0.86, SRMR = 0.05). In this study, Cronbach's α s for the subscales ranged from 0.66 to 0.87 among Chinese participants and from 0.65 to 0.80 among American participants (see Table 1).

Rosenberg (1965) initially developed the Self-Esteem Scale; Wang et al. (1999) generated the modified Chinese version. The scale measures general self-evaluation on a single dimension and consists of 10 items, which are administered on a fourpoint scale, where one indicates "strongly agree" and four indicates "strongly disagree." In this study, Cronbach's α for the Chinese participants was 0.78, and Cronbach's α for the American participants was 0.80.

Procedure

Permission was obtained from the parents and teachers of the Chinese participants before conducting the survey in class. A graduate student was trained to supervise participants' completion of the questionnaire. The American participants were students taking psychology classes, who participated in the survey online for course credit. All participants signed a consent form before the survey was conducted.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics and ANOVAs

Descriptive statistics for the American and Chinese undergraduates are presented in Table 1. Multivariate analysis of variance (ANOVAs) showed that FTP dimensions and selfesteem differed between American and Chinese undergraduates (Wilk's $\lambda = 0.73$, *F* (7, 792) = 41.64, *p* < 0.001, partial $\eta^2 = 0.27$). Univariate ANOVAs revealed that compared to Chinese undergraduates, American undergraduates were more negative $[F(1, 798) = 35.94, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.08]$ and more confused $[F (1, 798) = 20.14, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.04]$ about the future. American undergraduates were also more positive, perseverant and perspicuous about the future than Chinese undergraduates $(F_{all} > 7.67, p < 0.01, \eta^2_{all} > 0.02)$. American undergraduates also have higher self-esteem than Chinese [F(1, 798) = 3.78,p < 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.01$]. The difference between American and Chinese undergraduates was not significant for future-planning [F(1, 798) = 0.04, p > 0.05].

Correlations Analysis

Pearson product-moment correlation analyses of the relationship between FTP and self-esteem (see Table 2) showed that among Chinese undergraduates, the future-positive (r = 0.45, p < 0.001), future-perseverant (r = 0.40, p < 0.001), future-perspicuity (r = 0.30, p < 0.05), and future-planning (r = 0.31, p < 0.001)subscales were positively correlated with self-esteem; whereas future-negative (r = -0.58, p < 0.001) and future-confusion (r = -0.48, p < 0.001) subscales were negatively correlated with self-esteem. For American undergraduates, the future-positive (r = 0.55, p < 0.001), future-perseverant (r = 0.41, p < 0.001), future-perspicuity (r = 0.51, p < 0.05), and future-planning (r = 0.19, p < 0.001) subscales were positively correlated with self-esteem; whereas the future-negative (r = -0.63, p < 0.001) and future-confusion (r = -0.35, p < 0.001) subscales were negatively correlated with self-esteem. This indicates that the correlations between components of FTP and self-esteem were similar in both cultures.

Hierarchical Regression Analysis of Future Time Perspective on Self-Esteem

Hierarchical regression analyses of the relationship between FTP and self-esteem were performed separately for American and Chinese undergraduates (see **Table 3**). Among Chinese undergraduates, after controlling for age, gender, and family economic status [model $F(9, 450) = 53.65, p < 0.001, \Delta R = 0.41$], the significant predictors of self-esteem were family economic

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics and ANOVAs.

		China			America		F (1, 798)	η^2
	М	SD	α	М	SD	Q		
Future-negative	2.12	0.64	0.87	2.54	0.84	0.86	35.94	0.08
Future-positive	3.56	0.61	0.84	3.76	0.78	0.85	7.67	0.02
Future-confusion	2.68	0.70	0.80	3.00	0.90	0.78	20.14	0.04
Future-perseverant	3.58	0.46	0.70	3.84	0.56	0.65	14.08	0.07
Future-perspicuity	3.94	0.59	0.77	4.14	0.64	0.72	7.97	0.03
Future-planning	3.45	0.53	0.66	3.47	0.75	0.70	0.15	0.00
Self-esteem	3.47	0.50	0.78	3.61	0.74	0.80	3.78	0.01

The bold fonts are significant difference.

TABLE 2 | Correlations between future time perspective and self-esteem.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Future-negative	_	-0.64***	0.65***	-0.36**	-0.55***	-0.23*	-0.63***
2. Future-positive	-0.35***	-	-0.50**	0.48***	0.72***	0.24**	0.55***
3. Future-confusion	0.61**	-0.31***	-	-0.30***	-0.42***	-0.27*	-0.35***
4. Future-perseverant	-0.33***	0.40***	-0.22***	-	0.55***	0.42***	0.41***
5. Future-perspicuity	-0.42***	0.39***	-0.28***	0.43***	-	0.23***	0.51***
6. Future-planning	-0.31***	0.35***	-0.28***	0.47***	0.38***	-	0.19***
7. Self-esteem	-0.58***	0.45***	-0.48***	0.40***	0.30***	0.31***	_

Correlations for Chinese undergraduates are shown below the diagonal line and those for American undergraduates above the diagonal line. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, and ***p < 0.001.

status ($\beta = 0.08$, t = 2.13, p < 0.05), the future-negative subscale ($\beta = -0.35$, t = -7.70, p < 0.001), the future-positive subscale ($\beta = 0.22$, t = 5.37, p < 0.001), the future-confusion subscale ($\beta = -0.16$, t = -3.53, p < 0.001), and the future-perseverant subscale ($\beta = 0.16$, t = 4.06, p < 0.001). Among American undergraduates, after controlling for age, gender and family economic status [model *F* (9, 330) = 74.92, p < 0.001, $\Delta R = 0.43$], the significant predictors of self-esteem were the future-negative subscale ($\beta = -0.53$, t = -9.27, p < 0.001), the future-positive subscale ($\beta = -0.16$, t = 3.69, p < 0.05), the future-confusion subscale ($\beta = -0.16$, t = -3.18, p < 0.01), the future-perseverant subscale ($\beta = 0.17$, t = 3.75, p < 0.001), and (marginally) the future-perspicuity subscale ($\beta = 0.11$, t = 1.60, p < 0.1).

DISCUSSION

This study revealed that scores on the different dimensions of FTP varied by cultural background. Specifically, American undergraduates were more negative and confused about the future, but also more positive, perseverant, and perspicuous about the future than Chinese undergraduates. These findings are somewhat similar to one study (Gao, 2016), which showed that Chinese individuals regarded positive aspects of one's future (expectations) as more important than Americans, whereas Americans regarded negative aspects of one's future (fear) as more important than Chinese. Below, we elaborate on possible reasons for these differences.

First, since the financial crisis of 2008, the economic outlook in America has not been favorable (in 2018, the growth rate of the

American GDP was only 2.9%; U.S. Department of Commerce, 2019). Hence, American undergraduates might have adopted a pessimistic attitude toward the future when considering their career and economic prospects. In contrast, China is a developing nation, with good developmental trends in recent years (in 2018,

TABLE 3 | Hierarchical regression analysis of future time perspective on self-esteem.

	Ch	lina	Amo	erica
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2
Step1				
Gender	-0.10	-0.03	-0.03	-0.01
Age	-0.01	0.02	-0.09	-0.01
Family economic status	0.18***	0.08*	0.16*	0.05
Step2				
Future-negative		-0.35***		-0.53***
Future-positive		0.22***		0.15***
Future-confusion		-0.16***		-0.16**
Future-perseverant		0.16***		0.17***
Future-perspicuity		0.06		0.11 [†]
Future-planning		0.01		0.01
R^2	0.04	0.45	0.04	0.47
F	6.64	53.65***	2.60 [†]	74.92***
df	(3, 456)	(9, 450)	(3, 330)	(9, 330)
ΔR		0.41		0.43

Marginal significance $^{\dagger}p < 0.1$. The bold fonts are significant predictive effect. $^{*}p < 0.05$, $^{**}p < 0.01$, and $^{***}p < 0.001$.

the growth rate of the Chinese GDP was 6.6% and the registered urban unemployment rate was 3.8%; National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2019). Therefore, Chinese undergraduates' lower levels of pessimism about the future might be related to national socioeconomic factors (Seginer and Schlesinger, 1998; So et al., 2016). However, American undergraduates also believe that the future can be predicted based on previous national trends in economic development, which could explain why they demonstrated more optimism about the future.

Second, American culture emphasizes individualism (Earley, 1989; Forbes et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2016), which focuses on the autonomy of individuals. Undergraduates need to face the issue of employment after graduation. Thus, in addition to the aforementioned economic problems, they will also have to strive for their future in relative isolation, which might cause them to feel that the future is uncertain (Lee, 2012). However, members of individualistic cultures also tend to believe that their own efforts can make a difference. In contrast, Chinese culture emphasizes collectivism (Earley, 1989; Forbes et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2016), which focuses on social harmony and dependency. Thus, Chinese undergraduates think about their future not only from their own perspective, but also from the perspective of important people around them (e.g., their parents, teachers, relatives, and friends) (Zhang et al., 2015). The various elements of "me" are interwoven, thus presenting a more complex view of the future.

Third, Eastern cultures often emphasize Confucianism, which advocates that "happiness lies in contentment." Thus, past and present contentment is used as a basis for increasing the frequency and expectations of future thinking (Fingerman and Perlmutter, 1995). Our study discovered that American undergraduates exhibited greater perseverance regarding the future, and persistence implies the ability to resist current temptations. Bembenutty and Karabenick (2004) proposed that individuals delay gratification based on two aspects of information: the value of the delayed option and motivation to achieve the final goal. Individualism stresses individual freedom and realization of self-worth, which are complementary to the experience of achieving one's ultimate goals. In particular, the one-child policy in China has created a large number of onechild families, and a superior childhood growth environment can lead to greater persistence. Moreover, influenced by the Confucian culture, Chinese students are more accustomed to the Zhongyong (The Doctrine of the Mean). Therefore, they show a tendency to be "not pleased by external gains, not saddened by personal losses." In addition, the development of self-esteem also reflects the development of self-consciousness, which has also been demonstrated in our study, as American undergraduates scored higher in self-esteem than Chinese undergraduates (Farruggia et al., 2004; Cai et al., 2007). Accordingly, Americans undergraduates were more persistent about the future than Chinese undergraduates.

This study also showed that the relationship between FTP and self-esteem was consistent within two cultural environments. In both China and America, age and gender were not significant predictors of self-esteem. Future-negative subscale scores negatively predicted self-esteem, while future-positive subscale scores positively predicted self-esteem. This indicates that affect with respect to the future predicted self-esteem. Studies have shown that emotions are correlated with selfesteem (Zhang et al., 2016); individuals with past experiences of positive emotions tend toward high self-esteem, whereas those with past experiences of negative emotions tend toward low self-esteem (Lyu and Huang, 2008). Similar to the present study, Kang et al. (2003) found that the impact of emotional status on self-esteem was consistent across cultures, which suggests that an individual's positive self-perception is affected to a certain extent by temperament rooted in biological underpinnings (Schimmack et al., 2002). Futureperseverance subscale scores were also a significant predictor of self-esteem. Future-perseverance primarily involves behavioral persistence and manifests as an individual's ability to delay gratification (Lyu and Huang, 2016). When individuals perform a comprehensive evaluation of their surrounding environment and engage in long-term planning, the process of choosing between delayed and immediate gratification cannot be separated from self-evaluation and regulation (Bembenutty and Karabenick, 2004). Selecting delayed gratification implies self-regulation and positive self-evaluation.

It should be noted that future confusion negatively predicted self-esteem, whereas future-perspicuity positively predicted self-esteem, among American undergraduates, which reflects different effects of different types of awareness about one's future. From the perspective of the self, future-confusion stems from present uncertainty. Given that most of the undergraduate participants in the current study had just transitioned from high school into a university setting, they were faced with uncertainty in an unfamiliar environment, thereby engendering an unstable cognitive evaluation of the self (Ross, 1995). However, independence is fostered among Americans from early childhood; hence, American undergraduates may been better able to cognitively cope with changes in their surrounding environment, and being certain about oneself and one's surroundings is positively correlated with self-evaluations (Orr and Moscovitch, 2015). Therefore, Chinese undergraduates possibly tended to change their self-concept to adapt to their environment, whereas American undergraduates possibly tended to change their environment to adapt to their self-concept (Jiang et al., 2016).

Furthermore, family economic status was positively predictive of self-esteem, whereby better economic status was associated with higher levels of self-esteem. This finding is consistent with previous studies. For example, studies have shown that selfesteem and socio-economic status (including family economic status) are positively correlated (Zhang and Postiglione, 2001; Twenge and Campbell, 2002). Undergraduates with better family economic status will experience greater social support and encounter different social challenges, thus continuously improving their self-evaluation during this process. As China is still in the developmental stage, there is still a significant difference in family economic status caused by the wealth gap. A meta-analysis by Twenge and Campbell (2002) showed that members of Asian cultures believed that socio-economic status was particularly important to self-esteem, which reflects the self-protection mechanism that exists in those with collectivistic backgrounds.

It should be noted that future-planning subscale scores did not significantly differ according to cultural background. This indicates that regardless of the environment, future-planning is indispensable. When undergraduates break away from the constraints of their families, they will require clear understanding so as to plan for the future and better adapt to society. This is a manifestation of universal psychological adaptability in humans (Londono and McMillan, 2015).

Of course, there were a few limitations in this study. First, the sample's representativeness was limited, as only three cities (Chongqing in China and Chicago, Illinois and Athens, Ohio in America) were selected for this study. The sample size should also be increased in future studies. Furthermore, sample homogeneity within the two cultures could not be ensured, with relatively large influences from external factors. Thus, caution is needed when generalizing the research conclusions. Future studies should include more countries (e.g., Japan, Korea, Britain, France) to increase generalizability. Second, FTP and self-esteem are two relatively stable traits, and there were no differences across cultures in their relationship to one another, possibly because the scale wording was not culture-specific. It is necessary to examine implicit as well as implicit measures of these constructs (e.g., future fluency task, implicit self-esteem) in further research. Finally, the FTP scale may have been limited by potential differences in comprehension of language across cultures. That is, errors might have occurred during the translation process, and hence, better measurement tools should be developed in subsequent studies.

In conclusion, compared to Chinese students, American students were more negative and more confused about the future,

REFERENCES

- Asparouhov, T., and Muthén, B. (2009). Exploratory structural equation modeling. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 16, 397–438. doi: 10.1080/1070551090300 8204
- Baumeister, R., Smart, L., and Boden, J. (1996). Relation of threatened egotism to violence and aggression: the dark side of high self-esteem. *Psychol. Rev.* 103, 5–33. doi: 10.1037//0033-295X.103.1.5
- Bembenutty, H., and Karabenick, S. A. (2004). Inherent association between academic delay of gratification, future time perspective, and self-regulated learning. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 16, 35–57. doi: 10.1023/B:EDPR.0000012344. 34008.5c
- Berndt, T. J. (2002). Friendship quality and social development. Curr. Dir. Psychol. 11, 7–10. doi: 10.2307/20182753
- Brislin, R. W. (1970). Back-translation for cross-cultural research. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 1, 185–216. doi: 10.1177/135910457000100301
- Brislin, R. W., and Kim, E. S. (2003). Cultural diversity in people's understanding and uses of time. *Appl. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 52, 363–382. doi: 10.1111/1464-0597. 00140
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The Ecology of Human Development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Cai, H., Brown, J. D., Deng, C., and Oakes, M. (2007). Self-esteem and culture: differences in cognitive self-evaluations or affective self-regard? *Asian J. Soc. Psychol.* 10, 162–170. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-839X.2007.00222.x
- Crocker, J., and Wolfe, C. T. (2001). Contingencies of self-worth. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 593–623. doi: 10.2307/20183024

but were also more positive, persistent and perspicuous about the future than Chinese students. In both the American and Chinese samples, the future-negative, future-positive, futureconfusion, and future-perseverant subscales of FTP significantly predicted self-esteem.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Faculty of Psychology at Southwest University. The participants signed an informed consent form stating the aim of the study and explaining that they could withdraw from the study, and the data would be anonymous.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HL designed the study idea and research framework. GD contributed to the data analysis and writing. KR contributed to the data collection and manuscript modification.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Social Science Fund of China (14BSH080), the Research Team Projects of the Faculty of Psychology, Southwest University (TR201201-2), the Scientific Research Foundation for Returned Overseas Scholars (1503000030), and the Chongqing Humanities and Social Science Key Research Base Project (18SKB002).

- Earley, P. C. (1989). Social loafing and collectivism: a comparison of the United States and the People's Republic of China. Adm. Sci. Q. 34, 565–581. doi: 10.2307/2393567
- Farruggia, S. P., Chen, C., Greenberger, E., Dmitrieva, J., and Macek, P. (2004). Adolescent self-esteem in cross-cultural perspective: testing measurement equivalence and a mediation model. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 35, 719–733. doi: 10.1177/0022022104270114
- Fingerman, K. L., and Perlmutter, M. (1995). Future time perspective and life events across adulthood. J. Gen. Psychol. 122, 95–111. doi: 10.1080/00221309. 1995.9921225
- Forbes, G., Zhang, X. Y., Doroszewicz, K., and Haas, K. (2009). Relationships between individualism-collectivism, gender, and direct or indirect aggression: a study in China, Poland, and the US. *Aggressive Behav.* 35, 24–30. doi: 10.1002/ ab.20292
- Gao, X. (2016). Cultural differences between East Asian and North American in temporal orientation. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 20, 118–127. doi: 10.1037/gpr0000070
- Jiang, D., Fung, H. H., Sims, T., Tsai, J. L., and Zhang, F. (2016). Limited time perspective increases the value of calm. *Emotion* 16, 52–62. doi: 10.1037/ emo0000094
- Kang, S., Shaver, P. R., Sue, S., Min, K., and Jing, H. (2003). Culture-specific patterns in the prediction of life satisfaction: roles of emotion, relationship quality, and self-esteem. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 29, 1596–1608. doi: 10.1177/ 0146167203255986
- Kooij, D. T. A. M., Kanfer, R., Betts, M., and Rudolph, C. W. (2018). Future time perspective: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Appl. Psychol. 103, 867–893. doi: 10.1037/apl0000306

- Lee, L. M. (2012). Youths navigating social networks and social support systems in settings of chronic crisis: the case of youth-headed households in Rwanda. *Afr. J. Aids Res.* 11, 165–175. doi: 10.2989/16085906.2012.734976
- Li, J. B., Delvecchio, E., Di Riso, D., Salcuni, S., and Mazzeschi, C. (2015). Self-esteem and its association with depression among Chinese, Italian, and Costa Rican adolescents: a cross-cultural study. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 82, 20–25. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2015.02.036
- Liebgold, E. B. (2014). The influence of social environment: behavior of unrelated adults affects future juvenile behaviors. *Ethology* 120, 388–399. doi: 10.1111/eth. 12214
- Londono, Y., and McMillan, D. E. (2015). Psychosocial adaptation: an evolutionary concept analysis exploring a common multidisciplinary language. J. Adv. Nurs. 71, 2504–2519. doi: 10.1111/jan.12723
- Lyu, H. C., and Huang, X. T. (2008). An experimental research of the influence of past feeling experience on self-esteem. J. Southwest Univ. 34, 1–4. doi: 10.13718/ j.cnki.xdsk.2008.04.001
- Lyu, H. C., and Huang, X. T. (2016). Development and validation of the future time perspective inventory for adolescents and young adults. *Time Soc.* 25, 533–551. doi: 10.1177/0961463X16662669
- Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol. Rev.* 98, 224–253. doi: 10.1037/ 0033-295X.98.2.224
- McInerney, D. M., Roche, L. A., McInerney, V., and Marsh, H. W. (1997). Cultural perspectives on school motivation: the relevance and application of goal theory. *Am. Educ. Res. J.* 34, 207–236. doi: 10.3102/00028312034001207
- McInerney, D. M. (2004). A discussion of future time perspective. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 16, 141–151. doi: 10.2307/23363837
- Morselli, D. (2013). The olive tree effect: future time perspective when the future is uncertain. *Cult. Psychol.* 19, 305–322. doi: 10.1177/1354067X13489319
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (2012). *Mplus User's Guide*, 7th Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019). Available at: http://data.stats.gov.cn/ easyquery.htm?cn=C01 (accessed January 21, 2019).
- Nuttin, J. (1985). Future Time Perspective and Motivation: Theory and Research Method. Lawrence, KS: Erlbaum Associates.
- Orr, E. M., and Moscovitch, D. A. (2015). Blending in at the cost of losing oneself: dishonest self-disclosure erodes self-concept clarity in social anxiety. J. Exp. Psychopathol. 6, 278–296. doi: 10.5127/jep.044914
- Peetsma, T. T. D. (2000). Future time perspective as a predictor of school investment. Scand. J. Educ. Res. 44, 177–192. doi: 10.1080/71369 6667
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). *Society and the Adolescent Self-Image*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Ross, L. E. (1995). School environment, self-esteem, and delinquency. J. Crim. Just 23, 555–567. doi: 10.1016/0047-2352(95)00046-1
- Schimmack, U., Radhakrishnan, P., Oishi, S., Dzokoto, V., and Ahadi, S. (2002). Culture, personality, and subjective well-being: integrating process models of life satisfaction. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 82, 582–593. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.82. 4.582
- Seginer, R., and Lens, W. (2015). "The motivational properties of future time perspective future orientation: Different approaches, different cultures," in *Time Perspective Theory; Review, Research and Application*, eds F. Martinez and N.

Fieulaine (Berlin: Springer International Publishing), 287-304. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-319-07368-2_19

- Seginer, R., and Schlesinger, R. (1998). Adolescents' future orientation in time and place: the case of the Israeli Kibbutz. Int. J. Behav. Dev. 22, 151–167. doi: 10.1080/016502598384559
- So, S., Voisin, D. R., Burnside, A., and Gaylord-Harden, N. K. (2016). Future orientation and health related factors among African American adolescents. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 61, 15–21. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2015. 11.026
- Sowislo, J. F., and Orth, U. (2013). Does low self-esteem predict depression and anxiety? A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychol. Bull.* 139, 213–240. doi: 10.1037/a0028931
- Spears, N., Lin, X., and Mowen, J. C. (2001). Time orientation in the United States, China, and Mexico: measurement and insights for promotional strategy. J. Int. Consum. Mark. 13, 57–75. doi: 10.1300/j046v13n01_05
- Twenge, J. M., and Campbell, W. K. (2002). Self-esteem and socioeconomic status: a meta-analytic review. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev. 6, 59–71. doi: 10.1207/ S15327957PSPR0601_3
- U.S. Department of Commerce (2019). Available at: https://www.commerce.gov/ data-and-reports (accessed May 5, 2019).
- Wang, X. D., Wang, X. L., and Ma, H. (1999). Manual of Mental Health Assessment Scale (revised edition). Beijing: Chinese Journal of Mental Health.
- Worrell, F. C., McKay, M. T., and Andretta, J. R. (2015). Concurrent validity of Zimbardo time perspective inventory profiles: a secondary analysis of data from the United Kingdom. J. Adolesc. 42, 128–139. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2015. 04.006
- Zaleski, Z. (1996). Future anxiety: concept, measurement, and preliminary research. Pers. Individ. Differ. 21, 165–174. doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(96)00070-0
- Zhang, L., and Postiglione, G. A. (2001). Thinking styles, self-esteem, and socioeconomic status. Pers. Individ. Differ. 31, 1333–1346. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00227-0
- Zhang, W., Chen, L., Yu, F., Wang, S., and Nurmi, J. E. (2015). Hopes and fears for the future among Chinese adolescents. J. Res. Adolesc. 25, 622–629. doi: 10.1111/jora.12166
- Zhang, X., Pomerantz, E. M., Setoh, P., Qu, Y., and Wang, M. (2016). The role of affect in the positive self: two longitudinal investigations of young adolescents in the United States and China. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 111, 83–97. doi: 10.1037/ pspp0000082
- Zimbardo, P. G., and Boyd, J. N. (1999). Putting time in perspective: a valid, reliable individual- differences metric. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 77, 1271–1288. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.77.6.1271

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lyu, Du and Rios. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Self-Deception Reduces Cognitive Load: The Role of Involuntary Conscious Memory Impairment

Zengdan Jian^{1,2†}, Wenjie Zhang^{1,2†}, Ling Tian¹, Wei Fan^{1,2*} and Yiping Zhong^{1,2*}

¹Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ²Department of Psychology, School of Education Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alain Morin, Mount Royal University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Li Kaiyun, University of Jinan, China Junfeng Bian, Changsha University of Science and Technology, China

*Correspondence:

Wei Fan fanwei@hunnu.edu.cn Yiping Zhong ypzhong@hunnu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

> **Received:** 27 April 2019 **Accepted:** 10 July 2019 **Published:** 30 July 2019

Citation:

Jian Z, Zhang W, Tian L, Fan W and Zhong Y (2019) Self-Deception Reduces Cognitive Load: The Role of Involuntary Conscious Memory Impairment. Front. Psychol. 10:1718. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01718 People often hear classic allusions such as plugging one's ears while stealing a bell, drawing cakes to satisfy one's hunger, and the emperor's new clothes. These allusions reflect a principle that people believe in nonexistent phenomena to satisfy their desires, also called self-deception. The current research used three experiments to examine the impact of social status and cognitive load on self-deception, and further to explore the inner connection about cognitive load and self-deception. The results found that deceiving individuals of high social status can play a role through the intrinsic mechanism of involuntary conscious memory (ICM). The higher the cognitive load of the deceiver, the greater the possibility of deception. The study demonstrated that involuntary conscious memory is the internal mechanism of self-deception, further explore the origin of self-deception, and enrich the self-deception theory.

Keywords: self-deception, deception, cognitive load, involuntary conscious memory, forward-looking paradigm

INTRODUCTION

People often hear classic allusions such as plugging one's ears while stealing a bell, pointing to a deer and calling it a horse, drawing cakes to satisfy one's hunger, and the emperor's new clothes. These allusions reflect the principle that people believe in nonexistent phenomena to satisfy their desires. This is called "self-deception." Self-deception is a personality trait and an independent mental state, it involves a combination of a conscious motivational false belief and a contradictory unconscious real belief (von Hippel and Trivers, 2011). The forwardlooking paradigm is widely used in self-deception research field to examine how self-deception influences predictions of the future (Chance et al., 2011; Yang, 2017; Ren et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019). Participants take tests that assess their general knowledge and IQ. The paradigm includes three phases. In the first phase, participants are given the opportunity to view an answer key while taking an initial test; in the second phase, participants are asked to predict their future performance on a similar second test that lacks an answer key; in the third phase, participants take the second test, and the actual test score is recorded (Chance et al., 2011). Chance's study found that compared with the control group, the self-deception group predicted significantly higher scores on the second test that were much higher than their actual test scores (the self-deception group had the opportunity to view an answer key while taking the

initial test, whereas those in the control group did not have this opportunity). And a new study that used the forwardlooking paradigm found that this paradigm can effectively indicate the existence of deception and that individuals of high social status are better able to control themselves and reduce self-deception (Ren et al., 2018).

With regard to the theoretical difference between deception and self-deception, previous studies have provided some explanations. Lu (2012) suggested that self-deception functions as a strategy in interpersonal communication to deceive others from the perspective of evolutionary theory. Because it is possible to deceive others directly, individuals can deceive themselves and then "honestly" send an incorrect message to the other party, such as withholding fitness-enhancing information from both oneself and others. Self-deception as an adaptation must cease to operate in most instances once the goal of deception has been achieved. Truthful information that has been kept from both oneself and others will then be retrieved to benefit the self. It is likely that this information manipulation co-opts memory to execute self-deception.

In human deception, cognitive load is an important indicator in recognizing deception (Trivers, 2011). Previous studies have shown that cognitive load reveals deception, but there are additional costs: the requirements of working memory reduce performance in challenging areas (Schmader and Johns, 2003) and damage social function (Hippel and Gonsalkorale, 2010). According to the theory of limited cognitive resources (Sweller, 1988), individual cognitive resources are generally limited. If too many cognitive resources are consumed, the cognitive load will be larger (Barrett et al., 2007; Van Dillen and Koole, 2007). While most people need to distinguish fact and lie, the deceiver needs to make sure that fact can be hidden and that lie can be supported. Two conflicting messages must exist at the same time, so a high cognitive burden is required. Based on the related research on self-deception and cognitive load, the current study proposed that, while self-deception provides a way to avoid this cognitive load, deceivers can convince themselves that their deception is indeed true, and they no longer need to maintain the truth of the event while highlighting the lie. On the contrary, by believing the lies they tell others, they can relax and focus on other things. Based on the theory of limited cognitive resources, can people reduce their cognitive load by deceiving themselves to avoid the cognitive cost of deceiving? This is the first question to be explored in our study.

Self-deception to some extent involves interpersonal selfdeception. This process is achieved by relegating real information to the unconscious while consciously providing false information to others and to self (Trivers, 2000; von Hippel and Trivers, 2011). Some studies have found that when individuals use self-deception strategies to lie in interpersonal relationships, their situational pressures have considerable bearing on whether they use self-deception strategies. When the situation is more stressful, individuals are more likely to deceive themselves. Furthermore, high and low status relate to the level of one's ability to detect lies (Lu and Chang, 2014; Ren et al., 2018). Previous studies on social status have shown that because low-status individuals lack power, if they wish to gain additional resources, they can only do so in a surreptitious way, such as hiding food, distracting others' attention, or covering up their transgressions (Bugnyar and Kotrschal, 2004; Bräuer et al., 2007).

Previous studies have found that self-deception is related to memory. Roediger (1990) proposed that the memory structure consists of explicit/conscious and implicit/unconscious memory. Trivers (2000) proposed an information placement system of self-deception that supported Schacter and Roediger's arguments. Conscious memory involves subjective awareness in the recollection of experience, whereas unconscious memory involves retrieval without awareness, which affects behavior. In interpersonal self-deception (Trivers, 2000), false information is in the conscious, whereas true information is in the unconscious. When the motivation for deception ceases, true information can return to the conscious.

Lu and Chang (2014) used Trivers' theory to conduct empirical research using voluntary conscious memory (VCM) and involuntary conscious memory (ICM) to explore the relationship between social status and self-deception. VCM involves intentional and effortful recollections of experiences. By contrast, ICM involves unintentional and spontaneous recollections that are self-reported without effortful recall (Baddeley and Della Sala, 1996; Tulving, 2002). In widely adopted tasks of conscious memory, such as free recall and recognition, both VCM and ICM are assumed to be involved (Mandler, 1980; Schacter et al., 1989; Kvavilashvili and Mandler, 2004). An increasing number of studies of ICM have shown that spontaneous recollections in self-reports occur in various contexts, including semantic (Richardson-Klavehn and Gardiner, 1996; Kvavilashvili and Mandler, 2004) and episodic memory tasks (Berntsen and Jacobsen, 2008; Rasmussen et al., 2014). VCM and ICM may help to explain how conscious memory is temporarily impaired in self-deception. Self-deceivers make an effort to subjectively and voluntarily collect true information to convey to the deceived because self-deceivers are honest both to themselves and to the deceived. However, they unconsciously and involuntarily withhold true information from the deceived. Thus, the VCM of self-deceivers should be similar to that of nondeceivers, whereas ICM, which automatically emerges in the conscious without effortful recall, may be reduced to help achieve self-deception.

Based on the above research, we hypothesized that VCM and ICM may help to explain how conscious memory is temporarily impaired in self-deception. Lu and Chang (2014) found that during a task, in individuals with high social status, VCM will produce more memory error messages, while ICM can correct memory; that is, the high social status of individual participants is involved in self-deception. Therefore, the role of ICM between social status and self-deception remains to be verified.

Social status and cognitive load presumably have direct and indirect impacts on self-deception. What are the reasons and mechanisms that affect self-deception? This is the second question that this study aims to explore. Previous research showed that the impairment of ICM can reduce cognitive load, and self-deception can reduce cognitive load (Lu and Chang, 2014). The current study continues to explore this question: can this intrinsic mechanism reduce self-deception? Apart from the intrinsic mechanism, individual self-deception also affects cognitive load (Lu and Chang, 2014), which is an external factor that influences ICM. This study also aims to answer these questions. Based on Lu and Chang's (2014) research, the purpose of the present study was to provide a more empirical test of Trivers' theory by addressing the aforementioned issues.

From the above, the current study proposed three questions to explore the relationship between self-deception and cognitive load. First, people use self-deception to deceive others, whether self-deception can reduce cognitive load compared to direct deception? Second, if the results of Experiment 1 suggested that self-deception reduces an individual's cognitive load, what is the inner mechanism? Previous studies have shown that interpersonal self-deception is that people will put real information into unconscious, while consciously providing false information to others and self (Trivers, 2000; von Hippel and Trivers, 2011), and previous study has shown that ICM can reduce the cognitive load (Lu and Chang, 2014). So, can memory impairment can achieve interpersonal self-deception? Third, according to the theory of limited cognitive resources, do individuals with high cognitive load experience self-deception due to excessive cognitive load? In other words, does cognitive load of an individual have an effect on the individual's selfdeception? In order to resolve the three questions, we designed three experiments.

EXPERIMENT 1

In Experiment 1, the forward-looking paradigm was used to induce self-deception and deception to determine whether selfdeception can eliminate the costly cognitive load associated with deception. We hypothesized that participants in the selfdeception group and the deception group would have higher cognitive load scores compared to the control group. When comparing the two groups with high cognitive load scores, the self-deception group would have lower cognitive load scores than the deception group.

Methods

Participants

The experimental procedure was approved by the IRB of the Institute of Psychology, Hunan Normal University. Ninety non-psychology-major students participated in the experiment. All participants provided verbal informed consent. Prior to this experiment, they had not taken civil service examinations or similar tests, and they signed informed consent for the experiment. Participants were randomly assigned to the self-deception group, the deception group, or the control group, with 30 people in each group (seven participants failed to understand the task's rules and did not complete the task, so 83 participants with valid data were selected). We used G*Power Version 3.1.9.2 software (Faul et al., 2009) to acquire a *post hoc* calculation of the power of the sample size.

According to the effect size of Experiment 1 (effect size f = 0.717), using the parameters $\alpha = 0.05$, total sample size = 83, number of groups = 3, the analysis estimated a power of 0.99.

Measures for General Knowledge and Cognitive Load

The study used the forward-looking paradigm (Chance et al., 2011) and 20 general knowledge questions (Yang, 2017) for the experiment. An example of a general knowledge question was "When did the first world war break out? A.1910, B.1914, C.1939, D.1940."

This experiment used the NASA-Task Load Index (NASA-TLX) scale developed by NASA, as translated and revised by Xiao et al. (2005), to measure the cognitive load after completion of the task. The NASA-TLX is a multidimensional instrument that consists of six subscales: Mental Demand (MD), Physical Demand (PD), Temporal Demand (TD), Frustration (FR), Effort (EF), and Performance (PE). Twenty-step bipolar scales are used to obtain ratings on these dimensions, resulting in a score between 0 and 100. The underlying assumption of the instrument is that the combination of these six dimensions is likely to represent the "workload" experienced by operators (Hart, 2006; Hoonakker et al., 2011).

Procedure

In this study, a single factor (self-deception, deception, and control group) was used in the design. The dependent variable was the cognitive load after the task was completed.

Prior to the experiment, the participants were told that the task was a general knowledge question in which a higher score indicated a higher level of intelligence. They were told that if their scores were in the top 20%, they would receive a bonus.

After the experiment began, the self-deception group completed five moderately difficult common-sense questions within 5 min. Each participant could see the answers, which were at the bottom of the test. After the first test, the participants were asked to complete 15 similar unanswerable common-sense questions. Prior to the second test, the participants were asked to make a prediction score and report it to the researcher. The participants then completed the second test.

The deception group was also able to see the answers at the bottom of the test. However, unlike the self-deception group, after completing all the tests, the participants checked their own answers and collated the scores of the second test. The researcher stressed that their answers would not be checked.

The control group could not see the answers. The control group also took the prediction test before the formal test, and the participants were required to make score predictions and report them to the researcher before completing the second test.

When the self-deception, deception, and control groups had completed the two tests, all participants were measured for the degree of cognitive load using the NASA scale. Because these tests did not involve physical exercise or performance in the experiment, these two sections of the NASA scale were eliminated (**Figure 1**).



Results

Manipulation Check

There were significant differences in the prediction of the scores between the self-deception group and the control group on the second test, F(2,81) = 33.22, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.45$. Compared with the control group (M = 74.64, SD = 15.51) and the deception group (M = 84.04, SD = 10.20), the self-deception group (M = 102.76, SD = 13.34) reported higher predicted scores.

Cognitive Load Results

Next, the results of the NASA cognitive load scale of the self-deception group, the deception group, and the control group were calculated. The weight of the four questions in the NASA scale was 25% each, and the total score of the cognitive load was the sum of the weighted scores of each question multiplied by 10. The total scores of the cognitive load in the self-deception, deception, and control groups were analyzed by single-factor analysis of variance. The results showed that there were significant differences in the total score of the cognitive load among the three groups, F(2,80) = 11.29, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.12$. Multiple comparisons showed that the total cognitive load score (M = 62.02, SD = 9.51) of the deception group was significantly higher than that of the self-deception group (M = 33.79, SD = 9.22; p < 0.01) and of the control group (M = 28.571, SD = 8.99; p < 0.01). In addition, the selfdeception group's score was significantly higher than that of the control group (p < 0.05) (Figure 2).

Discussion

The results of Experiment 1 showed that the predicted results for the second test in the self-deception group were significantly higher than the predicted results for the second test in the control group, indicating that self-deceptive behavior of the participants was successfully induced under the forward-looking paradigm. This result is consistent with previous conclusions



(Yang, 2017; Ren et al., 2018) and indicates that both the forward-looking paradigm and the experimental materials could induce self-deception in the participants. In terms of the cognitive load results, the self-deception group experienced a greater cognitive load than the control group, indicating that the self-deception behavior itself, like all other ordinary behaviors, caused the participants to experience a certain cognitive load. However, compared with the self-deception group, the deception group had a greater cognitive load. This result is also in line with previous studies to some extent (Vrij and Barton, 2004; Atoum, 2006): under the same conditions of high cognitive load, the cognitive load of self-deception behavior is lower than that of deception. As evidence of the existence of interpersonal deception, self-deception has the advantage of saving cognitive resources and reducing cognitive load, as demonstrated by Experiment 1.

Experiment 1 showed that compared with the non-deception group, the deception and self-deception groups both experienced
cognitive loads, but the cognitive load of the self-deception group was lower than that of the deception group. Previous studies have shown that when people of high social status are deceived, the memory adaptation of individual self-deception results in the impairment of ICM. We hypothesized that the memory of ICM is weakened by the self-adaptation of memory, thereby reducing the cognitive load of participants in the process of deception.

EXPERIMENT 2

In Experiment 2, we hypothesized that compared with participants who deceived a low-status person, those who deceived a highstatus person would temporarily be impaired in self-deception. Specifically, ICM would temporarily be impaired, but VCM would not be significantly different because the participants would consciously impair their memory to lie to others. We further hypothesized that both VCM and ICM would not be significantly different in the non-deception condition because the participants would not consciously impair their memory to lie to others.

Method

Participants

The experimental procedure was approved by the IRB of the Institute of Psychology, Hunan Normal University. All participants provided verbal informed consent. One hundred non-psychology-major college students were recruited to participate in the experiment ($M_{age} = 19.8 \pm 0.75$ years). They were paid 20 Yuan (approximately US\$3) after the experiment, which lasted approximately 25 min. Participants were randomly assigned to four conditions: deception high status, deception low status, non-deception high status, and non-deception low status. We used G*Power Version 3.1.9.2 software (Faul et al., 2009) to acquire an *a priori* estimate of the required sample size. Using the parameters power = 0.8, effect size f = 0.25, $\alpha = 0.05$ and given the current experimental design, the analysis estimated a sample size of 82. We ultimately recruited a total of 100 undergraduates. The actual power for this sample size was 0.88.

Experimental Material

The word materials were selected from 60 double-character Chinese words in the Chinese word library and edited by e-prime software. Each word was displayed on a computer screen for 7 s, followed by an instruction indicating whether the participant should cheat. The instructions for deception and non-deception were presented randomly, with half of the words being deceptive (including a deception instruction) and half being non-deceptive (not including a deception instruction). Participants who were assigned to deceive high-status individuals were told that they were going to deceive the teacher and were told to hide the words that had the "deceive the teacher" instruction in a later task. In contrast, the participants who were assigned to deceive low-status individuals were told that they would deceive students in later cheating tasks, which involved concealing words with the "cheat the student" instruction. Non-deceptive words had the instruction "not cheating" for the conditions of both high and low status.

The VCM and ICM measurements were based on the measurement method used in the research of Lu and Chang (2014). The cognitive load scale was the same as in Experiment 1.

Procedure

Experiment 2 used a 2 (Social status: High vs. Low) \times 2 (Attribute of words: Deception vs. Non-deception) betweensubjects design. The dependent variables were the number of test words of the first VCM/ICM test, the number of words in the second VCM/ICM test, and the difference in the number of words in the two VCM/ICM tests.

Before the experiment began, the participants were informed that they had been asked to participate in a deception task. Next, the participants were asked to remember 60 Chineselanguage words (word memory tables) with medium frequency of use. They were told that the researcher would later ask them which words they had learned.

In the word memory table, half of the words included deception instructions, while the other half of the words did not. The deceptive words required participants to conceal the target words in the subsequent deception task, while the non-deceptive words required them to report the words honestly in the subsequent deception task. Participants who deceived high-social status individuals were told that their task was to deceive teachers in subsequent deception tasks. Those who deceived low-social status individuals were told that their task was to deceive students in subsequent deception tasks. At the end of the learning stage, to avoid rehearsal and recency effects, the participants completed a shape recognition filler task on the computer for 5 min.

After the filler task, the participants were told that they needed to complete a test before participating in the deception task. The VCM group completed the first VCM material test. The test content was a test paper containing 30 Chinese characters, with two spaces next to each of them. These Chinese characters were the first characters of the two-character words that the participants studied in the word memory table during the learning stage. The participants were asked to use the first character as a reminder to recall the words they had learned in the glossary and write them in the first space; using the first character to remember the second one is a "cued recall task." If they could not remember the word they had learned, in the second space they were asked to write a word based on the two characters associated with the given first character. If the participant was able to actively and explicitly recall the word in the first space, the word that was written in the first space was considered to be recalled using VCM.

The ICM group completed the first ICM material test with the same test content as the VCM group. Unlike the VCM group, in the first space, the participants were asked to write the two-character words as quickly as possible. The participants were asked to do this quickly to avoid intentional recall. After completing the task, the participants were asked to check whether they had learned these words during the learning stage. If they confirmed learning a word, they were asked to write another two-character word beginning with the given character in the second space. The words written in the first blank and later identified as learning words were considered to be recalled using ICM because these words automatically reached the participant's mind without deliberate recall. All participants completed the test and the cognitive load self-report scale.

To test the participants' actual memory of words, the participants were told that they would not have to cheat on the next task and should actually report the words they remembered. Finally, the participants were asked to take the VCM and ICM tests again. The content of the test was the remaining 30 words, excluding the words in the first test. At this time, the subjects were no longer in a situation of deception and self-deception and did not have a motivation to cheat (**Figure 3**).

Results

Cognitive Load Check

A *t* test was conducted on the self-reported cognitive load scores of the high-social status and low-social status groups. The cognitive load scores of the high-social status group (M = 33.80, SD = 10.317) were significantly lower than those of the low-social status group (M = 57.54, SD = 13.459), t(98) = -9.899, p < 0.01, d = 0.50. These results suggest that people who cheat on high social status have a greater cognitive load.

Number of Words in the First Voluntary Conscious Memory/Involuntary Conscious Memory Test

A two-factor analysis of variance for VCM found that the main effect of social status and the attributes of words showed no significant difference. A two-factor analysis of variance for ICM found that the main effect of the attributes of words was significant, F(1,49) = 12.57, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.17$, and the number of ICM deceptive words was significantly lower than the number of ICM non-deceptive words. More importantly, there was an interaction between social status and the attributes of words, F(1,49) = 11.28, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$. Furthermore, a simple effect analysis showed that for the number of deceptive words, individuals who deceived people of high social status (M = 5.36, SD = 1.32) had significantly lower ICM recall than those who deceived people of low social status (M = 7.40, SD = 2.35) (**Figure 4**).

Difference in the Number of Words in the Second Voluntary Conscious Memory/Involuntary Conscious Memory Test

A two-factor analysis of variance for VCM found that the main effect of social status and the attributes of words showed no significant difference.

A two-factor analysis of variance for ICM found that the main effect of word attributes was significant, $F(1,49) = 13.85, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.12$. ICM deception word memory test (M = 3.08, SD = 0.33) was significantly higher than that of the non-deception test (M = 0.5, SD = 0.15); and the main effect of social status was significant, $F(1,49) = 37.41, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.28$. Compared with the low social status deception (M = 0.41, SD = 0.13), the high social status deception had more ICM recall (M = 2.98, SD = 0.29) (Figure 5). More importantly, there was an interaction between the attributes of words and social status, $F(1,49) = 21.68, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.19$. Comparing with non-deception words, Individuals who had cheated on high social status had more ICM recall (M = 2.67, SD = 0.23) than those who had cheated on low social status (M = 0.40, SD = 0.16) (Figure 5).





FIGURE 4 | Results of Experiment 2: number of recall words in the first ICM test between the high- and low-social status group and the deception or non-deception word group (**p < 0.01).

Deception word

Non-deception word



FIGURE 5 | Results of Experiment 2: difference in the numbers of words between the two ICM tests between the high- and low-social status groups and the deception or non-deception words groups (**p < 0.01).

Discussion

Experiment 2 found that in the first memory test, the number of deceptive words recalled by participants who deceived people of high social status was significantly lower than the number of words recalled by participants who deceived people of low social status. For the number of non-deceptive words, there was no significant difference between participants who deceived high- and low-social status individuals. The result is consistent with previous study, which showed that if individuals were confronted with deception targets who whose social status was higher than their own. High social status can induce self-deception, because of high social status represent authority and status, it was easier to evade the punishment of high-status individuals by using self-deception (Lu, 2012), it was easier to evade the punishment of high social status by using self-deception. Thus, individuals who were prone to more self-deception were of lower social status (Cummins, 1999; Lu and Chang, 2014). These results suggested that people used a self-deception strategy that is the impairment of ICM to achieve self-deception, and to better deceive others. Participants who deceived high-social status individuals with ICM in the task had more memory error messages than those with VCM in the task, who were able to correct their memory. This finding suggests that participants who deceived high-social status individuals engaged in self-deception.

In previous studies (Chance et al., 2011; Lu and Chang, 2014), a forward-looking paradigm was used to compare the ICM and VCM of self-deceiving individuals and deceiving individuals. Only self-deception ICMs were depleted. Thus, self-deception reduces the generation of cognitive load through the adaptiveness of memory compared to deceptive behavior. According to the theory of limited cognitive resources, there were limited effects accompanied by cognitive load consumption. Thus, individuals with a high cognitive load engage in self-deception because of the high cognitive load to alleviate this cognitive burden. To address this issue, Experiment 3 was designed to investigate how cognitive load affects an individual's self-deception when an answer is provided.

EXPERIMENT 3

Experiment 1 and Experiment 2 suggested that self-deception reduces cognitive load, which is caused by ICM impairment of self-deception. Because that we know that self-deception reduce cognitive load through ICM this intrinsic mechanism, what effect, in turn, does the level of an cognitive load have on self-deception? Therefore, Experiment 3 aimed to examine the effect of cognitive load on self-deception. We hypothesized that the difference between the second predicted score and the actual score of high cognitive load was greater than low cognitive load.

Method

Participants

The experimental procedure was approved by the IRB of the Institute of Psychology, Hunan Normal University. All participants provided verbal informed consent. A total of 120 non-psychology-major college students were recruited to participate in the experiment ($M_{age} = 19.68 \pm 0.72$ years). Prior to this, they had not participated in civil service examinations or similar tests, and they signed informed consent for the experiment. They were paid 20 Yuan (approximately US\$3) after the experiment. We used G*Power Version 3.1.9.2 software (Faul et al., 2009) to acquire an a priori estimate of the required sample size. Using the parameters power = 0.8, effect size f = 0.25, $\alpha = 0.05$ and given the current experimental design, the analysis estimated a sample size of 82. We ultimately recruited a total of 120 undergraduates, and the actual power for this sample size was 0.93.

Cognitive Load Task

The cognitive load task adopted the cognitive load scale (Greene et al., 2008). Based on the results of the preliminary experiment, we asked participants to memorize 12 numbers to distinguish between high and low cognitive load. The high cognitive load group memorized 12 different numbers, and the low cognitive load group memorized the same 12 numbers. The commonsense judgment material was the same as in Experiment 1.

Procedure

Experiment 3 used a 2 (cognitive load: High vs. Low) \times 2 (Answer clue: Yes vs. No) between-subjects design. The dependent variables were second predicted score and difference between predicted and actual scores.

Prior to the start of the experiment, all participants were randomized into a high cognitive load group and a low cognitive load group. Participants in the high cognitive load group were assigned high cognitive load tasks, and participants in the low cognitive load group were assigned low cognitive load group tasks.

Next, the participants were asked to complete the initial five items of the general knowledge questions in 5 min. In the first test, participants were randomly divided into a group that received answer clues and a group that did not receive answer clues. Each group had 30 participants. The experimental group had the opportunity to see the answer clues on the bottom of the test paper on each page, but there were no answers at the bottom of the test for the control group. After completing the first test, all subjects answered a second test question without an answer prompt and then predicted the score of the second test (15 similar questions), wrote their predicted score on the test paper, and then finished the second test (**Figure 6**).

Results

Second Predicted Score

The results showed that for the second predicted score, the main effect of the answer clues was significant, F(1,119) = 30.89, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.24$. The second predicted score was significantly higher for participants with answer clues (M = 107.25, SD = 17.09) than for those who did not have answer clues (M = 85.50, SD = 20.99). The main effect of cognitive load was significant, F(1,119) = 17.25, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.29$. The second test score for the high cognitive load group (M = 104.50, SD = 21.71) was significantly higher than that of the low cognitive load group (M = 88.25, SD = 19.20). The interaction between answer clues and cognitive load was not significant, F(1,117) = 0.10, p > 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$.

Difference Between the Predicted and Actual Scores

The results showed that for the second predicted score (the degree of self-deception), the main effect of the answer clues was significant, F(1,119) = 102.67, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.47$. Compared with the group that did not receive answer clues (M = 10.67, SD = 11.33), the answer clues group (M = 39.17, SD = 20.77) had significantly higher predicted scores than actual scores.

The main effect of cognitive load was significant, F(1,119) = 18.03, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$. Compared with the low cognitive load group (M = 18.33, SD = 20.27), the high cognitive load group (M = 31.50, SD = 21.77) predicted scores were significantly higher than actual scores. The interaction between answer clues and cognitive load was significant, F(2,117) = 12.61, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$. Simple effect analysis showed that for the predicted and actual scores, comparing with non-answer clues, when answer clues, high cognitive load (M = 47.36, SD = 20.42) had significantly higher than low cognitive load (M = 30.98, SD = 2.35) (Figure 7).

Discussion

Experiment 3 found that under the forward-looking paradigm of self-deception, individuals who received answer clues had significantly higher second test prediction scores than individuals who did not receive answer clues. Thus, the participants' selfdeception behavior was successfully induced under the forwardlooking paradigm, a result consistent with previous research (Chance et al., 2011; Yang, 2017). Compared with the low cognitive load group, the second test prediction scores of the







high cognitive load group were significantly higher, which showed that the high cognitive load group was more likely to experience an effect on cognitive load than the low cognitive load group. For the difference between the predicted score and the actual score on the second test, in the group with the answer clues, individuals with a high cognitive load had a greater difference in performance than those with a low cognitive load. Thus, individuals with a high cognitive load were more likely to engage in self-deception, which is consistent with our hypothesis.

The results of Experiment 3 also showed that individuals with a high cognitive load not only did not inhibit selfdeception but also promoted self-deception. The reason may be that individuals with a high cognitive load were overburdened, and in cases where additional cognitive load consumption has been identified, they may have used the self-adaptability of memory and unconscious impairment to save cognitive resource consumption (Nairne and Pandeirada, 2010). ICM is the part of memory that is forgotten unconsciously. Forgetting part of the ICM produces less cognitive load. At the same time, people cannot recall the content of ICM; they can only lie to themselves, which promotes the behavior of self-deception. Therefore, cognitive load is not only an important indicator for distinguishing between self-deception and deceptive behavior but also an important external mechanism for self-deception behavior.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Self-Deception Saves Cognitive Resources More Than Deception

Experiment 1 showed that self-deception saves cognitive resources more than deception; it is consistent with previous research, the deceiver can be detected by clues associated with the cognitive load (Vrij and Barton, 2004; Atoum, 2006). Thus, self-deception is a strategy in interactions between individuals rather than an independent strategy. Because that interpersonal deception saving cognitive resources and reducing the production of cognitive load. In this study, the task of cognitive resource consumption was strictly controlled by direct laboratory operation. The intention was to induce self-deception and deception in groups under the same experimental conditions. Through subjective reporting of cognitive load, the cognitive load differences between the two behaviors were directly compared. This study found that under the same experimental conditions, the cognitive load generated by self-deception behavior was lower than that generated by deception behavior, which demonstrates that self-deception behavior, as a form of interpersonal deception, has the advantage of saving cognitive resources and reducing cognitive load.

Memory Impairment May Be Internal Mechanism of Self-Deception to Save Cognitive Resources

Experiment 2 found that self-deception saved cognitive resources compared with deception, and it is necessary to discuss its

internal mechanism. Experiment 2 found that the impairment of ICM deceived the individual memory system to save the internal mechanism of cognitive resources. Using the paradigm of the memory of self-deception behavior, the high or low social status of the target of deception induced different memory encoding processes in participants. This process can reveal the purposes of participants' self-deception and deception behavior. Individuals who received a higher status target were exposed to higher potential lie detection rates and greater situational pressures, so they were more inclined to self-deception. In ICM measurements, fewer deceptive words were reported than non-deceptive words, demonstrating that self-deceiving individuals' ICM was impaired. When instructed to deceive an individual of high social status, self-deceptive individuals also reported lower cognitive loads. These results were consistent with the hypothesis, showing that self-deception behavior as a means of interpersonal deception saves cognitive resources and reduces cognitive load. Thus, its internal mechanism seems to be the conscious memory impairment of the memory system. The impairment pattern of this memory component occurs during the individual's encoding or retention of memory and is a silent and unheralded process of generation. This is what occurred in Experiment 2: individuals are often unaware of this deep change in memory, but this partial impairment of memory causes individuals to unconsciously "lie" to themselves because the memories that should have been kept are no longer there. This form of self-deception becomes a perfect pattern of deception.

Cognitive Load Promotes Self-Deception

Experiment 3 showed that individuals with a high cognitive load did not inhibit self-deception but rather promoted it. This may be because individuals with a high cognitive load are overwhelmed by the burden of cognitive resource consumption. Research by Sweller (1988) suggests that the processing of information received by individuals produces a corresponding "level of mental energy" (Milton et al., 2008). ICM is a component of memory that is unconsciously impaired. When individuals lose part of their ICM, they have a lower cognitive load. At the same time, people cannot recall the content of nonrandom conscious memory; they can only lie to themselves, which promotes the formation of self-deception.

Experiment 3 addressed the problem of cognitive load as the external mechanism of self-deception behavior. Due to the limited amount of cognitive resources, individuals with a high cognitive load attempt to reduce it. One shortcut to achieve the goal of reducing cognitive load is to adapt to this conscious impairment. As a result, the scores predicted in the forward paradigm of self-deception were more daring and inaccurate and thus more prone to self-deception.

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

The current studies explored the cognitive mechanism by which self-deception could reduce cognitive load and found

that it was caused by impairing of involuntary conscious memory (ICM). The studies also found that self-deception would increase when individuals were under a high cognitive load. These results enrich previous research on selfdeception field.

Even so, the current studies still have some limitations. First, because self-deception is very sensitive to the detection probability of presentation, it is difficult to verify self-deception through self-reports or other people's observations (Lu and Chang, 2011). In our studies, it was inevitable to adopt a self-report's method.

Second, in the process of Experiment 1, the experimenter found that when comparing the deception group with the self-deception and control group participants, there were larger mood swings and reactions in the deception group. Previous studies also found that emotion has a large influence on immoral behavior (Hess et al., 2018; Jahnke, 2018). Our study not involve other variables other than those discussed in the experiments. Future study could explore the influence of emotion.

Third, only the ways in which participants deceive themselves and hide information were studied. Deception and self-deception may also occur by means of distortion and forgery (Moomal and Henzi, 2000). Future research could study the multiple functions of deception.

CONCLUSION

Self-deception reduces cognitive load. In terms of internal mechanisms, self-deceiving individuals use the self-adaptability of memory to achieve self-deception through the impairment of nonrandom conscious memory to reduce their cognitive load. In terms of external mechanisms, a higher cognitive load leads to more self-deception.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because we propose to submit the dataset when the paper is

REFERENCES

- Atoum, A. O. (2006). A world of lies. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 37, 60–74. doi: 10.1177/0022022105282295
- Baddeley, A. D., and Della Sala, S. (1996). Working memory and executive control. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Biol. Sci.* 351, 1397–1404. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1996.0123
- Barrett, L. F., Ochsner, K. N., and Gross, J. J. (2007). "On the automaticity of emotion" in Social psychology and the unconscious: The automaticity of higher mental processes. Frontiers of social psychology. ed. J. A. Bargh (Psychology Press), 173–217. https://www.affective-science.org/pubs/2007/automaticity2007.pdf
- Berntsen, D., and Jacobsen, A. S. (2008). Involuntary (spontaneous) mental time travel into the past and future. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 1093–1104. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2008.03.001
- Bräuer, J., Call, J., and Tomasello, M. (2007). Chimpanzees really know what others can see in a competitive situation. *Anim. Cogn.* 10, 439–448. doi: 10.1007/s10071-007-0088-1

accepted. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to fanwei@hunnu.edu.cn.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Hunan Normal University guidelines and written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by Hunan Normal University of the committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in all parts of the research. ZJ analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. WZ designed studies and collected the data. LT performed the experimental procedures and examined the experimental material. WF and YZ guided experimental design and modified the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by grants from the Hunan Province Philosophy Social Science Project (18YBQ095), the Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province (2018JJ3341, 2018JJ2254), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31671134), and the Hunan Provincial Department of Education Scientific Research Key Project (18A006). This work also was supported by China Scholarship Council. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are very grateful to professor Rolf Reber, Cognitive Psychology, University of Oslo, for his guidance of our manuscript. And they would also like to thank editor, professor Alain morin, for his patience in our manuscript.

- Bugnyar, T., and Kotrschal, K. (2004). Leading a conspecific away from food in ravens (*Corvus corax*)? *Anim. Cogn.* 7, 69–76. doi: 10.1007/s10071-003-0189-4
- Chance, Z., Norton, M. I., Gino, F., and Ariely, D. (2011). Temporal view of the costs and benefits of self-deception. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 108, 15655–15659. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010658108
- Cummins, D. D. (1999). Cheater detection is modified by social rank: the impact of dominance on the evolution of cognitive functions. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 20, 229–248. doi: 10.1016/S1090-5138(99)00008-2
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., and Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav. Res. Methods* 41, 1149–1160. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Greene, J. D., Morelli, S. A., Lowenberg, K., Nystrom, L. E., and Cohen, J. D. (2008). Cognitive load selectively interferes with utilitarian moral judgment. *Cognition* 107, 1144–1154. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2007.11.004
- Hart, S. G. (2006). Nasa-Task Load Index (NASA-TLX); 20 years later. Proc. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc. Annu. Meet. 50, 904–908. doi: 10.1177/ 154193120605000909

- Hess, U., Landmann, H., David, S., and Hareli, S. (2018). The bidirectional relation of emotion perception and social judgments: the effect of witness' emotion expression on perceptions of moral behaviour and vice versa. *Cognit. Emot.* 32, 1152–1165. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2017.1388769
- Hippel, W. V., and Gonsalkorale, K. (2010). "That is bloody revolting!": inhibitory control of thoughts better left unsaid. *Psychol. Sci.* 16, 497–500. doi: 10.1111/j. 0956-7976.2005.01563.x
- Hoonakker, P., Carayon, P., Gurses, A. P., Brown, R., Khunlertkit, A., McGuire, K., et al. (2011). Measuring workload of ICU nurses with a questionnaire survey: the NASA Task Load Index (TLX). *IIE Trans. Healthc. Syst. Eng.* 1, 131–143. doi: 10.1080/19488300.2011.609524
- Jahnke, S. (2018). Emotions and cognitions associated with the stigma of nonoffending pedophilia: a vignette experiment. Arch. Sex. Behav. 47, 363–373. doi: 10.1007/s10508-017-1073-7
- Kvavilashvili, L., and Mandler, G. (2004). Out of one's mind: a study of involuntary semantic memories. *Cogn. Psychol.* 48, 47–94. doi: 10.1016/ S0010-0285(03)00115-4
- Liu, J., Zhang, W., Zhan, Y., Song, L., Guan, P., Kang, D., et al. (2019). The effect of negative feedback on positive beliefs in self-deception. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 702–713. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00702
- Lu, H. J. (2012). Self-deception: deceiving yourself to better deceive others. Acta Psychol. Sin. 44, 1265–1278. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1041.2012.01265
- Lu, H. J., and Chang, L. (2011). Self-deceive to countermine detection. Behav. Brain Sci. 34, 33–33. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X10002529
- Lu, H. J., and Chang, L. (2014). Deceiving yourself to better deceive high-status compared to equal-status others. *Evol. Psychol.* 12, 635–654. doi: 10.1177/ 147470491401200310
- Mandler, G. (1980). Recognizing: the judgment of previous occurrence. *Psychol. Rev.* 87, 252–271. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.87.3.252
- Milton, A. L., Lee, J. L., and Everitt, B. J. (2008). Reconsolidation of appetitive memories for both natural and drug reinforcement is dependent on β -adrenergic receptors. *Learn. Mem.* 15, 88–92. doi: 10.1101/lm.825008
- Moomal, Z., and Henzi, S. P. (2000). The evolutionary psychology of deception and self-deception. S. Afr. J. Psychol. 30, 45–51. doi: 10.1177/008124630003000307
- Nairne, J. S., and Pandeirada, J. N. (2010). Adaptive memory: nature's criterion and the functionalist agenda. Am. J. Psychol. 123, 381–390. doi: 10.5406/ amerjpsyc.123.4.0381
- Rasmussen, A. S., Johannessen, K. B., and Berntsen, D. (2014). Ways of sampling voluntary and involuntary autobiographical memories in daily life. *Conscious. Cogn.* 30, 156–168. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2014.09.008
- Ren, M., Zhong, B., Fan, W., Dai, H., Yang, B., Zhang, W., et al. (2018). The influence of self-control and social status on self-deception. *Front. Psychol.* 9, 1256–1267. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01256

- Richardson-Klavehn, A., and Gardiner, J. M. (1996). Cross-modality priming in stem completion reflects conscious memory, but not voluntary memory. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 3, 238–244. doi: 10.3758/BF03212425
- Roediger, H. L. (1990). Implicit memory: a commentary. Bull. Psychon. Soc. 28, 373-380. doi: 10.3758/BF03334044
- Schacter, D. L., Bowers, J., and Booker, J. (1989). "Intention, awareness, and implicit memory: the retrieval intentionality criterion" in *Implicit memory: Theoretical issues*. eds. S. Lewandowsky, J. C. Dunn and K. Kirsner (Hillsdale, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc), 47–65.
- Schmader, T., and Johns, M. (2003). Converging evidence that stereotype threat reduces working memory capacity. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 85, 440–452. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.3.440
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: effects on learning. Cogn. Sci. 12, 257–285. doi: 10.1207/s15516709cog1202_4
- Trivers, R. (2000). The elements of a scientific theory of self-deception. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 907, 114–131. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06619.x
- Trivers, R. (2011). The folly of fools. The folly of fools: The logic of deceit and self-deception in human life. (New York, NK: Basic books), 277-301.
- Tulving, E. (2002). "Chronesthesia: conscious awareness of subjective time" in *Principles of frontal lobe function*. 311–326.
- Van Dillen, L. F., and Koole, S. L. (2007). Clearing the mind: a working memory model of distraction from negative mood. *Emotion* 7, 715–723. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.4.715
- von Hippel, W., and Trivers, R. (2011). The evolution and psychology of selfdeception. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 34, 1–56. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X10001354
- Vrij, A., and Barton, J. (2004). "Violent police-suspect encounters: the impact of environmental stressors on the use of lethal force" in *Applying psychology* to forensic practice. 117–128.
- Xiao, Y. M., Wang, Z. M., Wang, M. Z., and Lan, Y. J. (2005). The appraisal of reliability and validity of subjective workload assessment technique and NASA-Task Load Index. *Chin. J. Ind. Hyg. Occup. Dis.* 23, 178–181. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7909.2005.00136.x
- Yang, B. (2017). The impact of self-control and perception social status on selfdeception. Hunan: Hunan Normal University.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jian, Zhang, Tian, Fan and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Effects of Working Memory and Probability Format on Bayesian Reasoning

Lin Yin¹, Zifu Shi^{1*}, Zixiang Liao¹, Ting Tang¹, Yuntian Xie¹ and Shun Peng²

¹ Cognition and Human Behavior Key Laboratory of Hunan Province, School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ² School of Psychology, Central China Normal University, Wuhan, China

Bayesian reasoning is common and critical in everyday life while the performance on Bayesian reasoning is rather poor. Previous studies showed that people could enhance their performance by applying cognitive resources under the natural frequency format condition. Working memory is one of the crucial cognitive resources in the reasoning process. However, the role of working memory on Bayesian reasoning remains unclear. In our study, we verified the effect of working memory on Bayesian reasoning by evaluating the performance of participants with high and low working memory span (WMS); we also investigated if working memory as a kind of cognitive resource can affect Bayesian reasoning performance by manipulating the cognitive load in a dual-task paradigm among participants with no-, low-, and high-loads. We found the following: (1) The Bayesian reasoning performance of high WMS participants was significantly higher than that of low WMS participants. (2) Performance under natural frequency condition was noticeably higher than that in standard probability condition. (3) Interaction between working memory and probability format was significant, and the performance of participants with high-load in natural frequency condition was higher when compared to those of participants with no- and low-load. Therefore, we can conclude that: (1) Working memory resource is a major factor in Bayesian reasoning. The performance of Bayesian reasoning is influenced by working memory span and working memory load. (2) A Bayesian facilitation effect exists, and replacing the standard probability format with a natural frequency format can significantly improve Bayesian performance. (3) Bayesian facilitation occurs only in participants with sufficient working memory resources.

Keywords: working memory, probability format, Bayesian reasoning, dual-process, cognitive resource

INTRODUCTION

In daily life, people often make critical decisions based on conditional probabilities, such as in courts, hospitals and war rooms (Shi et al., 2019). Although decisions and judgments based on uncertainty are of great importance, reasoning performance based on probabilistic information is not satisfactory (Kahneman and Tversky, 1972). A good example of this is Bayesian reasoning. Bayesian reasoning is when people adjust their existing opinions based on new information or evidence to arrive at conclusions and make decisions. For example, the probability of breast cancer in the population is 1% for a woman who participates in routine screening. If a woman has breast

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zhao Xin, Northwest Normal University, China

Reviewed by:

Youlong Zhan, Hunan University of Science and Technology, China Gorka Navarrete, Adolfo Ibáñez University, Chile

> ***Correspondence:** Zifu Shi shizf@hunnu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 April 2019 **Accepted:** 07 April 2020 **Published:** 12 May 2020

Citation:

Yin L, Shi Z, Liao Z, Tang T, Xie Y and Peng S (2020) The Effects of Working Memory and Probability Format on Bayesian Reasoning. Front. Psychol. 11:863. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00863

115

cancer, the probability that she will have positive mammography is 80%. If a woman does not have breast cancer, the probability that she will also have positive mammography is 9.5%. If a woman in this group had positive mammography, what's the probability that she has breast cancer? (Gigerenzer and Hoffrage, 1995).

Then we can calculate it as Bayes' rules:

$$P(h|d) = \frac{P(h)P(d|h)}{P(h) P(d|h) + P(-h)P(d|-h)}$$

Where, P(h) represents the base rate of 1%, P(d| h) represents the hit rate of 80%, P(d|-h) represents the false alarm rate of 9.5%, and P(h| d) represents the posterior probability.

Since Edwards (1968) carried out his research on Bayesian reasoning, studies have consistently shown that people are not good decision-makers and their reasoning abilities on Bayesian problems are quite poor (Kahneman and Tversky, 1972; Gigerenzer and Hoffrage, 1995). However, Bayesian reasoning is common and deadly in People's Daily life (Shi et al., 2019). Many researchers are trying to find ways to improve the reasoning performance. As for the influencing factors, previous studies mainly discussed the content (context) effect (Gavanski and Hui, 1992; Girotto and Gonzalez, 2002), the ways to obtaining probabilistic information (Lovett and Schunn, 1999) and factors of individual differences, such as knowledge background (Shi et al., 2006; Siegrist and Keller, 2011), cognitive style, cognitive responsiveness, numerical skills, emotional states and cognitive strategies (Sirota and Juanchich, 2011; Sirota et al., 2014; Reani et al., 2019).

Gigerenzer and Hoffrage (1995), Zhu and Gigerenzer (2006) found that when the natural frequency was used to represent probabilistic information, people and even children could perform Bayesian reasoning (Gigerenzer and Hoffrage, 1995; Zhu and Gigerenzer, 2006). This improvement has been confirmed by many studies (Cosmides and Tooby, 1996; Sloman et al., 2003; Barbey and Sloman, 2007; Sirota et al., 2014; Artur et al., 2015; McDowell and Jacobs, 2017; Weber et al., 2018).

There are two influential theories about the natural frequency promotion of Bayesian reasoning. One is the framework of ecological rationality, the other is nested set theory (Lesage et al., 2013). The ecologically rational framework argues that people perform better at natural numbers because people process natural frequencies better than probability. Some researchers found child couldn't solve Bayesian problems when it was in probability format but they can solve Bayesian problems in natural frequencies. However, their performance was still not very high (Zhu and Gigerenzer, 2006) and for different individuals, the facilitation in natural frequency representation is not always working in every situation (Gigerenzer and Hoffrage, 1995; Cosmides and Tooby, 1996; Lovett and Schunn, 1999; Sloman et al., 2003; Barbey and Sloman, 2007; Miroslav and Marie, 2011). The nested set theory holds that under natural frequency conditions, the performance of the reasoning task could be promoted by making a collection of "nested" relationship visualization (De Neys and Schaeken, 2007; Barbet and Guillaume, 2016). However, many theories and research studies show that working memory plays a major role in solving

reasoning problems (Johnson-Laird and Savary, 1999; Oberauer et al., 2005; Baddeley, 2007, 2010; Sejunaite et al., 2019). As the core of cognitive processing, working memory is closely related to the reasoning process, such as analogical reasoning and syllogism reasoning, and propositional reasoning (Meiser et al., 2001; Morrison et al., 2001; Markovits et al., 2002; Capon et al., 2003; Copeland and Radvansky, 2004; Sejunaite et al., 2019).

Their study showed that both working memory span and working memory resources were highly positively correlated with reasoning tasks (Meiser et al., 2001; Morrison et al., 2001; Markovits et al., 2002; Capon et al., 2003; Copeland and Radvansky, 2004). The theoretical model of the relationship between reasoning and working memory, such as the dual-process model, also holds that all kinds of cognitive processing activities are restricted by the working memory ability during reasoning (Johnson-Laird and Savary, 1999; Meiser et al., 2001). Bayesian reasoning is a type of probability reasoning, which originates from the process of making decisions and judgments based on the obtained information. The discussion of this problem can be active in improving the research field of working memory and reasoning.

Researchers have explored cognitive processing, such as cognitive reaction ability, to investigate the facilitation effect (Gigerenzer and Hoffrage, 1999; Süß et al., 2002; Miroslav and Marie, 2011; Lesage et al., 2013; Sirota et al., 2014). Even children could do Bayesian reasoning by natural frequency format representation (Zhu and Gigerenzer, 2006; Artur et al., 2015; McDowell and Jacobs, 2017). In other studies, researchers examined the relationship between Bayesian reasoning performance, cognitive reflective ability and individual development under different problem formats, and conducted experimental operations on cognitive resources under the dual-task paradigm. Results showed that the performance of Bayesian reasoning tasks depends on the participants' general cognitive abilities (Lesage et al., 2013).

To further research the relationship between working memory and Bayesian reasoning, we expand upon the study of Lesage et al. (2013) in two aspects. To investigate the cognition process and rules of Bayesian reasoning and guide people in making effective decisions and judgments, we discuss both working memory and the probability format in this study. We assume that (1) working memory is closely related to Bayesian reasoning performance and that (2) there is a facilitation effect of natural frequency representation, but that the effect requires working memory resources. Two experiments were designed in this study. Experiment 1 is meant to study the influence of working memory span and probability format on Bayesian reasoning. The causal relationship of the working memory resource in the Bayesian inference task is not inferred from experiment 1 only. The dual-task can well study the central executive components involved in cognitive activities (Logie et al., 1994) and the introduction of an auxiliary task is an effective way to examine whether a process is dependent on the cognitive resource (De Neys, 2006; De Neys and Verschueren, 2006; De Neys and Schaeken, 2007; Khemlani et al., 2018; Kimura and Matsuura, 2019). Therefore, experiment 2 intends to design a dual-task experiment to further explore the mechanism



of working memory in the reasoning process by giving a working memory load to manipulate the available working memory resource.

EXPERIMENT 1: EFFECTS OF WORKING MEMORY SPAN ON BAYESIAN REASONING

Purpose and Hypothesis

This experiment is aiming to investigate the effect of WMS on Bayesian reasoning and Bayesian facilitation. Based on previous studies, the hypotheses are as follows: (1) working memory span is highly correlated with Bayesian reasoning score, the performance of high WMS group was better than those of low WMS group; (2) there is a natural frequency facilitation effect.

Methods

Participants

This experiment was approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the experiment was started. The sample size was calculated with a power of 0.8 and the minimum requirement of sample size was 36. 120 college students (male = 37, female = 83) participated in this experiment, with ages ranged from 18 to 25 years (mean ages = 20.5, SD = 3.45). All of the subjects volunteered to participate in the experiment and did not learn or understand Bayesian reasoning.

This experiment used Operation Span Task designed by Turner and Engle (1989), and revised by Song et al. (2011) (see **Figure 1**). It's made up of 75 mathematical equations with words chosen from the Dictionary of Modern Chinese Frequencies (1986 revised edition), double word noun, neutral. The word frequency is 0.0100–0.1429. The equations are all mixed operation of the multiplication (division) and the addition (subtraction), and the results are also in the single digits.

The WMS index was represented by the total number of double-character words correctly recalled in the group, with a range from 0 to 60. To ensure the validity of the subjects'

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics of working memory span in high and low WMS	
groups.	

Group	N	М	SD	
High-WMS	36	54.47	3.19	
Low-WMS	36	44.08	3.61	

In the independent sample t-test, t (70) = -12.93, p < 0.001, and d = 0.36. This indicates that the difference between the high and low WMS groups is significant and the classification is effective in this experiment.

participation in the dual-task, the correct rate of the secondary task (equality judgment) was required to be more than 85% (Ikeda and Kitagami, 2013). In the end, the data from 48 subjects were eliminated because the experiment was interrupted or the correct rate of equality judgment was less than 85% and 72 subjects were selected and divided into high WMS and low WMS groups to participate in the formal experiment. The average and standard deviation for each group are shown in **Table 1**.

Materials and Instruments

A total of 5 of the 10 Bayesian problems (all problems are homogeneous) were extracted from materials developed by Zhu and Gigerenzer (2006) as the reasoning material. The problems were converted to an 800 \times 600 pixel picture with black numbers on a white background. The text was in 21 Song style and 1.5 line spacing, and it was placed in the center of the picture. The procedure was run by E-prime 2.0 and rendered on a 19-inch DELL screen with a refresh frequency of 150 Hz and a resolution of 1024 \times 768.

Here are two versions of the same Bayesian reasoning question (the Red Nose problem) (see **Figure 2**):

Procedure

The procedure consisted of an exercise part and a test part. When the subjects familiarized themselves with the probabilistic question of the exercise part, they could start the second part of the formal experiment. The instructions were presented first and then entered the reasoning task. After the reasoning questions were presented, they analyzed and calculated on the paper and input the results into the answer box when they were completed





(see **Figure 3**). At the end of the experiment, a small gift was given to the subjects.

Results and Analysis

The results of reasoning score of the 72 subjects were regarded as "correct" when the difference from standard answers was less than 1%; otherwise, they were regarded as "wrong." Correct answer was scored as 1 while incorrect answer was scored as 0, and the total score was between 0 and 5 points. The SPSS19.0 software was used to analyze the data. The analysis and results are shown in **Figure 4**.

Two-factor ANOVA showed that the main effect of WMS was significant [F(1,68) = 6.967, p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.10$], that is, the Bayesian reasoning performance of high WMS subjects was significantly higher than that of low WMS subjects. The main effect of data format was significant [F(1,68) = 22.574, p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.25$], indicating that the results of reasoning by means of natural frequencies were significantly better than those of reasoning by means of standard probability. Interaction between WMS and data format was significant [F(1,68) = 4.783, p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.07$].

A further simple effect analysis showed the following:

At the high WMS level, the probability format effect was significant (F = 22.15, p < 0.05), meaning that the results of the high WMS subjects who used natural frequencies reasoning were significantly higher than the results of the subjects in the standard probability.

At the low WMS level, the probability format effect was not significant (F = 3.03, p > 0.05), that is to say, there was no significant difference between the results of low WMS subjects who used standard probability reasoning and the results of low WMS subjects who used natural frequencies.

The results showed that the working memory span is highly related to Bayesian reasoning, that the performance of the high WMS group was higher than low WMS, and the facilitation is more significant.

Although the results of experiment 1 showed that WMS is closely related to Bayesian reasoning, it was not sufficient for inferring the causality of working memory resources in the Bayesian reasoning task. Some studies have shown that





the dual-task experiment can also explore the central executive components involved in cognitive activities and that the introduction of auxiliary tasks is also an effective way to examine whether a reasoning process depends on cognitive resources.

EXPERIMENT 2: THE INFLUENCE OF WORKING MEMORY LOAD ON BAYESIAN REASONING

Purpose and Hypothesis

Based on the dual-task paradigm (Logie et al., 1994; Khemlani et al., 2018; Kimura and Matsuura, 2019), the mechanism of working memory in the reasoning process is further explored by directly placing a load on the individual's working memory (De Neys and Verschueren, 2006; De Neys and Schaeken, 2007). The experimental assumptions are as follows: (1) working memory load affects the reasoning performance of subjects; and (2) there is a Bayesian facilitation effect, but it does not exist in all load conditions.

Methods

Participants

This experiment was approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University in China, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the experiment. A necessary sample size of 42 was calculated by G-Power 3.1 with power = 0.8 (Iachini et al., 2005). 136 paid college students (male = 42, female = 96) aged 18–25 years (mean ages = 23.3, SD = 3.24) participated in this experiment.

Materials and Instruments

The secondary task designed by Si et al. (2012) was used as an alphabetical order task (high-load) and a letter recognition task (low-load). The main task selected two of 10 Bayesian problems (all of which are homogeneous) from Zhu and Gigerenzer (2006) (different from the five reasoning questions in experiment 1). The reasoning questions were converted to 800×600 pixel pictures with black characters on a white background. The characters were presented in 21 Song style (34 letters), 1.5 line spacing and the text was in the center of the picture. Programmed and run by E-Prime 2.0, the picture was presented on a 19-inch dell computer screen with a display refresh frequency of 150 Hz. The resolution was 1024×768 . The same reasoning question was presented in two versions: standard probability and natural frequency.

Design

The subjects completed Bayesian reasoning problems in probability format and natural frequency format. The working memory resources were manipulated by the secondary task of the dual-task paradigm. The factor working memory load distinguished between the high-load, low-load and the control condition. In the dual-task condition, participants were presented with a letter string (i.e., AGRCWO) which they were instructed to keep in mind while solving the Bayesian reasoning problems. Subjects in the high-load condition need to recall the letter string while in the low-load condition only need to re-recognize the letter string (Si et al., 2012). No letter string was presented in the no-load condition (see **Figure 5**). The dependent variables were the subjects' score on 2 Bayesian reasoning questions (1 for a correct answer, 0 for an incorrect answer, the total score was $0\sim 2$).

Procedure Results and Analysis

Based on the finding of experiment 1, to further explore the working memory and if the working memory resources affect the Bayesian reasoning. Four subjects did not complete the reasoning questions or interrupted the experiment. The average score of the two alphabetical tasks (1 for a letter) and the two-letter recognition tasks (the correct answer score



was 1 point while the incorrect answer was 0 points) were calculated and the data from eight subjects were excluded because their score of the secondary task was below the average three standard deviations. And the data of the remaining 124 subjects can be retained.

If the difference between the results of the reasoning and the standard answer was less than 1%, the answer was regarded as "correct," whereas regarded as "wrong," a correct answer scored as 1, and the total score was $0\sim2$. The results are shown in **Figure 6**.

Two-factor ANOVA showed that the main effect of the working memory load was significant $[F(2,118) = 5.861, p < 0.05, \eta^2 = 0.09]$. The results of reasoning in the three working memory load conditions were as follows: the best results were in the no-load condition, the second was in the low-load condition, and the worst was in the high-load condition. The main effect of the data format was significant $[F(1,118) = 13.896, p < 0.05, \eta^2 = 0.11]$. The reasoning results of subjects in the natural frequency scenario were significantly better than those of subjects who were in the standard probability scenario. Interaction between working memory load and data format was significant $[F(2,118) = 7.838, p < 0.05, \eta^2 = 0.12]$.

A further simple effect analysis showed the following:

At the no-load level, the data format effect was significant (F = 18.49, p < 0.05), which showed that the reasoning results of the subjects in the natural frequency scenario were significantly better than those of subjects in the standard probability scenario.

At the low-load level, the data format effect was significant (F = 7.90, p < 0.05), that is, at the low working memory load level, the reasoning score of the subjects in the natural frequency scenario were significantly better than those of subjects in the standard probability scenario.

At the high-load level, the data format effect was not significant (F = 0.74, p > 0.05). At the high-load level, there was no significant difference in reasoning performance between the two data formats.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Impact of Working Memory on Bayesian Reasoning Performance

The results of experiment 1 showed that the performance of Bayesian reasoning was influenced by the working memory span (WMS). This is consistent with the researches of Capon et al. (2003), Copeland and Radvansky (2004), and Bai et al. (2004) of other types of reasoning.

Bayesian reasoning is a kind of complicated probabilistic reasoning that involves a series of probability information and rules. Individuals with high WMS have more ability and resources to use probability rules, so they could integrate all kinds of explicit information relationships and operate on numbers, and can result in the answer smoothly. However, for individuals with low WMS, it is impossible to integrate and calculate the probability information effectively because the complex cognitive process is far beyond their own WM ability. Therefore, the reason why individuals cannot obtain the correct answer when completing the experimental task is that they guess or input an answer randomly according to their own intuitive judgments, which lead to a reasoning error (Lesage et al., 2013).

The results of experiment 2 showed that WM load can affect Bayesian reasoning. Specifically, the degree of influence increases with WM load. The reasoning performance was best in the noload condition, second in the low-load condition and the worst in the high-load condition.

For each individual, the WM resource remains relatively stable and limited. When a secondary task occupies more WM resources, they have fewer resources to solve the main task (Robbie et al., 1982). Of the three conditions, the alphabetical recall was the one that takes up most of the WM resources; thus, under a condition of high-load, subjects had the least resources to address the Bayesian reasoning problem, so this result was the worst. The task of alphabetical recognition was simpler than the task of alphabetical sorting and takes up fewer resources. Therefore, there were more WM resources used to solve the problem, thus the performance under low-load condition was significantly improved. In the no-load condition, there were the only tasks competing for the limited WM resources, so the subjects showed the best performance.

Bayesian Facilitation Effects

Sloman et al. (2003) called the improvement of Bayesian reasoning performance under natural frequency conditions Bayesian facilitation. Both experiments 1 and 2 showed an obvious Bayesian facilitation effect: the subjects' results in natural frequency scenario were significantly higher than those in the standard probability scenario. This was consistent with the results of Gigerenzer and Hoffrage (1995), Cosmides and Tooby (1996), Brase et al. (1998), Artur et al. (2015), and McDowell and Jacobs (2017).

Therefore, two experiments verified the Bayesian facilitation in natural frequency representation. However, the Bayesian facilitation effect did not appear under all conditions, that is, the occurrence of the Bayesian facilitation effect requires certain conditions. The results of experiment 2 verified the facilitation effect. The results showed that the performance in natural frequency format was significantly better than in the standard probability format under low-load and no-load conditions, but the difference between them was not significant under a high-load condition. This indicated that the Bayesian facilitation effect was only reflected in the low-load and no-load conditions, but it was not found in the high-load condition.

Working memory resource is a kind of important cognitive resource for reasoning (Meiser et al., 2001; Morrison et al., 2001; Markovits et al., 2002; Capon et al., 2003; Copeland and Radvansky, 2004; Baddeley, 2007, 2010; Sejunaite et al., 2019). Under high-load conditions, secondary tasks (alphabetical recall) occupied more WM resources, and few WM resources are used to complete the main task. As a result, the subjects in the two versions of the reasoning problem had poor scores. However, in the low-load or no-load conditions, the results were the opposite. Most of the WM resources were utilized for processing reasoning tasks. Although they performed poorly on reasoning problems with the standard probability format, they were able to accomplish relatively simple reasoning problems presented in natural frequency format (Johnson-Laird and Savary, 1999; Lesage et al., 2013).

The Explanation for the Effect of Working Memory on the Bayesian Facilitation

Experiment 1 found that under the natural frequency condition, the score of the high WMS group was significantly higher than those of low WMS. Experiment 2 also found that under the natural frequency condition, the reasoning results of subjects in low-load and no-load conditions were significantly higher than those under the condition of probability (Miroslav and Marie, 2011; Lesage et al., 2013; Sirota et al., 2014).

The ecologically rational framework argues that people perform better at natural numbers because people process natural frequencies better than probability. And the computational requirements for natural frequencies are much simpler than for probabilities. However, the participants couldn't complete the problems well in high-load conditions. The nested sets theory holds that there is a positive relationship between working memory resources and reasoning performance, especially under the natural frequency condition that nest-set is clear (De Neys and Schaeken, 2007; Barbet and Guillaume, 2016). The results of experiment 1 showed that the working memory span was highly related to the inference performance. Moreover, the reasoning score of individuals with a high working memory span is significantly better than those with low working memory span under the natural frequency condition. The results of experiment 2 also show that the result of reasoning depends on available working memory resources and the same as the facilitation under natural frequency condition.

The nested sets theory is proposed on the basis of the dualprocess model, which makes the structure of the problem set clear and triggers the analysis system. The system uses executive cognitive resources to calculate the correct answer. Therefore, the reason why people perform better with natural frequency is that the nest-set is clear by making a collection of "nested" relationship (the larger subset embedded collection) visualization (Shi et al., 2006; Barbey and Sloman, 2007). That is, under the condition of arousing a clear nested sets representation, the reasoning performance of the subjects should be related to the general cognitive ability of the individual: the more cognitive resources there are the more likely it is that the individual obtains the correct answer. In contrast, under the condition of a fuzzy representation of the problem, they are unable to successfully complete reasoning tasks (De Neys and Schaeken, 2007; Artur et al., 2015; Barbet and Guillaume, 2016).

The results support the effect of working memory on reasoning. If the cognitive process is too complex that it exceeded people's working memory ability, their reasoning will be wrong. Bayesian reasoning is a very difficult probability reasoning that involves a series of probability rules such as addition, multiplication, division, and a complex cognitive process. The use and storage of the information, rules, and the calculation of the premise and new information are all restricted by working memory capacity (Johnson-Laird and Savary, 1999; Meiser et al., 2001; Khemlani et al., 2018; Kimura and Matsuura, 2019). For individuals with high working memory resources, because they have a strong ability to calculate numbers, use probability rules and integrate all kinds of explicit information relations, so they could calculate the answers more smoothly. But for individuals with low working memory resources, this complex cognitive process far exceeds their working memory ability, so they cannot effectively integrate and calculate the probability information and draw the correct conclusion. This means, that they only complete the task of random speculation or according to their own intuitive judgment arbitrary to input an answer, resulting in reasoning errors (Capon et al., 2003; Copeland and Radvansky, 2004; Khemlani et al., 2018).

CONCLUSION

Working memory resource is an important factor that influences Bayesian reasoning performance; that is, the quality of Bayesian reasoning results depends on working memory resources. Individuals with high WMS or sufficient resources exhibit better cognitive processing than those with low WMS or insufficient resources. However, this advantage is not always true, and it may not exist when the cognitive task is too hard. A Bayesian facilitation effect exists and replacing standard probabilities with natural frequency can greatly improve Bayesian performance. However, only in individuals with high working memory span or sufficient cognitive resources does this effect occur. The experimental results provide experimental evidence for the effect of working memory on Bayesian reasoning.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://figshare.com/articles/data/11827053.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This experiment was approved by the Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University in China, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the experiment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZS, LY, and ZL conceived and designed the study. LY and ZL performed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. LY, ZL,

REFERENCES

- Artur, D., Olga, K., Katarzyna, I., Zuzanna, B., and Marta, N. (2015). Bayesian probability estimates are not necessary to make choices satisfying Bayes' rule in elementary situations. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1194. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 01194
- Baddeley, A. (2007). Working Memory, Thought, And Action. New York, NY: Oxford.
- Baddeley, A. (2010). Working Memory. Curr. Biol. 20, 136–140. doi: 10.1016/j.cub. 2009.12.014
- Bai, X., Zhang, X., and Shi, R. (2004). Working memory capacity and eye movements of ambiguous sentence processing. *Stud. Psychol. Behav.* 2, 519– 523.
- Barbet, C., and Guillaume, T. (2016). Some alternatives? event-related potential investigation of literal and pragmatic interpretations of some presented in isolation. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1479. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01479
- Barbey, A., and Sloman, S. (2007). Base-rate respect: from ecological rationality to dual processes. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 30, 274–275. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X07001859
- Brase, G. L., Cosmides, L., and Tooby, J. (1998). Individuation, counting, and statistical inference: the role of frequency and whole-object representations in judgment under uncertainty. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 127, 3–21. doi: 10.1037/0096-3445.127.1.3
- Capon, A., Handley, S., and Dennis, I. (2003). Working memory and reasoning: an individual differences perspective. *Think. Reason.* 9, 203–244. doi: 10.1080/ 13546781343000222
- Copeland, D., and Radvansky, G. (2004). Working memory and syllogistic reasoning. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 57, 1437–1457. doi: 10.1080/027249803430 00846
- Cosmides, L., and Tooby, J. (1996). Are humans good intuitive statisticians after all? Rethinking some conclusions from the literature on judgment under uncertainty. *Cognition* 58, 1–73. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(95) 00664-8
- De Neys, W. (2006). Dual processing in reasoning: two systems but one reasoner. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 428–433. doi: 10.2307/40064560
- De Neys, W., and Schaeken, W. (2007). When people are more logical under cognitive load: dual task impact on scalar implicature. *Exp. Psychol.* 54, 128– 133. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169.54.2.128
- De Neys, W., and Verschueren, N. (2006). Working memory capacity and a notorious brain teaser: the case of the Monty Hall Dilemma. *Exp. Psychol.* 53, 123–131. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169.53.1.123
- Edwards, W. (1968). Conservatism in Human Information Processing. Formal Representation of Human Judgment. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Gavanski, I., and Hui, C. (1992). Natural sample spaces and uncertain belief. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 63, 766. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.63.5.766
- Gigerenzer, G., and Hoffrage, U. (1995). How to improve Bayesian reasoning without instruction: frequency formats. *Psychol. Rev.* 102, 684–704. doi: 10. 1037/0033-295X.102.4.684
- Gigerenzer, G., and Hoffrage, U. (1999). Overcoming difficulties in Bayesian reasoning: a reply to Lewis and Keren (1999) and Mellers and McGraw (1999). *Psychol. Rev.* 106, 425–430. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.106. 2.425

and SP analyzed the data. ZS, LY, TT, and YX the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Social Science Foundation of China (BBA160044). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Girotto, V., and Gonzalez, M. (2002). Solving probabilistic and statistical problems: a matter of information structure and question form. *Cognition* 78, 247–276. doi: 10.1016/s0010-0277(00)00133-5
- Iachini, T., Sergi, I., Ruggiero, G., and Gnisci, A. (2005). Gender differences in object location memory in a real three-dimensional environment. *Brain Cogn.* 59, 52–59. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2005.04.004
- Ikeda, K., and Kitagami, S. (2013). The interactive effect of working memory and text difficulty on metacomprehension accuracy. J. Cogn. Psychol. 25, 94–106. doi: 10.1080/20445911.2012.748028
- Johnson-Laird, P., and Savary, F. (1999). Illusory inferences: a novel class of erroneous deductions. Cognition 71:191. doi: 10.1016/S0010-0277(99)00015-3
- Kahneman, D., and Tversky, A. (1972). Subjective Probability: A Judgment of Representativeness. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, doi: 10.1007/978-94-010-2288-0_3
- Khemlani, S., Byrne, R., and Johnson-Laird, P. (2018). Facts and possibilities: a model-based theory of sentential reasoning. *Cogn. Sci.* 42, 1887–1924. doi: 10.1111/cogs.12634
- Kimura, T., and Matsuura, R. (2019). Additional effects of a cognitive task on dual-task training to reduce dual-task interference. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 2019:101588. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2019.101588
- Lesage, E., Navarrete, G., and De Neys, W. (2013). Evolutionary modules and Bayesian facilitation: the role of general cognitive resources. *Think. Reason.* 19, 27–53. doi: 10.1080/13546783.2012.713177
- Logie, R., Gilhooly, K., and Wynn, V. (1994). Counting on working memory in arithmetic problem solving. *Mem. Cogn.* 22, 395–410. doi: 10.3758/BF03200866
- Lovett, M., and Schunn, C. (1999). Task representations, strategy variability, and base-rate neglect. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 128, 107–130. doi: 10.1037/0096-3445. 128.2.107
- Markovits, H., Doyon, C., and Simoneau, M. (2002). Individual differences in working memory and conditional reasoning with concrete and abstract content. *Think. Reason.* 8, 97–107. doi: 10.1080/13546780143000143
- McDowell, M., and Jacobs, P. (2017). Meta-analysis of the effect of natural frequency on Bayesian reasoning. *Psychol. Bull.* 143, 1273–1312. doi: 10.1037/ bul0000126
- Meiser, T., Klauer, K., and Naumer, B. (2001). Propositional reasoning and working memory: the role of prior training and pragmatic content. *Acta Psychol.* 106, 303–327. doi: 10.1016/S0001-6918(00)00055-X
- Miroslav, S., and Marie, J., (2011). Role of numeracy and cognitive reflection in bayesian reasoning with natural frequencies. *Stud. Psycho.* 53, 151–161. doi: 10.1163/157361211X576609
- Morrison, R., Holyoak, K., and Truong, B. (2001). "Working memory modularity in analogical reasoning," in *Proceedings of the Twenty-third Annual Conference* of the Cognitive Science Society, eds J. D. Moore, and K. Stenning (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum), 663–668.
- Oberauer, K., Schulze, R., Wilhelm, O., and Süß H-M. (2005). Working memory and intelligence–their correlation and their relation: comment on ackerman, beier, and boyle (2005). *Psychol. Bull.* 131, 61–65. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131. 1.61
- Reani, M., Davies, A., Peek, N., and Caroline, J. (2019). Evidencing how experience and problem format affect probabilistic reasoning through interaction analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1548. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01548

- Robbie, C., Midian, K., and Jill, G. (1982). Operational efficiency and the growth of short-term memory span. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 33, 386–404. doi: 10.1016/0022-0965(82)90054-6
- Sejunaite, K., Lanza, C., and Riepe, M. (2019). Everyday memory in healthy aging: porous but not distorted. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:153. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019. 00153
- Shi, Z., Qiu, J., and Zhang, Q. (2006). Facilitating effect of transparent nested-sets relations on Bayesian reasoning. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 38, 833–840. doi: 10.1016/ S0379-4172(06)60092-9
- Shi, Z., Yin, L., Dong, J., Ma, X., and Li, B. (2019). Effect of probability information on Bayesian reasoning: a study of event-related potentials. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1106. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01106
- Si, J., Yang, J., Jia, G., and Zhou, C. (2012). The effect of central executive load on adult's strategy using in computational estimation. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 44, 1490–1500. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1041.2012.01490
- Siegrist, M., and Keller, C. (2011). Natural frequency and Bayesian reasoning: the impact of formal education and problem context. J. Risk. Res. 14, 1039–1055. doi: 10.1080/13669877.2011.571786
- Sirota, M., and Juanchich, M. (2011). Role of numeracy and cognitive reflection in Bayesian reasoning with natural frequencies. *Stud. Psychol.* 53, 151–161. doi: 10.1163/157361211X576609
- Sirota, M., Juanchich, M., and Hagmayer, Y. (2014). Ecological rationality or nested sets? Individual differences in cognitive processing predict Bayesian reasoning. *Psychol. Bull. Rev.* 21, 198–204. doi: 10.3758/s13423-013-0464-6
- Sloman, S. A., Over, D., Slovak, L., and Stibel, J. M. (2003). Frequency illusions and other fallacies. Organ. Behav. Hum. 91, 296–309. doi: 10.1016/S0749-5978(03) 00021-9

- Song, G., He, W., and Kong, W. (2011). Influence of problem representation and working memory span on pupils' mathematical problem solving. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 43, 1283–1292. doi: 10.1631/jzus.B1000278
- Süß, H., Oberauer, K., Wittmann, W., Wilhelm, O., and Schulze, R. (2002). Working-memory capacity explains reasoning ability - and a little bit more. *Intelligence* 30, 261–288. doi: 10.1016/S0160-2896(01) 00100-3
- Turner, M. L., and Engle, R. W. (1989). Is working memory capacity task dependent? J. Mem. Lang. 28, 127–154. doi: 10.1016/0749-596X(89)90040-5
- Weber, P., Binder, K., and Krauss, S. (2018). Why can only 24% solve Bayesian reasoning problems in natural frequency: frequency phobia in spite of probability blindness. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1833. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018. 01833
- Zhu, L., and Gigerenzer, G. (2006). Children can solve Bayesian problems: the role of representation in mental computation. *Cognition* 98, 287–308. doi: 10.1016/ j.cognition.2004.12.003

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Yin, Shi, Liao, Tang, Xie and Peng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

